
 

 
 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats: 
 
Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language 

 

 West Lindsey District Council  

  
 

Guildhall Gainsborough 
Lincolnshire DN21 2NA 

Tel: 01427 676676 Fax: 01427 675170 
 

AGENDA       

 
This meeting will be recorded and the video archive published on our website 

 
 

Corporate Policy and Resources Committee 
Thursday, 7th November, 2019 at 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber - The Guildhall 
 
 
Members: 
To be confirmed at Full Council on Monday 4 November 2019. 

 

1.  Apologies for Absence   

2.  Public Participation Period 
Up to 15 minutes are allowed for public participation.  Participants 
are restricted to 3 minutes each. 

 

3.  Minutes of Previous Meeting/s 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting. 

 

i)  For Approval  

Corporate Policy and Resources Committee meeting 19 September 
2019; 

 

(PAGES 3 - 9) 

ii)  For Noting  

Joint Staff Consultative Committee meeting on 3 October 2019. 

 

(TO FOLLOW) 

4.  Declarations of Interest 
Members may make declarations of Interest at this point or may 
make them at any point in the meeting. 

 

5.  Matters Arising Schedule 
Setting out current position of previously agreed actions as at 30 
October 2019. 

(PAGE 10) 

6.  Public Reports for Approval:   

i)  Locally Defined Discount for Almshouses 
 

(PAGES 11 - 18) 

ii)  Progress and Delivery Period 2 2019/20 (PAGES 19 - 45) 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

iii)  Review of Safeguarding Policy and Procedure 
 

(PAGES 46 - 163) 

iv)  Budget and Treasury Monitoring Mid Year Review 
2019/20 
 

(PAGES 164 - 209) 

v)  Proposed Fees & Charges 2020/21 
 

(PAGES 210 - 316) 

vi)  Mid Year Treasury Management Report 2019/20 
 

(PAGES 317 - 338) 

7.  Committee Work Plan  (PAGES 339 - 342) 

8.  Change of meeting dates 
To agree to move the following meetings to new dates: 
 
Corporate Policy and Resources – April 9 2020 to April 23 2020; 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committees – December 5 2019 to 
December 10 2019. 

 

9.  Exclusion of Public and Press 
To resolve that under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from 
the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Act. 

 

i)  Potential Compulsory Purchase of Riverside Gateway 
 

(PAGES 343 - 370) 

ii)  Budget and Treasury Monitoring Mid Year Review 
2019/20 - Exempt Appendix 
 

(TO FOLLOW) 

iii)  Proposed Fees and Charges - Exempt Appendices 
 

(PAGES 371 - 383) 

 
 

Ian Knowles 
Head of Paid Service 

The Guildhall 
Gainsborough 

 
Wednesday, 30 October 2019 

 
 
 



Corporate Policy and Resources Committee-  19 September 2019 
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 15 October 2019 

10 
 

WEST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of the Meeting of the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee held in the 
Council Chamber - The Guildhall on  19 September 2019 commencing at 6.30 pm. 
 
 
Present: Councillor Giles McNeill (Chairman) 

 Councillor Mrs Anne Welburn (Vice-Chairman) 

  

 Councillor Owen Bierley 

 Councillor Matthew Boles 

 Councillor Stephen Bunney 

 Councillor David Cotton 

 Councillor Michael Devine 

 Councillor Ian Fleetwood 

 Councillor Paul Howitt-Cowan 

 Councillor John McNeill 

 Councillor Mrs Jessie Milne 

 Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee 

 Councillor Trevor Young 

 
 
In Attendance:  
Ian Knowles Executive Director of Resources, Head of Paid Service and 

S151 Officer 
Tracey Bircumshaw Strategic Finance and Business Support Manager 
James Welbourn Democratic and Civic Officer 
Steve Anderson Data Protection Officer 
Rachel Parkin Home Choices Team Manager 
Grant White Enterprising Communities Manager 
Michelle Carrington Strategic Lead Customer First 
 
Apologies: Councillor Robert Waller 
 
Membership: Councillor Paul Howitt-Cowan substituted for Councillor 

Robert Waller. 
 
 
20 ADDITION TO THE AGENDA 

 
The Chairman informed those present that there had been a late private addition to the 
agenda called ‘Development Update in the District’. 
 
As a result, there was a change to the ‘Exclusion of the Public’ item, with paragraph 3 of 
schedule 12a of Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 being added to the list 
of reasons for exemption. 
 
21 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PERIOD 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3a



Corporate Policy and Resources Committee-  19 September 2019 
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 15 October 2019 

11 
 

 
There was no public participation. 
 
22 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING/S 

 
The minutes of the Corporate Policy and Resources meeting held on 25 July 2019 were 
approved as a correct record. 
 
The minutes of the Joint Staff Consultative Committee held on 5 September 2019 were 
noted. 
 
23 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Councillor Mandy Snee declared an interest in item 25 – Customer Hub Refurbishment.  
 
She has a son that works for West Lindsey District Council.  This did not preclude her from 
speaking or voting on the item. 
 
24 MATTERS ARISING SCHEDULE 

 
The matters arising schedule was noted. 
 
25 CUSTOMER HUB REFURBISHMENT 

 
Members considered a report providing a benefits analysis and financial 
business case for the refurbishment of the Customer Hub. 
 
The Strategic Lead for Customer First introduced the report, and highlighted the following 
points: 
 

 The number of customers entering the ground floor over a number of years had 
remained stable but the type of customers being seen now were very different; 

 

 Other partners had now joined West Lindsey District Council (WLDC) in the Guildhall. 
This was alongside regular surgeries for the local MP and others; 
 

 Face to face interactions tended to be more complex; the number of customers were 
using the space for longer; 
 

 Digital interaction with customers was available, however further digital technology 
was required on the ground floor; 
 

 The ‘Customer First’ agenda would change the way visitors to the Guildhall received 
service.  WLDC had changed the way it operated to assure tenants they still had the 
same tenancy rights; 
 

 Large consultations on the ground floor could be a struggle because of the current 
space configuration; 
 

 There would be a drive to serve those customers with a easy to solve query quickly; 

Page 4



Corporate Policy and Resources Committee-  19 September 2019 
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 15 October 2019 

12 
 

the idea would be to operate a triage facility in the first instance; 
 

 Better management of the flow of customers would help WLDC from a health and 
safety point of view; 
 

 There was a constant struggle for confidential space, in particular, interview rooms.  
With surgeries also taking place this had led to increased demand.  The plans tried to 
create an increased number of formal interview rooms, and an increase in quieter 
areas; 
 

 The service space on the ground floor currently had a range of PCs, however they 
were locked down for a specific purpose.  If a large number of people were using 
these PCs for job searches they automatically became unavailable.  In addition, these 
workstations were not private as they faced into the reception area; 
 

 A ‘quick transaction’ area had been created in the plans, along with a ‘sit-down’ space 
for longer engagements; 
 

 There were times where engagement sessions, such as jobs clubs took place; this 
had been addressed with the addition of a multi-use area.  These sessions also used 
space on the 1st and 3rd Floors when the ground floor was not available, which was 
not ideal. 
 

Following this introduction, Members then provided comment, and asked questions on the 
report.  Further information was provided: 
 

 It was important to put the customer at the centre of everything WLDC do, including 
tenants and partners; 

 

 The tank room in the plans was for oil and water storage; 
 

 The Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) were spoken to about a level of 
change on the ground floor, and whether they would contribute financially to this.  
Because of difficulty in speaking to the Secretary of State, the idea of financial 
contributions from the DWP was not progressed; 
 

 Paint will be refreshed in the DWP area of the ground floor. It would be preferable to 
create some space at the Spring Gardens end of the ground floor; 
 

 The waiting area was a growth area, and there needed to be capacity to develop it in 
the future should the need arise; 
 

 There was a dog kennel in the ground floor area for stray dogs to be housed until they 
were picked up by the relevant authorities; 
 

 The budget for this project had initially been £515,000, but had now reduced to under 
£350,000; 
 

 Other locations had been considered for the Customer Hub, including Lord Street and 

Page 5



Corporate Policy and Resources Committee-  19 September 2019 
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 15 October 2019 

13 
 

the Medical Centre, however these locations did not materialise; 
 

 The Guildhall was occupied by WLDC rent free, as the running cost of the building 
was covered by rent received from other partners; 
 

 Work could commence in January.  There would be three phases to this work, which 
should be completed by June 2020 or shortly after; 
 

 Leases now agreed by WLDC would include a rent review. 
 

Some Members of the committee reflected negatively on the report, and felt that if it had 
been part of the budget consultation exercise, the public would not have supported it.  Other 
feedback on the report from these Members included: 

 
o A landlord making improvements for the tenant should expect some capital 

contributions, or a rent review; 
o The money could be recovered in a rent increase; 
o There were no baby changing facilities; however it was explained that there 

had been no requests from staff or partners for these facilities; 
o A full consultation should have taken place on this issue before coming before 

committee; 
 
Officers responded by saying that a consultation had taken place with the staff that would be 
affected by these changes.  They would also be involved in the final layout of the ground 
floor.  The detail of how customer service staff would be relocated would be done as a 
separate part of this programme. 
 
During debate, an alternative proposal had been put forward to defer this report until 
financial contributions from partner organisations had been explored.  This had been moved 
and seconded.  When it was put to the vote, this alternative recommendation was not 
agreed. 
 
The committee returned to the original recommendations, and the Chairman proposed from 
the Chair two additional recommendations.  These were moved and seconded, and it was 
RESOLVED to: 
 

(1) Refurbish the Customer Hub; 
 

(2) Contract for further design and build activities under a SCAPE framework with Lindum 
Construction; 
 

(3) Support project expenditure of up to £350k to be funded from the Property Asset Fund 
Earmarked Reserve to cover the cost of the refurbishment and internal costs; 
 

(4) To re-use the remaining earmarked reserve allocated originally to this project of £150k 
for refurbishment and changes to the 3rd floor; 
 

(5) Consider locations with the revised plans for baby changing facilities; 
 

(6) Involve the Joint Staff Consultative Committee in consultations with the 2nd floor move. 

Page 6



Corporate Policy and Resources Committee-  19 September 2019 
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 15 October 2019 

14 
 

 
Councillor Trevor Young asked that his vote against the recommendations be recorded. 
 
26 TO INTRODUCE A DATA PROTECTION APPROPRIATE POLICY DOCUMENT 

 
Members considered a report on new legal requirements governing how an organisation can 
process special category and criminal conviction data. 
 
It was RESOLVED to: 
 

(1) Support the recommendations from Joint Staff Consultative Committee (JSCC) and 
approve the Appropriate Policy Document attached at Appendix 1 of the report for 
adoption and implementation across the Authority; 

 
(2) Agree that delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director of Resources to 

make minor housekeeping amendments to the policy in future, in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Corporate Policy and Resources committee and the Chairman of the 
Joint Staff Consultative committee. 

 
27 CCTV CODE OF PRACTICE - POLICY 

 
Members considered a report introducing an updated CCTV Code of Practice. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 

(1) Approve the updated CCTV Code of Practice; 
 

(2) Grant delegated authority to the Executive Director of Resources to make minor 
housekeeping amendments to the policy in future, in consultation with the Chairman 
of the Corporate Policy and Resources committee and the Chairman of the Joint Staff 
Consultative committee. 

 
28 MODERN SLAVERY STATEMENT 

 
Members considered a report on a modern slavery statement across all working practices of 
the Authority. 
 
The Home Choices Team Manager introduced the report by informing Members that 
organisations with a turnover of around £36 million must have this Modern Slavery 
Statement - WLDC does not fall into this category.  However, this paper had been seen by 
the Joint Staff Consultative Committee and Prosperous Communities Committee due to the 
important nature of this issue. 
 
Further points were highlighted: 
 

 The Modern Slavery statement would be most effective if it was embedded 
throughout all aspects of the organisation; 

 

 The trauma of slavery would remain with those involved, and it was right as a Council 
to be aware of such issues occurring within the District. 

Page 7



Corporate Policy and Resources Committee-  19 September 2019 
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 15 October 2019 

15 
 

 
An addition was made to the recommendations which related to Member training.  This new 
sets of recommendations was moved and seconded, and therefore it was: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That Members of the Corporate Policy and Resources committee support the Modern 
Slavery Statement and proceed to formal adoption across all operators of West 
Lindsey District Council; 

 
(2) That delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director of Resources to make 

minor housekeeping amendments to the policy in future, in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee and the Chairman of the 
Joint Staff Consultative Committee (JSCC); 
 

(3) That the issue of Modern Slavery training be included on the workplan for 
Governance and Audit Committee. 

 
29 COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

 
The committee workplan for the remainder of 2019/20 was noted. 
 
30 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
RESOLVED that under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraphs 1,2 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 
Note: The meeting adjourned at 8:03pm 
 
31 SURESTAFF AND WEST LINDSEY STAFFING SERVICES 

 
Note: The meeting reconvened at 8:08pm. 
 
Members considered a report on Surestaff and West Lindsey Staffing Services. 
 
The following points were highlighted: 
 

 20% of overall turnover in WLDC staffing can be categorised under ‘other business.’  
A level of business within Surestaff can fall under WLDC staffing; therefore there was 
a move to reduce staff within Surestaff; 

 

 Running Surestaff had been a first for WLDC; it was right to ensure no overall losses 
were generated.  WLDC will be close to breaking even; the remaining company was 
expected to be profitable; 
 

 Surestaff/WLDC Staffing Services supplied staff to WLDC. 
 
RESOLVED to: 

Page 8



Corporate Policy and Resources Committee-  19 September 2019 
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 15 October 2019 

16 
 

 
(1) Agree that Surestaff Limited will cease trading; the exact timing of this is to be 

delegated to the Executive Director of Resources; 
 

(2) Agree to write off and settle any outstanding liabilities of the company; 
 
(3) Support the continued operation of WLDC Staffing Services Limited; 
 
(4) Appoint Adrian Selby, Assistant Director of Operations as Director of Surestaff 

Lincs Ltd and WLDC Staffing Services Limited; 
 
32 DEVELOPMENT UPDATE IN THE DISTRICT 

 
Members received a verbal update from the Executive Director of Resources on a 
development within the District. 
 
This was noted by Members; there were no recommendations to consider. 
 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 8.39 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 9



   

Corporate Policy & Resources Committee Matters Arising Schedule                                                         
 
Purpose: 
To consider progress on the matters arising from previous Corporate Policy & Resources Committee meetings. 
 
Recommendation: That members note progress on the matters arising and request corrective action if necessary. 

 
Meeting Policy and Resources Committee     

      

Status Title Action Required Comments Due Date Allocated 

To 

Black Customer First Strategy At the CPR meeting on 19 September the 

Strategic Lead for Customer First was 

asked to email out the Customer First 

Strategy to all Members (and subs) for the 

CPR committee. 

Michelle emailed this to Members on 20 

September. 

07/11/19 Michelle 

Carrington 

Black Workplan date tracking Cllrs at the CPR meeting on 19 September 

requested that the date that items are 

added to the workplan be added to the 

committee report.  This would mirror the 

format for matters arising. 

Might be worthwhile trialling this at CPR 

first before going to other committees? 

07/11/19 James 

Welbourn 

Green Agency workers CPR committee on 19 September 

requested that the Assistant Director of 

Operations attend a future meeting to 

discuss the number of agency workers, and 

how long they are generally appointed for. 

The November meeting would be the 

best opportunity to discuss this, during 

the matters arising item. 

07/11/19 Ady Selby 

 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 5



 

 
 
 
 

 
CORPORATE POLICY & 
RESOURCES 

Thursday 7 November 2019 

 

     
Subject: Locally Defined Discount for Almshouses 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Executive Director of Resources 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Alison McCulloch 
Revenues Manager 
 
alison.mcculloch@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

Report for CP&R committee to determine 
whether the introduction of a locally defined 
discount of 100%, in respect of unfurnished and 
unoccupied almshouses, is appropriate.  
 

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
Members consider the information in the report and determine whether the 
introduction of a locally defined discount in respect of almshouses is 
appropriate.  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6a



 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: 

 

 

Financial : FIN/61/20 

The cost of any locally defined discount scheme is borne by the billing authority 
ie: West Lindsey District Council as part of accounting within the Collection Fund. 
 
In 2019/20 there are 12 Almshouses in the district and are all in council tax band 
A.  These are split as below: 
Bardney          – 4 
Kingerby         – 3 
Market Rasen – 4    
Holton le Moor - 1                           Total – 12 properties  
  
The council tax charge for 2019/20 for these Band A properties is: 
  
Bardney  - £1,217.70  
Kingerby  - £1,181.77 
Market Rasen - £1,232.89  
Holton le Moor -          £1,164.83   
 
If all 12 properties were to become liable for an unoccupied and unfurnished 
charge for the full year this would cost this authority: 
 
4 x £1,217.70 =   £4,870.80 
3 x £1,181.77 =   £3,545.31 
4 x £1,232.89 =   £3,698.67 
1 x £1,164.83 =   £1,164.83  
 
Total due       =   £13,279.61 

 

 

 

Staffing : 

Staff resources would be required to write a policy for locally defined discounts 
to be brought to Corporate Policy and Resources committee for approval should 
the outcome of this report be positive. 

Staff resources would be required to monitor and maintain the council tax 
database in respect of all accounts affected if this additional discount was to be 
adopted. 

 

 

Page 12



 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : 

None arising from this report. 

 

 

Data Protection Implications : 

None arising from this report. 

 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: 

None arising from this report. 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations: 

None arising from this report. 

 

 

Health Implications: 

None arising from this report. 

 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report : 

Local Government Finance Act 2003 - 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents  

The Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings) (England) Regulations 2003 
as amended - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/3011/made  

Local Government Finance Act 2012 - 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/17/section/11  

 

 

Risk Assessment :   

Charities already receive an exemption from the council tax if they are 
unoccupied and unfurnished for a period up to 6 months.  Trustees of 
Almshouses already receive this exemption if it is applicable but there is a risk 
that if the discount is extended beyond the 6 months exemption currently enjoyed 
the owners will have less incentive to let their properties to those in need. 
 

Page 13

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/3011/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/17/section/11


 

Currently there are 12 known almshouses on the council tax records but there is 
a risk that there are more, as yet, unidentified properties which could create more 
of a financial impact.    

 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No X  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes X  No   

Page 14



 

Executive Summary 
 

This report has been written in response to a motion raised by Councillor J Summers 
at Full Council on 1 July 2019 in which he was granted Council’s approval to bring 
this matter forward to the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee for 
consideration of approving the exemption of council tax for Unoccupied and 
Unfurnished Almshouses. 
 
The Local Government Finance Act 2012 Section 11 introduced changes within it 
that allowed Local Authorities the flexibility to set local levels of council tax discounts.  
These are known as locally defined discounts and allows the Council the discretion 
to reduce the amount of Council Tax payable not covered by particular individual 
cases or by determining a class of case.  This reduction can be for a specific period 
of time and the liability can be reduced by any amount the Council sees fit.  The cost 
of any discounts that are awarded is borne by the billing authority.  
 

 

Page 15



 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Local Government Finance Act 2012 
 

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 Section 11 introduced changes 
within it that allowed Local Authorities the flexibility to set local levels of 
council tax discounts.  These are known as locally defined discounts and 
allows the Council the discretion to reduce the amount of Council Tax 
payable not covered by particular individual cases or by determining a 
class of case.  This reduction can be for a specific period of time and the 
liability can be reduced by any amount the Council sees fit.  The cost of 
any discounts that are awarded is borne by the billing authority.  
 

 
1.2 Motion raised by Councillor J Summers 
 

At full Council on 1 July 2019 Councillor J Summers raised a motion and 
was granted Council’s approval to bring this matter forward to the 
Corporate Policy and Resources Committee for consideration of 
approving the exemption of council tax for Unoccupied and Unfurnished 
Almshouses. 

 
 The motion: 
 
“Council Tax Exemptions for Empty Almshouses. 

 
What are Alms-houses? 
Almshouses are run by local charities. They provide self-contained low 
cost housing. Mostly for older people who have a low income. Often 
elderly people with no living relatives and homeless with no income or 
personal wealth. 
 
Where. 
Specifically I am referring to the Bell’s Almshouses at Kingerby, which has 
served the parishes of Osgodby, Kingerby and Claxby since 1675 as their 
own social housing for those in ‘need, suffering hardship or distress”. This 
Registered Charity (229226) has a group of trustees made up of two 
parish councils, the local vicar and three volunteer co-opted members. 
 
History. 
The six original Almshouse fell into disrepair in the 1970’s and 1980’s. 
They have since been converted into 3 modern forms of accommodation. 
The work was fully carried out by local volunteers and as you see in the 
photograph a beautiful row of cottages in a tranquil setting has been 
established. The exceptional thing here is local volunteers have provided 
three one bedroom modern homes with no support or funding from west 
Lindsey. 3 social houses free to the district.  Now fully let under licence 
not a tenancy to very needy local people. Due to the fact the residents are 
on licence and not tenants, the trustees do not charge a rent in its legal 
definition. Currently the licence fee is approximately half a commercial fair 
rent. 
 

Page 16



 

The charitable scheme and the latest set of accounts are available for the 
council to see. 
 
Mr. Chairman. 
Based upon the brief information I have presented tonight, the history and 
particularly the resurrection of these modest yet prestigious housing 
assets in West Lindsey. 
 
I am asking for Council’s approval to take this matter forward to our 
Corporate Policy and Resources Committee for consideration of 
approving the exemption of council tax for Unoccupied and Unfurnished 
Alms-houses. 
 
I so move.” 

 
 
2. Almshouses 
 
2.1 What is an Almshouse?   

 
The Almshouse Association Definition of an Almshouse is: 

An almshouse is a unit of residential accommodation (usually a house 
or flat) which belongs to a charity and is provided exclusively to meet 
the charity’s purpose such as but not limited to the relief of financial 
need or infirmity and is occupied or is available for occupation under a 
licence by a qualified beneficiary who may be required to contribute a 
weekly sum towards its maintenance. An almshouse charity is a charity 
which is established to provide one or more almshouses. 

2.2 Number of Almshouses in West Lindsey area to date: 

 There are currently 12 Almshouses in West Lindsey and these are in 
the parishes of Bardney – 4, Osgodby (Kingerby) – 3, Market Rasen – 
4 and Holton le Moor - 1. 

 A search of the council tax base was conducted in order to identify the 
almshouses within West Lindsey.  This has its limitations as the 
Valuation Office does not separately identify almshouses and they do 
not, and are not, required to be specifically defined as such on the 
council tax records. 

 This means that there are no guarantees that the 12 properties 
identified are the only almshouses within the district and should a policy 
be adopted there could be more financial implications to the council 
than those already recognised.    

 
 
 
 

Page 17



 

2.3 Cost if Almshouses were to be awarded 100% locally defined 
discount for one year assuming the current year’s council tax 
charges:   

  
  
Bardney  4 x £1,217.70 =   £  4,870.80 
Kingerby  3 x £1,181.77 =   £  3,545.31 
Market Rasen 4 x £1,232.89 =   £  3,698.67 
Holton le Moor 1 x £1,164.83  =   £  1,164.83  
 

 
Total due            =   £13, 279.61 
 

2.4 Current situation 

 All 12 Almshouses are currently occupied.  

3. Decision Required 

When determining any locally defined discounts consideration should be 
made to ensure: 

 

 the award of any discretionary discount is legal 

 the implementation of any such award is administratively and       
           operationally manageable with existing Council resources 

 the award is financially sustainable 

 the award is precisely and accurately defined to minimise the risk  
of further individuals or groups making a claim  
the award is open to review and can be amended or withdrawn 
on an annual basis 

 in the case of almshouses there are currently 12 known on the 
council tax records but there is a risk that there are more, as yet, 
unidentified properties which could create more of a financial 
impact.    

There is currently no policy in relation to the award of locally defined 
discounts although it was agreed on 3rd June 2014 to award a discount 
in respect of properties subject to flooding.  Therefore if the decision of 
the committee is positive, it will be necessary to produce a more formal 
report and policy structure for this committee’s approval at a later date.   

It would therefore be prudent to prepare a policy for all Locally Defined 
Discounts detailing separately both flooding and Almshouses if this 
were to be the case.  

 
 

Page 18



 

 
 
 
 

Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee 

7 November 2019 

 

     
Subject: Progress and Delivery Report - Period 2 2019/20 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Executive Director of Resources and Head of 
Paid Service 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Ellen King 
Senior Performance Officer 
 
ellen.king@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

 
To consider the Progress and Delivery report for 
period two (June-September) 2019-20.  

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
To assess the performance of the Council’s services through agreed performance 
measures and indicate areas where improvements should be made, having 
regard to the remedial measures set out in the report. 
 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6b



 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: 

There are no legal implications as a result of this report 

 

Financial : FIN/103/20/SL 

There are no financial implications as a result of this report. 

 

Staffing : 

There are no staffing implications as a result of this report 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : 

 

N/A 

 

Risk Assessment : 

N/A 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities : 

N/A 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report:   

N/A 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

 Yes   No X  

Key Decision: 

 Yes   No X  

Page 20



 

1.0 Introduction 
Councillors have received Progress and Delivery (P&D) reports since 2012. These 
performance reports provide information on how the Council is performing using a 
balanced scorecard approach that measures performance of Council services based 
on the following perspectives:  
 

 Customer 

 Financial 

 Process 

 Quality 
 
The purpose of the P&D reporting cycle is to provide Councillors on policy committees 
the opportunity to discuss service based performance with officers and for Councillors 
to be given assurance that proposed measures to remedy consistently below target 
performance are sufficient enough to allow for required improvements. Once the report 
has been received by each policy committee, the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is given the opportunity to scrutinise any challenges made, thus feeding in 
to a cycle of continuous improvement of the Council’s performance management 
processes.  
 
As per the Council’s Constitution, this report provides information on an exception 
basis, i.e. those performance measures that are performing above or below agreed 
targets for at least two consecutive periods. Where performance is below expected 
standards, Team Managers are required to provide explanatory commentary, including 
what remedial action is/will be taken to improve performance to the expected level. 
Performance measures that are performing within agreed tolerance levels are not 
included in this report, though all P&D performance measures continue to be monitored 
corporately, facilitated by the Performance and Programmes Team.  
 
Performance measures for 2019/20 were agreed by a member steering group in 
February 2019. A member steering group is currently working with Officers to agree 
the P&D performance measures and targets for 2020/21, with these due to be signed 
off by Corporate Policy and Resources Committee in January 2020.  
 
How to use this report 
Performance is assessed using the RAG traffic light system as follows: 

 Performance is below agreed tolerance levels 

 Performance is within agreed tolerance levels 

 Performance is better than agreed tolerance levels.  

  
The municipal year is divided into four periods in alignment with the Council’s 
committee schedule. Period one covers April and May, period two runs from June – 
September, period three covers October – December and period four runs from 
January – March. As well as current performance, information for the preceding three 
periods is included in the report on a rolling basis to provide context and to allow for 
comparison. In addition, direction of travel is also included which compares 
performance for the current period to the same period the previous year, i.e. period 
one 2019/20 is compared to period one 2018/19. 
 

↑ Performance has improved 

→ Performance has remained static 

↓ Performance has declined 

  

Page 21



 

Contents 

Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................... 2 
Measures where performance is outside agreed tolerance levels for at least two consecutive 
periods ............................................................................................................................................. 4 
Corporate Health .............................................................................................................................. 8 
Appendix A: Service Exceptions .................................................................................................... 10 

Asset and Facilities Management .................................................................................................. 10 
Benefits .......................................................................................................................................... 10 
Building Control .............................................................................................................................. 11 
Contracts Management and Procurement ..................................................................................... 11 
Council Tax and NNDR .................................................................................................................. 12 

Democratic Services ...................................................................................................................... 12 
Development Management ............................................................................................................ 13 

Enforcement and Community Safety ............................................................................................. 14 
Enterprising Communities .............................................................................................................. 15 
Garden Waste Collection ............................................................................................................... 16 
Healthy District ............................................................................................................................... 16 
Home Choices ............................................................................................................................... 17 

Housing .......................................................................................................................................... 18 
ICT ................................................................................................................................................. 18 

Licensing ........................................................................................................................................ 19 
Local Land Charges ....................................................................................................................... 20 

Regulatory Services ....................................................................................................................... 21 
Street Cleansing ............................................................................................................................ 21 
Systems Development ................................................................................................................... 22 

Town Centre Management............................................................................................................. 22 

Trinity Arts Centre .......................................................................................................................... 23 
Waste Collection ............................................................................................................................ 23 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 22



Executive Summary 
 

1.0 Overall Summary of Performance  

Table one shows a summary of service performance for period two 2019/20 (June-September) which also 

includes the preceding three periods for comparison. A total of 91% of the Council’s key performance 

indicators are either meeting or exceeding target compared to 7% that are below target. Further information 

relating to those areas that have performed above target can be found in the ‘commentary’ column of Table 

2 (measures where performance is outside agreed tolerance for two periods or more), and in the associated 

tables in Appendix A.  

42% of all performance measures are outside agreed tolerance levels (red or green) for period two. Of these, 

36% have been outside agreed tolerances for two periods or more and of these specific indicators:  

 71% have been above target for two periods or more (green), equating to 22 indicators.  

 19% have been below target for two periods or more (red), equating to 6 indicators.  

 The remaining 10% (or 3 indicators) have been outside tolerance for at least two periods but the position 

is mixed, i.e. performance has moved from above to below target (green to red); or from below to above 

target (red to green).  

 2018/19 2019/20 

RAG Period Three Period Four Period One Period Two 

Exceeding target 32% 36% 48% 35% 

Meeting target 45.4% 48% 40.6% 56% 

Below target 21.5% 16% 11.4% 7% 

Missing information 1% 0% 0% 2% 

Table 1: Overall summary of performance   

2.0 Identified Improvement Actions 

Table 2 identifies measures where performance is outside agreed tolerance (red or green) for two 

consecutive periods or more. Where remedial action has been identified to ensure underperformance is 

rectified, this has been included in the ‘commentary’ column.  

Those measures where additional improvement action has been requested by the Council’s Management 

Team have been highlighted below, Members will be advised of progress against these actions on a rolling 

basis through Progress and Delivery reporting.  

Home Choices 

An update on the improvement actions identified at the Home Choices performance workshop held on 10th 

April 2019 is included below. At a recent meeting with the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG), West Lindsey was identified as being in the top 10% of all local authorities for the 

number of people housed in the private sector, as well as for comparatively low usage of temporary and bed 

and breakfast accommodation when benchmarked against other local authorities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



Action(s) Who When Updates 

Temporary accommodation usage  

Understand funding opportunities from the 
burden budget for additional referrals 

Home Choices 
Team Manager 

Period 2 
(2019/20) 

 

Bed and breakfast nights  

Identify escalation process to raise complex 
cases as soon as possible 

Home Choices 
Team Manager /  
Executive Director 
of Resources  

Period 2 
(2019/20) 

Complex cases are now being 
flagged through the service’s 
reporting tools and procedures 
are in place to escalate these. 
This action is now complete.  

Need to ensure potential long-term 
customers and reference in performance 
reports 

Home Choices 
Team Manager 

Ongoing Potential long-term customers are 
flagged through the service’s 
reporting tools. This action is now 
complete.  

Average length of stay in temporary accommodation 

Need to understand maximum and 
minimum time in performance levels 

Home Choices 
Team Manager / 
Senior 
Performance 
Officer 

Period 2 
(2019/20) 

Officers have use of a 
performance reporting tool which 
includes a wealth of data 
including end to end times.  

Make linkages with Enforcement Manager 
in regards to customers being made 
homeless due to arranged closure of 
housing as a result of sub-standard 
conditions 

Home Choices 
Team Manager 

Period 2 
(2019/20) 

The Housing Strategy Manager, 
Enforcement Manager and Home 
Choices Manager work in close 
partnership to identify and support 
customers who are risk of 
homelessness in this situation. 

Homelessness Prevention 

Need to explore Discretionary Housing 
Payment (DHP) usage at WLDC; how are 
the payments used? What is the process 
and identify improvements 

Home Choices 
Team Manager / 
Benefits Team 
Manager 

Period 2 Ongoing.  

Safeguarding 

Need to ensure measure sets are reflective 
of compliance measures 

Home Choices 
Manager / Senior 
Performance 
Officer 

Period 2 The Performance and 
Programmes Team are 
undertaking meetings with all 
Team Managers during period 
three to review performance 
measures across all service 
areas, including safeguarding.  

Monitor performance at service level with 
annual report to Prosperous Communities 
Committee 

Home Choices 
Team Manager 

Ongoing The service has the capability to 
monitor performance at granular 
level through a reporting tool and 
this is being used regularly to 
manage service performance.  

Wellbeing 

Monitor performance at a service level with 
six monthly report to Prosperous 
Communities Committee 

Home Choices 
Team Manager 

Ongoing As above 

All Performance Measures 

Implementation of team training and 
development plan 

Home Choices 
Team Manager 

Ongoing The Home Choices Manager has 
worked with Human Resources to 
identify training needs within the 
team.  

Instigate benchmarking of measures Home Choices 
Team Manager / 
Senior 
Performance 
Officer 

Period 2 
(2019/20) 

The Senior Performance Officer is 
working with other local 
authorities to enable regular 
benchmarking to take place.  

Team Specific 

Development of operational risk register Performance & 
Programmes 
Team Manager 

Period 2 
(2019/20) 

Ongoing 

 

Page 24



 

Measures where performance is outside agreed tolerance levels for at least two consecutive periods  

 

 Preceding three periods Current period 

Service Measure 
P3 

(2018/19) 

P4 

(2018/19) 

P1 

(2019/20) 

Current 

Target 

P2 

(2019/20) 

Commentary 

Asset and 

Facilities 

Management 

Rental income – 

car parks  £44,840 £45,620 £120,588 £190,700 £180,984 

Income is measured on a cumulative basis. Income is £39,745 higher than at 

the same point last year as a result of high car park permit sales and 

additional income from Roseway car park.  

Rental income – 

received assets £130,033 £112,274 £125,405 £671,700 £315,635 

Cumulative income is £157,953 higher than last year. For period two alone, 

income remains on a par with the same period last year. This is a result of 

high occupancy levels. 

Rental portfolio 

voids 
9% 8% 7% 12% 5% 

Performance remains above target 

Benefits End to end 

processing times 
5.2 days 3.7 days 3.9 days 5 days 4.3 days 

The reduction in the number of new claims allows for faster processing of 

other claims as new claims generally take longer to process. 

Number of claims 

older than 30 days 14.3 9.0 15.5 20 39 
Fewer new claims means performance for this indicator is easier to control. 

Building 

Control 

Income received 

£168,889 £220,253 £55,025 £235,700 £142,950 

Income is measured on a cumulative basis. Income has increased by 

£23,865 compared to the same point last year. This is a result of an 

unusually buoyant market and targeted marketing by the service which is 

reflected in a higher number of applications.  

Council Tax 

and NNDR 

Cost of service 

delivery per 

property tax base £5.09 £5.58 £10.15 £9.10 £5.52 

An invoice was received for NNDR during the period which resulted in a lower 

cost of service. Costs are expected to increase in the next period due to the 

recruitment of an additional member of staff to cover an imminent staff 

retirement. 

 

Democratic 

Services 

Member 

satisfaction with 

training & 

development 

events 

100% 100% 100% 87% 92% 

Satisfaction levels have dropped though they remain above target. A new 

way of recording feedback has been introduced during period two in order to 

gather more detailed feedback that will be used to inform improvements to 

future training and development events. 

% of Freedom of 

Information 

requests (FoIs) 

100% 100% 100% 99% 100% Performance remains consistently above target and there has been a 

reduction in the turnaround time of two working days during the period. A 

P
age 25



 

 Preceding three periods Current period 

Service Measure 
P3 

(2018/19) 

P4 

(2018/19) 

P1 

(2019/20) 

Current 

Target 

P2 

(2019/20) 

Commentary 

turned around in 

the statutory time 

limit 

total of 266 FoI requests were received which is an increase of 28 compared 

to the same period last year. 

Number of FoI 

challenges that are 

subsequently 

upheld 

0 0 0 5 0 

Performance remains consistently above target.  

Development 

Management  

 

 

 

% of major 

planning 

applications 

determined on time 

100% 100% 100% 90% 100% 

There have been 16 major applications received during period two, all of 

which were determined on time.   

% of non-major 

planning 

applications 

determined on time 

99% 99% 99% 80% 99% 

There have been 279 non-major applications received during the period, of 

these, 277 were determined on time. 

Planning appeals 

allowed as a % of 

all appeals 

2% 1% 2% 9% 1% 

There were 295 reportable decisions during the period of which 10 

progressed to appeal stage. Of the 10 appeals, 2 were allowed and 8 were 

dismissed. 

Income received  

£349,166 £313,261 £104,310 £1,019,200 £349,327 

Income is down by £114,719 compared to the same period last year.  This is 

a result of a reduction in the number of major fee-paying applications which 

is in line with the national trend. This measure is largely outside the Council’s 

control as it is dependent on income from major planning applications. 

Nationally, there has been a notable decline in these types of planning 

applications. 

Enforcement 

and 

Community 

Safety 

% of housing 

enforcement cases 

closed within 6 

months 

 

N/A N/A 81% 75% 78% 

This is a new measure for 2019/20. No performance issues noted.  

Average number of 

days before a 

Community Safety 

case is closed  

N/A N/A 8  15 6.5 

This is a new measure for 2019/20. Performance has improved consistently 

on a month by month basis for the last 16 months. The target will be 

reviewed for 2020/21 to ensure it is reflective of current performance levels 

as well as being stretch based. 

P
age 26



 

 Preceding three periods Current period 

Service Measure 
P3 

(2018/19) 

P4 

(2018/19) 

P1 

(2019/20) 

Current 

Target 

P2 

(2019/20) 

Commentary 

Number of 

community safety 

cases closed 

following 

compliance with 

Fixed Penalty 

Notices (FPN) 

N/A N/A 25 20 25 

This is a new measure for 2019/20. No performance issues noted.  

Healthy 

District 

Customer 

satisfaction with 

West Lindsey 

leisure facilities 

95% 95% 94% 80% 95% 

Comments received during the period relate to cleanliness of the Leisure 

Centre. Issues relating to cleanliness will be addressed at the next client 

meeting in October. 

Volume of people 

using the West 

Lindsey leisure 

centre 

65,632 92,303 57,131 105,000 107,324 

There were 10,650 additional people using the Leisure Centre during period 

two compared to the same period last year. 

Home 

Choices 

 

Number of 

households in 

temporary 

accommodation 

23 34 20 24 19 

Improved working practices and better liaison with landlords should ensure 

continued improvements in performance during period three. 

Number of cases 

prevented from 

becoming 

homeless within 

the statutory target 

57 58 22 60 57 

Improved working practices have led to long-term cases being significantly 

reduced during the period. 

Number of nights 

spent in B&B 

accommodation 

77 148 59 0 58 

Performance has been impacted due to an incident between 2 flats which 

necessitated the use of B&B accommodation. Significant improvements have 

been made but complex cases will impact figures where they arise. 

Housing 

 

 

 

Average cost of 

Disabled Facilities 

Grants (DFGs) 

£7,094 £6,214 £3,859 £7,500 £5,630 

No issues noted 

Average number of 

days from DFG 132 133 199 120 172 
A new contractor framework has commenced across the county and, in turn, 

new processes for staff and contractors. The majority of simple works are still 

completed within a much smaller timescale. The overall figure is expected to 

P
age 27



 

 Preceding three periods Current period 

Service Measure 
P3 

(2018/19) 

P4 

(2018/19) 

P1 

(2019/20) 

Current 

Target 

P2 

(2019/20) 

Commentary 

referral to 

completion 

steadily reduce as the framework becomes embedded. The target will be 

subject to review at the end of the year to ensure it is aligned with the 

framework timescales.   

Customer 

satisfaction with 

DFGs 

100% 100% 100% 92% 100% 

Satisfaction remains consistently high.  

Licensing 

 

% of licensing 

applications 

processed in the 

target time 

86% 86% 99% 96% 100% 

Turnaround time has remained consistently high since staffing issues within 

the team have been addressed. 

Number of 

licensing 

applications 

received 

282 232 178 130 338 

There has been a 13% increase in applications compared to the same period 

last year, equating to 39 additional applications. A breakdown of application 

types is included in the summary above. 

Local Land 

Charges 

Number of 

searches received 924 633 158 386 865 

The number of searches received is driven by the property market.  

Town Centre 

Management 

 

Average number of 

paid for market 

stalls - Saturday 13 13 9.5 14 7 

Members agreed to undertake a one year trial arrangement between 

Marshall’s Yard and the Council in an effort to improve market performance. 

The findings of this arrangement are due to be reported back to Members in 

period three for decision on a way forward. A three day event is scheduled 

for November as outlined above. 

Income received £28,744 £35,086 £4,785 £17,542 £15,992 

Income is measured on a cumulative basis. Traders are entitled to take a 

total of four weeks annual leave. A number of traders are still to use this 

entitlement and this will have a further negative impact on income for the 

remainder of the year. 

Trinity Arts 

Centre 
Audience figures 5,747 4,548 3,136 4,800 7,023 

Audience figures were at full capacity in July and audiences for family films 

surpassed all predictions in August. 

Waste 

Collection 

Missed black and 

blue bin collections 255 198 211 380 310 

The number of missed collections remains low and this is expected to 

continue as a result of improvements to the staff rotas which have resulted in 

a better service for the customer.   

P
age 28



 

 Preceding three periods Current period 

Service Measure 
P3 

(2018/19) 

P4 

(2018/19) 

P1 

(2019/20) 

Current 

Target 

P2 

(2019/20) 

Commentary 

 Surplus generated 

by the trade waste 

scheme 

N/A N/A £33,220 £79,500 £108,959 

This is a new measure for 2019/20. There are now over 350 customers using 

the scheme. 

Table 2: Measures performing outside agreed tolerance levels for at least two consecutive periods   

Corporate Health  
 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Time taken to pay 

invoices 
N/A 14 days - - Information not provided 

The Performance and Programmes Team 

continues to work with managers to ensure 

information is provided in a timely manner 

% of debtors that are late 

by 30 days or more 
N/A NTS - - 

Information not provided As above 

Average Customer 

satisfaction rating out of 

5* 

N/A 3.5* 3.5* N/A 
There has been an increase in the number 

of compliments received during period two.  
Continue to monitor.  

Complaints received 34 NTS 44 ↓ 

Some of the complaints received during the 

period could have been avoided through 

better management of customer 

expectations and more timely 

communication with customers.  

The Customer Experience Officer continues to 

work with managers and officers to make 

improvements to the quality, accuracy and 

timeliness of the information provided to 

customers.  

% of complaints where 

the Council is at fault 
35% 45% 38% ↓ 

Whilst performance is above target, there 

has been an increase in complaints where 

the Council was found to be at fault.  

Improvement actions have been identified 

relating to changes in processes and 

procedures; staff training and awareness 

sessions and improvements to the quality of 

information published on the Council’s 

website. Additional monitoring has been put in 

place to ensure these improvements are being 

followed through by officers.  

 

P
age 29



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Average number of days 

to resolve a complaint 
6.6 days 21 days 5.9 days ↑ 

Performance remains significantly better 

than target, despite the increase in the 

number of complaints received and the 

complexity of some of the cases which take 

longer to investigate and resolve.  

Continue to monitor. 

Digital demand 38% NTS 33% ↓ 
Demand for online services is reducing. 

Telephone demand has also declined.   

A detailed analysis of year to date 

performance data is planned during October 

to understand patterns in demand.  

% of calls answered 

within 21 seconds 
81% 80% 80% ↓ 

Where calls aren’t answered within target 

time, no patterns are emerging as to why.  

Continue to monitor and review 

Staff absenteeism 0.55 days 0.6 days 0.53 days ↑ Performance remains better than target Continue to monitor 

Number of recorded 

Health and Safety 

incidents 

31 NTS 19 → 
No target is allocated for this measure. No 

RIDDORs reported during the period 
Continue to monitor 

Server and system 

availability 
98% 98% 100% ↑ 

There was no server or system downtime 

identified during the period.  

Continue to monitor.  

Number of data breaches 

resulting in action by the 

Information 

Commissioner’s Office 

(ICO) 

0 0 0 → 
There have been no incidents reported to the 

ICO during the period.  
Continue to monitor 

Table 3: Corporate Health measures  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                

P
age 30



 

Appendix A: Service Exceptions  

Asset and Facilities Management  

Rental income from received assets remains on a par with the same period last year as a result of high occupancy levels. There are currently two offers out 

which will result in the Council achieving 100% lettable unit occupancy during period three.   

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Planned Maintenance 63% 70% 71% ↑ No issues noted 
Continue to monitor 

Rental income – car parks £141,239 £190,700 £180,984 ↓ 

Income is measured on a cumulative basis. 

Income is £39,745 higher than at the same 

point last year as a result of high car park 

permit sales and additional income from 

Roseway car park. 

Continue to monitor 

Rental income – received 

assets 
£157,682 £671,700 £315,635 ↑ 

Cumulative income is £157,953 higher than 

last year. For period two alone, income 

remains on a par with the same period last 

year. This is a result of high occupancy 

levels.  

There are currently two offers out which will 

result in 100% lettable unit occupancy during 

period three. 

Rental portfolio voids 8% 12% 5% ↑ Performance remains above target.  Continue to monitor.  

Table 4: Asset and Facilities Management performance exceptions 

Benefits  

There has been a further loss of Housing Benefit claims due to claimants transferring to Universal Credit. This equates to a reduction of 200 claims or 7.6% 

during period two. The number of Council Tax Support claims where Universal Credit is cited as income has increased which has resulted in increased 

administration for the team.  There is currently a staff vacancy in the team, however, this has not been recruited to as the reducing number of claims means that 

officers are able to cope with demand on the service. At £5.70, the cost per live claim remains within agreed parameters. 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

End to end processing 

times 
5.2 days 5 days 4.3 days ↑ 

The reduction in the number of new claims 

allows for faster processing of other claims 

as new claims generally take longer to 

process.  

Continue to monitor 

P
age 31



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Number of claims older 

than 30 days 
80 20 10 ↑ 

Fewer new claims means performance for 

this indicator is easier to control.  
Continue to monitor 

Table 5: Housing Benefit and Local Council Tax Support performance exceptions 

Building Control  

The service has seen a higher than expected number of applications during the period with 528 applications received. This is an increase of 317 compared to 

the same period last year. This is also reflected in increased income levels. A bulk application from ACIS for replacement windows and doors accounts for nearly 

300 of these applications. Other applications during this period include 108 building notices, 54 full plan applications, one partnership application and 15 

partnership applications from other local authorities and these numbers are consistent with the same period last year. At 78%, market share has increased 

consistently and performance remains within agreed parameters. Overall, work and income levels remain buoyant in what can only be described as challenging 

market conditions and complexities surrounding the construction industry and general economic uncertainty.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Income received £119,085 £235,700 £142,950 ↑ 

Income is measured on a cumulative basis. 

Income has increased by £23.865 

compared to the same point last year. This 

is a result of an unusually buoyant market 

and targeted marketing by the service 

which is reflected in a higher number of 

applications.  

Continue to target our core business 

Cost of delivering the 

service to the Council  
£8,479 N/A £21,730 ↓ 

Performance is measured against direction 

of travel. The cost of delivering the service 

has risen by £13,251 compared to the 

same period last year. This is a result of 

staff vacancies which have led to an 

increase in the usage of agency staff.  

A recruitment process is underway to fill 

vacant posts within the team which will lower 

costs in the short-term.  

Table 6: Building Control performance exceptions 

Contracts Management and Procurement 

The service continues to support the Council with a number of procurement exercises. Of the four contracts awarded during the period, one was awarded to a 

local supplier.  

P
age 32



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

% of contracts awarded to 

local suppliers 
22% 20% 25% ↑ No issues noted.   Continue to monitor. 

Table 7: Contracts Management and Procurement performance exceptions 

Council Tax and NNDR 

Rates of collection and the amount collected for both Council Tax and NNDR are performing within agreed parameters. Recovery action resumed in May with 

6,448 reminder notices issued to date.  This represents an increase of 50 reminders for the same period last year when 6,398 reminder notices were issued.  

For 2019/20 to date 2,789 summonses have been issued, which is a reduction from period two last year of 79.  There has been an increase in collectible debit 

of £3.6 million compared to 2018/19. At present, 78% of council taxpayers are paying by direct debit and 9,274 taxpayers have opted to pay via 12 monthly 

instalments which means more Council Tax should be paid during February and March than ever before.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Cost of service per 

property tax base 
£7.32 £9.10 £5.52 ↑ 

An invoice was received for NNDR during 

the period which resulted in a lower cost of 

service.  

Costs are expected to increase in the next 

period due to the recruitment of an additional 

member of staff to cover an imminent staff 

retirement.  

Table 8: Council Tax and NNDR performance exceptions 

Democratic Services  

This has been a busy period for the team who have been working with the Member Development Group, reflecting on the impact and effectiveness of the 

Member inductions and the next steps for Member Training.  Steps are being taken to bring some of the softer skill training to an on-line platform and trials of 

this will commence during period three.  The Civic Team held a very successful annual civic service; receiving a number of positive comments from civic 

dignitaries in attendance.  Work is under way to welcome a group of Year 5 and 6 students to the Council Chamber to learn about council decision making as 

part of Local Democracy Week in October.  If successful the team will use the format as a template to engage with other local schools moving forward. Despite 

the increase in Freedom of Information (FoI) requests received, turnaround times remain consistently at 100%. The team has been proactive in working with 

Managers to reduce the number of requests that require a response from officers through increased publication of information on the Council’s website. This 

has resulted in 27% of all requests being handled directly by the Freedom of Information Officer and an improvement of two days in turnaround time. 

 

  

P
age 33



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Member satisfaction with 

training and development 

events 

100% 87% 92% ↓ 

Satisfaction levels have dropped though 

they remain above target. A new way of 

recording feedback has been introduced 

during period two in order to get more 

detailed feedback.  

The information gathered will be used to make 

improvements to training and development 

events where applicable.  

% of Freedom of 

Information requests (FoI) 

turned around in the 

statutory time limit 

99% 99% 100% ↑ 

Performance remains consistently above 

target and there has been a reduction in the 

turnaround time of two working days during 

the period. A total of 266 FoI requests were 

received which is an increase of 28 

compared to the same period last year.  

Continue to monitor 

Number of FOI challenges 

that are subsequently 

upheld 

0 5 0 → No issues noted Continue to monitor 

Table 9: Democratic Services performance exceptions 

Development Management 

Monthly fee income from planning applications remains variable; strong performance in June was followed by lower returns for the remainder of period two. 

Whilst the number of applications received overall remains above target, there has been a reduction in the number of larger fee-paying major applications and 

an increase in non-major applications, in line with the national trend. This explains the reduction in income with current forecasting predicting a £100k shortfall 

at year end.  Team performance remains consistently high in terms of the number of applications determined on time. The quality of decision-making also 

remains strong with 8 out of the 10 appeal decisions received, being dismissed. The 2 allowed appeals equates to only 1% of overall reportable decisions made 

by the service within the period.    

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Received planning 

applications 
493 460 517 ↑ 

There have been 24 more applications 

compared to the same period last year 

though there has been a drop in the number 

of major applications, in line with national 

trends.  

 

Continue to monitor 

P
age 34



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

% of major planning 

applications determined 

on time 

100% 90% 100% → 
There have been 16 major applications 

received during period two, all of which were 

determined on time.   

Continue to monitor 

% of non-major 

applications determined 

on time 

99% 80% 99% → 
There have been 279 non-major 

applications received during the period, of 

these, 277 were determined on time.  

Continue to monitor 

Appeals allowed as a % 

of all appeals 
2% 9% 1% ↑ 

There were 295 reportable decisions during 

the period of which 10 progressed to appeal 

stage. Of the 10 appeals, 2 were allowed 

and 8 were dismissed.  

Continue to monitor 

Received income £464,046 £1,019,200 £349,327 ↓ 

Income is down by £114,719 compared to 

the same period last year.  This is a result of 

a reduction in the number of major fee-

paying applications which is in line with the 

national trend.  

This measure is largely outside the Council’s 

control as it is dependent on income from 

major planning applications. Nationally, there 

has been a notable decline in these types of 

planning applications.  

Table 10: Development Management performance exceptions 

Enforcement and Community Safety 

The number of licensed properties in the Gainsborough South-West ward has decreased during this period. This is due to Officers working proactively to identify 

unlicensed properties. The total number of licensed properties now stands at 644, with the overall total at the end of the scheme expecting to exceed 700. This 

is significantly higher than the estimated 550.  A resource issue has impacted the investigation speed and outcomes across the housing work area, resulting in 

less officer time available to address cases. This has not impacted the team’s ability to deliver with priority cases, however does remain an issue. Plans are in 

place to address these resource issues and an outcome is expected by the middle of October. Across both housing and planning enforcement, the number of 

cases closed within 6 months remains high with an average of 80% across both work areas. There continues to be a consistent case demand with 16 per month 

(housing) and 19 per month (planning). Likewise, an average of 80% of cases within planning enforcement are given an initial response within 20 working days.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Average time before a 

community safety case is 

closed 

11 days 15 days 6.5 days ↑ 
Performance has improved consistently on a 

month by month basis for the last 16 months.  

The target will be reviewed for 2020/21 to 

ensure it is reflective of current performance 

levels as well as being stretch based.  

 

P
age 35



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Number of community 

safety cases closed 

following compliance with 

Fixed Penalty Notices 

(FPN) 

N/A 80 101 N/A No issues noted  Continue to monitor 

The number of private 

sector properties where 

conditions have been 

improved 

N/A 28 14 N/A 

This is a new performance measure for 

2019/20, therefore there is no baseline 

comparison available. A staffing resource 

has impacted upon the team’s capacity 

since July.  

Resourcing issues are expected to be 

resolved during October and performance 

should therefore be on target for period three 

onwards. A review of the reporting system is 

also being undertaken to ensure information is 

being recorded accurately by officers.  

% of housing enforcement 

cases closed within 6 

months 

N/A 75% 78% N/A 

This is a new performance measure for 

2019/20, therefore there is no baseline 

comparison available.  

Continue to monitor 

% of planning 

enforcement cases closed 

within 6 months 

N/A 75% 86% N/A 

This is a new performance measure for 

2019/20, therefore there is no baseline 

comparison available.  

Continue to monitor 

Table 11: Enforcement performance exceptions 

Enterprising Communities  

A number of service vacancies have been filled during the period, Including a Project Support Officer and Community Broadband Officer. Our CCTV Service 

continues to respond to high volumes of incidents including shoplifting and anti-social behaviour. A total of 1,377 incidents were monitored during the period, 

with 143 reviews completed. Hemswell Cliff Managed Estate works continue to achieve positive results including improved maintenance of open green spaces 

and a continued reduction in anti-social behaviour incidents. Requests for funding from our Match Funding Grant have increased this year resulting in more 

projects being funded and an on-going pipeline. A total of £44,900 in community grants has been awarded during period two which is within agreed parameters. 

Initial exploration work has started on developing proposals for a refresh of Gainsborough Bus Station as part of our Community Transport Programme. 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Number of Townwatch 

customers using the 

CCTV service 

N/A 50 31 N/A No issues noted Continue to monitor 

Table 12: Enterprising Communities performance exceptions 

P
age 36



 
Garden Waste Collection 

New subscriptions have been consistently higher than anticipated throughout period two. The majority of new subscriptions are for new build properties and for 

those who have gone on to subscribe for an additional bin. Previous issues relating to the outsourced mail room and outsourced printing of bin subscription 

stickers have now been rectified. This has resulted in decreased demand on Customer Services staff; more efficient crew rounds and a reduction in the number 

of missed bins. Crews continue to reject bins that are presented without a subscription. A new procurement exercise is underway which should lead to 

improvements in the production of welcome packs for customers signing up to the service in year three.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Subscription take up 58.3% 58% 64.2% ↑ 

Crews continue to monitor bin presentation 

and reject any bins that are not subscribed 

to the service. There has been an increase 

in subscriptions later in the year due to 

residents moving in to new build properties 

and customers signing up for additional bins.  

A clear communications strategy is in place to 

inform residents about the service for year 

three. This includes ensuring that all new 

housing developments receive the relevant 

literature. 

Income generated by the 

Garden Waste service 
£897,032 £780,615 £914,095 ↑ 

The weather during period two has 

contributed to an increase in demand for the 

garden waste service. The majority of new 

income is a result of residents moving into 

new build properties; or customers signing 

up for an additional bin. Income is £17,063 

higher than the same period last year, which 

equates to an additional 568 bins.  

As above 

% of garden waste 

collections that were 

missed  

N/A 0.2% 0.07% N/A 

Turnaround time for residents to receive bin 

subscription stickers has reduced to five 

days as a result of producing the stickers in 

house. This has led to improvements in the 

round sheet for crews, resulting in fewer 

missed bins.  

Continue to monitor 

Table 13: Garden Waste performance exceptions 

Healthy District  

The Active Communities Manager has now been appointed and outreach usage is steadily increasing. Satisfaction is centred around the Health Suite and in 

light of some of the feedback received regarding cleanliness; an ongoing monthly report will be requested at the next client meeting in October to analyse the 

comments and complaints and to identify improvements to the service provided to the customer.  

P
age 37



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Customer satisfaction with 

West Lindsey leisure 

facilities 

95% 75% 96% ↑ 
Comments received during the period 

mainly relate to cleanliness of the Leisure 

Centre.  

Issues relating to cleanliness will be 

addressed at the next client meeting in 

October. 

Volume of people using 

the West Lindsey leisure 

centre 

96,674 57,131 107,324 ↑ 
There were 10,650 additional people using 

the Leisure Centre during period two 

compared to the same period last year.  

No issues noted.  

Table 14: Healthy District performance exceptions 

Home Choices 

This period has seen a refocus of the private rented sector’s work objectives to assist Prevention officers with accessing the private rented sector. This has led 

to improved liaison between the Private Rented Officer and Landlords. A total of 19 people have been housed from the Housing Register during period two. A 

recent meeting with the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government, West Lindsey was identified as being in the top 10% of all local authorities 

for the number of people housed in the private sector, as well as for comparatively low usage of temporary and bed and breakfast accommodation.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Number of households 

using temporary 

accommodation 

23 24 19 ↑ Performance is continuing to improve  

Improved working practices and better liaison 

with landlords should ensure continued 

improvements in performance during period 

three. 

The number of cases 

prevented from becoming 

homeless within the 

statutory target (56 days) 

80 120 57 ↓ 
Improved working practices have led to long-

term cases being significantly reduced 

during the period.  

As above  

The number of cases 

relieved from 

homelessness within the 

statutory target (56 days) 

N/A 60 68 N/A As above As above 

Number of nights spent in 

B&B accommodation 
123 0 58 ↑ 

Performance has been impacted due to an 

incident between 2 flats which necessitated 

the use of B&B accommodation.  

Significant improvements have been made 

but complex cases will impact figures where 

they arise.  

Table 15: Home Choices performance exceptions 

P
age 38



 
Housing 

The number of referrals for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) is higher than average and if this trend continues it may impact on the level of resources need to 

complete the works in a timely manner. A new contractor framework has been introduced within period two which is likely to impact on some of the overall 

completion timescales. At this stage, completion times remain consistent and continue to be monitored.  The work relating to empty homes in the Gainsborough 

South-West Ward continues to be positive and the overall number of long-term empty properties continues to decrease.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Customer satisfaction with 

DFGs 
100% 92% 100% → Satisfaction remains consistently high Continue to monitor 

Average cost of Disabled 

Facilities Grants (DFGs) 
£7,259 £7,500 £5,630 ↑ No issues noted Continue to monitor 

Average number of days 

from DFG referral to 

completion 

124 120 172 ↓ 

A new contractor framework has 

commenced across the county and, in turn, 

new processes for staff and contractors. The 

majority of simple works are still completed 

within a much smaller timescale.  

The overall figure is expected to steadily 

reduce as the framework becomes 

embedded. The target will be subject to review 

at the end of the year to ensure it is aligned 

with the framework timescales.   

Table 16: Housing performance exceptions 

ICT  

Following a performance workshop held in June 2019, a new set of performance measures have been identified which provide a much better picture of service 

demand, activity and productivity compared to the previous set of measures. This will enable continuous learning and improvement within the ICT service. These 

new measures have been signed off by the ICT Board, who agreed that reporting against these new measures should begin straightaway. The remainder of 

2019/20 is being used as a baseline with targets to be allocated from 2020/21. In terms of team activity, the continued work on cyber security protected the 

Council from serious cyber-attacks such as the DejaBlue Worm and the BioStar security leak which violated 23 gigabytes of data and 30 million records in 

organisations such as the Metropolitan Police. In total during period two, 300,000 ransomware attacks were detected and 56% of emails were classed as spam.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Number of helpdesk 

requests received 
N/A N/A 547 N/A 

Of the requests received, 8 were received 

via email; 265 were reported directly by the 

ICT team and 274 were reported by officers 

using the helpdesk portal.  

The ICT team will use this information to 

analyse demand and the type and frequency 

of requests received in order to make 

improvements where possible.  

 

P
age 39



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Average time taken to 

action helpdesk requests 
N/A N/A 3.8 days N/A 

This measure will be used to monitor 

turnaround times with a view to making 

improvements to the service provided 

As above 

Number of change 

management requests 

received during the period 

N/A N/A 3 N/A 

This measure will be used in conjunction 

with the measure below to identify where 

improvements can be made to the service 

As above 

Number of change 

requests completed 

during the period 

N/A N/A 21 N/A 

The number of change requests completed 

during the period is higher than the number 

received as the majority have been carried 

over from the previous period.  

As above 

Table 17: ICT performance exceptions 

Licensing   

Income for period two has increased by 10.3% (or £5,336.00) compared to the same period last year. One reason for this is an increase in applications equating 

to 13% (or 39 applications). The following Licensing income streams have all contributed to extra income within the period: alcohol, animal welfare, gambling 

and scrap metal.  Animal welfare applications continue to be submitted throughout the year as a direct result of the 2018 revised legislation.  Conversely, taxi 

income has reduced when compared to the same period in 18/19, however it remains within budget.  Overall, licensing income is currently operating ahead of 

its projected budget by £11k however, this will even out over the remainder of the year.  The number of applications received is largely demand led and to a 

great extent beyond the Council’s control, so there will always be a degree of fluctuation in the amount of applications received. 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Income received £71,573 £118,700 £80,486 ↑ 

Cumulative income for the year to date has 

increased by £8,913 compared to last year. 

For period two alone, income is up 10% 

compared to period two last year. This is a 

result of an increase in applications, as 

explained in further detail in the summary 

above.  

Continue to monitor 

Number of applications 

received 
299 260 338 ↑ 

There has been a 13% increase in 
applications compared to the same period 
last year, equating to 39 additional 
applications. A breakdown of application 
types is included in the summary above.  

Continue to monitor 

P
age 40



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

% of applications 

processed within the 

target time 

96% 96% 100% ↑ 
Turnaround time has remained consistently 

high since staffing issues within the team 

have been addressed.  

Continue to monitor 

Table 18: Licensing performance exceptions 

Local Land Charges 

The focus for period two has been to reduce turnaround times following a new officer starting post in the team in June. This was after a resource issue was 

highlighted in 2018/19. Turnaround times have begun to reduce month on month since June 2019 although staff absence and time required for new staff training 

has impacted performance. Turnaround times reduced significantly in September to 9.8 days and the service is striving to continuously improve performance, 

demonstrating the benefit of additional staff resource. Market Share remains on target at 65% and this is significantly higher than other local authorities in the 

area where market share is typically in the 30-40% margin. 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Number of searches 

received 
924 772 865 ↓ 

The number of searches received is driven 

by the property market 
 

Income received £56,309 N/A £49,965 ↓ 

Performance is measured on a cumulative 

basis against direction of travel. Income for 

the first half of 2019/20 is down by £6,344 

compared to the same period last year. The 

level of income is largely driven by the 

property market which has slowed over the 

last year. 

As above.  

Time taken to process a 

search 
11.3 days 10 days 14.9 days ↓ 

Turnaround times have been impacted by 

staff absence during June, July and August, 

as well as training a new member of staff.  

Turnaround times have begun to decrease 

month by month since a new officer 

commenced post within the team in June. 

Performance improved significantly during 

September with turnaround times reducing to 

9.8 days. This trend is expected to continue 

for the rest of the year and the year-end target 

is expected to be met. 

Table 19: Local Land Charges performance exceptions 

 

P
age 41



 
Regulatory Services 

The additional officer working within the Food Safety area is now undertaking inspections and the increase in activity can be seen with improved performance 

levels from July onwards. The Council is on target to achieve 90% of inspections as per its work plan. Alongside this, the number of food premises rated at least 

3* remains consistent. Officers continue to work positively with businesses and there is continuing demand for (charged) inspection revisits. The speed at which 

Environmental Protection cases are closed remains consistently high with an average of 60 service requests received per month.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

% of food premises rated 

at 3* or above 
97% 95% 97% → No issues noted Continue to monitor 

Number of Environmental 

Protection requests 

received 

N/A 82 258 N/A No issues noted Continue to monitor 

% of Environmental 

Protection cases closed 

within 6 months 

N/A 75% 99% N/A No issues noted Continue to monitor 

Table 20: Regulatory Services performance exceptions 

Street Cleansing  

Street cleansing costs per household for last year were £12.21 which is in the top quartile of all authorities benchmarked through APSE. The cost per household 

for period two 2019/20 is £12.95, this represents a 2.04% increase from period one 2019/20 and a 6.6% increase from 2018/19, mainly due to rising fuel costs. 

The service continues to have strong links with communities, the Great British Spring Clean initiative helped increase the number of voluntary litter picks in April/ 

May and has helped in keeping residents engaged in further community tidy ups. There have been 24 volunteer litter picks during the period, meaning 

performance is exactly on target as well as representing a 4.34% increase in activity compared to the same period last year. With further community engagement, 

this trend is expected to continue. Since the introduction of Schedule 4 the amount of abandoned shopping trolleys found/collected from our streets has reduced 

by 70%. During period two, there were 247 instances of fly-tipping of which 244 (or 98.8%) were collected and disposed of within the Service Level Agreement. 

The street cleansing service continues to strive to deliver an excellent service to its stakeholders and again for period two compliments far exceed complaints. 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Income generated £15,847 £26,200 £45,483 ↑ 

One off payments have been made in July 

2019, including Hemswell Management Fee, 

weed spraying and the collection of 

abandoned shopping trollies.  

Continue to monitor 

Table 21: Street cleansing performance exceptions 

P
age 42



 
Systems Development 

Proactive monitoring and management of services ensures high standards of performance are maintained.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Level of LLPG standard 

achieved 
Gold 

National 

standard 
Gold → Performance remains above target Continue to monitor 

Website availability  100% 98% 100% → Performance remains above target Continue to monitor 

Table 22: Systems Development performance exceptions 

Town Centre Management  

Performance remains significantly below target for Gainsborough market. Stall take up by traders on the Tuesday market has declined with a take-up of 291 

stalls compared to 377 in the same period last year. This represents a 17.5% decrease. For the Saturday market, there has been a take-up of 124 stalls 

compared to 279 for the same period last year, representing a 55.5% decrease. In-house led operational changes have now been implemented which have led 

to efficiency savings being made. Further options are to be viewed, the Council is seeking to understand options around different delivery methods for 

Gainsborough Market, and meanwhile an interim arrangement with Marshall’s Yard is in place. The Gainsborough Farmers Market has now been relocated 

onto Market Street, Gainsborough, in order to forge better links with Marshall’s Yard & the Gainsborough Market Place and to bring additional footfall into the 

Market Place. The Farmers’ Market continues to perform strongly with stall take-up at 100%. Additional traders making enquiries are being encouraged to take 

a stall on the Gainsborough Market and this has led to a small increase in stall take-up on the Saturday market on days when the Farmer’s Market is in operation.  

The three day Gainsborough Food and Garden Festival in June was well supported and well received.  A second three day event is scheduled for November. 

This is a Christmas themed event which incorporates the Christmas Light Switch On.   

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Average number of paid 

for market stalls – 

Tuesday  

38 37 31.5 ↓ 

The number of market stalls continues to be 

affected by adverse weather conditions, 

traders giving notice of their intention to 

vacate their stalls, ill-health of traders and a 

cancelled market in August (due to weather 

warnings being issued.  

Members agreed to undertake a one year trial 

arrangement between Marshall’s Yard and the 

Council in an effort to improve market 

performance. The findings of this arrangement 

are due to be reported back to Members in 

period three for decision on a way forward. A 

three day event is scheduled for November as 

outlined above.  

 

P
age 43



 

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Average number of paid 

for market stalls - 

Saturday 

16 14 7 ↓ As above As above 

Income received £12,149 £17,542 £15,992 ↓ 
Income is down as a result of a reduction in 

traders.  

Traders are entitled to take a total of four 

weeks annual leave. A number of traders are 

still to use this entitlement and this will have a 

further negative impact on income for the 

remainder of the year.  

Table 23: Town Centre Management performance exceptions 

Trinity Arts Centre 

Trinity Arts Centre (TAC) has enjoyed a successful period with great achievements in engaging young people and showcasing local community talent. In June 

TAC welcomed hundreds of primary school children from the district who enjoyed free tickets to see ‘The Flying Bath’ by Little Angel Theatre. For the duration 

of 2019, TAC has enjoyed a strong partnership with the award-winning London based theatre company who have sent an artist into local schools to engage 

them in special ‘making’ workshops. The project concludes in November with a final performance of Emily Rising. TAC is one of only ten venues across the UK 

to be part of this unique and vital arts project. In July the Arts Centre enjoyed its busiest month of community productions in its history. The usual community 

group productions were hosted along with the addition of new groups moving from other theatres to perform at Trinity. Gainsborough Musical Theatre Society 

in particular enjoyed their most ever successful production achieving over 80% capacity and turning over the most money ever seen in box office sales.  August 

was a successful month of family films with most screenings selling out and additional ones having to be added to the schedule. In September, Trinity Arts 

Centre enjoyed a Gainsborough first with Britain’s Got Talent and Ab Fab Movie star ‘La Voix’ launching her sold out UK tour from TAC. Income for the period 

came in at £13.377.00 with an average spend per head on secondary sales of £2.10.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Audience figures 6,414 4,800 7,023 ↑ 
Audience figures were at full capacity in July 

and audiences for family films surpassed all 

predictions in August.  

N/A 

Table 24: Trinity Arts Centre performance exceptions 

Waste Collection 

The recycling rate has continued to rise due to the green waste service exceeding its targets once again (54%). The Council is working closely with the 

Lincolnshire waste partnership to be able to offer a more comprehensive recycling collection service; and to reduce the amount of contamination within the 

P
age 44



 
recycling stream. To coincide with the attempts to reduce contamination a new county wide Mixed Dry Recycling Strategy has been agreed and all the districts 

web-sites have been aligned to ensure a consistent message. Trials of both food waste and separate paper/card collections have begun in several districts, the 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership Strategic Officers Working Group are in talks with the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 

regarding food waste collection roll out before the 2023 deadline. The cost of service is slightly higher than the target which was set before the national public 

sector pay rise was agreed and implemented. However, the Council still represents good value for money when benchmarked with other local authorities.  

Measure 
Baseline Perf 

(P2 2018/19) 
Target  

Current Perf  

(P2 2019/20) 
DOT What is affecting performance? 

What do we need to do to improve and by 

when? 

Surplus generated by the 

trade waste scheme 
N/A £79,500 £108,959 N/A 

There are now over 350 customers using the 

scheme.  
Continue to monitor 

Number of missed black 

and blue bin collections 
318 380 310 ↑ 

The number of missed collections remains 

low and this is expected to continue as a 

result of improvements to the staff rotas 

which have resulted in a better service for 

the customer.   

Continue to roll out service improvements.  

% of missed bins 

collected within the 

Service Level Agreement  

96% 95% 98%  As above As above 

Table 25: Waste Collection performance exceptions 

P
age 45



 
 
 
 

 
Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee 

Thursday, 7 November 
2019 

 

     
Subject: Review of Safeguarding Procedure 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Executive Director of Resources 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Rachel Parkin 
Home Choices Team Manager 
 
rachel.parkin@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

To agree to a county wide safeguarding policy 
and accept recommendations re policy changes, 
training and internal procedures.   

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S):  
To support a shared county wide safeguarding policy and the stated 
amendments to the current policy. 
 
To agree to the refined Safeguarding training programme 
 
To agree to the amended Safeguarding referral process 
 
To accept the introduction of Safeguarding representatives 
 
Delegation to be given to the Executive Director of Economic and Commercial 
Growth for minor amendments and housekeeping in consultation with the chair 
of Corporate Policy and Resources and Joint Staff Consultative Committee.   
 

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 6c



IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: 

(N.B.) Where there are legal implications the report MUST be seen by the MO 

 

Financial : FIN/78/20/SL 

No financial implications arising from this report. Training is within 
current budget and no extra is needed. All training will be implemented in 
accordance with terms and conditions and current working practices. No 
regrading will be needed. 

(N.B.) All committee reports MUST have a Fin Ref 

 

Staffing : 

(N.B.) Where there are staffing implications the report MUST have a HR Ref 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : 

 

 

Data Protection Implications : 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities : 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations : 

 

Health Implications: 

 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report:   

 

 

Risk Assessment :   

 Page 47



 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No x  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes   No x  

Page 48



Executive Summary 
 
West Lindsey Safeguarding Policy is due for review in 2019.  This is to be reviewed 
in line with changing local and national priorities.   
 
Each District Council in Lincolnshire has the same priorities in regards to 
safeguarding and during 2019 at least 3 authorities were due to review their own 
policies.  Each current Council has its own separate policy with the same agenda 
and slightly different wording in regards to the same priorities.  Each has 7 different 
officers reviewing the same priorities and objectives.  As such the policy there is 
the aim for one single policy to be adopted by each authority.   
 
Priorities for the safeguarding policy come from the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership 
and statutory requirements managed by the Lincolnshire Children’s Safeguarding 
Partnership (LSCP) and Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB).  It is 
through these partnerships that all authorities submit the same audits and 
monitoring.  These partnerships are where the Authority gathers its learning from 
the serious case reviews and domestic homicide reviews.  The introduction of 
Domestic Abuse and Modern Slavery Charter’s is direct from the LSAB and 
reference is made to these within the specific chapter areas.   
 
Management of the policy will be held with the District Safeguarding group which 
meets 6 weekly with representatives from each authority and the overarching 
boards.  
 
Safeguarding referral procedures will be different in line with each District Council’s 
staffing structures but the aim will be that all will work from one standard policy.  
This should help to streamline audits, help to disseminate messages across 
authorities quicker and also save on staff time by operating this policy as a 
collective rather than individually.   
 
The aim is to make sure that all staff working with residents across Lincolnshire will 
work towards the same priorities, be aware of the same risks and as such be 
trained accordingly to recognise the emerging threats.  Having a joint policy 
reduces risk for a single Council if something is missed 
 
The review includes changes to personnel since 2015, changes to job roles, 
legislation and the inclusion of partnership agencies such as Wellbeing Lincs.   The 
policy also has reference to the introduction of charters relating to Domestic Abuse 
and Modern Slavery to enable self-audits to take place each year to monitor 
practice.  
 
New additions to the policy include the introduction of a stalking chapter to highlight 
the emerging threat as well as the recognition of County Lines and Cuckooing as 
threats within Lincolnshire and awareness to tackle the issue.  
 
Changes to the safeguarding training are to make training more relevant staff roles 
and bring it in line with current training procedures managed by the HR team. 

Page 49



 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 This policy is a review of the existing Safeguarding, Support and 

Promoting Wellbeing Policy 2016-2019. 
 

1.2 This policy is updated with changes in priorities from the Safer 
Lincolnshire Partnership, Lincolnshire Children’s Safeguarding 
partnership and Lincolnshire Adults Safeguarding Board.   
 

1.3 The policy is aimed to be shared across the County with all District 
Councils to ensure a common term of reference.  All District councils 
currently have individual policies but they will all refer to the same 
priorities.   
 

1.4 The policy intends to give officers an understanding of why we 
“safeguard” vulnerable persons, the responsibilities attached to this, 
the implications of not fulfilling these responsibilities, naming the 
designated staff members within the organisation and what the 
procedures are when an incident arises.   
 

1.5 This helps to inform officers of the type of situations that may be 
presented and the type of issues a customer’s household may be 
experiencing.   
 

1.6 In line with the revised policy and updates to the LSCP and LSAB 
training agendas the safeguarding training pathway has been revised.   
 

1.7 The procedure for reporting a concern has been made more clear and 
relates now to scenarios and how to report rather than just who to report 
to.   
 

1.8 The introduction of “Safeguarding Representatives” across frontline 
teams to embed the policy across the council and create resilience within 
the organisation.    
 

2.  Changes to the West Lindsey District Council Safeguarding Policy 
 

2.1 The policy is largely updated with weblinks to make it easier for staff to 
access further information, should they need it.   

 
2.2 The policy has 2 major changes which represent emerging themes 

nationally and locally.  These are the introduction of Chapters 8 and 9 – 
County Lines and Cuckooing and Stalking.   

 
 2.3.1 Cuckooing is when a stranger takes over another person’s 

home, usually a vulnerable person, and uses it as a place to sell, supply 
or store drugs. These people may then invite other people to stay without 
asking the residents' permission and they may even bully or threaten 
that person to leave their own home. 

 

Page 50



 

 2.3.2  County lines means groups or gangs using young people or 
vulnerable adults to carry and sell drugs from borough to borough, and 
across county boundaries 

 
2.4 The telephone number to report a concern for those who do not have IT 

access has been removed.  This is due to resource implications but asks 
instead for the concern to be reported via a manager with IT access.  

 
2.5 Clearer definition on the terminology of “coercive behaviour” in Chapter 

4  
 
2.6 Clearer definition of the term “modern slavery” as well as the inclusion 

of the modern slavery statement.   
 
2.7 Reference also to the modern slavery and domestic abuse charters as 

a means of auditing the work West Lindsey does to ensure we remain 
up to date with developments and can document the work undertaken 
by the organisation.   

 
3.   Introduction of Safeguarding Representatives 
 
3.1 The introduction of safeguarding representatives is to create resilience 

for the Council so that it does not have to rely on one or two people.  
 
3.2 The representative will be able to disseminate key pieces of information 

such as training, feedback on domestic homicide reviews and serious 
case reviews to their teams via team meetings. 

 
3.3 The representative will also be a point of contact for any queries their 

colleagues may have re how to report a concern or how to signpost a 
customer to another service such as Wellbeing Lincs. 

 
3.4 To be a point of support for a colleague when they have to make a 

safeguarding referral through the appropriate channels.   
 
3.5 The representative will be able to further safeguarding referral made by 

their own team and discuss what actions the officer then needs to take.  
 
3.6 Representatives would represent mainly front line services.  These are 

Customer Services, Enforcement, Home Choices, Revenues and 
Benefits and Waste.  This is due to the analysis of where the majority of 
safeguarding referrals for the council originated.   

 
3.7 Representatives and safeguarding officers will be available for the teams 

not mentioned in 3.6 to offer advice and support.  
 
4.  Safeguarding Training Pathway 
 
4.1 Job roles have been given a grouping in line with the training 

requirements outlined by LSAB and LSCP.  The training courses can be 
seen in Appendix 2 which outlines what groups will be offered what 
training.  There are 5 groups which are identified as follows: 

Page 51



 

 
4.1.1 Group A – considerable professional and organisational 

responsibility for safeguarding. They have to be able to act on 
concerns and contribute appropriately to local and national 
policies and legislation and procedures. This group could 
potentially contribute to assessing and planning where there are 
safeguarding concerns. Named and designated lead 
professionals with responsibility for safeguarding and have an 
oversight of the development of systems, policies and 
procedures within their organisation to facilitate good working 
partnerships with allied agencies to ensure consistency in 
approach and quality of service. Members of the Lincolnshire 
safeguarding board and partnerships and their subgroups with 
local strategic response for safeguarding 

Designated Safeguarding Officer, Safeguarding Coordinator and 
Safeguarding Lead Officer, People and Organisational 
Development Team Manager 

 
Group B - those in regular contact or have a period of intense but 
irregular contact with children, young people and or parents/ 
carers who may be in a position to identify concerns about 
maltreatment.  This is to include staff for example from Home 
Choices, ASB, Team Managers and Safeguarding 
Representatives. 
 
Group C - this group is for staff who are in regular contact or have 
a period of intense but irregular contact with children, young 
people, adults who may be in a position to identify concerns about 
maltreatment.  This includes for example staff from Customer 
Services, Revenues and Benefits, Environmental Health, 
planning and licensing teams.  
 
Group D – This includes all staff who do not in the main have front 
facing roles, which will include staff for example from Democratic 
Services, Planning and Building Control, Electoral Services, 
Communications 
 
Group E – This includes all staff who do not have access to IT 

 
4.2  When asking to recruit to a post, consideration to be given as to the 

safeguarding training commitments required for that particular post and 
then stated in the formal documentation.  This is dependent on the 
descriptions outlined in Appendix 2.   

 
4.3 Team Managers will be asked to identify job roles within their current 

structures fit within which group and report back to the Safeguarding 
coordinator.    

 
4.4 All new starters will be reported via HR to the Safeguarding Coordinator 

on a monthly basis.  
 

Page 52



 

4.5 New starters will be asked to complete the “Safeguarding Everyone” e-
learning course within the first 4 weeks of their employment.  This is to 
ensure they are aware of the basic requirements for safeguarding.  Staff 
will still receive the safeguarding induction which details who the 
safeguarding officers are, the referral process etc. but for those with no 
IT access a specific briefing will be given.  This will summarise the points 
in the “safeguarding everyone” e learning course and will be given within 
the first 4 weeks of their employment.   

 
4.6 Safeguarding training has now changed to a 6 year pathway which will 

be managed via the appraisal process.  Each staff member will be told 
during their appraisal of what training is to be completed before the end 
of that year.  Team Managers will be informed by the Safeguarding 
Coordinator at 6 monthly intervals of training still required for their team 
members. 

 
4.7 Training progress will be reported every 6 months via the Safeguarding 

coordinator to the Home Choices Team Manager for monitoring 
purposes.   

 
4.8 Failure to complete the relevant years training will be escalated via the 

Staff Code of Conduct  
 
5.  Safeguarding Referral Process 
 
5.1 The process is attached as Appendix 3.  Changes to this procedure aim 

to offer more clarity to staff and involve the type of situation and how to 
report based on the specific matter.  The previous description just offered 
insight into the management and referral process for the query.  This is 
following feedback from staff members and analysis of safeguarding 
referrals.  

 
5.2 The process is also there to highlight to staff that there are limited 

responsibilities to a District Council and to provide support when staff 
may encounter difficulties in a certain situation. 

 
5.3 The clarified process also aims to empower staff to be able to follow a 

process and give that confidence and knowledge that they are following 
a correct route.   

 
 

Page 53



 
 

1 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Safeguarding Policy & Procedures 2019 - 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents Page 
 

Page 54

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lscb
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=Qhiu0Cfi&id=36C7EA4C44327C99855575F334786B081EE52C2E&thid=OIP.Qhiu0CfiKtHPsyJgqK6C2QHaDK&mediaurl=http://lincolnshire.gov.uk/Pictures/web/x/z/s/lsab-teal.png&exph=128&expw=300&q=lincolnshire+safeguarding+adults+board&simid=607987146866820677&selectedIndex=0


 
 

2 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Introduction and  
Policy Overview 

Pg. 
 

3 

Chapter 1  
Safeguarding is Everyone’s Business – roles and responsibilities. 

Pg. 
 

8 

Chapter 2  
Safeguarding Children and Young People 

Pg. 
 

20 

Chapter 3  
Safeguarding Adults at Risk 

Pg. 
 

39 

Chapter 4  
Domestic Abuse 

Pg. 
 

59 

Chapter 5  
Preventing Violent Extremism 

Pg. 
 

68 

Chapter 6  
Hate Crime and Mate Crime 

Pg. 
 

73 

Chapter 7  
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking 

Pg. 
 

80 

Chapter 8 
County Lines and Cuckooing 

Pg. 
 

85 

Chapter 9 
Stalking 

Pg. 
 

90 

Appendices A – D 
A – declaration for staff and volunteers 
B – declaration for Councillors 
C – declaration for contractors / consultants 
D – safeguarding incident flowchart 
 

Pg. 
94 
96 
97 
99 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 
 

3 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

 

Introduction and Policy Overview 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 
 

4 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Introduction 

Safeguarding encompasses a range of legal duties and responsibilities designed to 

protect people’s health, wellbeing and human rights, and support them in preventing 

problems from escalating and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and neglect. 

West Lindsey District Council has a range of statutory duties to carry out in relation to 

safeguarding and promoting the wellbeing of individuals and communities. This policy 

has been written to support the Council in protecting those who need safeguarding by 

providing a reference point and guidance for staff, elected members, volunteers, key 

contractors, consultants and directly commissioned providers acting on behalf of the 

Council. It seeks to provide practical guidance to ensure that the Council plays its full 

part in safeguarding and promoting the wellbeing of its individuals and communities at 

all times. 

Safeguarding involves a number of key agencies. Although not an exhaustive list this 

would typically include: Criminal Justice Agencies, Children’s Services, Adult Social 

Care and Health Agencies. Our duties do not extend to areas which would be 

considered the responsibility of our partners but we nonetheless have duties to 

cooperate and to have effective processes in place with regard to collaboration.  

It is important that a consistent and effective approach is adopted across the Council 
to ensure we meet our statutory responsibilities, protect the community and protect 
the reputation of the Council. Broadly speaking, our safeguarding responsibilities 
include: 
 

 Having effective safeguarding policies and procedures in place; 

 Knowing how to identify concerns; 

 Having a properly trained, knowledgeable and capable workforce; 

 Referring concerns to partner agencies; 

 Working closely with partners such as the police, social services, health 
agencies and other local authorities; 

 Undertaking and participating in regular audit and scrutiny to test our 
effectiveness. 
 

Overview and Policy Commitment 

This Policy aims to protect: children, young people and adults who need safeguarding, 

including employees, volunteers, apprentices and students; those who use our 

services or are cared for by others who use our services; and those with whom our 

staff, elected members, volunteers, key contractors and directly commissioned 

providers acting on behalf of the Council have contact.  

It aims to: 

 Ensure that the Council plays its full role in safeguarding and promoting the 
health, welfare and wellbeing of children, young people and adults at risk, at all 
times; 

 Raise awareness of the duty of care and responsibilities relating to 
safeguarding throughout the Council; 

Page 57



 
 

5 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Ensure a person-centred approach which puts people’s own needs and wishes 
first, hears their voice, respects their views and upholds their human rights; 

 Achieve the best possible outcomes for all individuals, including enabling all 
children and young people to ‘Stay Safe, Be Healthy, Enjoy and Achieve, Make 
a Positive Contribution and Achieve Economic Wellbeing’ (Children Act 2004); 

 Secure stable relationships with professionals built on trust, with consistent 
support to meet their individual needs and with all decisions taken in line with 
the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005; 

 Ensure that everyone involved gets the support they need before a problem 
escalates; 

 Provide a proportionate, timely, supportive, informed and professional 
response to anyone experiencing abuse or neglect; 

 Actively encourage good practice amongst staff and promote wider awareness 
where possible (for example partner organisations and service user groups); 

 Create a safe and healthy environment within all of our services, avoiding 
situations where abuse or allegations of abuse may occur; 

 Ensure that we safely recruit, train, supervise and support staff, elected 
members and volunteers appropriately and in accordance with Disclosure and 
Barring Service (DBS) guidance and the Council’s DBS Policy: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service  

 
External Links and Information 
Safeguarding is complex and wide ranging. Given the breadth of importance of the 

areas contained within this policy, it cannot and must not be read and taken in 

isolation. Links to important external procedures and processes are included 

throughout the document and must be followed. The principle external links are: 

 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP) Multi Agency Policy & 

Procedures and Meeting the Needs of Children in Lincolnshire: 

www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lscb  

 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) Multi Agency Policy and 

Procedures: https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lsab/  

 Lincolnshire Multi Agency Domestic Abuse Guidance: 

www.domesticabuselincolnshire.com  

 Lincolnshire Prevent / Channel Process: https://www.lincs.police.uk/reporting-

advice/terrorism/preventing-extremism/  

 Hate Crime Information and Guidance: www.stophate.co.uk  

 Modern Slavery and National Referral Mechanism: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-

referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-

for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales  

Human Trafficking: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/victims-of-human-

trafficking Throughout this document we use and make reference to various 

acronyms, so have provided a glossary below. 

 

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lscb
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lsab/
http://www.domesticabuselincolnshire.com/
https://www.lincs.police.uk/reporting-advice/terrorism/preventing-extremism/
https://www.lincs.police.uk/reporting-advice/terrorism/preventing-extremism/
http://www.stophate.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms/guidance-on-the-national-referral-mechanism-for-potential-adult-victims-of-modern-slavery-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/victims-of-human-trafficking
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/victims-of-human-trafficking


 
 

6 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Glossary of Terms 

Anti-Social 
Behaviour 

ASB Behaviour causing or likely to cause harassment, 
alarm and distress. 

Anti-Social 
Behaviour 
Risk 
Assessment 
Conference 

ASBRAC Multi-agency risk assessment conference for victims 
of anti-social behaviour. Targeting high end ASB to 
protect the most vulnerable. 

CHANNEL  Multi-agency approach to protect people at risk from 
radicalisation. 

CONTEST  The Governments counter terrorism strategy. 

Customer 
Service Centre 

CSC Lincolnshire County Council mechanism to make 
safeguarding referrals or raise safeguarding queries. 

Domestic 
Abuse, 
Stalking & 
Harassment 
and Honour 
Based 
Violence risk 
assessment 

DASH Approved risk assessment tool used by 
professionals to identify risk of domestic abuse and 
to inform future safety planning and referrals to 
MARAC. 
http://www.dashriskchecklist.co.uk  

Domestic 
Abuse 
Strategic 
Management 
Board 

DASMB A multi-agency board focussed on preventing, 
responding to and reviewing responses to domestic 
abuse in Lincolnshire. A sub group of the LCSP. 

Disclosure and 
Barring 
Service 

DBS The DBS helps employers make safer recruitment 
decisions and prevent unsuitable people from 
working with vulnerable groups, including children. 

Independent 
Domestic 
Violence 
Advisor 

IDVA IDVA’s support high risk domestic abuse victims at a 
point of crisis, supporting them to plan appropriate 
safety management strategies. 

Independent 
Sexual 
Violence 
Advisor 

ISVA Similar to the role of an IDVA, but supporting victims 
of sexual violence to access support and safety 
planning. 

Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 

LSAB A statutory multi-agency partnership, comprising of a 
range of organisations that all have stakeholder 
interest in the safeguarding adult’s agenda. 
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lsab  

Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding 
Children 
Partnership 

LSCP A statutory multi-agency board made up of 
representatives from the Local Authority, Police, 
Health Service, Probation Trust, Youth Offending 
Service, the Voluntary Sector and others. Soon to 
change from Board to Partnership. 
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lscb  

Page 59

http://www.dashriskchecklist.co.uk/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lsab
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lscb


 
 

7 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Multi-Agency 
Risk 
Assessment 
Conference 

MARAC Multi-agency meetings where information about high 
risk domestic abuse victims (those at risk of murder 
or serious harm) is shared to develop a risk 
focussed, coordinated safety plan to support the 
victim. 

Mental 
Capacity Act 
(2015) 

MCA The Mental Capacity Act 2005 covers people in 
England and Wales who can’t make some or all 
decisions for themselves. The ability to understand 
and make a decision when it needs to be made is 
called ‘mental capacity’. 

National 
Referral 
Mechanism 

NRM The National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is a 
framework for identifying and referring potential 
victims of modern slavery and ensuring they receive 
the appropriate support. 

PREVENT  A key strand of the Government’s counter-terrorism 
strategy. Its main objective is to stop people 
becoming terrorists or supporting violent extremism. 

Safer 
Lincolnshire 
Partnership 

SLP A statutory multi-agency board focussed on reducing 
crime and promoting community safety in 
Lincolnshire. https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/safer-
lincolnshire-partnership/  

Vulnerable 
Adult Panel 

VAP A local multi-agency panel to identify and progress 
housing and support solutions for households with 
complex needs. 

 

Monitoring and Review 

This Policy and its Procedures will be fully reviewed every three years and signed off 

by the Chair of Prosperous Communities.  The Policy will also be reviewed on an 

annual basis and updated where appropriate: however, if a weakness is identified in 

procedures or national guidelines change between reviews, the policy will be reviewed 

and revised by the Safeguarding Coordinator, agreed by Management Team and 

authorised by the Director of Resources.  Any interim changes will be reported back 

to Prosperous Communities Committee during the annual review if required.   

Changes to the policy or procedures will be communicated via management team and 

communication emails, with details placed on the intranet. Team Managers, supported 

by the Safeguarding Coordinator and Safeguarding Representatives are responsible 

for ensuring the timely and accurate dissemination of information to their teams. 

All policy revisions will be dated and recorded in the table below. 

Version  Reason for 
change: 

Amended by: 
(position & date) 

Approved by: 
(position & date) 

Published 
date: 

1.0 Full 3 yearly 
review 

Rachel Parkin 
Lead Safeguarding 
Officer 

  
September 
2019 

West Lindsey District Council 

Page 60

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/safer-lincolnshire-partnership/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/safer-lincolnshire-partnership/


 
 

8 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

 

Chapter 1 – Safeguarding is Everyone’s Business 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



 
 

9 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Safeguarding Responsibilities 

Safeguarding is everyone’s business. This policy provides guidance for anyone 

working on behalf of the Council who may come into contact with children, young 

people, vulnerable adults and their families. This policy affects every West Lindsey 

District Council staff member, elected member, volunteer and anyone working on 

behalf of and / or representing the Council. 

All individuals to whom this policy and procedures apply must know where and how to 

access it, have a clear understanding of how, why and who to contact with their 

concerns and complete appropriate training in order to fulfil their responsibility in being 

able to identify and respond to wellbeing concerns, abuse or alleged abuse and poor 

practice.  All officers who visit people’s homes must be particularly alert to signs of 

abuse or neglect.  All officers must always report and respond to concerns, doing so 

swiftly to ensure the safety and wellbeing of anyone at risk or suspected of being at 

risk. All employees should discuss concerns with the appropriate person or 

organisation as set out throughout this policy and its associated procedures. Please 

see the safeguarding incident flowchart at Appendix D for further information. 

It is the responsibility of those who have a role in engaging services, e.g. Directors, 

Strategic Leads and Team Managers, to ensure that volunteers, key contractors, 

consultants and directly commissioned providers acting on behalf of the Council meet 

these requirements. 

IMPORTANT:  If anyone subject to this policy finds, for whatever reason, they do not 

believe that they can fully comply with all requirements they must notify the 

Safeguarding Coordinator or Lead Safeguarding Officer immediately: 

Safeguarding Coordinator: 

Emma Shoobridge  
Email: emma.shoobridge@West-lindsey.gov.uk  
Tel: 01427 675184 
 
Lead Safeguarding Officer: 
Rachel Parkin, Home Choices Team Manager  
Email: Rachel.parkin@West-lindsey.gov.uk  
Tel: 01427 676613  
 
Safeguarding Representatives: 
Amy Miller, Housing Standards and Enforcement Officer  
Email: amy.miller@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
Tel: 01427 675193  
 
Luke Thomson, Community Action & Enforcement Officer  
Email: luke.thomson@west-lindsey.gov.uk  
Tel: 01427 675182  
 
Anita Foster, Quality Development Officer  
Email: anita.foster@west-lindsey.gov.uk  
Tel: 01427 676515  

Page 62

mailto:emma.shoobridge@West-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:Rachel.parkin@West-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:luke.thomson@west-lindsey.gov.uk


 
 

10 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

John Goodman, Revenues Support Officer 
Email: john.goodman@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
Tel: 01427 676518 
 
Gemma Burrows, Revenues Officer 
Email: gemma.burrows@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
Tel: 01427 676522 
 
Gareth Williams, Senior Supervisor, Operational Services 
Email: gareth.williams@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 
Corporate Safeguarding Structure 

Whilst safeguarding is everyone’s business, the Council has named officers who take 

specific responsibility for: 

 Supporting staff to report concerns; 

 Developing and reviewing policies and procedures; 

 Working in partnership with other organisations to develop best practice and 

shared learning 

 Providing, coordinating and monitoring training for staff and elected members; 

 Providing training to all new staff and elected members as part of the council’s 

induction process; 

 Ensuring engagement and compliance with audit frameworks; 

 Implementing audit recommendations and changes to legislation; 

 Engaging in serious case reviews and domestic homicide reviews; 

 Hosting a corporate safeguarding group that is represented by all service areas. 

The West Lindsey District Council corporate safeguarding roles and responsibilities 

are set out below: 

Corporate 
Safeguarding 
Role 

Overview of Responsibilities Corporate 
Lead 
Officer(s) 

Management 
Lead for 
Safeguarding 

Be the council spokesperson in the event of 
any public / media enquiries; 
 

Executive 
Director of 
Economic and 
Commercial 
Growth 

Lead 
Safeguarding 
Officer 

The Designated Safeguarding Officer has 
overall responsibility for safeguarding and will: 
Represent the council on safeguarding matters 
at an external and strategic level and have 
overall responsibility for ensuring the council is 
meeting its safeguarding requirements; 
Represent the council in the instance of any 
serious case review or domestic homicide 
review; 
 

Home 
Choices Team 
Manager 

Page 63

mailto:john.goodman@west-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:gemma.burrows@west-lindsey.gov.uk


 
 

11 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Maintain communication channels with outside 
agencies, including attending meetings. 

Safeguarding 
Coordinator: 

Review the safeguarding policy and 
procedures; 
Deputise for the Lead Safeguarding Officer as 
required; 
Advise staff on responding to and referring 
safeguarding concerns; 
Ensure that all cases are collated, recorded, 
reported and reviewed, and all requests for 
information are responded to within the required 
timescales to support case reviews, inspections, 
etc. 
Work with the DSO to ensure that the Council 
fulfils its duties and can evidence delivery of its 
legal duties under Section 11 of the Children Act 
2004 and the Care Act 2014, along with locally 
agreed standards such as the Lincolnshire 
Domestic Abuse Charter, through regular audits, 
required by Lincolnshire’s Safeguarding Adults, 
Children’s and Domestic Abuse Boards; 
Work closely with a wide range of partner 
agencies, to build trust and provide robust 
challenge, to promote effective safeguarding 
activity in the District; 
 

Housing,  

Prevent Lead The Prevent Lead will: 
Represent the Council at relevant meetings; 
Ensure the website, intranet and Safeguarding 
policy contain up-to-date information and 
advice; 
Recommend training for staff/elected members; 
Provide advice to Safeguarding Officers on 
Prevent/Chanel referrals. 

Enforcement 
and Housing 
Team 
Manager 

Safeguarding 
Representatives 

Be points of contact throughout the council and 
support colleagues to make appropriate 
referrals.  With the Safeguarding Coordinator to 
assist Team Managers to disseminate changes 
to any procedures, policies and/or legislation.  
To also participate in any necessary reviews  

 

Safer 
Recruitment 

Employers need to identify candidates who 
may be unsuitable for certain jobs, especially 
work that involves vulnerable groups including 
children. 
The safer recruitment lead will: 
Ensure that West Lindsey District Council 
makes safe recruitment decisions in line with 
the requirements of the Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS); 

POD Team 
Manager 

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service


 
 

12 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Ensure that the Council’s DBS policy is up to 
date and reviewed in line with any legislative 
changes. 
HR (provided by PSPS Ltd) will: 
Support safeguarding leads to identify posts 
that need DBS clearance; 
Undertake DBS checks for all identified posts; 
Advise management of strategic risks relating 
to people; 
Maintain records to demonstrate current 
compliance of DBS for identified posts. 

Corporate 
safeguarding 
group 

This group has a pivotal role in ensuring that 
safeguarding is effectively managed and 
understood across the organisation and to 
ensure safeguarding compliance. 
The group takes responsibility for delivery of 
the Council’s safeguarding action plan. Terms 
of reference for the group can be found here. If 
you would like to be part of the corporate 
safeguarding group, please contact a 
safeguarding representative. 

 

Team 
Managers  

Team Managers are responsible for increasing 
safeguarding awareness in their services. 
Dealing with abuse and neglect can be 
stressful and distressing and staff can be left 
feeling concerned about a situation or case 
they have experienced. They will: 
Support and supervise staff appropriately; 
 Ensure that their team members complete all 
relevant training requirements; 
Disseminate safeguarding information to 
teams, supported by the Safeguarding 
coordinator; 
Respond promptly to requests for information 
regarding specific cases and maintain clear 
communication with the Safeguarding 
Coordinator and good working relationships 
with other agencies to address any difficulties 
between front line staff; 
Support the review of this policy and its 
procedures where required; 
Ensure that all concerns and cases are logged 
via the Council’s safeguarding tracker (either 
reporting a concern or notifying the 
Safeguarding coordinator of assessments and 
action taken). 

 

 

Training and Development 

Page 65

file:///C:/Users/RP20040/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XLFYVGT9/ELDC%20corporate%20safeguarding%20group%20terms%20of%20reference.docx


 
 

13 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

It is essential that everyone to whom this safeguarding policy applies is able to 

recognise and respond to possible safeguarding risks and issues across all relevant 

policy areas. The level of training and knowledge required by each person is 

determined by their role and their level of contact with vulnerable customers – all roles 

within the organisation have been categorised using the requirements of the National 

Competencies Framework (NCF) for Children and Adults. 

All training is delivered either face to face or via e-learning modules which are either 

delivered in partnership with, or endorsed by the respective safeguarding, domestic 

abuse, prevent boards and strategic groups. Safeguarding training is mandatory. If 

you are unsure which level of training is relevant to your role or if you have any 

questions, please contact a safeguarding representative or your line manager for 

advice. 

Training is completed on a six year rolling programme. The e-learning modules can 

be accessed through the safeguarding page on the intranet. To find out which training 

you need to complete, please see the tables below or go to the safeguarding page on 

the intranet. 

Training 

Group 
Definition for Grouping Who is this? 

A 

Those who have considerable 

professional and organisational 

responsibility for safeguarding 

 

Home Choices Team Manager, 

Safeguarding Co-ordinator 

Designated Safeguarding officer 

People and organisational 

Development Team Manager 

 

B 

Those with regular contact or 

periods of intense but irregular 

contact with children, young 

people, and vulnerable adults who 

may be in a position to identify 

concerns regarding abuse, neglect 

or maltreatment. 

 

. 

 

Operational Managers at all levels. 

Senior managers responsible for 

strategic management of services. 

Those with oversight of systems, 

policies and procedures in their 

department. 

Safeguarding Representatives 

Designated lead professionals in 

TAC, child protection, MAPPA and 

MARAC work. Those responsible 

for ensuring their organisation is at 

all levels fully committed to 

safeguarding and have appropriate 

systems and resources in place 

Page 66

http://selfserveeldc/hrfaqs/default.aspx


 
 

14 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

E-Learning Modules Training 
Group 

INDUCTION:  

Introduction to Safeguarding Everyone in Lincolnshire All, 
councillors 

Safer Recruitment 3, 4 

2019/20  

Safeguarding Adults All 

Introduction to Safeguarding Children 1 

Awareness of Child Abuse & Neglect (Foundation) 3 

Awareness of Child Abuse & Neglect (Core) 2, 4 

Introduction to Integrated Working (early help assessment/lead 
professional/information sharing) 

 
2, 4 

2020/21  

Friends Against Scams All 

Awareness of Domestic Violence and Abuse All 

Basic Awareness of Child & Adult Sexual Exploitation 1, 3 

Safeguarding Children from Abuse by Sexual Exploitation 2, 4 

Safeguarding and Leadership 3, 4 

2021/22  

Understanding Pathways to Extremism and the Prevent Programme All 

Trafficking, Exploitation & Modern Slavery All 

Introduction to FGM, Forced Marriage, Spirit Possession & Honour 
Based Violence 

2, 4 

LSCP Pre-Birth Protocol 2, 4 

LSCP Mobile Families Guidance 2, 4 

2022/23  

Mental Capacity Act All 

Hate Crime All 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 2, 4 

C 

This group is for staff who are in 

regular contact or have a period of 

intense but irregular contact with 

children, young people, adults who 

may be in a position to identify 

concerns about maltreatment. 

Any staff who do home visits, 

Customer Services, Revenues and 

Benefits, Environmental Health 

Named staff in Community Action 

and Enforcement  

D 

Staff with infrequent contact with 

children, adults and or 

parents/carers who may become 

aware of possible abuse or 

neglect. 

All staff who do not have front 

facing roles 

Elected members 

E 
As Group D but no access to IT Those staff who do not access to 

IT facilities 

Page 67



 
 

15 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Hidden Harm 2, 4 

 Self-Harm and Suicidal Thoughts in Children & Young People 2, 4 

 

Elected Members: All elected members will be offered safeguarding training when 

they are elected, as part of the induction process. They will also be required to 

complete the e-learning induction module ‘Introduction to Safeguarding Everyone in 

Lincolnshire’ during their first year in office. Elected Members will be offered 

opportunities to increase their safeguarding awareness through e-learning modules 

and thematic training offered annually as part of Reserved Member Days. 

Staff without IT access: All staff without IT access will need to attend safeguarding 

briefing sessions. The briefing will cover general safeguarding principles, personal 

responsibilities and who to contact with any concerns. 

Face to Face Training: Certain roles, mainly those in training group 4, will require 

more in-depth, face-to-face training. This will be a decision for line managers and 

service managers in relevant departments e.g. Enforcement, Home Choices, 

Revenues and Benefits. Below is a list of available training. Please speak to your line 

manager if you feel any of these modules may be beneficial for you. 

Face-to-Face Training Days 

Inter-Agency Safeguarding Children and Young People (there is an e-
learning refresher module to complete 2 years after this course 
‘Safeguarding Children Refresher’) 

 
2 

Safer Workforce (Safer Recruitment) Group 3 & 4 1 

Child Sexual Exploitation 1 

Working with Uncooperative and Hostile Families 1 

Inter-Agency Safeguarding Adults 1 

Domestic Abuse Training 1 

 

Reporting Concerns 

Throughout this policy you will see the ‘jigsaw’ logo. To report a concern, you can 

click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the intranet. This will enable you 

to forward your concerns.  Once your concern has been received, the next steps and 

appropriate action will be decided. 

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your supervisor/line 

manager to report a concern. 

Page 68



 
 

16 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

If you feel that a child, young person or vulnerable adult is at immediate risk of 

significant harm, then you call the Police on 999. If however you think they are 

at risk but that risk is not immediate, you must take appropriate action, calling 

101 if you think a crime has been committed, and by reporting the matter to the 

LCC Customer Services Centre (CSC) on 01522 782111 for children, 01522 

782155 for adults, or emergency out of hours 01522 782333. 

In all cases you should report the incident to the Designated Safeguarding 

Officer accordingly. 

Customer facing, front line services are most likely to come across safeguarding 

concerns in their day to day roles and should have an enhanced level of awareness. 

These staff groups/services will be more experienced in engaging with external 

agencies to report safeguarding concerns and should do so wherever possible (this 

should still be logged through the Council’s safeguarding tracker system). 

 

Confidentiality  

Every effort should be made to ensure that confidentiality is maintained for all 

concerned. Information should be handled and disseminated on a need to know basis 

only. It is extremely important that allegations or concerns are not discussed, as any 

breach of confidentiality could be damaging to the child, young person or vulnerable 

adult, to their family and any child protection, adult safeguarding or police 

investigations that may follow. 

Informing the parents of a child or young person you have concerns about needs to 

be dealt with in a sensitive way and should be done in consultation with children’s 

services / police. Any individual under suspicion has the right to be notified about the 

cause for concern. It is important that the timing of this does not prejudice any 

investigation. 

Recorded information (both paper and electronic) should be stored in a secure place, 

with access limited to officers named within the corporate safeguarding structure, in 

line with data protection laws. 

If enquiries arise from the public (including parents) or any branch of the media, it is 

vital that staff, elected members, volunteers and anyone working for or on behalf of 

the Council are briefed as required so that they do not make any comments regarding 

the situation. The Executive Director of Economic and Commercial Growth will be the 

designated spokesperson in the event of any public / media enquiries. In the absence 

of the Executive Director of Economic and Commercial Growth, the query should be 

escalated to the Executive Director of Resources and Head of Paid Service. 

Information Sharing: WLDC is signed up to the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership 

Information Sharing Agreement, allowing full sharing of information between 

signatories, with the constraints of the GDPR. WLDC is also signed up to specific 

information sharing agreements referring to Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 

Conference (MARAC), Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference 

Page 69



 
 

17 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

(ASBRAC), Sentinel and Assisting Rehabilitation through Collaboration (ARC, 

previously IOM). These agreements are updated annually. 

The Seven Golden Rules of Information Sharing 

1. Remember that the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), Data Protection 

Act 2018 and human rights law are not barriers to justified information sharing, but 

provide a framework to ensure that personal information about living individuals is 

shared appropriately. 

2. Be open and honest with the individual (and/or their family where appropriate) from 

the outset about why, what, how and with whom information will, or could be shared, 

and seek their agreement, unless it is unsafe or inappropriate to do so. 

3. Seek advice from other practitioners, or your information governance lead, if you 

are in any doubt about sharing the information concerned, without disclosing the 

identity of the individual where possible. 

4. Where possible, share information with consent, and where possible, respect the 

wishes of those who do not consent to having their information shared. Under the 

GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018 you may share information without consent if, in 

your judgement, there is a lawful basis to do so, such as where safety may be at risk. 

You will need to base your judgement on the facts of the case. When you are sharing 

or requesting personal information from someone, be clear of the basis upon which 

you are doing so. Where you do not have consent, be mindful that an individual might 

not expect information to be shared. 

5. Consider safety and well-being: base your information sharing decisions on 

considerations of the safety and well-being of the individual and others who may be 

affected by their actions. 

6. Necessary, proportionate, relevant, adequate, accurate, timely and secure: ensure 

that the information you share is necessary for the purpose for which you are sharing 

it, is shared only with those individuals who need to have it, is accurate and up-to-

date, is shared in a timely fashion, and is shared securely (see principles). 

7. Keep a record of your decision and the reasons for it – whether it is to share 

information or not. If you decide to share, then record what you have shared, with 

whom and for what purpose. 

Curiosity and Uncertainty 

 
Professional Curiosity has been a recurring theme in Serious Case Reviews (SCR) 
across Lincolnshire. Professional curiosity is about having the capacity and 
communication skills to explore and understand what is happening with an individual 
or family. It is about enquiring more deeply and using proactive questioning and 
challenge. It is about challenging your own responsibility and knowing when to act 
rather than making assumptions or taking things at face value. 
 

Page 70



 
 

18 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Respectful Uncertainty is about considering and where necessary challenging 

responses, looking beneath the surface and testing the facts and ‘gut feelings’ rather 

than accepting an explanation, however plausible. 

Inter-Agency Disputes and Escalation Policies 

When working in the arena of safeguarding, it is inevitable that at times there will be 

professional disagreement. Whilst this is accepted, it is vital that such differences do 

not affect the outcomes for children, young people and vulnerable adults or detract 

from ensuring that they are safeguarded. 

Disagreements could arise in a number of areas of multi-agency working as well as 

within single-agency working, but are most likely to arise in relation to: 

 Criteria for referrals; 

 Outcomes of assessments; 

 Roles and responsibilities of workers; 

 Service provision; 

 Information sharing and communication. 
 
Having an Escalation Policy became a statutory requirement following a number of 

Serious Case Reviews.  

If you are concerned or unhappy with the decisions or action/lack of action of another 

agency when referring a case or securing their involvement in supporting an individual, 

issues can be escalated through the Designated Safeguarding Officer or their Deputy, 

as they are required to challenge the managers within that partner agency by using 

the escalation policies set out by the LSCP or LSAB or other overarching body. The 

LSCP escalation policy can be found here. The LSAB escalation policy can be found 

here.  

If you feel that you need to use this process, please speak to a Safeguarding 

Officer before making a referral. 

Whistleblowing 

All staff, elected members, volunteers, key contractors and directly commissioned 

providers acting on behalf of the Council should use the Council’s Collective Disputes 

Procedure and Whistleblowing Policy if they are concerned about how a safeguarding 

issue has been dealt with. The Council will always adhere to the procedures set out 

by the LSCP, LSAB or other overarching body in such event. In addition, the NSPCC 

Whistleblowing Advice Line offers free advice and support to professionals with 

concerns about how child protection issues are being handled in their own or another 

organisation. They can be contacted on 0800 028 0285 or by emailing 

help@nspcc.org.uk  

Audit and Quality Assurance 

As a statutory agency, West Lindsey District Council is subject to a number of internal 

and external audits and quality assurance mechanisms to ensure compliance and 

Page 71

file:///C:/Users/RP20040/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XLFYVGT9/LSCB%20escalation.pdf
file:///C:/Users/RP20040/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XLFYVGT9/LSAB%20escalation.pdf
mailto:help@nspcc.org.uk


 
 

19 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

effective practices in each of the areas covered by this policy and associated 

procedures. All audit recommendations will be integrated into the Council’s corporate 

safeguarding action plan. Regular reports are made to the Council’s Management 

Team. A 3 yearly report is made to the Prosperous Communities Committee Council’s 

to provide assurance that the Council continues to be vigilant on safeguarding matters, 

fulfilling its legal duties. 

Continuous Improvement 

If you feel that we could improve on safeguarding in any way, from changing the way 

we communicate through to changing the way we work, please speak to a 

safeguarding representative. 

Safer Recruitment 

It is the duty of employers to identify candidates who may be unsuitable for certain 

jobs, especially jobs that involve working with vulnerable groups such as children. The 

Human Resources team offer advice and support to the Council to enable relevant 

officers to make safer recruitment decisions in line with the requirements of the 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). WLDC officers are responsible for the 

recruitment and management of staff within their service areas but the Human 

Resources service provides support, guidance and direction in terms of good practice 

and best approach. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/dbs-check-requests-guidance-for-employers


 
 

20 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Chapter 2 – Safeguarding Children and Young People 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



 
 

21 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

 

 

 

Introduction 

“I don’t directly work with children or young people, so does this policy affect me?” 

Yes it does! 

This policy chapter applies to all situations within the council’s operation, which could 

potentially involve children or young people, from children running around in a 

reception area to home visits where children or young people are present. 

Although your work may not directly impact on or relate to children or young people, 

you have a duty to recognise and respond to child protection situations and concerns 

appropriately and you must be aware of this policy and its procedures. 

Young people (under 18) may also be working within the Council’s buildings or 

services; either as members of staff, or as part of apprenticeships or work experience 

schemes. All staff must remember that these individuals are children and, as such, are 

protected by this policy and associated procedures. 

 “Children who need help and protection deserve high quality and effective support as soon as a 
need is identified … Everyone who comes into contact with children and families has a role to 
play.”  

Working Together (2018) 

Page 74



 
 

22 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

The Children Act (2004) places a duty on key statutory agencies to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children. The Act embodies five principles that are key to 

wellbeing in children and young people: 

 Being healthy; 

 Staying safe; 

 Enjoying and achieving; 

 Making a positive contribution; 

 Achieving economic wellbeing. 
 
To assist us all in our duty of care of children and young people, this policy and its 

associated procedures reflect the principles and practices promoted in the most recent 

Government ‘Working Together’ guidance, which sets out key principles of 

safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children as: 

 Protecting children from maltreatment; 

 Preventing impairment of children’s health or development; 

 Ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision 
of safe and effective care; 

 Taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes. 
 
You should always exercise professional curiosity and respectful uncertainty, 
looking beneath the surface, testing the facts and also use your ‘gut feelings’ 
rather than accepting explanations, however plausible. 
 
Understanding Safeguarding Thresholds 

 

Children and family needs are constantly changing and at different times in their lives 

they will have differing levels of involvement from a range of services, from universal, 

targeted and specialist support services. 

It is important that professionals work together effectively to ensure that families 

experience smooth transition between services and that all services supporting the 

family remain focused on the needs of the child. It is also critical that all professionals 

remain aware of their responsibilities in relation to safeguarding and protecting 

children. 

The support and services available to children, young people and families are defined 

according to their needs at any given time and are set out in the diagram below: 

“No single practitioner can have a full picture of a child’s needs and circumstances and, if 
children and families are to receive the right help at the right time, everyone who comes into 
contact with them has a role to play in identifying concerns, sharing information and taking 
prompt action.” 

Working Together (2018) 

Page 75



 
 

23 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

Threshold Overview Details 

Universal 
services 
 
 
 

For children with 
no additional 
needs. 

Available to all children, young people and 
families, working with families to promote 
positive outcomes for everyone, by 
providing access to education, health 
services and other positive activities. 
It is important that all practitioners can 
identify where children and families would 
benefit from extra help at an early stage. 

Targeted 
services 
 
 
 
 

For children 
with additional 
needs. 

Children, young people and families who 
may need support either through a single 
service or through an integrated multi-
agency response. 
There may be signs that without support a 
child may not achieve good outcomes and 
fulfil their potential. 
Targeted services can prevent escalation 
into specialist services, and can assist with 
continuing lower level support once a 
higher level intervention has been 
completed. 

Specialist 
services 

For children with 
multiple / 
complex needs 

Families with individual or multiple 
complex needs or where a specific 
disability or condition is diagnosed. 

Immediate 
Safeguarding 

For immediate 
care/protection 

To protect children and young people at 
immediate risk. Professionals have a duty 
to recognise and report safeguarding 
concerns. 

 

Early Intervention – Early Help 

Page 76



 
 

24 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Lincolnshire’s Early Help Offer can be simply described as early intervention to ensure 

that children and families get the support they need before a problem escalates. 

Early Help aims to identify the need for help for children and families as soon as 

problems start to emerge, or when there is a strong likelihood that problems will 

emerge in the future. The Early Help Offer is available at any point throughout 

childhood and adolescence. Early Help builds on what is working well and involves 

action planning for what needs to change and who will take what action, enabling 

everyone involved to own the solutions. 

Other than when there is an immediate risk of serious harm, an Early Help assessment 

should be completed whenever there is a concern about a child by the person who 

has contact with them and their family, to identify specific actions with those involved 

and to determine whether the issue needs further escalation and referral to social care. 

Where possible, the assessment should be undertaken with the agreement of the child 

and their parents/carers. It should involve the child and family as well as all the 

professionals who are working with them. Full details of Lincolnshire’s Early Help Offer 

can be found here. If you are unsure about making an Early Help Assessment, please 

speak to the Designated Safeguarding Officer or a Deputy Safeguarding Officer. 

Note – Early Help Assessments are NOT an alternative to formal safeguarding 

referrals. 

What is Child Abuse? 

There are many ways in which children and young people can be harmed. A person 

may abuse or neglect a child or young person by inflicting harm, or by failing to act to 

prevent harm. Children and young people may be abused in a family, or in an 

institutional or community setting. Children and young people may be abused by 

someone known to them or, more rarely, by a stranger. Children and young people 

can be subjected to more than one form of abuse at any one time. Children and young 

people may also be perpetrators of abuse against other children or against adults. In 

such cases, they may still also require safeguarding themselves. 

Sometimes a child ‘fails to thrive’ and they do not achieve the expected growth and 

development for their age. Although there may be a medical cause, the majority of 

children who fail to thrive have no organic disorders. Failure to thrive often occurs on 

the overall context of emotional deprivation and neglect; the child not only fails to grow 

but fails to develop intellectually and emotionally. 

Types of Abuse 

Physical Abuse: This can include, hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, burning or 

scalding, drowning, suffocating or otherwise causing physical harm. Physical abuse, as 

“Early help means providing support as soon as a problem emerges, at any point in a child’s life, 
from the foundation years through to the teenage years.” 

Working Together (2018) 

Page 77

http://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4366/Appendix%201.pdf


 
 

25 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

well as being a result of a deliberate act, can also be caused through omission or failure 

to act to protect. Physical harm may also be caused when a parent or carer fabricates 

symptoms or deliberately causes ill health to a child, young person or vulnerable adult. 

Emotional Abuse: This is the persistent emotional maltreatment of a child, young 

person or vulnerable adult such as to cause severe and persistent adverse effects on 

their emotional development. It may involve conveying to them that they are worthless 

or unloved, inadequate, or valued only insofar as they meet the needs of another 

person. 

Emotional abuse may feature age or developmentally inappropriate expectations being 

imposed on children or young people. It may also involve causing children or young 

people to frequently feel frightened or in danger, or the exploitation or corruption of a 

child or young person. It can include the seeing or hearing of ill-treatment of others, for 

example through domestic abuse. It may also include the over-protection and limitation 

of exploration and learning, or preventing the chid from participating in normal social 

interaction. 

Sexual Abuse: This involves forcing or enticing a child, young person or vulnerable 

adult to take part in sexual activities, whether or not they are aware of or consent to 

what is happening. The activities may involve physical contact, including penetrative 

acts such as prostitution, rape, buggery or oral sex or non-penetrative acts such as 

fondling. 

Sexual abuse may also include non-contact activities, such as involvement in looking 

at, or in the production of, indecent material or watching sexual activities or encouraging 

them to act in sexually inappropriate ways. Boys and girls can be sexually abused by 

males and/or females, by adults and/or by other young people. 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form of sexual abuse that is based on an ongoing 

exploitative relationship between perpetrator(s) and child/children. 

Neglect: Neglect is the persistent failure to meet a child or young person’s basic 

physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of health 

or development. It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child or young 

person’s basic emotional needs. Neglect may: 

 Involve a parent or carer failing to provide adequate food, clothing or shelter 
including exclusion from home or abandonment; 

 Involve failing to protect from physical and emotional harm or danger; 

 Occur during pregnancy as a result of maternal substance abuse or self-harm 

(please refer to the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board pre-birth protocol 

for more information). 

 

Recognising Abuse and Neglect 

Page 78



 
 

26 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Recognising child abuse is not easy. It is not your responsibility to decide whether or 

not child abuse has taken place or if a child or young person is at significant risk. You 

do however have a responsibility to act if you have concerns and to pass on 

information. 

Every child and young person is unique and it is difficult to predict how their behaviour 

will change as a result of their experience of abuse. The table below outlines some 

physical signs and behavioural indicators that may be associated with a risk of abuse. 

It is important to remember that many children and young people will exhibit some of 

these signs and indicators at some time, but the presence of one or more should not 

be taken as proof that abuse is occurring. There may be other reasons for changes in 

behaviour, for example: bereavement, the birth of a new baby in the family, 

relationship problems between parents/carers. 

Type of 
abuse 

Physical Indicator Behavioural Indicator 

Physical  Frequent or unexplained 
bruising, marks or injury 

 Bruises which reflect hand 
marks or shapes of articles 
e.g. belts 

 Cigarette burns 

 Bite marks 

 Unexplained broken or 
fractured bones 

 Scalds 

 Female Genital Mutilation 

 Fear of parent being contacted 

 Behavioural extremes – 
aggressive / angry outbursts or 
withdrawn 

 Fear of going home 

 Flinching when 
approached/touched 

 Depression 

 Keeping arms/legs covered 

 Reluctance to change clothes 

 Panics in response to pain 

 Reports injury caused by 
parents 

Emotional  Delays in physical 
development or progress 

 Sudden speech disorders 

 Failure to thrive 

 Bedwetting and/or diarrhoea 

 Mental or emotional 
development lags 

 Behaviours inappropriate for 
age 

 Fear of failure, overly high 
standards, reluctance to play 

 Fears consequences of 
actions, often leading to lying 

Many safeguarding concerns arise on a day to day basis, and often they will not develop into 

abuse or neglect. If you have any concerns or questions, please speak to the Safeguarding Co-

ordinator or Safeguarding Representative as soon as possible. 

The role of staff, elected members, volunteers and others working for or on behalf of the Council 

is to help identify concerns and pass them on to the relevant agency. It is the role of Children’s 

Services, Adult Services and/or the Police to investigate allegations or concerns. 

REMEMBER: It is not your job to judge or to investigate, but to inform and share your 
concerns. 

Page 79



 
 

27 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Frequent psychosomatic 
complaints, headaches, 
nausea, abdominal pains 

 

 Extreme withdrawal or 
aggressiveness, mood swings 

 Overly compliant, too well-
mannered 

 Excessive neatness and 
cleanliness 

 Extreme attention-seeking 
behaviours 

 Poor peer relationships 

 Severe depression, may be 
suicidal 

 Runaway attempts 

 Violence is a subject for 
art/writing 

 Complains of social isolation 

 Forbidden contact with other 
children 

Sexual  Pain/itching in the genital 
area 

 Bruising/bleeding near 
genital area 

 Sexually transmitted 
disease 

 Vaginal discharge/infection 

 Frequent unexplained 
abdominal pains 

 Discomfort when 
walking/sitting 

 Bed wetting 

 Excessive crying 

 Inappropriate sexual behaviour 
or knowledge for the child’s age 

 Promiscuity 

 Sudden changes in behaviour 

 Running away from home 

 Emotional withdrawal through 
lack of trust in adults 

 Unexplained money or ‘gifts’ 

 Inappropriate sexually explicit 
drawings or stories 

 Bedwetting or soiling 

 Overeating or anorexia 

 Sleep disturbances 

 Secrets which cannot be told 

 Substance/drug misuse 

 Reports of assault 

Neglect  Constant hunger 

 Poor hygiene 

 Weight loss/underweight 

 Inappropriate dress 

 Consistent lack of 
supervision/abandonment 

 Unattended physical 
problems or medical needs 

 Begging/stealing food 

 Truancy/late for school 

 Constantly tired/listless 

 Regularly alone/unsupervised 

 Poor relationship with care 
giver 

 

All children, regardless of background, should be given the same level of support and 

protection. It is important to have an understanding and awareness that some children 

and young people are potentially more vulnerable and may have additional care 

needs. This could include children young people and vulnerable adults from families 

Page 80



 
 

28 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

affected by domestic abuse, substance misuse and mental illness as well as those 

from ethnic minority backgrounds, migrant and travelling communities, those with a 

disability or learning difficulty, those living away from home, unaccompanied asylum 

seeking children (UASC), children or young people in care or other temporary 

accommodation, as well as those who are in custody or have run away from home. 

Regard should always be given to a young person’s religion or belief. 

Additional guidance is available in the Policy and Procedures Manual of the 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board, found here. 

Child Sexual Exploitation 

The sexual exploitation of children and young people is both a child protection issue 

and a complex crime. Child Sexual Exploitation is based on an ongoing exploitative 

relationship between perpetrator(s) and child/children. A child or young person under 

the age of 18 is sexually exploited when they have received ‘something’ (e.g. food, 

accommodation, drugs, alcohol, gifts, money) in exchange for sex. 

Sexually exploitative relationships are characterised by an imbalance of power and 

the use of controlling behaviours to keep the victim in a dependent position. A child or 

young person may not recognise the level of risk or harm that they are exposed to. It 

is particularly important that professionals exercise judgment when assessing a child 

or young person’s circumstances. 

You should be aware of the following when considering the risks of a young person 

experiencing or being at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation: 

 Boys and girls are equally vulnerable to being victims of child sexual 
exploitation; 

 Coercers and perpetrators are usually adults, of either gender, in a position of 
power, but can be other children and young people; 

 Young people may exchange or sell sex as a result of constrained choices such 
as poverty, isolation and historic abuse; 

 Parents/carers may be involved in the sexual exploitation of their children, or 
fail to prevent/protect them from it; 

 Groups of children and young people and multiple perpetrators may be 
involved; 

 No child under 13 years or with a learning disability will be assessed as Low 
Risk if their behaviours indicate involvement in CSE; 

 Children and young people with additional needs up to and including those 
aged 24 years require special consideration; 

 Disclosure of information may take time and evident risks may only emerge 
during on-going assessment, support and interventions with the young person 
and/or their family. 

 
Grooming: Child sexual exploitation usually involves a ‘grooming’ stage. Grooming 

describes the variety of methods that are used to manipulate and control victims 

including: 

 The giving of gifts or presents; 

Page 81

https://lincolnshirescb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/contents.html


 
 

29 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 The giving of rewards – like mobile phone top-ups or games credits; 

 False promises of love and/or affection; 

 The supply of alcohol and/or drugs 
 
It is very common for the grooming of children and young people to take place online. 

Children and young people can make themselves vulnerable though their online 

activities and abusers are quick to exploit this.  Victims may have been persuaded or 

coerced into posting indecent images or performing sexual acts on webcam. Online 

grooming can also progress to meeting face to face. 

The early stages of the grooming process can be an exciting time for a child or young 

person, particularly if they are given high status gifts or are taken to parties, pubs or 

clubs that they wouldn’t normally get into. 

Grooming is a way of developing an exclusive bond with the victim.  Adolescents are 

particularly vulnerable to grooming where the abuser deceptively constructs a 

connection between sought after love or affection.  As a result the child or young 

person will believe that this person is actually their boyfriend or girlfriend – having no 

prior experience of sex or love against which to measure the relationship. 

Gang Activity: Children and young people associating with or targeted by gang 

members are at particular risk of being sexually exploited and abused. All agencies 

working with young people need to ensure that they work together to prevent young 

people being drawn into gangs, to support those who have been drawn into the 

margins of gangs and to protect those who are at immediate risk of harm from gangs. 

Impact of Sexual Exploitation on Children & Families: As a result of the grooming 

process, children and young people will rarely recognise the coercive and abusive 

nature of the relationship they are involved in and will often prioritise their attachment 

or loyalty to the offender over their own safety. 

Perpetrators of sexual exploitation are very skilled at driving a wedge between a child 

and their family and will also isolate them from their usual friends and support 

networks. Sexually exploited children also suffer physical, psychological, behavioural, 

and attitudinal changes, all of which present severe challenges to their parents and 

carers. 

While there is some evidence that an unstable home life can increase the vulnerability 

of child sexual exploitation, the grooming process can bring chaos to a formerly ‘stable’ 

household. Further information about child sexual exploitation can be found here. 

If you are concerned that a child or young person is at risk from, or is 

experiencing sexual exploitation, please speak to a Safeguarding Officer for 

advice and follow the usual steps for reporting concerns. 

In Lincolnshire there is a multi-agency response to Child Sexual Exploitation, 

known as the SAFE Team. This team will take the lead in the identification, 

prevention, investigation and prosecution of cases across the country. The team 

is made up of officers and staff from Lincolnshire Police, Children’s Services, 

Page 82

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/591903/CSE_Guidance_Core_Document_13.02.2017.pdf
http://microsites.lincolnshire.gov.uk/children/partners/out-of-county/safe-team/124347.article


 
 

30 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Lincolnshire Community Health Services, Youth Offending, CAMHS, and 

Barnardos. 

 

Child Criminal Exploitation 

While there is no legal definition of Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE), it is increasingly 

being recognised as a major factor behind crime in communities across the UK, while 

also simultaneously victimising vulnerable young people and leaving them at risk of 

harm. 

CCE often occurs without the victim being aware that they are being exploited and 

involves young people being encouraged, cajoled or threatened to carry out crime for 

the benefit of others. In return they are offered friendship or peer acceptance, but also 

cigarettes , drugs (especially cannabis), alcohol or even food and accommodation. 

Children as young as 10 or 11 are being groomed to enter gangs and commit crime 

on behalf of older criminals. These young people are being exploited and, by being 

persuaded or lured into carrying out illegal activities, often with the promise of 

something they desire as a reward, they become incredibly vulnerable. 

Victims of CCE are often fearful of getting into trouble themselves – for the very actions 

they have been exploited into carrying out – so it can also be difficult to get these 

young people to come forward and speak out about their situation.  

Lincolnshire has Multi Agency Child Exploitation (MACE) arrangements which 

contribute to the delivery of the child exploitation strategic priority and outcome. 

Further information can be found here. 

For more information on one of the main types of criminal exploitation, please see 

Chapter 8 – County Lines and Cuckooing. 

Contextual Safeguarding 

Contextual Safeguarding is a new approach to safeguarding children and young 

people, which aims to understand and respond to young people’s experiences of 

significant harm beyond their families. It recognises that the different relationships that 

young people form in their neighbourhoods, schools and online can feature violence 

and abuse. Parents and carers have little influence over these contexts, and young 

people’s experiences of extra-familial abuse can undermine parent-child relationships. 

Contextual Safeguarding aims to ensure that children’s social care practitioners 

engage with individuals and sectors who do have influence over/within extra-familial 

contexts, and recognises that assessment of, and intervention with, these spaces is a 

critical part of safeguarding practices. Contextual Safeguarding, therefore, expands 

the objectives of child protection systems in recognition that young people are 

vulnerable to abuse in a range of social contexts.  

Impact of Sustained Abuse and Neglect 

Page 83

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/searchResults.aspx?qsearch=1&keywords=mace&x=0&y=0


 
 

31 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

The sustained abuse or neglect of children physically, emotionally, or sexually can 

have long-term effects on the child's health, development and well-being. It can impact 

significantly on their self-esteem, self-image and on their perception of self and of 

others. The effects can also extend into adult life and lead to difficulties in forming and 

sustaining positive and close relationships. In some situations it can affect parenting 

ability and can lead to the perpetration of abuse on others. 

The context in which the abuse takes place may also be significant. The interaction 

between a number of different factors can serve to minimise or increase the likelihood 

or level of significant harm. Relevant factors will include the individual child's coping 

and adapting strategies, support from family or social network, the impact and quality 

of professional interventions and subsequent life events. 

Physical Abuse: can lead directly to neurological damage, as well as physical 

injuries, disability or at the extreme, death. Harm may be caused to children, both by 

the abuse itself, and by the abuse taking place in a wider family or institutional context 

of conflict and aggression. Physical abuse has been linked to aggressive behaviour in 

children, emotional and behavioural problems and educational difficulties. 

Severe Neglect: associated with major impairment of growth and intellectual 

development. Persistent neglect can lead to serious impairment of health and 

development, and long term difficulties with social functioning, relationship and 

educational progress. Neglect can also result in extreme cases in death. 

Sexual Abuse: can lead to disturbed behaviour including self-harm, inappropriate 

sexualised behaviour and adverse effects which may last into adulthood. The severity 

of impact is believed to increase the longer the abuse continues, the more extensive 

the abuse and the older the child. A number of features of sexual abuse have also 

been linked with the severity of impact, including the extent of premeditation, the 

degree of threat and coercion, sadism and bizarre or unusual elements. A child's ability 

to cope with the experience of sexual abuse, once recognised or disclosed, is 

strengthened by the support of a non-abusive adult or carer who believes the child, 

helps the child to understand the abuse and is able to offer help and protection. 

Emotional Abuse: There is increasing evidence of the adverse long-term 

consequences for children's development where they have been subject to sustained 

emotional abuse. Emotional abuse has an important impact on a developing child's 

mental health, behaviour and self-esteem. It can be especially damaging in infancy. 

Underlying emotional abuse may be as important, if not more so, than other more 

visible forms of abuse in terms of its impact on the child. Domestic abuse, adult mental 

health problems and parental substance misuse may be features in families where 

children are exposed to such abuse. 

Significant Harm 

The Children Act 1989 introduced significant harm as the threshold that justifies 

compulsory intervention in family life in the best interests of the child and gives Local 

Authorities a duty to make enquiries to decide whether they should take action to 

Page 84



 
 

32 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

safeguard or promote the wellbeing of a child who is suffering, or likely to suffer 

significant harm. 

There are no absolute criteria to rely on when judging what constitutes significant 
harm, but considerations should include: 
 

 the severity of ill-treatment;  

 the degree and the extent of physical harm; 

 the duration and frequency of abuse and neglect; 

 the extent of premeditation; 

 the degree of threat, coercion, sadism. 
 
Each of these is associated with more severe effects on the child and/or relatively 
greater difficulty in being able to overcome their impact.  Sometimes a single traumatic 
event may constitute significant harm, e.g. a violent assault, suffocation or poisoning. 
More often, suffering significant harm is a compilation of significant events, both acute 
and long-standing, which interrupt, change or damage the child's physical and 
psychological development.  
 
Some children live in family and social circumstances where their health and 
development are neglected. For them, it is the corrosiveness of long term emotional, 
physical or sexual abuse that causes impairment to the extent of constituting 
significant harm. In each case, it is necessary to consider any ill-treatment alongside 
the families’ strengths and supports. 
 
The child's reactions, his or her perceptions, and wishes and feelings should be 
ascertained and given due consideration, so far as is reasonably practicable and 
consistent with the child's welfare and having regard to the child's age and 
understanding.  
 
The following considerations may indicate that further enquiry is needed and should 
be considered when assessing risks to a child. Some of these have arisen from 
learning from serious case reviews following incidents of significant harm:  
 

 An unexplained delay in seeking treatment that is obviously needed; 

 An unawareness or denial of any injury, pain or loss of function; 

 Incompatible explanations offered or several different explanations given for a 
child's illness or injury; 

 A child reacting in a way that is inappropriate to his/her age or development; 

 Reluctance to give information or failure to mention previous known injuries; 

 Frequent attendances at Accident and Emergency Departments or use of 
different doctors and Accident and Emergency Departments; 

 Frequent presentation of minor injuries (which if ignored could lead to a more 
serious injury); 

 Unrealistic expectations/constant complaints about the child; 

 Alcohol and/or drug misuse or other substance misuse; 

 A parents request to remove a child from home or indication of difficulties in 
coping with the child; 

Page 85



 
 

33 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Domestic abuse; 

 Parental mental ill health; 

 The age of the child and the pressures of caring for a number of children in one 
household; 

 Parental conflict about separation and contact with serious threats to harm the 
children. 

 

Responding to Disclosures, Concerns and Allegations 

These procedures are intended as a guide to help you understand what action should 

be taken if you have concerns about, or encounter a case of alleged or suspected child 

abuse. 

Responding to a child or young person making an allegation of abuse 

Abused children and young people will only tell people they trust and with whom they 

feel safe. By listening and taking seriously what the child or young person is saying, 

you are already helping the situation. The following points are a guide to help you 

respond appropriately: 

 Stay calm; 

 Listen carefully to what is said; 

 Find an appropriate early opportunity to explain that the information may need 
to be shared with others – do not promise to keep secrets; 

 Allow the child or young person to continue at their own pace; 

 Ask questions for clarification only, and avoid asking questions that suggest 
a particular answer; 

 Reassure them that they have done the right thing in telling you; 

 Tell them what you will do next and with whom the information will be shared; 

 Record in writing all the details that you are aware of and what was said using 
the child or young person’s own words, as soon as possible. In your record you 
should include: 

 The date and time; 
 The child or young person’s name, address and date of birth; 
 The nature of the allegation or incident; 
 A concise, factual description of any visible injuries, including a 

diagram if possible; 
 Your observations e.g. a description of the child or young person’s 

behaviour and physical and emotional state; 
 Exactly what the child or young person said and what you said. 

Record the child or young person’s account of what has 
happened as closely as possible; 

 Any action you took as a result of your concerns e.g. who you 
spoke to and resulting actions. Include names, addresses and 
telephone numbers; 

 Sign and date your record (signature not required with electronic 
form); 

 Store the information in accordance with relevant procedures, 
e.g. GDPR. 

Page 86



 
 

34 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Follow the Council’s reporting procedures or speak to a Safeguarding Officer. 
 
Responding to allegations or concerns against a member of staff, elected 
member, volunteer or any other person 
 

 Take the allegation or concern seriously; 

 Consider any allegation or concern to be potentially dangerous to the child or 
young person; 

 Record in writing all the details that you are aware of a soon as possible. 
 

If an allegation of abuse is made against a member of staff, elected member or 

volunteer, the Designated Safeguarding Lead must be informed immediately. 

The Designated Safeguarding Officer will inform the Chief Executive (providing that 

the allegation is not against them) and Local Authority Designated Officer for 

Allegations (LADO) and consideration will be given to suspending the member of staff 

from work or moving them to alternative duties not involving contact with children, 

young people, or adults at risk – in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary 

Procedure. If the Designated Safeguarding Officer is the subject of the 

suspicion/allegation, the report must be made directly to the Chief Executive. 

If it is necessary to investigate events surrounding the complaint, this will be done in 

accordance with advice from the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO), and 

through the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedure, and will include any further 

procedures as set out by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board.  

If the complaint is against someone other than a member of staff, elected member, 

volunteer, contractor or consultant i.e. parent, carer, other service user, etc., then a 

Safeguarding Officer must be informed in line with the Council’s reporting procedures. 

It is important to remember that the language used in recording safeguarding 

concerns should remain objective and those making records should not use 

negative or inflammatory language to describe children and young people. 

 

Reporting Concerns 

Anybody subject to this policy may witness or be informed of an issue that they feel 

should be referred to Children’s Social Care.  

To report a concern, you can click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the 

intranet. This will enable you to forward your concerns using an online reporting form.  

Once your concern has been received, the next steps and appropriate action will be 

decided. 

 

Page 87



 
 

35 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your line 

manager/supervisor to report a concern. 

If you feel that a child or young person is at immediate risk of significant harm, 

then you must call the Police on 999. If however you think they are at risk but 

that risk is not immediate, you must take appropriate action, calling 101 if you 

think a crime has been committed, and by reporting the matter to the LCC 

Customer Services Centre (CSC) on 01522 782111 for children, 01522 782155 for 

adults, or emergency out of hours 01522 782333. 

In all cases you should report the incident to the Safeguarding Coordinator 

accordingly. 

Customer facing, front line services are most likely to come across safeguarding 

concerns in their day to day roles and should have an enhanced level of awareness. 

These staff groups/services will be more experienced in engaging with external 

agencies to report safeguarding concerns and should do so wherever possible (this 

should still be logged through the Council’s safeguarding tracker system). 

The Council’s Safeguarding Coordinator or Lead Safeguarding Officer should, where 

there is felt to be no immediate risk to the child, be consulted prior to the referral being 

made. Where it is not possible to do this the same working day, then an appropriate 

referral should be made by the individual with the concern, supported by their line 

manager. Safeguarding referrals do not need consent from the child or their family, 

but it is best practice to seek this wherever possible. 

Page 88



 
 

36 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

It is possible that the Council will have allegations referred to them by third parties. For 

example, neighbours may contact staff to advise they suspect the welfare of a child or 

young person is suffering. Under these circumstances staff should be encouraged to 

ring the customer services centre themselves directly (members of the public can 

report anonymously).  

When a safeguarding referral is made, the referral will be screened in order to decide 

on the best course of action. LCC has one working day to decide on the response 

needed. If a referral meets the threshold for a social work assessment under the 

Children Act (1989), the referrer will be informed by letter and Social Care colleagues 

will take the case forward. If the referral does not meet the threshold, the referrer 

should also be informed of this by letter. At this point, individuals may be advised to 

consider Early Help support and/or to set up a Team around the Child (TAC) case. In 

such cases, individuals should discuss this with a Safeguarding Officer or seek advice 

from the Early Help Advisors regarding their next steps. 

Good Practice Guidance 

It is possible to limit the situations where the abuse of children, young people or adults 

may occur. These guidelines aim to promote positive practice and are examples to 

help safeguard children, young people and vulnerable adults. They will also protect 

staff, elected members, volunteers and anyone working for or on behalf of West 

Lindsey District Council. 

Staff, elected members, volunteers and contractors should always remember: 

 Avoid situations where they and an individual child or young person are alone 
and unobserved; 

 Ensure that children or young people are not left unattended. For example, it is 
the parents/carers responsibility to supervise any children in their care whilst 
visiting Council offices, or when an employee, elected member, volunteer or 
contractor is carrying out a home visit; 

 Respect the individual and provide a safe and positive environment; 

REMEMBER: It is not your job to judge or to investigate, but to inform and share your concerns. 

IMPORTANT: Officers should be aware that in the case of professional referrals relating to child 

protection, the assumption of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP) is that the 

family may be told where the referral has come from by Children’s Services officers. Any referral 

made by an officer of West Lindsey District Council is regarded as a professional referral but can 

be made in the name of the Designated Safeguarding Officer. 

You must be aware that if there is a need by Children’s Social Care or the Lincolnshire 

Safeguarding Children Board to open a Child Protection Plan or Serious Case Review you may be 

called in to give evidence. In these instances, you will be supported by the Designated 

Safeguarding Officer or Deputy Safeguarding Officer. 

Page 89



 
 

37 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 If any form of physical contact is required it should be provided openly and 
according to appropriate guidelines, i.e. National Governing Body of Sport 
Guidelines; 

 If supervision in changing rooms or similar environments is required, ensure 
you work in pairs and never enter opposite sex changing rooms; 

 With mixed groups, supervision should be by a male and female member of 
staff where possible; 

 Staff, elected members, volunteers and contractors must respect the rights, 
dignity and worth of every person and treat everyone equally within the context 
of the activity; 

 Every assessment should reflect the unique characteristics of the child within 
their family and community context. The Children Act (1989) promotes the view 
that a; children and their parents should be considered as individuals and that 
family structures, culture, religion, ethnic origins and other characteristics 
should be respected; 

 Where appropriate, use a simple Equality Monitoring form for Children and 
Young People to help you assess how accessible our services are to children 
and young people; 

 Staff, elected members, volunteers and contractors must place the well-being 
and safety of the child or young person above the development of performance; 

 If a child or young person is: accidentally injured as the result of a staff member, 
elected member, volunteer or contractor action; seems distressed in any way; 
appears to be sexually aroused by your actions; misunderstands or 
misinterprets something you have done; always report such incidents as soon 
as possible to a Safeguarding Officer and make a written report; 

 If a child or young person arrives at the activity or service showing any signs or 
symptoms that give you cause for concern, you must act appropriately and 
follow the safeguarding reporting procedures; 

 Staff must avoid being left alone with a child. This may happen if the adult 
present is distracted by, for example, a telephone call in another room. Under 
such circumstances, the member of staff must mention the situation to the adult 
concerned and if the adult is intent on leaving the member of staff alone with a 
child, the member of staff must leave the property. 

 
It is not good practice for staff, elected members, volunteers or contractors to: 

 Spend unreasonable amounts of time alone with children or young people away 
from others; 

 Take children or young people alone on a car journey, however short; 

 Take children or young people to your home where they will be alone with you; 

 Arrange to meet children or young people outside an organized activity or 
service; 

 Agree to ‘look after’ or be left in sole charge of children, even for short periods 
of time during the course of your duties; 

 Knowingly visit or enter a property unless in the company of an adult who 
resides at the property. No member of staff should enter a property where only 
a child is present. If a child left alone is suspected of being below an age when 
an adult should supervise them, a Safeguarding Officer should be contacted; 

Page 90



 
 

38 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Ask children to leave a message for their guardian (direct contact must be made 
with the guardian before it can be assumed that a message has been received). 
Similarly, children should not be asked to interpret for their guardian. 

 
If these situations are unavoidable, they should ONLY occur with the full prior 
knowledge and consent of your line manager and the child or young person’s 
parent/carer. 
 
Staff, elected members, volunteers and contractors should never: 

 Engage in rough physical games including horseplay; 

 Engage in sexually provocative games; 

 Allow or engage in inappropriate touching of any form; 

 Allow anyone to use inappropriate language unchallenged, or use it yourself; 

 Make sexually suggestive comments about or to a child or adult, even in fun; 

 Let any allegation a child or adult makes be ignored or go unrecorded; 

 Do things of a personal nature for children or adults that they can do for 
themselves, e.g. assist with changing; 

 Enter areas designated only for the opposite sex without appropriate warning 
(e.g. cleaning staff for toilets etc.); 

 Share a room with a child or young person (e.g. overnight accommodation); 

 Take a child to the toilet, unless this is an emergency and a second, same-
sex member of staff is present; 

 Use a mobile phone, camera or other recording device in any changing area 
or other single sex location such as toilets. Exceptions to this may arise, for 
example where a photographic record of vandalism to a changing room is 
required. In such circumstances customers should be temporarily excluded 
from the location. 

 

Photography and Pornography 

There is increasing evidence that some people have used children’s and young 

persons’ activities and events as an opportunity to take inappropriate photographs or 

video footage of children and young people. Staff, elected members, volunteers and 

contractors should be vigilant at all times, and any person using cameras or videos 

within West Lindsey District Council services and events or activities that involve 

children and young people should be approached and asked to complete a consent 

form for the use of cameras and other image recorders. The form can be found here. 

When commissioning professional photographers or inviting the press to cover Council 

services, events or activities you must ensure that you make your expectations clear 

in relation to child protection. Remember: 

 Check credentials of any photographers and organisations used; 

 Ensure identification is worn at all times. If they do not have their own, provide 

it; 

 Do not allow unsupervised access to children or young people or one-to-one 

photographic sessions; 

Page 91

http://lindsey/Docs/Photography%20and%20recording%20consent%20form.pdf


 
 

39 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Do not allow photographic sessions outside of the activities or services, or at a 

child or young person’s home; 

 Parents must be informed that photographs of their child or young person may 

be taken during Council services, activities or events and parental consent 

forms need to be signed agreeing to this. This must include information about 

how and where these photographs will be used; 

 It is recommended that the names of children or young people should not be 

used in photographs or video footage. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



 
 

40 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Chapter 3 – Safeguarding Adults at Risk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



 
 

41 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Safeguarding is Everyone’s Business 

“I don’t directly work with adults at risk, so does this policy affect me?” 

Yes it does! 

This policy chapter applies to all situations within the Council’s operation which could 

potentially involve contact with adults at risk. It applies to all staff, elected members, 

volunteers and anyone else working for or on behalf of and/or representing the Council 

who may come into contact with adults at risk in the course of their work/duties, 

whether in someone’s home, on Council premises or in the community. It should be a 

priority of all of the above to ensure the safety and protection of adults at risk and to 

fulfil their duty to act in a timely manner regarding any concern or suspicion that an 

adult is being, or is at risk of being abused, neglected or exploited. 

The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) is responsible for developing the 

multi-agency policy and procedures that all relevant organisations in Lincolnshire need 

to follow. The LSAB policy and procedures that the Council are required to follow can 

be accessed here. 

Introduction 

Safeguarding adults requires people and organisations to work together to prevent 

and stop abuse or neglect, and make sure that the adult’s wellbeing is promoted, 

taking account of their views, wishes, feelings and beliefs in deciding on any action. 

The aims of adult safeguarding are to: 

 Stop abuse or neglect wherever possible; 

 Prevent harm and reduce the risk of abuse or neglect to adults with care and 

support needs; 

 Support vulnerable adults in making choices and having control about how they 

want to live; 

 Focus on improving life for the adults concerned; 

 Raise public awareness so that communities play their part in preventing, 

identifying and responding to abuse and neglect; 

 Provide accessible information so people understand the types of abuse, how 

to stay safe and how to raise a concern about someone’s safety or wellbeing; 

 Address what has caused the abuse or neglect. 

To achieve these aims, it is necessary to: 

 Ensure that everyone is clear about their roles and responsibilities; 

 Create strong multi-agency partnerships that provide timely and effective 

prevention of, and responses to abuse and neglect; 

Safeguarding adults is ‘protecting an adults’ right to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect. It 
is about people and organisations working together to prevent and stop both the risk and 
experience of abuse and neglect, whilst at the same time making sure that the adult’s wellbeing 
is being promoted’. 

The Care Act (2014) 

Page 94

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lsab/support/131094.article


 
 

42 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Develop a positive learning environment to break down cultures that are risk-

averse and seek to scapegoat or blame practitioners; 

 Enable access to community resources (e.g. leisure facilities, town centre, 

community groups) that can reduce social and physical isolation which may 

increase the risk of abuse or neglect; 

 Clarify how responses to safeguarding concerns arising from poor quality and 

inadequate service provision should be responded to. 

Wellbeing Lincs 

Wellbeing Lincs is a countywide preventative service aimed at adults 18+. It is 

designed to promote confidence in living independently. It is funded by Lincolnshire 

County Council and delivered on contract by the district councils working together. 

More information can be found here. 

Making Safeguarding Personal 

People’s lives and relationships are complex and they may be ambivalent, unclear or 

unrealistic about their own circumstances. Being safe is only one of the things people 

need, and agencies should work with the adult to establish what being safe means to 

them and how that can be achieved, taking account of their individual wellbeing. 

Statutory safeguarding duties apply to any adult who: 

 Has needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting 

any of those needs; 

 Is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; 

 As a result of those care and support needs, is unable to protect themselves 

from either the risk of or the experience of abuse or neglect. 

Local authority statutory adult safeguarding duties apply to adults with care and 

support needs regardless of whether those needs are being met, irrespective of 

whether the adult lacks mental capacity or not and regardless of setting – other than 

for prisons and approved premises (bail hostels) and include anyone who: 

 Is frail due to age, ill-health, physical disability or cognitive impairment, or a 
combination of these; 

 Has a learning disability, a physical disability and/or a sensory impairment; 

 Has mental health needs including dementia or a personality disorder; 

 Has a long-term illness or condition; 

 Misuses substances or alcohol; 

 Is a carer who provides assistance to adults and is subject to abuse; 

 Is unable to demonstrate the capacity to make a decision. 

Making Safeguarding Personal is a Department of Health initiative which primarily engages the 

second Care Act objective which is about engaging the person in a conversation about how best 

to respond to their safeguarding situation in a way that enhances their involvement, choice and 

control as well as improving their quality of life, wellbeing and safety. 

Page 95

https://www.wellbeinglincs.org/


 
 

43 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Adult Safeguarding Enquiries 

The Care Act 2014 requires that first tier local authorities (in Lincolnshire this is LCC) 

must make enquiries or direct others to do so, whenever abuse or neglect are 

suspected in relation to an adult and the local authority thinks it necessary to enable it 

to decide what (if any) action is needed to help and protect the adult. 

The scope of the enquiry, who leads it, its nature and how long it takes, will depend 

on the specific circumstances. It will usually start with asking the adult their views and 

wishes to determine the next steps. Everyone involved in an enquiry must focus on 

improving the adult’s wellbeing and work together to that shared aim. 

The key objectives of making an enquiry about abuse or neglect are to: 

 Establish facts 

 Ascertain the adults views and wishes 

 Assess the needs of the adult for protection, support and redress and how 
these might be met 

 Protect from abuse and neglect, in accordance with the wishes of the adult. 

 Make decisions as to what follow-up action should be taken with regard to 
the person or organisation responsible for the neglect 

 Enable the adult to achieve resolution and recovery. 

 

Alongside this, there are SIX national principles of good practice in safeguarding 

adults:  

Empowerment People are supported and encouraged to make their own 

decisions and involved through informed consent. 

“I am asked what outcomes I want from the safeguarding 

process and these directly inform what happens.” 

Prevention  Action is taken before harm occurs and to prevent a repeat of 

harm. 

“I receive clear and simple information about what abuse is, how 

to recognise the signs and what I can do to seek help.” 

Proportionality The least intrusive response appropriate to the risk presented. 

“I am sure that the professionals will work in my interests as I see 

them and will only get involved as much as needed.” 

Protection People in need are safe and have support and representation. 

“I get help and support to report abuse and neglect.  I am helped 

to take part in the safeguarding process to the extent to which I 

want.” 

Page 96



 
 

44 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Partnership Local services work together and with their communities to 

prevent, detect and report neglect and abuse. 

“I know that staff treat any personal and sensitive information in 

confidence, only sharing what is helpful and necessary.  I am 

confident that professionals will work together and with me to get 

the best result for me.” 

Accountability Processes are transparent, consistent, robust and scrutinised. 

“I understand the role of everyone involved in my life and so do 

they. 

 

What are Abuse and Neglect? 

There are different types of abuse and neglect, and different circumstances in which 

these occur. Incidents may be one-off or multiple, may affect one person or many, and 

may involve an act of abuse or neglect or a failure to act. The following types of abuse 

are defined in an adult safeguarding context: 

Type of abuse Physical examples Behavioural Indicator 

Physical Hitting, slapping, 

pushing, kicking, 

misuse of medication, 

being locked in a room, 

inappropriate sanctions 

or force-feeding, 

inappropriate methods 

of restraint, unlawfully 

depriving a person of 

their liberty. 

 Unexplained or 
inappropriately 
explained injuries 

 Evidence of untypical 
self-harm 

 Unexplained bruising 
to the face, torso, 
arms, back, buttocks, 
thighs, in various 
stages of healing. 
Collections of 
bruises, in regular 
patterns and/or in the 
shape of an object 
and/or appear on 
several areas of the 
body 

 Unexplained burns 
on unlikely areas of 
the body (e.g. soles 
of the feet, palms of 
the hands, back), 
immersion burns 
(from scalding in hot 
water/liquid), rope 
burns, burns from an 
electrical appliance 

Page 97



 
 

45 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Unexplained or 
inappropriately 
explained fractures at 
various stages of 
healing to any part of 
the body 

 Untreated medical 
problems 

 Sudden and 
unexplained urinary 
and/or faecal 
incontinence 

 Evidence of over-
/under-medication 

Sexual Rape, indecent 
exposure, sexual 
harassment, 
inappropriate looking or 
touching, sexual 
teasing or innuendo, 
sexual photography, 
subjection to 
pornography or 
witnessing sexual acts, 
indecent exposure, 
sexual assault, sexual 
acts to which the adult 
has not consented or 
was pressured into 
consenting. 

 Person has urinary 
tract infections, 
vaginal infections or 
sexually transmitted 
diseases that are not 
otherwise explained 

 Person appears 
unusually subdued, 
withdrawn or has 
poor concentration 

 Person exhibits 
significant changes in 
sexual behaviour or 
outlook 

 Person experiences 
pain, itching or 
bleeding in the 
genital/anal area 

 Underclothing is torn, 
stained or bloody.  

 A woman who lacks 
the mental capacity 
to consent to sexual 
intercourse becomes 
pregnant 

Emotional/Psychological emotional abuse, 

threats of harm or 

abandonment, 

deprivation of contact, 

humiliation, blaming, 

controlling, intimidation, 

coercion, harassment, 

verbal abuse, cyber 

bullying, isolation, 

 Untypical 
ambivalence, 
deference, passivity, 
resignation 

 Person appears 
anxious or 
withdrawn, especially 
in the presence of the 
alleged abuser 

Page 98



 
 

46 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

unreasonable and 

unjustified withdrawal 

of services or 

supportive networks. 

 Person exhibits low 
self-esteem 

 Untypical changes in 
behaviour (e.g. 
continence problems, 
sleep disturbance) 

 

Financial or material 

abuse 

Theft, fraud, internet 

scamming, coercion in 

relation to an adult’s 

financial affairs or 

arrangements, 

including in connection 

with wills, property, 

inheritance or financial 

transactions, the 

misuse or 

misappropriation of 

property, possessions 

or benefits. 

Financial abuse can 

seriously threaten an 

adult’s health and 

wellbeing. The website 

‘Friends Against 

Scams’ is a National 

Trading Standards 

Scams Team initiative 

which aims to protect 

and prevent people 

from becoming victims 

of scams by 

empowering people to 

take a stand against 

scams. Guidance on 

financial abuse can be 

found here. 

 Change in living 
conditions 

 Lack of heating, 
clothing or food 

 Inability to pay bills, 
unexplained shortage 
of money or 
withdrawals from an 
account, or 
unexplained loss or 
misplacement of 
financial documents 

 The recent addition 
of authorised signers 
on a signature card 

 Sudden or 
unexpected changes 
in a will or other 
financial documents  

Neglect and acts of 

omission 

Ignoring medical, 

emotional or physical 

care needs, failure to 

provide access to 

appropriate health, care 

and support or 

educational services, 

 Person has 
inadequate heating 
and/or lighting  

 Person’s physical 
condition / 
appearance is poor 
(e.g. ulcers, pressure 

Page 99

https://www.friendsagainstscams.org.uk/
https://www.friendsagainstscams.org.uk/
https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/articles/protecting-against-financial-abuse


 
 

47 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

the withholding of the 

necessities of life, such 

as medication, 

adequate nutrition and 

heating, a failure to 

intervene in situations 

that are dangerous to 

the person concerned 

or to others, particularly 

when the person lacks 

the mental capacity to 

assess risk for 

themselves. 

sores, soiled or wet 
clothing)  

 Person is 
malnourished, has 
sudden or continuous 
weight loss and/or is 
dehydrated  

 Person cannot 
access appropriate 
medication or 
medical care 

 Person is not 
afforded appropriate 
privacy or dignity 

 Person and/or a 
carer has 
inconsistent or 
reluctant contact with 
health, social 
services, etc. 

 Callers/visitors are 
refused access to the 
person 

 Person is exposed to 
unacceptable risk 

Discriminatory abuse Discrimination on the 

grounds of race, faith or 

religion, age, disability, 

gender, sexual 

orientation or political 

views, racist, sexist, 

homophobic or ageist 

comments or jokes. It 

also includes not 

responding to dietary 

needs, not providing 

appropriate spiritual 

support. 

May not always be obvious. 

May also be linked to acts of 

physical abuse and assault, 

sexual abuse and assault, 

financial abuse, neglect, 

psychological abuse and 

harassment so all the 

indicators listed above may 

apply to discriminatory 

abuse. 

A person may reject their 

own cultural background 

and/or racial origin or other 

personal beliefs, sexual 

practices or lifestyle choices 

Organisational Abuse Includes neglect or poor care in a person’s home or in 

an institution e.g. a hospital or care home; from 

isolated incidents or ongoing ill treatment; through 

neglect or poor practice due to an organisations 

structure, policies, processes and practices. 

Page 100



 
 

48 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Self-Neglect and 

Hoarding 

Self-Neglect: When a person is unable or unwilling to 
care for their own essential needs. It covers a range of 
behaviour including neglecting personal hygiene, 
health or surroundings and includes refusal of support. 
Hoarding: Excessive collection and storing of items, 
often in a chaotic manner, to the point where living 
space cannot be used for its intended purpose. There 
are typically 3 types: compulsive hoarding; 
bibliomania; animal hoarding. A link to the clutter scale 
for compulsive hoarding can be found here. 

Modern Slavery  Includes slavery, human trafficking, forced labour and 

domestic servitude. Traffickers and slave masters 

coerce, deceive and force individuals into abuse, 

servitude and inhumane treatment. For more 

information please see chapter 7. 

Cultural Abuse 

 

Female genital mutilation (FGM): a procedure where 
the female genitals are deliberately cut, injured or 
changed, but where there's no medical reason for this 
to be done. For more information click here. 
Forced marriage: A marriage conducted without the 
valid consent of one or both parties and where duress 
is a factor. Forced marriage is now a specific offence. 
Honour based violence: Practices to control 
behaviour or punish people within families or other 
social groups, perceived to protect cultural and 
religious beliefs and/or honour when perpetrators 
perceive that a relative has shamed the family and/or 
community.  

 

Criminal Exploitation of Vulnerable Adults: This relates to vulnerable adults who 

are used, through whatever means, to engage in criminal activity by other adults who 

are able to coerce them to do so. The coercion is achieved through grooming, 

intimidation, acts of violence and debt bondage. The individuals involved may not 

identify themselves as being ‘exploited’ as such, but it is clearly to their detriment 

that they are involved in this type of activity. More information on this can be found in 

Chapter 8 – County Lines and Cuckooing. 

Safeguarding is everyone’s business: It is vital to begin to establish the facts at the 

earliest opportunity (for example, the behaviours that are occurring and the 

circumstances in which they are happening). 

Where a concern, complaint or allegation is raised, you must discuss this with the 

Designated Safeguarding Officer or Deputy Safeguarding Officer to enable them to 

facilitate an internal exercise to look for: 

 Past Incidents 

 Concerns 

Page 101

https://hoardingdisordersuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/clutter-image-ratings.pdf
http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/female-genital-mutilation/Pages/Introduction.aspx


 
 

49 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Risks and 

 Patterns 

This process is sometimes referred to as ‘icrap’. 

Recognising Abuse and Neglect 

Recognising abuse or neglect is not easy. Abuse can happen anywhere: in someone’s 

own home, in a public place, in a hospital or care home; when an adult lives alone or 

with others. Anyone can carry out abuse or neglect, including: 

 Spouses / partners and other family members; 

 Friends and acquaintances; 

 Neighbours and local residents; 

 People who deliberately exploit adults they perceive as vulnerable to abuse; 

 Paid staff or professionals; and 

 Volunteers and strangers 
 
The Care Act also identifies self-neglect as a safeguarding adult concern. 

While targeted fraud or internet scams are often done by strangers, in most cases of 

abuse, the abuser is known to the adult and in a position to gain their trust or to exert 

pressure or have power over them. 

Anyone can witness or become aware of abuse and neglect. Everyone has a role in 

identifying when an adult is at risk. The adult may say or do things that provide a clue 

e.g. making a complaint, calling for an urgent response, voicing a concern, or issues 

may emerge during a needs assessment. Regardless of how a concern is identified, 

you must be vigilant on behalf of those who are unable to protect themselves, knowing 

what to do and where to get advice. 

All adults, regardless of their background, should be given the same level of 

support and protection. Always give regard to a person’s religion or belief. Those 

with disabilities or different nationalities, victims of trafficking, domestic abuse and 

bullying may have additional care needs. Those with autism may be more likely to 

suffer abuse or neglect. 

Personal characteristics that increase 

vulnerability may include:  

Personal characteristics that 

decrease vulnerability may include: 

 Not having mental capacity to make 
decisions about their own safety 
including fluctuating mental capacity 
associated with mental illness and 
other conditions  

 Communication difficulties  

 Physical dependency – being 
dependent      on others for personal 
care and activities of daily life  

 Low self-esteem  

 Having mental capacity to 
make decisions about their 
own safety  

 Good physical and mental 
health  

 Having no communication 
difficulties or if so, having the 
right equipment/support  

Page 102



 
 

50 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Experience of abuse  

 Childhood experience of abuse  

 Drug/alcohol addiction 

 No physical dependency or, if 
needing help, able to self-direct 
care  

 Positive former life experiences  

 Self-confidence and high self-
esteem  

 

 

Social/situational factors that increase 

the risk of abuse may include: 

Social/situational factors that 

decrease the risk of abuse may 

include  

 Being cared for in a care setting, i.e. 
more or less dependent on others  

 Not receiving the right amount or the 
right kind of care  

 Isolation and social exclusion 

 Stigma and discrimination  

 Lack of access to information and 
support 

 Being the focus of anti-social 
behaviour  

 Good family relationships  

 Active social life and a circle of 
friends  

 Able to participate in the wider 
community  

 Good knowledge and access 
to a range of community 
facilities  

 Remaining independent and 
active  

 Access to sources of relevant 
information  

 

Carers and Safeguarding 

Sometimes a carer (e.g. family member or friend) may: 

 Witness or speak up about abuse or neglect; 

 Experience intentional or unintentional harm from the adult they care for or from 
professionals and organisations they are in contact with; or, 

 Unintentionally or intentionally harm or neglect the adult they support. 
 
The needs of the carer and the adult they care for must be considered, including: 

 Whether a carer’s assessment is needed to explore their individual needs; and 
whether or not joint assessment is appropriate in each individual case; 

 Whether the carer and/or the adult they care for need independent advocacy;  

 the risk factors that may increase the likelihood of abuse or neglect occurring; 

 Whether a change in circumstance changes the risk of abuse or neglect; a 
change in circumstance should trigger a review of any care and support plan; 

 Where abuse or neglect may be unintentional, whether the carer is struggling, 
and needs support or help (without losing the focus on safeguarding the adult);  

 Where abuse or neglect is deliberately intended to cause harm, whether 
immediate steps are needed to protect the adult and/or whether a criminal 
investigation by the police is needed. 

Page 103



 
 

51 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 
Whenever a carer speaks up about abuse or neglect, it is essential that they are 

listened to and, where appropriate, a safeguarding enquiry is undertaken. 

People Alleged to be Responsible for Abuse and Neglect 

Sometimes the person alleged to have carried out the abuse has care and support 

needs themselves and/or is unable to understand the significance of questions put to 

them or their replies. They have a right to support from an ‘appropriate’ adult if they 

are questioned in relation to a suspected crime under the Police and Criminal 

Evidence Act 1984 (PACE). Victims of crime and witnesses may also require the 

support of an ‘appropriate’ adult. If those alleged to be responsible for abuse lack 

capacity, they are entitled to the help of an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate.  

Consent 

It is always essential in safeguarding to consider whether the adult at risk is capable 

of giving informed consent in all aspects of their life. If they are able, their consent 

should be sought. 

If, after discussion with the adult at risk who has mental capacity, they refuse any 

intervention, their wishes will be respected unless: 

 There is an aspect of public interest (e.g. not acting will put other adults or 

children at risk); 

 There is a duty of care on a particular agency to intervene (for example the 

police if a crime has been or may be committed); 

 Seeking consent is not possible and you have a safeguarding concern; 

 Consent has been refused but you feel the referral is reasonable, justified and 

proportionate. 

Mental Capacity, Consent to Refer 

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 defines capacity as the ability to make a 

particular decision or take a particular action at the time the decision or action 

needs to be taken. 

 

The Act applies to everyone aged over 16 and sets out FIVE statutory principles: 

1. Always assume a person has capacity to make their own decisions unless it is 
established that they lack capacity; 

2. All practicable steps to help the person decide must have been taken without 
success; 

3. A person must not be treated as lacking capacity and being unable to make a 
decision merely because they make an unwise decision; 

4. Any action taken or decision made on behalf of a person who lacks capacity 
must be in their “best interests”. A record of the action or decision and the 
reasons for it must be made; 

Page 104



 
 

52 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

5. An act or decision on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must aim to be the 
least restrictive of their rights and freedom of action. 

 
Assessing capacity involves a two stage test: 

1. Is there an impairment of or disturbance in the functioning of the person’s mind or 

brain? 

2. If so, is the impairment or disturbance sufficient that the person lacks the capacity 

to make that particular decision? A person is unable to make a decision if they 

cannot: 

 Understand “relevant information” (e.g.  the nature of the decision, why it is 
needed, the likely effects of deciding one way or another or of making no 
decision), or 

 Retain the information in their mind, or 
 Use or weigh that information in the process of making the decision, or 
 Communicate their decision to others. 

Capacity may vary as a result of illness, injury, medication or other circumstances. 

Staff will need to use their professional judgement and seek guidance from a 

Safeguarding Officer or Adult Social Care in order to help adults to manage risk and 

give them control of making their own decisions. 

If you have concerns about the mental capacity of an adult, please refer to the 

Designated Safeguarding Officer or Deputy Safeguarding Officer who will assist 

you to complete a mental capacity assessment tool to help determine next 

steps. This can be found here. 

It is important to note that just because someone is old, frail or has a disability, this 

does NOT mean that they are inevitably ‘at risk’ or that they lack capacity. A person 

with a disability who has mental capacity to make decisions about their own safety 

may be perfectly able to make informed choices and protect themselves from harm. It 

is equally important to note that people with capacity can also be vulnerable. 

It is vital to try and decide whether an adult has the mental capacity to make decisions 

about their own safety or to give informed consent about: 

 a referral being made; 

 the actions that may follow under multi-agency policy and procedures; 

 their own safety, including understanding the potential for longer-term harm as 
well as immediate effects; 

 what action they need to take to protect themselves from future harm. 
 
For consent to be meaningful and legal, two criteria need to be satisfied:  

 The person must have the capacity to consent, AND 

Remember – people often make what others consider to be unwise choices, even when they 

have capacity. 

Page 105

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/search-results?keywords=mental%20capacity%20assessment&cmd=GoToPage&val=3


 
 

53 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 The consent must be their own choice, and must be given freely and not through 
coercion, intimidation or pressure from family or professionals.  

 
If the person has capacity, you must always seek their consent to make a referral. 

If you are concerned that the person does not have mental capacity, a referral or 

further action may still be needed. Always do this in the person’s best interests. If there 

is time, without causing undue delay, seek advice from the Designated Safeguarding 

Officer or a Deputy Safeguarding Officer. If a decision is needed quickly, make it, 

recording all actions and decisions and the reasons for these. 

Advocacy 

If there is a concern that an adult at risk of abuse or neglect requires an advocate to 

help them to understand and make decisions, the County Council has a duty consider 

whether the adult requires an independent advocate to represent and support the adult 

in an enquiry. 

There are two distinct types of advocacy: 

Instructed advocates: they take their instructions from the person they are 

representing. For example, they will only attend meetings or express views with the 

permission of that person; 

Non-instructed advocates: they work with people who lack the capacity to make 

decisions about how the advocate should represent them. Non-instructed advocates 

independently decide how best to represent the adult. 

Responding to an Adult at Risk who is making a Disclosure 

 Stay calm; 

 Speak to them in a private and safe place. It is essential that the person alleged 

to have caused harm is not present; 

 Listen carefully to what they are telling you and get as clear a picture as you 

can. Avoid asking too many questions at this stage unless for clarification; 

 Let them talk at their own pace; 

 Do not give promises of complete confidentiality – do not promise to keep 

secrets. Explain that you have a duty to tell a designated safeguarding officer 

and that the adult at risk’s concerns may be shared with other professionals 

who could have a part to play in protecting them; 

 Reassure the adult at risk that they have done the right thing in telling you; 

 Reassure the adult at risk that they will be involved in decisions about what will 

happen; 

 Explain that you will try to take steps to prevent them from further abuse or 

neglect; 

 If they have specific communication needs, provide support and information in 

a way that is most appropriate to them; 

 Do not be judgemental; 

 Do not jump to conclusions; 

Page 106



 
 

54 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Record in writing all the details that you are aware of and what was said, using 

the person’s own words, as soon as possible. 

In your record you should include: 

 The date and time; 

 The person’s name, address and date of birth; 

 The nature of the allegation; 

 A description of any visible injuries; 

 Your observations, for example a description of the person’s behaviour and 

physical and emotional state; 

 Exactly what the person said and what you said. Record the person’s account 

of what has happened as soon as possible; 

 Any action you took as a result of your concerns, e.g. who you spoke to and 

resulting actions. Include names, addresses and telephone numbers; 

 Sign and date what you have recorded (signature not required with electronic 

form); 

 Store the information in accordance with relevant procedures, e.g. GDPR; 

 Report to relevant person – follow the Council’s reporting procedures or, in an 

emergency, contact Adult Social Care and/or the Police. 

 

Responding to Allegations or Concerns against a Member of Staff, Elected 

Member, Volunteer or any other Person 

 Take the allegation or concern seriously 

 Consider any allegation or concern to be potentially dangerous to the person 

 Record in writing all the details that you aware of as soon as possible 

If an allegation of abuse is made against a member of staff, elected member or 

volunteer, the Designated Safeguarding Officer must be informed immediately. They 

will inform the Executive Director of Economic and Commercial Growth (providing that 

the allegation is not against them) and Local Authority Designated Officer for 

Allegations (LADO). Consideration will be given to suspending the member of staff or 

moving them to alternative duties not involving contact with adults at risk, in 

accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedure. If the Safeguarding 

Officer is the subject of the suspicion/allegation, the report must be made directly to 

the POD Team Manager or Executive Director of Economic and Commercial Growth. 

If the complaint is against someone other than a member of staff, elected member, 

volunteer, contractor or consultant i.e. parent, carer, other service user, etc., then a 

Safeguarding Officer must be informed in line with the Council’s reporting procedures. 

Reporting Concerns 

Anybody subject to this policy may witness or be informed of an issue that they feel 

should be referred to Adult Social Care. 

The first priority must always be to ensure the safety and wellbeing of the adult. The 
adult should experience the safeguarding process as empowering and supportive. 

Page 107



 
 

55 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Practitioners should, wherever practicable, seek the consent of the adult before taking 
action. However, there may be circumstances when consent cannot be obtained 
because the adult lacks capacity to give it, but it is in their best interests to undertake 
an enquiry. Whether or not the adult has capacity to consent, action may need to be 
taken if: 
 

 Others are or will be put at risk if nothing is done; 

 It is in the public interest to take action because a criminal offence has 

occurred. 
 

To report a concern, you can click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the 

intranet. This will enable you to forward your concerns using an online reporting form. 

Once your concern has been received, the next steps and appropriate action will be 

decided. 

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your line 

manager/supervisor to report a concern. 

If you think someone is being abused or you think their safety is at risk, then it is 

important to tell someone. If you are worried about an adult and think they may be a 

victim of neglect, abuse or cruelty, please call the CSC on 01522 782155 or out of 

hours 01522 782333.You do not need to know everything about the situation or what 

is happening. You may just be worried or feel that something is not right. 

If you believe a crime has been committed and there is an immediate risk of danger, 

you should telephone the Police on 999. If you believe a crime has been committed 

but there is no immediate danger, you should call 101 to report your concerns. 

If anyone to whom this policy applies thinks an adult is being abused, or that their safety is at risk, 

they should report their concerns to a Safeguarding Officer using the Council’s internal reporting 

mechanism. 

If you have a reasonable suspicion (e.g. reasons to suspect that an adult with care or support needs 

is experiencing or at risk from abuse or neglect) then you must gather as much information as 

possible. This will enable a Designated Safeguarding Officer to carry out an internal check of the 

Council’s previous dealings with them (known as ‘icrap’). A Safeguarding Officer will assist to pass 

the concerns on to Adult Social Care. 

Page 108



 
 

56 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Customer facing, front line services are most likely to come across safeguarding 

concerns in their day to day roles and should have an enhanced level of awareness. 

These staff groups/services will be more experienced in engaging with external 

agencies to report safeguarding concerns and should do so wherever possible (this 

should still be logged through the Council’s safeguarding tracker system). 

When an adult safeguarding referral is made, Lincolnshire County Council will apply 

the six objectives of the safeguarding enquiry to the discussions with colleagues and 

although the local authority is the lead agency for making enquiries, it may require 

others to undertake them. 

The specific circumstances will often determine who the right person to begin an 

enquiry is. Statutory guidance sets out that in many cases a professional who already 

knows the adult will be the best person; for example, this could be a housing support 

worker or community safety officer. 

It is possible that the Council will have allegations referred to them by third parties. For 

example, neighbours may contact staff to advise that they suspect that the welfare of 

an adult at risk is suffering. Under these circumstances staff should encourage those 

reporting such concerns to contact the police or the CSE for adults accordingly. 

 

Record Keeping 

Good record keeping is essential. Whenever a complaint or allegation is made, all 

agencies should keep clear and accurate records with all relevant records put into a 

file to record all action taken. Always and as soon as possible, make a factual record 

of everything that happened, was said and was seen, including: 

 The date and time and the person’s name, address and date of birth; 

 The nature of the allegation or incident and, if possible, the name, address, 

date of birth, employer of the person alleged to have caused the harm; 

 Factual observations e.g. any visible injuries, the person’s behaviour, 

physical/emotional state etc.; 

 Exactly what they said, using their own words, and exactly what you said; 

REMEMBER: It is not your job to judge or to investigate, but to inform and share your concerns. 

IMPORTANT: Officers should be aware that in the case of professional referrals relating to an adult 

at risk, the assumption of the Safeguarding Adults Team at Lincolnshire County Council is that the 

adult at risk may be told where the referral has come from. Any referral made by an officer of West 

Lindsey District Council is regarded as a professional referral but can be made in the name of the 

Designated Safeguarding Officer. 

You must be aware that if there is a need by Adult Social Care or the Lincolnshire Safeguarding 

Adults Board to open an Adult Protection Plan or Serious Case Review you may be called in to 

give evidence. In these instances, you will be supported by the Designated Safeguarding Officer 

or Deputy Safeguarding Officer. 

Page 109



 
 

57 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Their consent to share the information; 

 All actions you took e.g. who you spoke to and all resulting actions so far. 

Included names, addresses and telephone numbers wherever possible; 

 Sign and date your record and store the information securely. 

Where there is a file for the individual, the record should be stored in their file. 

Reporting to the Police 

The police take any crime against an adult at risk seriously, and will investigate it 

thoroughly, professionally and compassionately. The police work very closely with 

partner agencies to ensure effective information sharing, risk assessment and 

decision-making takes place every time an incident of abuse is reported. 

There are now special measures that can be put into place to help vulnerable people 

through the court process. These measures have allowed many people who may once 

have been denied access to the criminal justice system the opportunity to give their 

evidence in court. The police will discuss these special measures with victims at the 

earliest stage possible in the investigation. 

Acting to Protect the Adult at Risk and deal with immediate needs 

In an emergency, or if there is an immediate concern for the person’s safety or 

wellbeing: 

 Call 999 for an ambulance if they are injured and/or for the police if you suspect 

a crime has been committed; 

 Inform the appropriate LCC Customer Service Centre (CSC); 

 Take steps to ensure they are not in immediate danger (without risk to yourself); 

 Avoid disturbing evidence: try to secure the scene e.g. lock the door; 

 Consider the risk to any other adults or children; 

 Support the person to contact the police themselves if a crime has been or may 

have been committed; 

 Provide reassurance, whilst being clear that you need to report the issue. 

Also, as soon as possible after the emergency has been resolved: 

 Record exactly what happened on the relevant safeguarding referral form; 

 Notify the Designated Safeguarding Officer or their deputy; 

 Ensure that your record is signed, dated and securely stored. 

If a person is at risk of significant harm, or if they have made a disclosure or a 

direct or indirect allegation about a person or organisation outside WLDC, 

including a relative, carer or employee of that organisation: 

 Take the allegation or concern seriously; 

 Speak to them in a private and safe place; 

 Ensure that the person alleged to have caused harm is not present; 

 Make sure they are and feel safe and know what is happening; 

 Evaluate the risk the adult; do this on the same day as the concern is identified; 

Page 110



 
 

58 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Ask for consent to share the information (although you may not need 

consent if there is significant harm, it is still good practice); 

 Record the details on the relevant Safeguarding Referral Form, using their own 

words; 

 As soon as possible, contact LCC’s Customer Service Centre who will tell you 

what to do next. Write this down; 

 Notify the Designated Safeguarding Officer or their Deputy; 

 Ensure that your record is signed, dated and securely stored. 

If someone makes allegations against a member of staff, elected member, volunteer, 

key contractor, consultant or directly commissioned provider acting on behalf of the 

Council, regardless of your role or status or theirs, YOU MUST ALWAYS ACT! 

What to do if someone makes a threat of suicide. 

If someone indicates over the phone that they are going to take their own life, simply 

asking about their suicidal thoughts or feelings will not push someone into doing self-

destructive. In fact, offering an opportunity to talk about those thoughts or feelings may 

reduce the risk that someone may act upon their suicidal feelings. 

Start by asking questions. 

The first step is to find out whether the person is in danger of acting on suicidal 

feelings. Be sensitive, but ask direct questions, check details, and give further 

information such as: 

 Check the details of what has been said (explaining again may get them to 

realise what they said and explain they do not mean it); 

 Check their contact number and current location (in case you need to call them 

back or send someone to the address); 

 Ask if they are thinking about committing suicide; 

 Ask who is with them (either an adult for support or a child that may need 

safeguarding); 

 Inform them of the Samaritans number 116123 

 Inform them of the number for the Lincolnshire NHS 24 helpline 0303 123 4000 

 Recommend they make an appointment with their GP; 

If the call gets cut off and you are unable to get back in touch and you have concerns 

that the person is going to take their life or hurt themselves or another person, please 

call 999 and request a safe and well check immediately. 

In all cases you should report the incident via the WLDC reporting procedure  

What happens when you report Abuse or Neglect? 

The Care Act (2014) requires Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) to undertake 

enquiries, or to cause others (potentially including appropriate West Lindsey District 

Council staff) to do so, if they reasonably suspect an adult who meets the criteria is, 

or at risk of, being abused or neglected. The purpose of an enquiry is to decide whether 

LCC or any other agency should do something to help and protect the adult. The adult 

Page 111



 
 

59 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

should always be involved from the start of the enquiry unless that would increase the 

risk of abuse. If they have severe difficulty in being involved or if there is no one 

appropriate to support them, LCC must arrange for an independent advocate to 

represent them. The objectives of an enquiry into abuse or neglect are to: 

 establish the facts; 

 ascertain the adult’s views and wishes; 

 assess the need for protection, support, redress, and how this might be met; 

 protect the adult from the abuse and neglect, in line with their wishes; 

 make decisions about further action against the person or organisation causing 
the abuse or neglect; 

 enable the adult to achieve resolution and recovery. 
 
The first priority is always to ensure the safety and wellbeing of the adult. 
 
The process should be empowering and supportive. Wherever practicable, the 
consent of the adult will be sought before taking action but action may need to be 
taken if others are or will be put at risk if nothing is done, or if it is in the public interest 
because a criminal offence has occurred. Complex cases need to involve a social 
worker: for example, if abuse or neglect is suspected within a family. In other cases, a 
professional who already knows the adult or who has specific knowledge may be 
better placed to do an enquiry e.g. health professionals for medical issues or housing 
issues. If LCC asks another agency to make the enquiry, they must set timescales and 
what action will follow if this is not done.  
 
On completion of the enquiry, the outcome should be notified to LCC who must 

determine with the adult what, if any, further action is needed, agreeing an action plan, 

to be recorded on their care plan. Agencies must agree: 

 what steps are to be taken to assure their safety in future; 

 the provision of any support, treatment or therapy including on-going advocacy; 

 any modifications to the way services are provided; 

 how to support the adult through any action they take to seek justice or redress; 

 any on-going risk management strategy as appropriate; 

 any action to be taken regarding the person or organisation causing the 
concern. 

 
Actions could include disciplinary or criminal investigations, supporting the person 

through mediation, developing safeguarding plans or securing fuller assessments by 

health and social care agencies. A criminal investigation takes priority over all other 

enquiries but a multi-agency approach will be agreed to ensure that the interests and 

wishes of the adult are considered throughout, even if they do not wish to give 

evidence or support a prosecution. The welfare of the adult and others, including 

children, requires continued risk assessment to ensure the outcome is in their interests 

and supports their wellbeing. 

 

 

Page 112



 
 

60 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Chapter 4 – Domestic Abuse 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113



 
 

61 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Safeguarding is Everyone’s Business 

“I don’t directly work with children, families, or adults at risk of domestic abuse so 

does this policy affect me?” 

Yes it does! 

Introduction 
Sometimes you will hear the phrase domestic abuse, sometimes domestic violence. 
They mean the same thing. Domestic abuse includes a range of abusive behaviours 
which are used by an abusive partner, or ex-partner or family member to maintain 
power and control over another individual. Domestic abuse is not a one off incident 
but is an on-going pattern of behaviour. Once begun, the abuse and/or violence will 
repeat itself and will often get worse over a period of time. This abusive behaviour also 
includes Forced Marriage, so called Honour Based Violence and Female Genital 
Mutilation. Largely hidden behind closed doors, it leaves the victims feeling isolated 
and powerless. The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership, previously known as the 
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership continues to focus on domestic abuse as 
one of its priorities. 
 
What is Domestic Abuse? 
Domestic Abuse is not just a disagreement. It is a pattern of behaviours, some causing 
physical injury, others not, some criminal, others not, but all potentially emotionally 
damaging. Frequently domestic abuse includes threats of violence, suicide or threats 
to take children away. It may also include breaking objects, hurting pets, abusive 
language, sexual abuse, driving recklessly to endanger or scare the abused person, 
isolating family members from others, and controlling access to money, cars and other 
personal belongings. 
Domestic Abuse, or domestic violence, is defined as: 

Controlling behaviour is a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate 

and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources 

and capacities for personal gain, depriving them of their means needed for 

independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour. 

Coercive behaviour is an act or pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and 

intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish or frighten the victim. 

Threatening Behaviour (harassment) includes threats of violence, threats of suicide 

or threats to take the children from the abused person. 

The Serious Crime Act (2015) made Controlling and Coercive Behaviour whilst in a 

relationship a criminal offence. The new offence closes a gap in the law around 

patterns of controlling or coercive behaviour in an ongoing relationship between 

intimate partners or family members. The offence carries a maximum sentence of 5 

years imprisonment, fine, or both. 

‘Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or 
abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or have been intimate partners or family members 
regardless of gender or sexuality’. 

Home Office, 2013 

 

 

Page 114

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/safer-lincolnshire-partnership/


 
 

62 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

NOTE – The goal of an abusive person is to establish 
and maintain control over the person they are in or 
have been in a relationship with. Domestic Abuse is 
a pattern of behaviour whose effects, without 
intervention, will become more destructive and 
sometimes even life threatening over time. 
 

 

Who can Experience Domestic Abuse? 

Domestic Abuse has a significant impact on individuals, families and communities. 

Nationally, nearly one million women experience at least one incident of domestic 

abuse each year. One in ten men report they have experienced domestic abuse and 

at least 750,000 children a year witness domestic abuse. It is likely many of us are 

affected whether through intimate partnerships, family members, friends or our 

colleagues at work. 

Largely hidden behind closed doors, domestic abuse can affect anyone, regardless of 

age, social background, gender, race, religion, sexual preference, disability or 

ethnicity. It may occur in a variety of relationships: married, separated, divorced, living 

together, dating, heterosexual, gay or lesbian, bi-sexual or transgender relationships.  

Victims of domestic abuse are often too frightened or embarrassed to report what is 

happening or do not trust that they will be believed or safeguarded after their 

disclosure. Male victims of domestic abuse may find it harder to seek help. Many 

children witness domestic abuse and may require safeguarding action to be taken. 

Types of Abuse 

Recognising domestic abuse is not easy. The table below details some of the different 

types of abuse that may be present in an abusive relationship but this list is not 

exhaustive. 

Category of Abuse Examples 

Psychological/Emotional Intimidation, insulting, isolating a person from friends 

and family, constantly criticising.  

Denying abuse, treating them as inferior, threatening to 

harm children or take them away, forced marriage. 

Swearing, undermining confidence, making racist 

remarks, making a person feel unattractive, calling 

them stupid or useless, eroding their independence, 

threatening suicide if the person leaves them. 

Physical Shaking, smacking, punching, kicking presence of 

finger or bite marks, starving, tying up, stabbing, 

Page 115



 
 

63 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

suffocation, throwing things, using objects as weapons, 

female genital mutilation, ‘honour based violence’. 

Physical effects such as bruises may be on areas of the 

body that are usually covered and hidden. 

Sexual Forced sex, forced prostitution, ignoring religious 

prohibitions about sex, refusal to practice safe sex, 

sexual insults, sexually transmitted diseases, 

preventing breastfeeding. 

Financial Not letting a person work, undermining their efforts to 

find work or study, refusing to give them money, asking 

for an explanation of how every penny is spent, making 

them beg for money, gambling, not paying bills. 

Controlling A range of acts designed to make a person subordinate 

and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of 

support, exploiting their resources and capacities for 

personal gain, depriving them of their means needed 

for independence, resistance and escape and 

regulating their everyday behaviour. 

Coercive An act or pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation 

and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, 

punish or frighten the victim. 

Stalking  An activity that is designed to force contact on the 

subject. The stalker may use a variety of methods to 

attempt to establish a relationship including calling, 

emailing, sending letters, waiting in areas where the 

subject works or lives and attempting to approach or 

use third parties as intermediaries. 

Harassment Involves behaviour that is threatening and disturbing, 

conducted with the goal of intimidating, frightening, or 

irritating someone. A variety of activities can be 

considered harassment and some may technically be 

legal, but when they occur in the context of a pattern of 

other behaviours, they are considered harassment and 

can be prosecuted. This activity can include filing false 

reports against someone and distributing abusive 

materials designed to malign someone. 

 

 

 

Page 116



 
 

64 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Why do People Stay in Abusive Relationships? 

Making the decision to leave a violent or abusive partner is not easy. There are a 

number of reasons why people do not leave an abusive relationship. It is important to 

understand some of these reasons. The table below sets out some of the reasons, but 

everyone’s circumstances are different and this is not an exhaustive list. 

Fear of further violence: Leaving may end the relationship but may not end the 

abuse. Many victims are tracked down and further abused when they leave, often 

for weeks and months afterwards. Research shows that about half of all women 

murdered by their partners had left or were in the process of leaving when they were 

killed. 

Lack of knowledge and access to help: Despite increased awareness about 

domestic abuse, many victims don’t know how to take advantage of their legal and 

housing rights. Even if they are aware of these services, some may experience 

problems due to language difficulties, inappropriate responses from service 

providers, living in isolated areas or lack of funds. 

Economic dependence: If a victim is working, he/she may lose their job due to 

needing time off work, moving too far away or staying off work so they can’t be found 

there. For other victims, becoming a single parent may mean working is no longer 

possible; others may face months of legal dispute over property and financial 

matters. 

Staying because of the children: Many abused victims think they should stay in 

their relationship for the sake of their children. 

Social isolation: Most victims experiencing domestic abuse are extremely isolated. 

Their partner may have deliberately isolated them from sources of support including 

family and friends, they may be too ashamed or afraid to tell anyone, or they may 

have told someone whose response has been unhelpful and judgmental. 

Emotional dependence: Conflicting feelings of fear, shame, bewilderment, care for 

the abuser, a hope that things will improve, a commitment to the relationship but not 

to the abuse, all often contribute to a victim staying in an abusive situation. 

Lack of confidence: After living with an abusive partner, the self-esteem of most 

victims has been eroded to the point where they no longer have confidence in 

themselves, including their ability to survive alone, and may believe that there are no 

other options. 

Cultural reasons: Many victims and abusers have been brought up to believe that 

real fulfillment comes from being a husband/wife and mother/father or that divorce is 

wrong and may even be encouraged to stay in the relationship by family members 

or religious leaders. 

 

For further information, visit www.domesticabuselincolnshire.com  

Page 117

http://www.domesticabuselincolnshire.com/


 
 

65 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

IMPORTANT: Never judge a person for not leaving 
an abusive relationship. Support them, regardless of 
their decision and advise them how to keep safe 
while living with domestic abuse and when they are 
ready to move, enable them to do so. 
 
NOTE: It is not your job to judge or to investigate, 
but to inform and share your concerns. 
 

 

Responding to Concerns, Allegations and Disclosures 

Disclosing domestic abuse is not easy. It is vital that the procedures in this section 

are understood and applied consistently by all staff, elected members, volunteers and 

anyone working for or on behalf of West Lindsey District Council. 

 At all times the person who has experienced Domestic Abuse must be dealt 

with in confidence. This is important to maximise the confidence that the 

individual has in the colleague/manager/practitioner and the organisation; 

 At all times take steps to protect the victim, accept their perception of the danger 

they are in and listen appropriately; 

 Permission must be sought to share information. Information should never be 

discussed with other members of the public and should only be shared with 

colleagues where it is appropriate (e.g. the MARAC process); 

 A risk assessment (known as a DASH) should be used in all cases and its use 

explained to the victim – a Safeguarding Officer will assist you to complete 

the risk assessment, or may complete this with the victim – the form is 

accessible from http://www.dashriskchecklist.co.uk; 

 Concerns about the welfare of any children will take precedence over issues of 

confidentiality and be over-ridden by Child Protection procedures; 

 Ensure that at all times the victim is aware of organisational procedures and 

any action you are taking. Records should be kept of all interviews. This may 

be important for later evidential purposes. Use the client’s exact words to record 

the abuse. Be as precise as possible e.g. ‘my husband hit me with a cricket bat’ 

rather than ‘client has been abused’; 

 Do not insist on joint sessions with the victim and the perpetrator or that they 

should seek legal remedies if they do not wish to do so; 

 If the victim concerned does not want to leave yet, it does not mean they will 

never leave, nor that they do not require ongoing and continual support. 

West Lindsey District Council operates a Sanctuary Scheme which is managed within 

Home Choices. The scheme is open to all victims of domestic abuse who are in the 

district, but priority may be given to high risk victims managed under the MARAC 

arrangements. The scheme can be accessed via self-referral, MARAC referral and 

professional referral. Most MARAC referrals are managed by the IDVA who holds a 

stock of equipment.  A range of housing options will be discussed and offered as well 

Page 118

https://www.saferneighbourhoods.net/domestic-abuse/marac/
https://www.dashriskchecklist.co.uk/
http://www.dashriskchecklist.co.uk/


 
 

66 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

as the Sanctuary Scheme to enable the client to make an informed decision about the 

options that best suits their needs and circumstances.  

Clare’s Law - Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme: This gives individuals a 
‘right to ask’ Police where they have a concern that their partner may pose a risk to 
them or where they are concerned that the partner of a member of their family or a 
friend may pose a risk to that individual. 

If an application is made under the scheme, Police and partner agencies will carry 

out checks. If these show that the partner has a record of abusive offences, or 

there is other information to indicate that there may be a risk from the partner, the 

Police will consider sharing this information. For more information please click here. 

 

Reporting concerns 

Any officer may, in the course of their duties, witness or be informed of an issue that 

they feel should be referred to a domestic abuse trained officer. This can be done 

using the Council’s standard reporting procedure. If officers are confident to do so they 

should complete a DASH risk assessment. Officers completing a risk assessment 

should discuss the outcome with a Safeguarding Officer. 

For all other referrals, please follow the Council’s safeguarding incident flowchart to 

determine an appropriate course of action. 

It is possible that the Council will have allegations referred to them by third parties. For 

example, neighbours may contact staff to advise that they suspect that somebody is 

at risk of or is experiencing domestic abuse. Under these circumstances, staff should 

encourage those reporting such concerns to contact the Police or the CSC for adults 

accordingly. 

To report a concern, you can click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the 

intranet. This will enable you to forward your concerns using an online reporting form 

. Once your concern has been received, the next steps and appropriate action will be 

decided. 

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your line 

manager/supervisor to report a concern. 

Page 119

https://www.met.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/daa/domestic-abuse/alpha/request-information-under-clares-law/
file:///C:/Users/RP20040/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XLFYVGT9/safeguarding%20referral%20form.docx


 
 

67 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

If you are concerned that you or someone you know is experiencing Domestic Abuse 

and you want advice or support, you can contact EDAN Lincs: 

 Telephone: 01522 510041; 

 Email: info@edanlincs.org.uk; 

 Website: https://edanlincs.org.uk/  

If you feel that someone is at immediate risk of significant harm, then you must 

call the Police on 999. If however you think they are at risk but that risk is not 

immediate, you must take appropriate action, calling 101 if you think a crime has 

been committed, and by reporting the matter to the LCC Customer Services 

Centre (CSC) on 01522 782111 for children, 01522 782155 for adults, or 

emergency out of hours 01522 782333. 

In all cases you should report the incident to the Designated Safeguarding 

Officer accordingly. 

West Lindsey District Council commitment to tackling Domestic Abuse 
Domestic Abuse Charter: A Domestic Abuse charter has been developed for 

Lincolnshire that sets out 10 standards that agencies should aim to meet to ensure 

best practice.  WLDC aims to follow this charter and will take steps to meet all 10 

standards as set out below: 

1.          That the agency I represent understands the realities of domestic abuse 

and its impact on, and cost to, the services it provides.  Data will be shared 

within the DASMB 

2.  

 

Domestic Abuse material is displayed by the agency/department I 

represent in different languages relevant to local communities and is also 

available in alternative formats such as large print. Information about 

domestic abuse is included on respective agencies websites with links to 

the Lincolnshire DA website 

3. That there is an effective domestic abuse policy/protocol or guidance in 

place detailing how the agency/department will respond to domestic abuse 

4.  That risk identification, risk assessment and risk management processes, 

for victims, perpetrators and children are fully embedded within the 

agency/department I represent 

5. That there is full participation by the agency I represent within the MARAC 

process for High Risk Victims 

6. That all appropriate referral/signposting pathways are in place for standard 

and medium victims 

7. That staff who require Domestic Abuse training have been identified and 

the level of training required assessed 

8. That all identified staff have been trained to the required level 

Page 120

mailto:info@edanlincs.org.uk
https://edanlincs.org.uk/


 
 

68 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

9. That there is regular attendance and participation at the Domestic Abuse 

core priority group and MARAC steering group from my agency 

10. The agency has an employee policy for staff experiencing or perpetrating 

domestic violence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 121



 
 

69 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Chapter 5 – Preventing Violent Extremism 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding is EVERYONE’s business 

You have a role to play in Preventing Violent Extremism 

 

 

Page 122



 
 

70 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Introduction 

The Counter-Terrorism and Security Act, approved in March 2015, contains a duty 

on specified authorities to have due regard to the need to prevent people from being 

drawn into terrorism. This is also known as the Prevent duty. The act ensures that law 

enforcement and intelligence agencies have the powers they need to help keep the 

country safe from the threat posed by terrorism and hostile state activity.  

In June 2018, a new Counter-Terrorism and Border Security Act was introduced to 

the House of Commons, and received Royal Assent on 12th February 2019. The act 

updates, and close gaps in existing counter-terrorism legislation to ensure that it is fit 

for the digital age and reflects contemporary patterns of radicalisation.  

The Act enables local authorities, in addition to the police, to refer an individual at risk 

of being drawn into terrorism for discussion at a Channel panel. Previously this power 

was only available to the Police. To achieve this change, the Act amended sections 

36 and 38 of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2015. This will streamline the process of 

referring individuals by removing some of the existing administrative burden on local 

authorities and the police, and ensure that at risk individuals can be supported in a 

timely manner. 

Overview of Prevent 

PREVENT is a key strand of the Government’s counter-terrorism strategy, CONTEST. 

Its main objective is to stop people becoming terrorists or supporting violent 

extremism. 

Although there is no specific threat to Lincolnshire, West Lindsey District Council has 

an important role to play in identifying and preventing people from becoming 

radicalised into extremist violence. This role is an important part of the Prevent Duty, 

which became a statutory duty for organisations including Local Authorities, in 2015. 

The PREVENT strategy has three specific strategic objectives: 

1. IDEOLOGY & IDEOLOGUES – To challenge the ideology that supports 

terrorism and those that support it; 

2. INDIVIDUALS – To prevent vulnerable people from being involved in or 

supporting terrorism; 

3. INSTITUTIONS – To support sectors and institutions where there are 

risks of radicalisation. 

“In Lincolnshire, we aim to empower all communities to stand up to the small minority who 

support terrorism or extremism.” 

Lincolnshire Police 

“Prevent and Chanel protect the most vulnerable in our society and prevent them from being 
drawn into terrorism – Channel panels ensure such individuals receive the support they need in a 
timely manner to guide them away from such activity.” 

Rt. Hon Ben Wallace MP 

Page 123



 
 

71 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Prevent is a multi-agency strategy and not solely a Police initiative. It is important 

everyone works together to disrupt those who promote violent extremism and identify 

people who are vulnerable to being recruited by terrorists, so the police and other 

agencies can offer them support. 

Prevent operates in the non-criminal space. This means that individuals who are 

referred to Prevent can be supported to move away from terrorism, rather than being 

criminalised. This multi-agency process is called ‘Channel’. 

It is important to note that Prevent applies to violent extremism across all groups. 

Tackling radicalisation relies, to a certain extent, on the vast majority of people who 

reject violent extremism and are determined to challenge it. 

Prevent is not about spying on people or stigmatising and criminalising individuals 

and/or communities. It is about working with communities to identify individuals who 

may be susceptible to being drawn toward a path of violent extremism. Our aim is to 

provide support to such individuals to divert them away from violent extremism before 

they commit any criminal acts. 

The key aim of the Prevent strategy in Lincolnshire is ‘to help local authorities, police, 

community safety partnerships and other partners and partnerships to develop and 

implement effective actions which make their communities safer. This will reduce the 

risk from terrorism and violent extremism, so that the people of Lincolnshire can go 

about their business freely and with confidence’. 

Experience has shown that results are best achieved through: 

 Partnership working and community engagement; 

 Understanding the challenge and its context; 

 Developing an effective action plan; 

 Managing risk; 

 Tracking progress and evaluating success; 

 Sharing learning. 

PREVENT is included within West Lindsey District Council’s safeguarding remit. 

Through awareness and partnership working, PREVENT seeks to safeguard and 

support vulnerable individuals and protect communities. You can find further 

information about the PREVENT duty for England and Wales here. 

Overview of Channel 

CHANNEL is a key element of the PREVENT strategy. It is a multi-agency approach 

designed to protect people at risk from radicalisation. 

CHANNEL is about safeguarding children and adults from being drawn into committing 

terrorist-related activity. It is about early intervention to protect and divert people away 

from the risk they face before illegality occurs. 

CHANNEL uses existing collaboration between local authorities, statutory partners, 

the police and the local community to: 

Page 124

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/445977/3799_Revised_Prevent_Duty_Guidance__England_Wales_V2-Interactive.pdf


 
 

72 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 Identify individuals at risk of being drawn into terrorism; 

 Assess the nature and extent of that risk; 

 Develop the most appropriate support plan for the individuals concerned. 

KEY WORDS AND DEFINITIONS 

o ‘Extremism’ is defined in the 2011 Prevent Strategy as vocal or active 

opposition to fundamental British values, including democracy, the rule of law, 

individual liberty and mutual respect and tolerance of different faiths and beliefs. 

Also included in the definition of extremism is calls for the death of members of 

our armed forces, whether in this country or overseas; 

o ‘Interventions’ are projects intended to divert people who are being drawn into 

terrorist activity. Interventions can include mentoring, counselling, theological 

support, encouraging civic engagement, developing support networks (family 

and peer structures) or providing mainstream services (education, employment, 

health, finance or housing); 

o ‘Non-Violent Extremism’ is extremism, as defined above, which is not 

accompanied by violence; 

o ‘Prevention’ in the context of this work means reducing or eliminating the risk 

of individuals becoming involved in terrorism. Prevent includes, but is not 

confined to, the identification and referral of those at risk of being drawn into 

terrorism into appropriate interventions. These interventions aim to divert 

vulnerable people from radicalisation; 

o ‘Safeguarding’ in this context is the process of protecting vulnerable people 

from crime, abuse or from being drawn into terrorist related activity; 

o ‘Terrorism’ (UK definition as given in the Terrorism Act 2000) is defined as an 

action that endangers or causes serious violence to a person/people; causes 

serious damage to property; or seriously interferes with or disrupts an electronic 

system. The use or threat must be designed to influence the Government or to 

intimidate the public and is made for the purposes of advancing a political, 

religious or ideological cause; 

o ‘Terrorist Related Offences’ are those (such as murder) which are not 

offences in terrorist legislation, but which are judged to be committed in relation 

to terrorism; 

o ‘Vulnerability’ in this context describes the condition of being capable of being 

injured; difficult to defend; open to moral or ideological attack. Within Prevent, 

the word describes factors and characteristics associated with being 

susceptible to radicalisation. 

Reporting Concerns 

Anybody subject to this policy may witness or be informed of an issue that they feel 

should be referred to Prevent or to the Police. A Safeguarding Officer will help you to 

determine the next steps and to make a referral to Prevent or to the Police if required. 

To report a concern, you can click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the 

intranet. This will enable you to forward your concerns using an online reporting form 

Page 125



 
 

73 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

. Once your concern has been received, the next steps and appropriate action will be 

decided. 

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your line 

manager/supervisor to report a concern. 

If you feel that a young person or vulnerable adult is at immediate risk of 

significant harm, then call the Police on 999. If however you think they are at 

risk but that risk is not immediate, you must take appropriate action, calling 101 

if you think a crime has been committed, and by reporting the matter to the LCC 

Customer Services Centre (CSC) on 01522 782155, or emergency out of hours 

01522 782333. 

In all cases you should report the incident to the Safeguarding Coordinator 

accordingly. 

Customer facing, front line services are most likely to come across safeguarding 

concerns in their day to day roles and should have an enhanced level of awareness. 

These staff groups / services will be more experienced in engaging with external 

agencies to report safeguarding concerns and should do so wherever possible (this 

should still be logged through the Council’s safeguarding tracker system). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 126



 
 

74 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Chapter 6 Hate Crime & Mate Crime 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding is EVERYONE’s business 

You have a role to play in recognising and preventing Hate Crime and Mate 

Crime 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



 
 

75 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Introduction 

This chapter sets out the policy for identifying, reporting and dealing with hate and 

mate crime in West Lindsey. 

This policy and the commitments made are made in the context of the Equality Act, 

which requires public authorities to consider how they can take action to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations in the 

community. A key part of this is the correct identification and handling of hate and mate 

crime. 

Hate crime can affect all communities, both urban and rural, and it is important that 

employees are aware of hate crime issues and what to do when hate crime is 

identified, and to be aware of hate crime issues in areas of the District where they may 

not expect to find it. Furthermore, mate crime is a growing area of concern, and one 

which is not yet widely recognised, but is prevalent in all areas of society. Employee 

awareness is a key part of tackling the problem, and working in partnership to prevent 

and stop mate crime is essential. 

Definitions 

 

Hate 
Crime 

A hate crime or hate incident is any crime or incident which is 
perceived by the victim or any other person to be motivated by 
hostility or prejudice based on a person’s actual or perceived social 
group. There are common social groups who encounter such 
prejudice or hostility, and therefore the focus within this chapter is on 
the following strands: 
 

 Disability; 

 Race; 

 Religion or belief; 

 Sexual orientation; 

 Transgender. 
 
It is worth noting however, that hate crime can be based on any 
identifying factor, or a combination of 2 or more factors. 

Mate 
Crime 

There is currently no formally agreed definition of mate crime. 
However, the below is a widely accepted description: 
 
‘When a person is harmed or taken advantage of by someone they 
thought was their friend. It is more common with people with learning 
disabilities and mental health conditions but not exclusive’. 
 
Those with substance misuse issues can also be more at risk. 

 

Recognising Hate or Mate Crime 

Page 128



 
 

76 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

A hate crime or incident can encompass a large number of actions, directed at a 

particular person or more generally at a group of people, for the sole reason of their 

inclusion, or perceived inclusion, in one of the social groups mentioned above. These 

can include: 

 Physical attacks; 

 Verbal abuse; 

 Offensive graffiti; 

 Harassment; 

 Damage to property; 

 Exclusion from a group or community. 

It can be any activity directed at a person or group because of their social group. 

Usually hate crimes and incidents are easy to recognise for both the victims and the 

observers due to type of language used, or person targeted. However, not all attacks 

on minority social groups are because of hate, they may just be randomly targeted 

and this must be considered. 

Mate crime can be more difficult to recognise as often the victim thinks the perpetrator 

is their friend and may not perceive themselves as a victim, or what is happening to 

them as wrong. 

Mate crime may include: 

 Financial abuse e.g. visiting when the victim has just got their benefit and 

‘borrowing’ money or going out for a drink and getting the victim to buy all the 

drinks; 

 Physical abuse, making a joke of physical abuse, making it part of a ‘game’; 

 Emotional abuse, distancing the victim from their family or other support, 

manipulating them into doing things they normally wouldn’t; 

 Sexual abuse, coercion into prostitution, exploitation by their ‘friend’. 

Mate crime can be very subjective and it is important to consider the vulnerability of 

the victim, the incidents occurring and any known background of the alleged 

perpetrator when dealing with mate crime. If you are unsure please seek advice from 

a Safeguarding Officer. 

Indicators of a victim of mate crime may be: 

 Lack of money shortly after payday; 

 Withdrawal from services or family; 

 Over reliance on a new friend; 

 Changes in behaviour or mood; 

 Making excuses for the behaviour or actions of a friend. 

Those subject to hate crime may be more at risk of early extremist tendencies, or those 

perpetrating may be exhibiting extremist views. In such cases the Prevent chapter of 

this policy should be referred to, which will give guidance on who to contact and go to 

for advice. 

Page 129



 
 

77 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

The Local Picture 
Overall in Lincolnshire, and consistent with the national picture, race is by far the 

highest factor for hate crime, followed by disability. Police statistics on hate crime in 

West Lindsey (provided by the Community Safety Team) are detailed below: 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Disability 
 

   

Sexual Orientation 
 

   

Race 
 

   

Religion 
 

   

Transphobic 
 

   

Total 
 

   

It is well known that hate crime and incidents are underreported nationally so the 

above, while giving an indication of the problem faced, may not give the whole picture. 

There are currently no statistics for mate crime, as often this type of incident is not 

identified, not reported, or can’t be classed as a crime. However, we know from case 

studies that the impact of mate crime can be high, with a number of deaths being 

caused in some instances. 

To ensure we do not see serious consequences in our area, it is important that we 

raise the profile of mate crime and use this policy to inform, guide and protect. 

Responding to a Report of Hate or Mate Crime 
 

West Lindsey District Council is signed up to the Lincolnshire Hate Crime Strategy. 

Under the strategy, it has been agreed that all partners in Lincolnshire will use Stop 

Hate UK as their third party reporting centre. If a report is made to a member of staff 

or elected member, the following process should be followed: 

1. Take notes of the incident or allegation; 
2. Encourage the person to report the hate or mate crime to the police or to Stop 

Hate UK; 
3. If the victim does not wish to make the report themselves, contact Stop Hate 

UK to report the hate or mate crime as a third party. Inform a Safeguarding 
Officer of the report and any action taken; 

4. Consider any additional factors such as Anti-Social Behaviour, Domestic Abuse 
or Prevent. Where these factors are identified, refer the case to the 
Safeguarding Officer for further advice; 

5. Make any necessary referrals arising from the above risk assessments; 
6. Offer the victim appropriate support, giving them a named contact. Identify any 

additional vulnerabilities including alcohol or substance misuse which may 
require a referral to substance misuse services or adult social care. 

Page 130

file:///C:/Users/RP20040/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/XLFYVGT9/Lincolnshire%20Hate%20Crime%20Strategy%202016-18.pdf
https://www.stophateuk.org/
https://www.stophateuk.org/


 
 

78 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 
If an allegation is made against a member of staff or elected member, the Designated 

Safeguarding Officer or Deputy must be informed immediately. The Designated 

Safeguarding Officer will inform the Chief Executive and the Local Authority 

Designated Officer for Allegations (LADO) and consideration will be given to 

suspending the member of staff from work or moving them to alternative duties. If the 

Safeguarding Officer is the subject of an allegation, the report must be made directly 

to the Chief Executive. If it is necessary to conduct an investigation into events 

surrounding the complaint, this will be conducted in accordance with advice from the 

LADO, and through the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.  

Staff Welfare is a key concern for the Council. If a member of staff or elected member 

is experiencing hate or mate crime, they will be offered the same support as a member 

of the public reporting to us, plus any extra support the council can offer such as 

management support. If the person perpetrating the hate or mate crime is an employee 

or elected member, the same process as described in the above paragraph will be 

followed, with serious consideration given to suspension to allow for proper 

investigation and to safeguard the welfare of staff, guided by the Council’s Disciplinary 

Procedure.  

Training is provided to ensure that staff not only know how to respond to a report of 

hate or mate crime, but also so that they are aware of the assistance they can get from 

the organisation. 

Reporting Concerns about Hate or Mate Crime 
Anybody subject to this policy may witness or be informed of an issue that they feel 

should be referred to Children’s or Adult Services.  

To report a concern, you can click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the 

intranet. This will enable you to forward your concerns using an online reporting form. 

Once your concern has been received, the next steps and appropriate action will be 

decided. 

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your line 

manager/supervisor to report a concern. 

There are alternative reporting methods for hate crime and mate crime, detailed 

below. If you report via these methods, you must notify a safeguarding officer using 

the online reporting form. 

Page 131



 
 

79 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Reporting to the Police: Hate crimes are just that: a crime. Reporting a hate crime 

to the Police is always the preferred choice so that accurate data can be captured and 

the incident dealt with appropriately. There is still a perception that hate crimes will not 

be taken seriously, which leads to huge under-reporting. A recent report into 

transgender hate incidents suggested that victims did not know where to go for help 

as they felt embarrassed to go to the Police and did not believe any action would be 

taken. The Police can and do take action and victims can be reassured that their 

complaint will be dealt with, and that they will be treated with dignity. 

Third party reporting centres: Where a victim or witness to an incident will not go to 

the police in person, third party reporting centres can be used. There are various third 

party reporting centres which can be accessed in person, by phone or on the internet. 

Once contacted, the centre can then report an incident to the Police on behalf of the 

victim or concerned person, provide advice and support and signpost to other 

agencies as appropriate. Third party reporting provides a safe and confidential 

environment, with an agency that the individual may have more trust in. Some third 

party reporting centres also have specialists in languages and law. 

Stop Hate UK: Stop Hate UK is a national organisation which works to raise the profile 

of and challenge all forms of hate crime and discrimination. Stop Hate UK is funded to 

operate as a specialist third party reporting centre in Lincolnshire. 

www.stophateuk.org. 

West Lindsey District Council commitment to tackling Hate Crime and Mate 
Crime 
 

Hate Crime and Mate Crime Charter: A ‘Lincolnshire Hate and Mate Crime’ charter 

was developed by the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership that sets out 10 standards that 

agencies should aim to meet to ensure compliance. WLDC aims to follow this charter 

and will take steps to meet all 10 standards as set out below: 

1

  

That the agency I represent will promote awareness and understanding of 

Hate Crime and Mate Crime and its impact on victims and communities – 

both internally and externally.  

2.  

 

Hate Crime and Mate Crime material is displayed by the 

agency/department I represent in different languages relevant to local 

communities and is also available in alternative formats such as large print. 

Information about Hate Crime and Mate Crime is included on respective 

agencies websites with links to the Lincolnshire Police and Stop Hate UK 

websites. 

3. That the agency I represent has a process in place to effectively identify 

Hate Incidents/Crime and Mate Crime.  

4. That there is an effective policy/protocol or guidance in place detailing how 

the agency/department will respond to both Hate Crime and Mate Crime. 

Page 132

http://www.stophateuk.org/


 
 

80 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

5. The agency I represent is committed to working in partnership to tackle 

Hate Crime and Mate Crime.  

6. That there is full commitment by the agency I represent to manage risk 

around hate crime. 

7. Ensure appropriate referral/signposting pathways are in place for victims of 

Hate Crime and Mate Crime.  

8. That staff that require Hate Crime and Mate Crime training have been 

identified and receive role appropriate training. 

9. That there is regular attendance and participation at the Anti-Social 

Behaviour Strategic Management Board and Hate Crime Delivery Group 

from my agency. 

10. The agency has a policy that includes staff experiencing or perpetrating 

Hate Crime and Mate Crime.  

 

The charter recommends a traffic light system for self-assessment against each 

standard, with the aim of scoring green in all areas. This policy is the first step toward 

that aim. 

Training: Training is integrated into the Council’s 6 year safeguarding training plan. 

Publicity: WLDC is committed to ensuring that information on hate and mate crime is 

available on its website to enable residents to find out more about the issue, including 

how and where to report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



 
 

81 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Chapter 7 – Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding is EVERYONE’s business 

You have a role to play in recognising and preventing Modern Slavery and 

Human Trafficking 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



 
 

82 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Introduction 

The Modern Slavery Act, enacted in March 2015, was an important milestone in the 

fight against slavery and for social justice. It unified and simplified previous legislation 

and gave law enforcement new powers, including increased sentencing and protection 

for survivors. Section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 requires certain organisations 

to develop a slavery and human trafficking statement each year. The slavery and 

human trafficking statement sets out what steps organisations have taken to ensure 

modern slavery is not taking place in their business or supply chains. The West 

Lindsey District Council statement can be found (hyper link to be inserted here). 

 

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking 

Modern Slavery 

Modern slavery is a complex crime, often crossing international borders and involving 

multiple forms of exploitation. It is usually hidden. The common factors are that a victim 

is, or is intended to be, used or exploited for someone else’s (usually financial) gain, 

without respect for their human rights. 

Victims may be any age, gender and ethnicity, may have been brought from overseas 

or be vulnerable people from the UK. They are usually forced to work illegally against 

their will in many different sectors. Victims may not be aware that they are being 

trafficked or exploited, and may appear to have consented to elements of their 

exploitation, or accepted their situation. 

Modern slavery takes many forms. There are currently four broad ways in which 

perpetrators may seek to exploit victims: 

1. Labour Exploitation - exploitation usually involves unacceptably low pay, poor 

working conditions or excessive wage deduction, but is not solely about this. In 

order to constitute modern slavery there will also be some form of coercion 

meaning that victims cannot freely leave for other employment or exercise 

choice over their own situation. Where the perpetrator is taking advantage of a 

child or vulnerable person, an offence can be committed without the element of 

coercion. Lincolnshire has been the centre of recent, high profile labour 

exploitation crime; 

2. Domestic Servitude - typically involves victims working in a private family 

home where they are ill-treated, humiliated, subjected to unbearable conditions 

or working hours, working for little or no pay. The victim could be used in this 

way by their own family members or partner, or by an employer. Again, it is very 

Modern Slavery is a term that covers: 

 Slavery; 

 Servitude and forced or compulsory labour; 

 Human trafficking; 

Page 135



 
 

83 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

difficult for them to leave, for example because of threats, the perpetrator 

holding their passport, or using a position of power over the victim; 

3.  Sexual Exploitation - Victims are coerced into sex work or sexually abusive 

situations. This includes child sexual exploitation. Victims may be brought to 

the UK on the promise of legitimate employment, or moved around the UK to 

be sexually exploited. In some cases they may know they will be involved in 

sex work, but are forced into a type or frequency they did not agree to. Victims 

are more commonly female but can also be male; 

4. Criminal Exploitation - Criminal exploitation forces a person to commit a crime 

for someone else’s gain. For example, victims could be coerced into shoplifting, 

pick-pocketing, entering into a sham marriage, benefit fraud, begging or drug 

cultivation such as cannabis farming. 

Human Trafficking 

For a person to have been a victim of human trafficking there must have been: 

 Action – recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt, which can 

include either domestic or cross-border movement; 

 Means – threat or use of force, coercion, abduction, fraud, deception, abuse of 

power or vulnerability – however, there does not need to be a means used for 

children as they are not able to give informed consent; 

 Purpose of exploitation – for example sexual exploitation, forced labour or 

domestic servitude, slavery, financial exploitation, illegal adoption, removal of 

organs. 

Slavery, Servitude and Forced or Compulsory Labour 

For a person to have been a victim of slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory 

labour there must have been: 

 Means – being held, either physically or through threat of penalty – e.g. threat 

or use of force, coercion, abduction, fraud, deception, abuse of power or 

vulnerability. However, there does not need to be a means used for children as 

they are not able to give informed consent; 

 Service – an individual provides a service for benefit, eg begging, sexual 

services, manual labour, or domestic service. 

Forced or compulsory labour may be present in trafficking cases. However, not every 

person who is exploited through forced labour has been trafficked. 

There will be cases of exploitation that do not meet the threshold for modern slavery 
– for example someone may chooses to work for less than the national minimum 
wage, or in undesirable conditions, without being forced or deceived. In these 
instances, cases should be referred to the Police or Gangmasters & Labour Abuse 
Authority (GLAA). Safeguarding Officers will be able to advise you on this. 
Slavery and servitude are more serious versions of forced or compulsory labour. You 
can find more information on the indicators of modern slavery here. 
 
 

Page 136

https://www.gla.gov.uk/who-we-are/modern-slavery/who-we-are-modern-slavery-spot-the-signs/


 
 

84 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

National Referral Mechanism (NRM) 

The National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is a framework for identifying and 

referring potential victims of modern slavery and ensuring they receive the 

appropriate support. 

It was estimated that there were 10,000 – 13,000 victims of modern slavery in 2013, 

but only 1,746 potential victims were referred to the National Referral Mechanism 

(NRM) in the same period. There were 6993 potential victims of trafficking and slavery 

flagged up to the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) during 2018. This was the 

highest number recorded by the UK authorities since the figures were first compiled in 

2009 and an 80% rise from 2016. 

From 1 November 2015, specific public authorities, which includes West Lindsey 

District Council, have had a duty to notify the Secretary of State of any person 

identified in England and Wales as a suspected victim of slavery or human trafficking. 

This duty is intended to help gather statistics and build a more comprehensive picture 

of the nature and scale of modern slavery. The information that must be provided is 

set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015 (Duty to Notify Regulations 2015) and can be 

found by following this link.  Under the previous NRM process, potential victims were 

referred by ‘first responders’, including police, public bodies and a number of specified 

NGOs to one of two competent authorities, the NCA’s Modern Slavery and Human 

Trafficking Unit for EEA nationals, and the Home Office for non-EEA cases, to make 

a decision about their status. 

From 29th April 2019 this changed when the Home Office became the single 

competent authority for dealing with referrals. This was part of a package of reforms 

to the NRM announced by the government in October 2017 to improve identification 

of and support for victims of modern slavery. 

Reporting Concerns about Modern Day Slavery or Human Trafficking 

Anybody subject to this policy may witness, be informed of, or see during the course 

of their duties, a modern slavery or human trafficking concern. The duty to refer applies 

to everybody to whom this policy applies. 

If you think that modern slavery has taken place, the case should be referred to the 

NRM so that a competent authority can fully consider the case. You don’t need to be 

certain that someone is a victim. 

To report a concern, you can click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the 

intranet. This will enable you to forward your concerns using the online reporting form. 

Once your concern has been received, the next steps and appropriate action will be 

decided. 

Page 137

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/1743/pdfs/uksi_20151743_en.pdf


 
 

85 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your line 

manager/supervisor to report a concern.  

Safeguarding Officers will work with you to forward your concerns to the National 

Referral Mechanism (NRM) and to ensure that potential victims receive access to 

specialist support. The NRM form should be used if the victim is an adult and consents 

to provide their personal details and would like to receive Government funded 

specialist support, or for a child victim (where consent is not needed). NRM forms and 

associated guidance are available here. 

Note: If a potential adult victim wants to remain anonymous and does not want 

specialist support, safeguarding officers should complete an ‘MS1’ form and send it to 

dutytonotify@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk The MS1 form can be anonymous. A link to the 

form can be found here. 

In addition to the above reporting protocols, Lincolnshire has a multi-agency Modern 

Slavery strategic group that works to address, prevent and tackle Modern Slavery. 

With effect from January 2018, a Lincolnshire reporting system was set up to provide 

a multi-agency system of sharing information with Lincolnshire Police to help tackle 

and identify potential victims of Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking. Information 

should be sent via secure email to the Understanding and Safeguarding Emerging 

Communities (USEC) Modern Slavery Team at ModernSlavery@lincs.pnn.police.uk.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 138

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/duty-to-notify-the-home-office-of-potential-victims-of-modern-slavery
mailto:dutytonotify@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/508818/Duty_to_Notify__MS1__Form__Version_2.0_.PDF
mailto:ModernSlavery@lincs.pnn.police.uk


 
 

86 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Chapter 8 – County Lines and Cuckooing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 139



 
 

87 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Introduction 

‘County Lines’ and ‘Cuckooing’ are forms of criminal exploitation involving children and 

vulnerable adults. They are geographically widespread forms of harm about which 

currently relatively little is known or recognised by those best placed to spot its 

potential victims. This chapter is intended to explain the nature of this harm to enable 

staff to recognise the signs and respond appropriately so that potential victims get the 

support and help that they need.  

County Lines 

County lines is a major, cross-cutting issue involving drugs, violence, gangs, 

safeguarding, criminal and sexual exploitation, modern slavery, and missing persons; 

and the response to tackle it involves the police, the National Crime Agency, a wide 

range of Government departments, local government agencies and VCS (voluntary 

and community sector) organisations. 

The UK Government defines county lines as follows: 

Those who become involved in county lines will almost undoubtedly be caught up in 

other safeguarding issues, potentially drugs, criminality, trafficking, modern slavery, 

sexual exploitation and gangs. It is extremely important that those involved in 

safeguarding children and vulnerable adults have an understanding of county lines. A 

typical county lines scenario is defined by the following components:  

 A group (not necessarily affiliated as a gang) establishes a network 

between an urban hub and county location, into which drugs (primarily 

heroin and crack cocaine) are supplied; 

 A branded mobile phone line is established in the market, to which 

orders are placed by introduced customers. The line will commonly (but 

not exclusively) be controlled by a third party, remote from the market; 

 The group exploits young or vulnerable persons, to achieve the storage 

and/or supply of drugs, movement of cash proceeds and to secure the 

use of dwellings (commonly referred to as cuckooing);  

 The group or individuals exploited by them regularly travel between the 

urban hub and the county market, to replenish stock and deliver cash; 

 The group is inclined to use intimidation, violence and weapons, 

including knives, corrosives and firearms.  

Some potential indicators of county lines involvement and exploitation are listed below, 
with those at the top of particular concern: 
 

‘County lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved in 

exporting illegal drugs into one or more importing areas within the UK, using dedicated mobile 

phone lines or other form of “deal line”. They are likely to exploit children and vulnerable adults 

to move and store the drugs and money and they will often use coercion, intimidation, violence 

(including sexual violence) and weapons.’ 

Page 140



 
 

88 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

• persistently going missing from school or home and / or being found out-
of-area; 

• unexplained acquisition of money, clothes, or mobile phones; 
• excessive receipt of texts / phone calls and/or having multiple handsets; 
• relationships with controlling / older individuals or groups; 
• leaving home / care without explanation; 
• suspicion of physical assault / unexplained injuries; 
• parental concerns; 
• carrying weapons; 
• significant decline in school results / performance; 
• gang association or isolation from peers or social networks; 
• self-harm or significant changes in emotional wellbeing. 

 
One of the key factors found in most cases of county lines exploitation is the presence 

of some form of exchange (e.g. carrying drugs in return for something). Where it is the 

victim who is offered, promised or given something they need or want, the exchange 

can include both tangible (such as money, drugs or clothes) and intangible rewards 

(such as status, protection or perceived friendship or affection). It is important to 

remember the unequal power dynamic within which this exchange occurs and to 

remember that the receipt of something by a young person or vulnerable adult does 

not make them any less of a victim. It is also important to note that the prevention of 

something negative can also fulfil the requirement for exchange, for example a young 

person who engages in county lines activity to stop someone carrying out a threat to 

harm his/her family. 

The National County Lines Coordination Centre (NCLCC) was established in 

September 2018 with the aim of developing the national intelligence picture of the 

complexity and scale of the threat, prioritising action against the most serious 

offenders, and engaging with partners across government, including in the health, 

welfare and education spheres, in tackling the wider issues.  

 
Cuckooing 

Cuckooing is a practice where people take over a person’s home and use the property 

to facilitate exploitation. The most common form of cuckooing is where drug dealers 

take over a person’s home and use it to store or distribute drugs.  

Drug dealers will often target the most vulnerable in society. They are seeking to 

establish relationships to access the vulnerable person’s home. Once they gain control 

over the victim, whether through drug dependency, debt or as part of their relationship, 

larger groups will sometimes move in. The threat of violence is often used to control 

the victim. 

It is common for the drug dealers to have access to several cuckooed addresses at 

once, and to move quickly between them to evade detection. The victims of cuckooing 

are most commonly class ‘A’ drug users, but there are cases of victims with learning 

difficulties, mental health issues and, to a lesser extent, physical disabilities. 

Page 141



 
 

89 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Signs that cuckooing may be going on at a property include: 

 An increase in people entering and leaving; 

 An increase in cars or bikes outside;  

 An increase in anti-social behaviour;   

 Increasing litter outside; 

 People coming and going at strange times; 

 Damage to the door/the door propped open; 

 Unknown people pressing buzzers to gain access to the building; 

 You haven't seen the person who lives there recently or, when you have, they 
have been anxious or distracted; 

 
If just one of these is taking place in a property, it may not mean anything. But if 
three or more of them are taking place, it could indicate that the property is being 
cuckooed. 
 
The Links between County Lines and Cuckooing 

In 2017, 77% of police forces documented incidents of cuckooing that were associated 

to county lines activity. Cuckooing clearly remains the dominant method of obtaining 

access to suitable premises to operate and deal from. Virtually every force that 

reported the presence of a county line end-point reported cuckooing. County lines 

groups will target new premises by pursuing vulnerable individuals who attend 

recovery groups, dependency units and areas associated with those experiencing 

problems. They seek to establish relationships with vulnerable individuals for access 

to their homes. Once they gain control over the victim, whether through drug 

dependency, debt or as part of their relationship, groups move in. Once this happens 

the risk of domestic abuse, sexual exploitation and violence increases. In some 

instances, drug users may appear to be complicit in allowing their home to be used, 

however the issue of true consent is questionable, as many drugs users will not 

necessarily see themselves as being vulnerable.  

Cuckooed addresses have been linked to many county lines, with victims of all ages 

encountered by law enforcement in such properties. There is an emergence of 

cuckooed addresses being used by multiple county lines groups simultaneously, 

although there is currently insufficient detail to confirm how complicit or collaborative 

groups might be. It is also common for county lines networks to have access to several 

cuckooed addresses at any one time. They will move quickly between vulnerable 

peoples’ homes and will stay for just a few hours, a couple of days or sometimes 

longer. This helps groups evade detection, especially as intelligence gathered by law 

enforcement is often unclear and is quickly out of date.  

‘The cuckooing model was initially used by county lines groups originating from London. County 
line dealing ‘franchises’ then spread throughout the country, taking the cuckooing model with 
them. However, due to the success of this method, cuckooing has now been adopted by other 
drug supply networks.’  

National Police Chiefs Council 
 

Page 142



 
 

90 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

In Lincolnshire, an increase of violence has been seen. Warrants executed have 

revealed weapons such as knives and machetes, and intelligence has been received 

surrounding access to firearms amongst gang members. In 2018, following a spate 

of knife related assaults in Lincolnshire, arrests were made which led to child 

trafficking convictions. It was the first time in UK legal history that child trafficking 

convictions had been secured under the Modern Slavery Act as part of a ‘county 

lines’ operation. 

 

Reporting Concerns about County Lines or Cuckooing 

Anybody subject to this policy may witness, be informed of, or see during the course 

of their duties, a county lines or cuckooing concern. The duty to refer applies to 

everybody to whom this policy applies. 

To report a concern, you can click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the 

intranet. This will enable you to forward your concerns using an online reporting form 

which must then be sent to safeguarding.reports@e-lindsey.gov.uk . Once your 

concern has been received, the next steps and appropriate action will be decided.  

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your line 

manager/supervisor to report a concern. 

Information Sharing: A multi-agency approach is necessary to address this threat. 

Agencies such as the Police, Housing, YOS, Probation, ARC, Adult and Children’s 

Services etc., are key in identifying concerns before they escalate into safeguarding 

referrals. Please speak to a Safeguarding Officer for further information if you are 

unsure. 

Customer facing, front line services are most likely to come across safeguarding 

concerns in their day to day roles and should have an enhanced level of awareness. 

If anyone has any information concerning County Lines or Cuckooing, they are asked 

to notify Lincolnshire Police on group-diuwest@lincs.pnn.police.uk (for Lincoln, West 

Lindsey, North Kesteven, South Kesteven) or  diueast@lincs.pnn.police.uk (for 

Boston, South Holland, East Lindsey) using the subject heading ‘County Lines’. 

These email accounts are only to be used for submitting intelligence and should not 

replace safeguarding referrals. 

 

Page 143

mailto:safeguarding.reports@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:group-diuwest@lincs.pnn.police.uk
mailto:diueast@lincs.pnn.police.uk


 
 

91 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Chapter 9 – Stalking 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding is EVERYONE’s business 

You have a role to play in identifying stalking 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

"Stalking is a psychological crime…it's a crime of great terror, and it's not often recognised.” 
(Ministry of Justice spokesperson) 

Page 144



 
 

92 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Introduction 

What is stalking? 

The Suzy Lamplugh Trust defines stalking as 'a pattern of fixated and obsessive 
behaviour which is repeated, persistent, and intrusive and causes fear of violence or 
engenders alarm and distress in the victim.’ 

Stalking can consist of any type of behaviour such as regularly sending flowers or gifts, 
making unwanted or malicious communication, damaging property and physical or 
sexual assault. If the behaviour is persistent and clearly unwanted, causing fear, 
distress or anxiety then it is stalking and nobody should have to live with it. 

One in two domestic stalkers will carry out the threats to harm their victim. One in ten 
non domestic stalkers will carry out the threats to harm their victim 

Who stalks? 

When many people hear the word stalking they still think of a stranger lurking in the 
shadows or a delusional fan following a celebrity. Whilst these cover some stalking 
scenarios they are by no means the majority. About 45% of people who contact the 
Suzy Lamplugh Trust are being stalked by ex-intimates (i.e. ex partners) and a further 
third have had some sort of prior acquaintance with their stalker such as having dated, 
married or been friends with their stalker. Just because a person knows or knew their 
stalker does not mean that the situation is their fault - it is still stalking and it is wrong. 

Who is a typical victim of stalking? 

Anyone can become a victim of stalking. A report produced by Dr. Lorraine Sheridan 
and Network for Surviving Stalking, in which 2,292 victims of stalking were surveyed, 
found that victims’ ages ranged from 10 to 73, they were male and female, were spread 
across the entire socio-economic spectrum and a large proportion (38%) were 
professionals. Dr. Sheridan concluded that virtually anyone can become a victim of 
stalking and the only way to avoid doing so would be to avoid the social world. 

How long does stalking last? 

There is no definite answer to this question. Dr. Lorraine Sheridan’s report (mentioned 
above) found that stalking could last anywhere from 1 month to 43 years. The average 
length of time was found to be between 6 months and 2 years. Dr. Sheridan also found 
that the duration of stalking tends to increase as the stalker’s emotional investment in 
the relationship increases. This is one of the reasons ex-intimate stalking is often 
considered to be the most dangerous 

Can stalking without violence cause harm? 

Yes. The absence of violence in a stalking case doesn’t mean the victim is unaffected. 
Stalking can cause severe psychological distress to a victim. Depression, anxiety, 

Page 145



 
 

93 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

sleep disturbance, paranoia, agoraphobia and post-traumatic stress disorder are all 
common side effects of stalking. 

Responding to disclosures, concerns and allegations 

These procedures are intended as a guide to help understand what action should be 

taken if you have concerns about, or encounter a case of alleged or suspected 

stalking. 

In order to help identify a pattern of behaviour such as turning up at home 
unannounced, calling a person numerous times, sending gifts etc., best practice is to 
encourage a log to be kept of all incidents, keep notes regarding anything that could 
help show a pattern, anything witnessed such as flowers being delivered, an unwanted 
text message etc. Encourage reporting to police and encourage use of the original 
police incident number in any future reports in order to show that there is a pattern of 
behaviour emerging.  

Depending on the nature of the disclosure/concern/allegation, different approaches 
may be needed to get the best outcome. Following this link will take you to the 
Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour based violence website, where you are able 
to complete the SDASH questions to check the current level of risk. More information 
can also be found by ringing the National Stalking Helpline on 0808 802 0300. 

Reporting Concerns 

To report a concern, you can click on this logo anywhere in the policy or on the 

intranet. This will enable you to forward your concerns using the online reporting form. 

Once your concern has been received, the next steps and appropriate action will be 

decided. 

 

 

Alternatively, and for staff without IT access, please speak to your line 

manager/supervisor to report a concern. 

If you feel that someone is at immediate risk of significant harm, then you must 

call the Police on 999. If however you think they are at risk but that risk is not 

immediate, you must take appropriate action, calling 101 if you think a crime has 

been committed, and by reporting the matter to the LCC Customer Services 

Centre (CSC) on 01522 782111 for children, 01522 782155 for adults, or 

emergency out of hours 01522 782333. 

Page 146

https://www.dashriskchecklist.co.uk/stalking-advice/


 
 

94 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

In all cases you should report the incident to the Safeguarding Coordinator 

accordingly. 

Customer facing, front line services are most likely to come across safeguarding 

concerns in their day to day roles and should have an enhanced level of awareness. 

These staff groups / services will be more experienced in engaging with external 

agencies to report safeguarding concerns and should do so wherever possible (this 

should still be logged through the Council’s safeguarding tracker system). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 147



 
 

95 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Appendix A 

 
Declaration for Staff and Volunteers 

 
This Council embraces its responsibility to develop, implement and monitor 
policies and procedures that safeguard the welfare of children, young 
people and adults in order to protect them from abuse and neglect 
whenever they are engaged in or with services provided directly and 
indirectly by the Council. 
 
As a member of staff of, or a volunteer for this Council, you are required to 
be aware of your role in safeguarding, as set out in this Policy, and work 
within its associated Procedures. 
 
Being made aware of the Policy and its Procedures, understanding the 
requirements that they place on you and being trained and supported 
appropriately in your role, all demonstrate the Council’s commitment to 
ensuring that its staff and volunteers have an appropriate level of 
knowledge about safeguarding and are able to act if they have any concern 
about the health, safety and welfare of any child, young person or adult.   
 
Declaration: 
 
I know who the Council’s lead officer for Safeguarding is and who their 
Deputy is when they are not available. 
 
I know where to find this Safeguarding Policy and Procedures. 
 
I know that I have a legal duty to report any concerns about the safety and 
wellbeing of children, young people and adults to my line manager. 
 
I commit to completing training appropriate to my role, including refresher 
training. 
 
I commit to working within the Council’s Safeguarding Policy and 
Procedures at all times. 
 
 
Signed: 
_______________________________________________________ 
 
 
Date:    
_______________________________________________________ 
 
Name (Please Print): 
 

Page 148



 
 

96 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

____________________________________________________________
_ 
 
Position in Organisation:  
 
____________________________________________________________
_ 
 
 
This declaration will be kept in your personnel file. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 149



 
 

97 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Appendix B 

Declaration for Councillors 
 

This Council embraces its responsibility to develop, implement and monitor 
policies and procedures that safeguard the welfare of children, young 
people and adults in order to protect them from abuse and neglect 
whenever they are engaged in or with services provided directly and 
indirectly by the Council. 
 
As an elected Member of this Council, you are required to be aware of your 
role in safeguarding, as set out in this Policy, and work within its associated 
Procedures. 
 
Being made aware of the Policy and its Procedures, understanding the 
requirements that they place on you and being trained and supported 
appropriately in your role, all demonstrate the Council’s commitment to 
ensuring that its elected Members have an appropriate level of knowledge 
about safeguarding and are able to act if they have any concern about the 
health, safety and welfare of any child, young person or adult.   
 
Declaration: 
 
I have read and understood this Safeguarding Policy and Procedures and 
know where to find this. 
 
I know who the Council’s lead officer for Safeguarding is and who their 
Deputy is when they are not available. 
 
I know that I have a legal duty to report any concerns about the safety and 
welfare of children and adults. 
 
I commit to completing training appropriate to my role, including refresher 
training. 
 
I commit to working within the Council’s Safeguarding Policy and 
Procedures at all times. 
 
Signed: 
_______________________________________________________ 
 
Date:    
_______________________________________________________ 
 
Name (Please Print): 
 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
This declaration will be kept in your file. 

Page 150



 
 

98 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Appendix C 

Declaration for Contractors/Consultants 
 

This Council embraces its responsibility to develop, implement and monitor 
policies and procedures that safeguard the welfare of children, young 
people and adults in order to protect them from abuse and neglect 
whenever they are engaged in or with services provided directly and 
indirectly by the Council. 
 
As a contractor for this Council, you are required to be aware of your role in 
safeguarding, as set out in this Policy, and work within its associated 
Procedures. 
 
Being made aware of the Policy and its Procedures, understanding the 
requirements that they place on you and being trained and supported 
appropriately in your role, all demonstrate the Council’s commitment to 
ensuring that its contractors have an appropriate level of knowledge about 
safeguarding and are able to act if they have any concern about the health, 
safety and welfare of any child, young person or adult.   
 
Declaration: 
 
I have read and understood this Safeguarding Policy and Procedures. 
 
I know who the Council’s lead officer for Safeguarding is and who their 
Deputy is when they are not available. 
 
I know that I have a legal duty to report any concerns about the safety and 
welfare of children and adults. 
 
I commit to completing training appropriate to my role, including refresher 
training. 
 
I commit to working within the Council’s Safeguarding Policy and 
Procedures at all times. 
 
Signed: 
_______________________________________________________ 
 
 
Date:    
_______________________________________________________ 
 
Name (Please Print): 
 
____________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Page 151



 
 

99 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Name of Company: 
 
____________________________________________________________
_ 
 
 
This declaration will be kept in your file. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 152



 
 

100 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

Appendix D 

SAFEGUARDING INCIDENT FLOWCHART 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
                           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lead 
Safeguarding 
Officer 

Rachel Parkin……………………………………………………………01427 676613  

Safeguarding 
Coordinator: 

Emma Shoobridge ……………………………………………………...01427 675184  

Safeguarding 
Rep: 

Amy Miller (Enforcement)………………………………………………01427 675185 

 Luke Thomson (ASB)…………………………………………………...01427 675182  

1. Emergency: 

immediate risk of 

harm, actual injury or 

death, or loss of vital 

evidence. 

2. Clear risk of significant 

harm, disclosure or 

allegations of abuse.  

3. Allegation or complaint 

about an officer, councillor, 

volunteer, consultant or 

contractor. 

Record all information on the safeguarding referral form. 

Consider any action needed to prevent harm to this person 

or others. Ask for consent to share the information. 

Inform Line Manager 

and Designated 

Safeguarding Officer 

and Communications. 

 

 

 

 Report to LCC CSC. Record 

all advice given and action 

taken. 

 

 

Inform Safeguarding 

Coordinator or Lead  

Safeguarding Officer or 
Exec Director of Economic 

and Commercial Growth 

or HR immediately. 

Contact Early Help 

Advisor. Record all 

advice given and action 

taken. 

Inform Line Manager and 

Designated Safeguarding 

Officer Immediately. 

Discuss with Line 

Manager and/or 

Designated Safeguarding 

Officer. 

 

 

4. Any other issue 

which makes you feel 

uneasy about a 

person’s welfare or 

safety. 

Call 999 

immediately. Ask 

for the Police 

and/or an 

ambulance. 

Record all 

information. 

 

If possible, discuss 

with the 

person/family. 

Complete Early Help 

Assessment. Ask for 

consent to share 

information. 

LOG THE INCIDENT / ISSUE AND ALL ACTIONS TAKEN BY EMAILING Safeguarding.Reports@e-lindsey.gov.uk 

 

 

Agree action plan, outcomes and review period. 

 

 

 Report to LCC CSC 

 

 

DSO contacts LADO. Record 

all advice given and action 

taken. 

 

 

Page 153



 
 

101 
WLDC Safeguarding Policy – adopted October 2019 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Anita Foster (Benefits)……………………………………………………  01427 676515 

 John Goodman (Revenues)…………………….....................................01427 676518 

 BLANK (Customer Services)  

 BLANK (Waste)  

LCC Customer 
Service Centre 
(CSC): 

Children……………………………………………………………………...01522 782111 

 Adults………………………………………………………………………01522 782155 

 Either, out of hours….……………………………………………………01522 782333 

Police 
EMERGENCY 

999 

Central 
Referral Unit 
(Safeguarding) 

01522 947590 

Out of hours 0300 111 0300 

Page 154



There have been changes made to legislation updates but also the main changes 

are 

The inclusion of Chapters on  

Changes for third part referrals.  Clarity given for staff to encourage the third party to 

report themselves via the Adult or Children’s services customer service centre or to 

report to 999.  

Clarity on reporting procedures for staff and for those with no IT access 

Introduction 

Changing title to safeguarding.  Promoting wellbeing is to be embed throughout all 

operations of the council 

Page 4  

2nd Para line 2 – inclusion of individuals to say “individuals and communities” 

2nd Para line 6 - inclusion of individuals to say “individuals and communities” 

Para 5 line 3 – inclusion of “properly trained” o say “Having a properly trained, 

knowledgeable and capable workforce” 

Para 5 line 6 – Who sentence change to Undertaking and participating in regular 

audit and scrutiny to test our effectiveness  

Overview and Policy Commitment 

Para 1 - Format changed from bullets  

Page 5 7th bullet – link to disclosure and barring service 

External Links and Information 

Page 5, Para8 – Sentence included to explain glossary of terms  

Monitoring and Review 

Page 7 - Clarification of review process and the officer responsibility.   

Chapter 1 

Page 8, Para 3 – Clarity on who the policy applies to for those working with external 

services 

  Para 4 -changes of names with responsibility for safeguarding 

Corporate Safeguarding Structure 

Page 9                 Table updates names of officers with safeguarding responsibilities 

Training and Development 

Page 13, Para 1 – clarification of how roles within the organisation have been 

categorised 

Page 155



   Para 2 – Addition that training is delivered face to face or via e-learning 

modules 

   Para 3 – Clarification on definitions of training groups 

    Inclusion of E-Learning Modules and description  

Identification of training for staff without IT access, elected members and those who 

require face to face training 

Reporting Concerns 

Page 15 - Clarification on reporting procedure.  Support to be given from Line 

Manager.   

Page 15 – Addition of the following paragraph If you feel that a child, young 

person or vulnerable adult is at immediate risk of significant harm, then you 

call the Police on 999. If however you think they are at risk but that risk is not 

immediate, you must take appropriate action, calling 101 if you think a crime 

has been committed, and by reporting the matter to the LCC Customer 

Services Centre (CSC) 

Confidentiality  

Page 16, Para 5 – Details of specific info sharing agreements 

Curiosity and Uncertainty 

Page 17 - Inclusion of this as professional curiosity and clarification between this and 

respectful uncertainty is something we are trying to encourage to ensure that all 

concerns are reported.  Explanation of the terms to provide clarity 

Inter-Agency Disputes and Escalation Policies 

Page 17 - Criteria explained re what would class as an inter-agency dispute and 

when to escalate. 

    Para 4 - links to escalation policies for LSCB and LSAB 

Whistleblowing 

Inclusion of a paragraph on whistleblowing 

Audit and Quality Assurance 

Clarity given on how external and internal audits can affect this policy and where this 

will be reported to.   

Chapter 2 – Safeguarding Children and Young People 

Introduction 

Page 21, Para 4 – updated reference to new Working Together (2018) guidance.   

Understanding Safeguarding Thresholds 

Updated quote from more recent Working Together (2019) guidance 

Page 156



Early Help Assessments 

Page 23 - Clarity on what early help assessments are for people who may be making 

referrals.  Web links to the services offered also provided. 

Updated reference on early help from Working Together 2018 guidance 

 

 

What is Child Abuse? 

Page 23, para 1 - Reference to children being classed as perpetrators of abuse and 

that they still need assistance 

Page 24 – Sexual Abuse – changing of the word pornographic to indecent 

Recognising Abuse and neglect 

Page 25, para 5 – Insertion of recognition of a young person’s religion or belief.  

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

Page 27, Para 6 – Removal of completion of a CSE risk assessment 

Child Criminal Exploitation  

Page 29 - Insertion of understanding around child criminal exploitation and 

Lincolnshire’s response to this. 

Contextual Safeguarding 

Page 29 – Insertion of new approach to safeguarding children - Contextual 

safeguarding which has increased priority since the formation of the previous policy.   

Contextual safeguarding - relevant for WL and is something we are looking to adopt 

to look at common issues across an area rather than per family.  

Reporting Concerns 

Page 34 – removed the telephone number to report a concern for those without IT 

access and asked that those who wish to report a concern should report through to 

their line manager.   

    Para 5 – clarity re consent from individual for referral  

    Para 6 – Encouraging third parties to ring Children Services Customer 

services centre  rather than use WLDC’s reporting system 

Chapter 3 – Safeguarding Adults At Risk 

Page 41 – Inclusion of Wellbeing Lincs as an agency that may be able to assist with 

some cases 

 

 

Page 157



What Are Abuse And Neglect? 

Page 43 – Inclusion of hoarding into self-neglect.  This is to incorporate the 

forthcoming roll out of the hoarding protocol to highlight the importance of this issue 

in regards to a person’s welfare.  Inclusion of an assessment tool for hoarding  

Page 47 – Inclusion of criminal exploitation of vulnerable adults 

Page 48 – Inclusion of Drug/alcohol addiction under “Personal characteristics that 

increase vulnerability 

Consent  

Page 49 – Clarity of ability to give and refusal of consent vs safeguarding duties 

    Para 6 – Clarity on unwise choices and capacity 

Mental Capacity, Consent to Refer 

Page 45, Para 1 – Inserted statement on meaningful capacity 

Reporting Concerns 

Page 52, para 7 – Clarity of level of involvement needed to make a referral 

Page 54, para 4 – Third party referrals to not report through WLDC referral system. 

What to do if someone makes a threat of suicide 

Page 50 – Inclusion of paragraph regarding threats of this nature 

Chapter 4 – Domestic Abuse 

Introduction 

Page 60 - introduction and definition clearer re domestic abuse and honour based 

violence and reduced to  

What is Domestic Abuse 

Page 60 - Definition of controlling, coercive and threatening behaviour  

Types of abuse.   

Page 62 – Inclusion and recognition of stalking and harassment as forms of abuse.   

Responding to Concerns, Allegations and Disclosures 

Page 64, Para 10 – Inclusion of the Sanctuary Scheme offered by WLDC via Home 

Choices.   

Reporting Concerns 

Page 65, Para 1 – reporting of third party concerns to not comer through WLDC 

reporting procedure but via CSC Adults or Police.  

      Para 2 – links to DA support services in Lincolnshire 

Page 158



  Para 3 – confirmation of what to do in an immediate threat  

West Lindsey District Council commitment to tackling Domestic Abuse 
Page 66 – reference to the commitments of WLDC re the Domestic Abuse Charter 

Chapter 5 – Preventing Violent Extremism 

Introduction 

Page 69, Para 1 - Reference to the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 and 

Counter Terrorism and Border Security Act 2018 are referenced which states that 

local authorities as well as police can refer something they feel is at risk of being 

drawn into terrorism.   

     Para 3 – reference to a “Channel Panel 

Overview of Prevent 

Page 69, para 2 – Insertion of Lincolnshire Police commitment  

Chapter 6 Hate and Mate Crime 

West Lindsey District Council commitment to tackling Hate Crime and Mate 
Crime 
 

Page 78, Para 4 – change of name for county group to Safer Lincolnshire 

Partnership.   

Chapter 7 – Modern Slavery 

Introduction 

Page 81, Para 1 - Clearer definition on the types of actions involved with Modern 

slavery and  reference to modern slavery statement 

Page 81, - Clearer definition of types of modern slavery  

Page 83, Para 1 and 2 – Changes to the National referral mechanism (NRM).  

Reporting Concerns about Modern Day Slavery or Human Trafficking 

Page 84, Para 2 & 3 – Changes to the NRM referral system and clearer guidance for 

staff on the procedure to follow.   

    Para 7 – reference to the Lincolnshire Modern Slavery strategic group and 

the Lincolnshire reporting system 

Chapter 8 –County Lines and Cuckooing chapter 

Page 85 - Inclusion of a chapter 

Chapter 9 – Stalking 

Page 90 – Inclusion of a chapter 

 

Page 159



Appendix A – Declaration of Staff 

Page 93 – Inclusion of a declaration for staff to ensure they are aware of the policy 

and associated procedures to be keep on their personnel file 

Appendix B – Declaration for Councillors 

Page 95 – Inclusion of and declaration for councillors to be kept on file to ensure all 

members are aware of the policy 

Appendix C – Declaration for Contractors/ Consultants 

Page 97 - Inclusion of and declaration for Contractors / Consultants to be kept on file 

to ensure all members are aware of the policy 

 

Page 160



Clear risk of significant 
harm, disclosure or 
allegations of abuse 

Allegation or complaint 
about an officer, 

councillor, volunteer, 
consultant or contractor 

Any other issue which 
makes you feel uneasy 

about a person's 
welfare or safety 

Emergency:  
Immediate risk of harm, 
actual injury or death, 

or loss of vital evidence. 

Call 999 immediately 
Ask for the police 

and/or get an 
ambulance 

Record all 
information 

Inform Line Manager 
and complete 

safeguarding report a 
concern form 

Record all information and complete report a concern form on 
safeguarding page minerva 

See policy for links. 
Consider any action needed to prevent harm to this person or 

others. 
Try and obtain consent to share the information (this does not 

mean you do nothing further if no consent) 

Inform Line Manager with 
your completed 

safeguarding report a 
concern form  

Inform Safeguarding 
coordinator or lead 

safeguarding officer or HR 
immediately.  

You will be advised by 
safeguarding team about any 

referrals and/or additional risk 
assessments or that you need to 
make (if not already completed 

as part of your initial report) 
 

If possible, discuss with 
the person/family. 

Complete Early Help 
Assessment. Try and 

obtain consent to share 
information  

compl Discuss with Line Manager 
and/or Designated 

Safeguarding Officer  and  
complete safeguarding 
report a concern form 

You will be advised by safeguarding 
team about any referrals and/or 

additional risk assessments or that 
you need to make (if not already 
completed as part of your initial 

report) 

Agree action plan, outcomes and review period 

LOG THE INCIDENT through report a concern form by pressing on safeguarding jigsaw logo on minerva 

SAFEGUARDING INCIDENT FLOWCHART 

Lead Safeguarding Officer:     Rachel Parkin………………………………01427 676613 

Safeguarding Coordinator:     Emma Shoobridge……………………….01427 675184 

Safeguarding Officers:      Sarah Cattell………………………………..01427 675193 

          Andy Gray…………………………………...01427 675195 

Adult Safeguarding Call Centre……………………………………………………………………………….01522 782155 

Children Safeguarding…………………………………………………………………………………………….01522 782111 

IN AN EMERGENCY ALWAYS CALL 999 

1 2 3 4 

Page 161



Courses Method group a group b group c

safeguarding everyone, protecting c, yp,aelearning 1 1 1

introduction to safeguarding children elearning 1 1 1

awareness of child abuse and neglect - coreelearning 2 2 2

awareness of domestic violence and abuseelearning 2 2 2

interagency safeguarding children and YPf2f 1 1 0

interagency safeguarding adults f2f 2 2 0

safeguarding adults elearning 1 1 1

mental capacity act, basic awareness elearning 2 2 2

deprivation of liberty safeguards elearning 4 4 0

mental capacity act f2f 6 6 0

child exploitation f2f 3 3 0

safeguarding children from abuse by sexual exploitationelearning 2 2 0

children and young people who go missingelearning 6 6 0

working with adults who self-neglect elearning 4 4 0

understanding pathways to extreamism and prevent programmeelearning 2 2 2

intro into FGM, Forced Marriage, HBV elearning 5 5 5

safeguarding children refresher elearning 5 5 5

Da face to face training f2f 3 3 3

trafficking , exploitation and modern slaveryelearning 3 3 3

hidden harm elearning 4 0 0

self harm and suicidal thoughts in children and young peopleelearning 6 0 0

interagency safeguarding adults refresherf2f 5 5 0

supporting c&yp mental health f2f 6 0 0

recognising disguised compliance and disengaging familyf2f 5 0 0

hate crime elearning 5 5 5

risk taking behaviour elearning 4 0 0

parental mental health elearning 3 3 0

dementia awareness elearning 6 6 0

MARAC operating protocol elearning

LSCB pre birth protocol policy elearning 3 3 0

LSCB mobile families guidance policy elearning 4 4 0

DA awareness a short course elearning 1 1 1

basic awareness of child and adult sexual exploitationelearning 4 4 4

awareness of child abuse and neglect - foundationelearning 6 6 0

drug awareness training f2f 6 0 0

friends against scams 4 4 4

Year and Group

marac reps

Page 162



group d group e

1

1

2

2

0

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2

5

5

0

3

0

0

0

0

0

5

0

0

0

0

0

1

4

0

0

4

Year and Group

marac reps

Page 163



 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
Report by: 

 
Executive Director of Resources 

 Ian Knowles 

Contact Officer: Tracey Bircumshaw 

 Strategic  Finance  and  Business  Support  Manager 

 (Deputy S151) 

 01427 676560 

 tracey.bircumshaw@west-lindsey.gov.uk 

 
Sue Leversedge 

 Business Support Team Leader 

 01427 676541 

 Sue.leversedge@west-lindsey.gov.uk 

 
Purpose / Summary: 

 
This report sets out the revenue, capital and treasury 
management activity from 1 April 2019 to 30 September  
2019. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 

a) That Members accept the forecast out-turn position of a £628k net contribution 
to reserves as at 30 September 2019, as at section 2. 

b) Members accept the use of Earmarked Reserves during the quarter approved 
by the Executive Director of Resources using Delegated powers (2.5.2) 

c) Members approve the creation of a new Earmarked Reserve ‘Feasibility Fund’, 
as detailed at 2.5.1 

d) Members approve the Capital Budget amendments as detailed in 3.2.1 and 
approve the current projected Capital out-turn becomes the Revised Budget for 
future monitoring purposes as detailed in 3.1.1. 

e) That Members accept the Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators to 30 
September 2019. 

 

 

 
Corporate Policy and Resources 

Committee 

  

  7 November 2019 

 
Subject: Budget and Treasury Monitoring – Period 2 (Mid-Year Review) 

2019/20  

Page 164

Agenda Item 6d

mailto:tracey.bircumshaw@west-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:Sue.leversedge@west-lindsey.gov.uk


IMPLICATIONS 

 

 
 
 
 
 

     Financial: FIN/86/20/TB 
 

The draft revenue forecast out-turn position for 2019/2020 is currently reflecting a 
net contribution to reserves of £628k as at 30 September 2019 (£379k as at 31 
May 2019). 
 
This is after taking account of an approved carry forward of £25k, and carry 
forward requests from services pending future approval, detailed at Appendix A. 
 

 
 

The items with significant variances are contained within this report at 2.1. 

The capital out-turn position for 2019/20 is £22.655m, this is a 29% reduction on 
the current revised budget (original budget + carry forwards + approvals in year).  

 

The committee are requested to approve that the forecast out-turn position of 
£22.655m now becomes the revised budget for future monitoring purposes. 

 

Capital scheme amendments are detailed in 3.2. 

  
The Treasury Management activities during the reporting period are disclosed in the 
body of this report.  
 

There have been no breaches of Treasury or Prudential Indicators.  
 
Average investments for the period (Jul-Sep) was £18.096m which achieved an 
average rate of interest of 1.555% in Period 2 (1.663% Apr-Jun). 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Legal: None arising as a result of this report. 

 Staffing: None arising as a result of this report. 

 

Page 165



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Call in and Urgency: 
 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 
 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in 
due to urgency (in consultation with C&I 
chairman) 

Yes No 

 

Key Decision: 
 

A matter which affects two or more wards, 
or has significant financial implications 

Yes No 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights: None arising as a result of 
this report. 

Risk Assessment: This is a monitoring report only. 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: This is a monitoring report only. 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of this 
report: n/a 

X 

X 

Page 166



1. Executive Summary 
 
 

This report provides the oversight of financial performance for; 
 

 Revenue Forecast Out-Turn - Surplus £628k (4.44% of 
Forecast Net Revenue Expenditure) 
 

 Capital Forecast Out-Turn - £22.655m, a variance of £8.923m against 

current budget £31.578m, this is made up of: 

 Slippage of £9.216m to future financial years  

 Projected overspends on 2 schemes £0.897m 

 New scheme of £0.065m (Riverside Walkway Acquisition) 

 £0.669m is no longer required due to amendments to schemes and 

resultant underspends. 

 

 Treasury Management Report and Q2 monitoring 

o Average investment interest rate 1.555% 
o Total Investments at end Q2 £16.2m  

 

The tables below reflect investment movements and prudential borrowing 
analysis; 

 
 

         Q2 

Investment Movements     £'000 

Investments B/fwd (at 31.3.2019 incl. bank)   14,265 

Less Capital expenditure  (10,047) 

Add PWLB Borrowing in year     5,500 

Less Net Revenue Expenditure (5,479) 

Add Net Collection Fund Movement (Ctax/NNDR) 
 
 NNDR) 

  17,679 

Add Working Capital Movement    (5,631) 

Investments c/fwd (at 30.9.2019 incl. bank)   16,287 

 
 

Our prudential borrowing position reflects actual borrowing undertaken 
from the Public Works Loans Board and the amount of internal borrowing 
required to meet the actual costs of borrowing up to the 30.9.2019; 

 

       Q2 

Prudential Borrowing at 30.09.2019 £'000 

Total External Borrowing (PWLB)  

Internal Borrowing  

Total Internal Borrowing  

   16,500 

   15,048 
Total Prudential Borrowing at 30.09.2019    31,548 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Page 167



REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING PERIOD 2 
(Forecast outturn for 2019/2020) 

 

2.  The Revenue Budget forecast out-turn currently stands at a net contribution to 
reserves of £628k as detailed in the table below, this is after taking account of 
£195k of budget carry forwards, the details of which are provided at Appendix A. 
 
Details of headline variances by Cluster can be found below at 2.1. 

 

 

 

Page 168



2.1 The significant movements being; 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 169



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 170



2.2 Significant items (>£10k) of note by Cluster: 

 
2.2.1 Interest & Investment Income 

 
£361k of the forecast contribution relates to interest payable on borrowing.  
We provide a base budget based on the capital financing of schemes from 
prudential borrowing and assume that this borrowing will be from the Public 
Works Loans Board.  This ensures we have a sustainable base budget which 
provides for future interest and minimum revenue provision costs.  
 
In reality we manage our actual borrowing through our Treasury Management 
function, utilising any surplus cash balances as internal borrowing, rather than 
taking on costly additional debt.  
 
This committee have previously approved that any net surplus be set aside at 
the year end to the Valuation Risk Reserve should it be required to meet the 
policy requirement of a minimum 5% of our investment portfolio purchase 
price. 
 
Approval to spend up to £30m on investment property (with £7m budgeted this 
financial year which was carried forward from 2018/19). The 2019/20 base 
budget assumed a net contribution of £563k in 2019/20 raising to £728k by 
2020/21.   
 
A property has been purchased during this financial year and income generated 
for investment properties is forecast to be £154k above target. 
 
The Council continues to assess its options with regards to purchasing 
commercial investment properties.  
 

 
2.2.2 Our People 

 
 The 2019/20 budget for Green Waste Charging reflects a net contribution of 

£752k. With actual income at £915k from subscriptions achieved during this 
period and operational savings the forecast net contribution is £854k, £102k 
above the prudent original forecast. (£100k additional income and £2k net 
operational savings). 
 

 Trade waste is reporting a £27k increase in income. This reflects an additional 
contract secured for the year, plus an increase in customer base.  

 
 
2.2.3 Our Place 

 A tenancy of a previously vacant property has been secured during the year, 
with effect from 15th July 2019. A reduced rent has been agreed for 2 years 
from this date, resulting in a forecast loss of rental income of £56k for the year, 
plus NNDR costs incurred by the Council up to the commencement of the 
lease of £17k. 

 

 Trinity Arts Centre are forecasting additional income of £24k due to an increase 
in shows under the new fee structure. 

Page 171



 Planning Services are forecasting an £88k pressure for the year.  £100k 
relates to planning applications, offset by net savings across operational 
budgets of £12k. We have benefitted from significant levels of planning fee 
income over the past 3 years.  A variety of economic factors and the adoption 
of the Local Plan is now impacting upon the reductions projected, reflected by 
less applications to date. Although there are further large cases anticipated 
over the remainder of the current year, they are not expected to generate 
sufficient income to meet the target. 

2.2.4 Our Council 

 A Commercial Contingency budget of £200k was built into the 2019/20 base 
budget to mitigate a number of commercial risks, including investment 
properties. If not required this Committee will be asked to approve the balance 
be transferred into reserves later in the year. 

 

 Bad debt provision – over the past 2 years the contribution towards our bad 
debt provision has been; 2017/18 £89k and 2018/19 £105k. As this has a 
significant impact on the outturn position of the Council, we are forecasting a 
contribution for 2019/20 of £80k, in order to provide an accurate forecast 
outturn position for members during the year. 

 
2.2.5 Establishment 

 

Current vacancy levels after costs of interim staffing resources has achieved 
a £237k budget underspend this represents 2.07% of the overall employee 
budget. This is broken down by cluster as follows; 

  

Cluster 
Forecast 
Outturn £ 

Our People 888  

Our Place (104,500) 

Our Council (133,770) 

Grand Total (237,382) 

 
 

2.3 Commercial Projects and Income Target 
 

2.3.1 The Commercial Plan 2015/16 – 2019/20 was intended to be a proactive 
response in contributing to future financial sustainability. This was to be 
achieved through charging, trading and investment in order to reduce the net 
subsidy on services. A target contribution of £1m was set. 

 

2.3.2 Progress against this target will deliver £1,700k of ongoing additional income 
which has been built into the Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20-2023/24.   

 

2.3.3 For 2019/20 the forecast net contribution total of £2,026k is detailed below; 
 

 £718k Investment in Commercial Property (Target £600k by 2020/21) 

 £193k Trade Waste Income 

 £854k Green Waste 

 £ 78k Pre-Application Planning Advice 

Page 172



 £ 12k Surestaff Lincs Ltd (Recruitment Agency) 

 £  37k Commercial Loan income 

 £ 134k Leisure contract 

 
2.4 Fees and Charges 

 
2.4.1 £2,104k has been received in Fees and Charges up to the end of the period 

against a budget for the period of £2,110k, reduced income to date of £6k. 
The significant variances are included in the table at 1.1. 

 
2.4.2 The most significant areas of additional income being Garden Waste, 

Trade Waste (see 2.2.2) and Trinity Arts Centre (see 2.2.3). 
 

2.4.3 The significant areas of under achieved income against target being 
Planning Fee income (see 2.2.3). 

 
 

2.5 Use and Contribution to Reserves 
 
2.5.1 New Earmarked Reserve 

 
Members are asked to approve a new earmarked reserve ‘Feasibility Fund’ 
(RE102). £150k to be financed from the Investment for Growth reserve (RE83) 
(the unspent balance of the Gainsborough Growth Fund.)  This is to meet the 
revenue costs of feasibility, insight and due diligence prior to business case 
development for regeneration and growth capital investment projects.  
 

 
2.5.2 2019/20 Use of Reserves – Delegated Decisions 

 
The Executive Director of Resources has used delegated powers to approve the use 
of earmarked reserves up to £50k, new delegated decisions totalled £78.9k; 
 

 £33.6k from Investment for Growth reserves (RE83). Remaining balance on 
approved spend for Gainsborough growth Fund (GGF) which was carried forward 
from 2018/19. Supplement existing revenue budget in Economic Regeneration 
used as an enabling fund, by means of swapping the financing with the Shop Front 
scheme from grant funding to use of reserves (MT 04.03.19 FIN/223/19) 

 £3k from Investment for Growth reserve (RE83). Contribution towards CCTV 
service at Hemswell Cliff for 19/20 (£100k approved by CP&R (FIN/12/17) FOR 
Hemswell Cliff Masterplan. Balance remaining £61.8k).  

 £9.3k from Unapplied Grants (RE13). Use of Cabinet Office grant held in 
Unapplied Grants towards the final cost of the 2019 District Election. 

 £25.0k from Property Asset Fund reserve (RE82). To cover the costs of the 3rd 
floor refresh. 

 £8.0k from IT Upgrade/Refresh reserve (RE101). To cover the costs of revenue 
spend related to the Desktop Refresh. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 173



2.5.3 2019/20 Contribution to Reserves 
 

 £7k to Generic Equalities reserve (RE32) as budget no longer required within 
service. 

 A contribution of £22.3k to the Car Park Strategy Investment reserve (RE44) was 
built into the base budget for 2019/20. Due to current forecast pressures on car 
park income this contribution is not achievable. 

 Grant from the Development Trust Fund – see 2.6.3 for details. Of the £115k grant 
received it is proposed to move £95k into Unapplied Grants reserve (RE13) for 
future years’ spend. 

 Return to General Fund Balance £65k being grant expended from revenue in 
2018/19 but received in 2019/20. 
 

2.6 Grants 
 
This Committee approved a Capital Grant award of £3m (£500k funded from the 
GLLEP, £2.5m from the Investment for Growth Earmarked Reserves) to enable the 
delivery of a Cinema within Gainsborough.  The Grant Conditions are now finalised 
and appended as a confidential item, for Members information as these were agreed 
under delegation by the Executive Director of Resources, the Executive Director 
Commercial and Growth and the Chairs of both Prosperous Communities and Policy 
and Resources Committee – This agreement is commercial sensitivity and as such 
will be appended as a confidential item. 
 
As at 1st April 2019 we had an amount of £521k relating to grants received which 
had yet to be expended. Budget provision will be created throughout the financial 
year as required to deliver projects in accordance with grant terms. 
 

 

2.6.1 Successful Grant Bids and New Grant determinations 
 
The following grants have been awarded during this period: 
 

 

 

 

2.6.2 £100k Grant from the Arts Council 

 
As reported in the Qtr. 1 report (FIN/16/20 25.07.19) we have been awarded £100k from 
the Arts Council National Lottery Grant fund for a project named; Challenging the Myth: 
Re-imaging the Pilgrims. 
 
The project is multi-art form, using complementary artists to build a high quality 
programme of participatory activities & new commissions in & around 
Gainsborough, an area of low engagement and opportunity for arts. This Pilgrim Roots 
cultural programme commemorates 2020’s 400th anniversary of the 
Mayflower’s voyage, with 4 signature events (in Nov ’19 & ‘20, May & July). People will 
be able to take part in a sustained programme of cultural activity connected to local 
places but shared with places across the world. The Pilgrims' story became popular & 

Page 174



heavily mythologised over the past 200 years. 2020 is an important chance to challenge 
ideas of the Pilgrims’ legacy & roots with strong arts-led outputs to inspire, share and 
co-create a new visual & written narrative for the Pilgrims. 
 

The project will be managed by the Growth Team and delivery implemented by Anna 
Scott – Mayflower Officer. 

 

 

2.6.3 £1,250.1k Grant from Townscape Heritage  

 
Townscape Heritage (TH) is a funding programme administered by The National Lottery 
Heritage Fund which seeks to restore historic (both listed and non-listed) buildings in 
towns. Following the award of a development phase grant of £49,000 in 2017, WLDC has 
been awarded a further grant of £1.250,100 to deliver a grant scheme in Gainsborough 
Town Centre and an associated programme of cultural and educational activities, as well 
as improvements to the local public realm. The total project will see over £1.9 million 
invested with other support coming from WLDC, private sector and volunteer time 
contributions.  

 

This grant award was reported to Members in the Qtr. 1 report (FIN/16/20 25.07.19). 

 

2.6.4 £115k Grant from the Development Trust Fund 

 
The Growth Team has been gifted £115k from the Gainsborough Development Trust. A 
condition of the funding is that it has to be applied to the regeneration of Gainsborough 
town centre, and is proposed to form part of the funding of the Town Centre 
Development Programme. 
 

FYI: Gainsborough Development Trust was set up in the late 1990’s to apply for 
regeneration funding, the Company has had limited activity in the last ten years and the 
Board of Directors have all agreed to close the company and gift the remaining funds to 
WLDC.  The only legal requirement is that money must be used for the regeneration of 
Gainsborough town centre. 

 

2.6.5 Local Access Programme 
 
The Council has been provided with the opportunity to work with an informal partnership 
named Gainsborough Investment Network (GIN) to oversee a four stage bid process 
(stage 1 completed and Stage 2 due 31/10/2019) and any subsequent funds associated 
with the bid development.   

 
The bid is for a share of the £33million, 10 year investment initiative managed by Big 
Society Capital and Access – The Foundation for Social Investment.  It aims to bring 
together grant and repayable finance in order to provide local place-based partnerships 
in England with both enterprise support and flexible finance for charities and social 
enterprises in order to test and grow.   

 
Gainsborough is one of 12 partnerships shortlisted to apply for the programme and has 
been invited to develop proposals for how enterprise and investment would support their 
vision.    
 

Page 175



 
Any Funds received will be managed outside of the Council by a specialist social 
investment partner. 

 

Other Items for information 
 
2.7 Planning Appeals 

 
In period 2 2019/20 there were 10 appeals determined, as follows; 
 

 
 
There are no live applications for costs.  
 
2.8 Aged Debt Summary – Sundry Debtors Aged 

Debt Summary Period 1 Monitoring Report 

At the end of September 2019 there was a total of £182k outstanding debt in the 
system over 90 days. The majority of this debt was over 150 days old and mainly 
comprised of: 

 
Housing Benefits overpayments £68k the majority of which will look to be recovered 
through ongoing entitlement or where appropriate on agreed repayment schedules. 
 
 
Environmental Protection & Licensing £33k 
Housing £22k 
Corporate Governance £18k 
 

 
 

 

2.9 Changes to the Organisation Structure 
 
There have been the following changes to the organisation structure during period 2; 
 
2.9.1 Caretaker post – 1 x 37 hr post amended to 2 x 20 hr posts in preparation for 
current post holder retirement.  
 
2.9.2 Customer Services - Amalgamate 5 part vacant posts (FTE 1.01). Create 1 new 
post at a band 3 (Trainee Customer First Ambassador). Nil impact on the MTFP. 

Page 176



 
2.9.3 Crematorium - new structure approved following a benchmarking exercise by the 
appointed Crematorium Manager, to review the staffing levels and salaries of 
comparable roles in local crematoriums. Pressure in 19/20 of £17.1k funded from in 
year corporate vacancy savings. The ongoing pressure of £31.2k is being met from 
income projections. 
 

3.1 CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING – Quarter 2 
 

3.1.1 The Capital Budget forecast out-turn for schemes approved for spend 
(includes Stage 3 and Business as Usual) totals £20.191m against a 
revised budget of £22.151m. Reasons for variations are detailed below.  
Pipeline schemes (Pre Stage 1, Stage 1 and Stage 2) are expected to 
spend £2.463m (subject to future formal approval) This gives an overall 
total of £22.654m  as detailed in the table below; 

 
 

 
 

3.1.2 The capital programme spend to date is £10.047m against a revised 
budget of £31.577m.  Expenditure is forecast to be £22.654m resulting in 
an £8.923m variance. The variance consists of:  
 

 £9.216m which is planned to be slipped to future financial years, 
significant items include; £3.6m for the central depot which is currently 
in the design stage with commencement on construction likely to be 
in Spring 2020, £1.3m relating to the phasing of grant funding to the 
Cinema, £1.984m relating to the Food Enterprise Zone which is fully 
funded by the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership. 
 

 There are projected overspends of £0.897m, being £0.350m relating 
to the Crematorium, this is within the 10% tolerance approved by this 
committee.  In addition £0.547 relates to unforeseen additional costs 
associated with drainage at the Leisure development site.  Both 
schemes are funded from borrowing therefore there will be an 
increase in the ongoing cost of borrowing of circa £42k per annum.  
There is a new scheme of £0.065m and £0.669m which is no longer 
required due to amendments to schemes and resultant underspends.   

 

Subject to Committee approval the capital programme with be reduced in 
this financial year to reflect the amendments with £22.655m being the new 
Revised Budget for future monitoring purposes.    

 
Page 177



3.1.3 Individual schemes are detailed in the table below and commentary 
provided on performance. 
 

 
 

Page 178



 
 

 

 Corporate Priority / Scheme  

 Stage                              

(1 April 2019) 
 Stage 

 Actuals to 

30/09/2019 

 Original 

Budget  

2019/20 

 Revised 

Budget 

2019/20 

 Final Outturn 

2019/20 

 Over/ 

(Underspend) 

 Carry Forward 

Requests/ 

Drawbacks 

 Comments 

 £  £  £  £ £ £

Open for Business

 Telephony 
 Stage 2 Stage 3 3,000 18,000 44,960 16,560 (9,000) (19,400)

£19.4k to be slipped to 20/21 , £9k of this is for software maintenance costs in 20/21 and £9k 

moved to revenue in 19/20 for software maintenance.
 Trinity Arts Address System  Stage 2 Stage 3 34,724 0 35,000 35,000 0 0

People First
 Disabled Facilities Grants  BAU BAU 301,145 591,600 774,931 631,100 0 (143,831) DFG to be slipped into 2020/21
 Customer First Programme  Stage 1 Stage 1 0 181,300 355,000 75,000 0 (280,000) Programme slipped into 2020/21
 CCTV Expansion  Stage 3 Stage 3 2,200 0 27,265 27,265 0 0
 Channel Optimisation  Stage 1 Stage 1 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 Budget moved to CRM project

Asset Management

 Capital Enhancements to Council Owned Assets  BAU BAU 0 90,000 141,100 141,100 0 0

 Carbon Efficiency Project  BAU Stage 3 (3,774) 210,000 210,000 210,000 0 0

 Hemswell Masterplan - Public Realm Improvements  Stage 2 Stage 2 0 150,000 150,000 0 0 (150,000) Delays in commencement of project - slipped to 2020/21

 Commercial Investment - Crematorium 

 Stage 3 Stage 3 1,675,503 3,612,600 3,337,600 3,687,600 350,000 0

Total cost is now expected between £6.4-6.45m, which is within the agreed tolerance for the 

project. This overspend is due to compensation events.  The project remains on track to be 

operational in Jan 2020

 Caistor - South Dale Redevelopment  Stage 2 Stage 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Car Park Strategy Investment  Stage 3 Stage 3 (13,500) 0 0 0 0 0

 Leisure Facilities - Market Rasen  Stage 3 Stage 3 1,666,126 6,040,300 5,939,459 6,486,459 547,000 0 Overspend due to additional work in redirecting pipework located on the site.

 Commercial Investment - Property Portfolio  Stage 3 Stage 3 5,667,657 0 7,015,289 7,015,289 0 0 One acquisition already made in 19/20 £1.3m remaining

 Depot Review  Stage 1 Stage 2 17,246 3,700,000 4,000,000 400,000 0 (3,600,000) Project to commence in 20/21  - land purchase should complete this financial year

 5-7 Market Place - Redevelopment   Stage 1 Stage 1 0 387,300 387,300 35,000 0 (352,300) Works to be slipped to 2020/21

 Trinity Arts Centre Improvement Projects  Stage 1 Stage 1 0 500,000 500,000 250,000 0 (250,000) scheme expected to commence early 2020  residual to be slipped into the next financial year

 Roses Sports Ground: 3 G Community Pitch  Stage 2 Stage 2 0 150,000 150,000 150,000 0 0

Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 
 Gainsborough Shop Front Improvement Scheme  Stage 3 Stage 3 0 65,000 85,000 45,000 0 (40,000) Slipped to 20/21

 Gainsborough Heritage Regeneration - THI  Stage 2 Stage 2 0 346,245 346,245 147,900 0 (198,345) Funding bid successful, three properties identified but work likely to slip to 2020/21

 Unlocking Housing - Living over the Shop  Stage 2 Stage 3 0 135,000 200,000 100,000 0 (100,000) Slipped to 20/21

 Riverside Gateway - Marina/Transformational Change 
 Stage 2 Stage 1 0 250,000 0 0 0 0

Remove budget - new scheme to be developed along with business plan and bid for future 

funding

 Gainsborough Regeneration - Dev Partnership  Stage 1 Stage 3 0 1,150,000 0 0 0 0
 Gainsborough Regeneration - Cinema Stage 2 0 0 2,000,000 650,000 0 (1,350,000) Cost rephased for the scheme and budget to be slipped to 2020/21 accrdingly

 Viability Funding - Capital Grant  Stage 3 Stage 3 0 0 278,610 220,341 (58,269) 0 Final grant hqs now been paid, along with the retention.

 Market Rasen 3 year vision 
 Pre stage 1 Stage 2 0 150,000 200,000 0 0 (200,000)

MRTC will submit a Heritage Action Zone bid which will require match funding from WL, this is 

likely to be finalised in 2020/21.

 Rural Transport  Stage 3 Stage 3 0 0 40,000 0 (40,000) 0 Scheme no longer progressing

 Private Sector Renewal  Pre stage 1 Stage 3 60,857 475,000 588,547 190,000 (100,000) (298,547) Reduce budget by £100k due to no capital receipts being realised - slip £298k to 20/21

 Food Enterprise Zone infrastructure 
 Stage 1 Stage 3 0 1,483,513 1,983,513 0 0 (1,983,513)

FEZ is unlikely to proceed under the current scheme format - new options are to be evaluated 

which will result in a new capital bid slip money to 20/21

 Saxilby Industrial Units  Stage 3 Stage 3 0 0 607,000 607,000 0 0

 Green Corridor 
 Stage 1 Stage 1 0 387,560 387,560 0 (387,560) 0

Bid for funding unsuccessful not going to enter into the 2nd round. New project to be scoped with 

new capital bid

 North Marsh Road - Affordable Housing Scheme 

(REFCUS) 
 Stage 1 Stage 1 0 360,000 360,000 360,000 0 0

 Riverside Gateway Acquisition Stage 1 0 0 0 65,500 65,500 0 Purchase of Land - funded by GLLEP - new bid

Capital Investment Programme 2019/20

P
age 179



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 180



3.2  Capital Programme Update 2019/20 
 

3.2.1  Investment in commercial property is ongoing with one successful acquisition 
in the last quarter totaling £5.668m (incl costs), which was a Car Dealership, 
Wheatley Road, Doncaster. 
 
The remaining balance for the 2019/20 Investment Programme is £1.348m, the 
Council continues to seek additional suitable investment opportunities. A 
further £7.0m is proposed for 2020/21 which will fully utilise the £30m allocated 
for the Council’s Investment Property Programme. 

 
3.2.2 The following projects require re-phasing, affecting future financial years of 

the current capital programme in the 5 year MTFP: 
 
 Slippage (From 2019-20 to 2020-21) 
 

 Disabled Facilities Grant (£0.144m) 

 Public Sector Hub – Property (£0.100m) 

 Private Sector Renewal (£0.299m) 

 Market Rasen 3 year vision (£0.200m) 

 Hemswell Masterplan – Public Realm Improvements (£0.150m) 
 

 Food Enterprise Zone Restructure (£1.984m) –  
Viability and deliverability of the project have recently been re-discussed and 
re-assessed with the SPV (recipient of the grant). The current challenges 
affecting the agri-food sector at regional and national level (including Brexit) 
and local market demand pose a significant commercial risk to the private 
sector (having to commit considerable investment upfront for enabling 
infrastructure in order to open up the site for development). Given the above, 
at this point in time the GLLEP funding timescale is not deemed by the SPV 
as a robust enough financial vehicle to minimise that risk so grant take up 
may have to be relinquished. The FEZ project is unlikely to go ahead under 
the original Local Growth Deal Programme. The Council is in conversation 
with the landowner to understand what the intentions are in the short, medium 
and long term to bring forward the site whilst retaining the FEZ site allocation 
in the GLLEP project pipeline. 

 

 Telephony (£0.019m) 

 Customer First Programme (£0.280m) 

 Gainsborough Heritage Regeneration THI – budget to be slipped 
equally over the next 4 years – (£0.198m) 

 Financial Management System (£0.150m) 

 Gainsborough Shop Front Improvement Scheme (£0.040m) 

 Unlocking Housing – Living Over the Shop (£0.100m) 

 Depot Review – (£3.600m) 

 5-7 Market Place Redevelopment (£0.352m) 

 Trinity Entrance Refurbishment (£0.250m) 

 Cinema – (£1.350m) 
 

         
3.2.3  £0.669m of the current capital programme has been assessed as not needed 

or no longer required for capital purposes, however two schemes require 
additional financing of £0.897m resulting in a net overspend of £0.228m. 
 

Page 181



 The underspends are as follows: 
 

 Vehicle Replacement Programme (£0.043m) 

 Private Sector Renewal (£0.100m) – remove budget financed from      
capital receipts as currently the scheme is not generating any. 

 Telephony (£0.009m) – remove to revenue 

 Viability Funding – Capital Grant Sun Inn (£0.058m) 

 Rural Transport (£0.040m) scheme no longer progressing in its 
current form 

 Desktop Refresh (£0.008m) – transfer to revenue 

 IT Infrastructure Refresh and Software Licences (£0.013m) transfer 
to revenue  

 Environmental Protection (noise) (£0.010m) – no longer required 

 Green Corridor – (£0.388m) scheme no longer progressing in its 
current form. 

 
The anticipated overspends requiring financing within approved 
tolerance  are: 

 

 Market Rasen Leisure Facilities (£0.547m), financing from 
Borrowing.  Due to works required to divert underground pipework 
and groundwork issues. 
 

 Crematorium (£0.350m), funded from Borrowing increase in cost 
variances to budget - various items. 

 
3.2.4 New Capital Investment approvals  
 

Approval is sought for a new capital bid of £0.065m for the Riverside 
Walkway Acquisition.  Funding from this scheme will come from the 
GLLEP Grant 

 
The development of a Business Plan for the Trinity Arts Centre (TAC) is 
currently under development and will be presented as a future report to this 
Committee, however, there are 2 elements which require urgent attention due 
to identified Health and Safety risks. (See Appendix 1 – attached after 3.3 
below)   
 

There is currently a budget of £500k (£250k in each  2019/20 and 2020/21) for 
a number of service improvement projects at the TAC.  The committee are 
asked to approve spend of £60k for the following two investments; 

 

 £50k Stage Lighting – Intelligent LED lighting will significantly reduces 
the risk to staff as it avoids the need to work at a height.  In addition the 
lighting will reduce consumption and energy costs and is anticipated to 
achieve a £5k saving, in addition efficiencies will be gained from 
technicians hours as the system will be electronically managed and will 
provide a fit for purpose lighting system. 

 

 £10k Show Relay and Backstage Communication System.  The system 
will ensure a safety of theatre performers as it will ensure that important 
information can be relayed. 

 

Approved projects will be funded from either the Property Asset Reserve £300k 

Page 182



and Borrowing £200k as appropriate. 
 

 
3.2.5      These amendments to the capital programme are presented to Committee for 

approval. 
 

 
 

3.3 Acquisitions, Disposals and Capital Receipts 
 

3.3.1 The Council has made the following asset acquisitions during Quarter 2. 
 
• Car Dealership, Wheatley Road, Doncaster  
• Land for Market Rasen Leisure Facility 
• Option to Purchase Land for New Depot at Caenby Corner 

 
3.3.2   The Council has made the following asset disposal during Quarter 2. 

 
•   Heapham Road Recycling Centre deposit received pending 

completion of sale. 
 

3.3.3  Capital Receipts - The total value of capital receipts at the end of Quarter 2 
was £166k this was due to income of £130k from the Housing Stock Transfer 
Agreement share of Right to Buy receipts, £12k loan repayments, £2k 
repayments from DFG Grant, £10k deposit on Disposals and LCC Sale of 
Mercury House of which the Council was entitled to a percentage of the sale 
proceeds £12k.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 183



Appendix 1 
 
TRINITY ARTS CENTRE CAPITAL INVESTMENTS 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 184



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 185



4. TREASURY MONITORING – PERIOD 2 (Jul - Sept) 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2019/20, which 

includes the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 05 

March 2019.  It sets out the Council’s investment priorities as being: 

 Security of capital; 

 Liquidity; and 

 Yield. 

The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 

commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. In the current economic 

climate it is considered appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash 

flow needs, but also to seek out value available in periods up to 12 months with 

highly credit rated financial institutions, using our suggested creditworthiness 

approach, including a minimum sovereign credit rating and Credit Default Swap 

(CDS) overlay information. 

4.1 Officer can confirm that there have been no breaches of Prudential Indicators as 
detailed at 4.7 below. 
 

4.1.1 Interest received has been in excess of the 7 day average libid (0.56%) with an 
average yield of 1.553% (including CCLA) and 0.823% (excluding CCLA). 

 
 

Quarter ended 30 September 2019: 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 186



 
 
 

4.2 Interest Rate Forecasts 
 

The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
current forecast: 
 

 
 

Link Asset Services detailed economic commentary on developments during 
quarter ended 30 September 2019 is included in Appendix 1. 
 
In Quarter 2 PWLB rates have been on a falling trend during this period to reach 

historic lows.  The 50 year PWLB target (certainty rate) for new long term 

borrowing fell from 2.3% to 2% during this period.  However on the 09 October 

2019 the PWLB announced an increase of 100 basis points on rates due to the 

high levels of borrowing this could result in use of PWLB for borrowing as a last 

resort only.  This will continue to be monitored. 

Appendix 2 details Link Asset Services detailed commentary on Interest Rate 
Forecasts (as at end Sept) 
 
Appendix 3 details the Approved countries for investments as at 30 September 
2019. (as at end Sept) 

 
 
4.3 Investment in Local Authority Property Fund (CCLA) 
 

The total the Council has invested now stands at £3m [of an approved £4m].  

Page 187



Interest is receivable on a quarterly basis with Q1 due during October. 
 

4.4 New External Borrowing 
 
No new borrowing was undertaken in the second quarter of the financial year. 

 
The Council’s total external borrowing stands at £16.5m. 
 

It is anticipated that further borrowing will be undertaken during this financial year.   

 

 

 
4.5 Borrowing in advance of need 

 

The Council has not borrowed in advance of need during the period ending 31 
September 2019 
 

4.6 Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits 
 

It is statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 
affordable borrowing limits.  The Council’s approved Treasury and Prudential 
Indicators (affordability limits) are included in the approved TMSS. 
 

During the financial year to date the Council has operated within the treasury and 
prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and in compliance with the Council's Treasury Management Practices.  

 

Page 188



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The prudential and treasury Indicators are shown below and take into account 
the revisions to the Capital Programme as detailed in section 3 of this report. 

  
Original P1 Q2 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Treasury 
Indicators 

      

Authorised limit for 
external debt 

48,519 48,519 48,519 

Operational 
boundary for 
external debt 

43,184 42,809 40,588 

External Debt 33,863 30,292 28,189 

Long term Leases 0 0 0 

Investments (9,527) (9,258) (13,706) 

Net Borrowing 24,336 21,034 14,483 

        

Prudential 
Indicators 

      

Capital Expenditure 21,698 32,062 22,655 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR)* 

43,184 42,810 40,589 

Of Which 
Commercial 
Property 

22,999 22,999 22,999 

Annual change in 
CFR* 

13,672 19,726 17,505 

In year borrowing 
requirement 

33,863 30,292 28,189 

Under/(over)borrowi
ng 

9,321 12,518 12,400 

Ratio of financing 
costs to net revenue 
stream* 

4.00% 1.69% 1.89% 

Incremental 
impact of capital 
investment 
decisions: 

      

Page 189



Increase/Reduction 
(-) in Council Tax 
(band change per 
annum) 

(£0.31) (£3.30) (£6.33) 

 

 
4.7 The Monthly Investment Review report for September is attached below; 

 

Page 190



 

 

P
age 191



 

P
age 192



 

P
age 193



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 194



 

P
age 195



 

 

P
age 196



 
 

 
 

 

P
age 197



 
 

P
age 198



APPENDIX 1: Detailed economic commentary on 
developments during quarter ended 30 September 
2019 

 
 

 During the quarter ended 30 September 2019 (quarter 3 of 2019): 

Boris Johnson replaced Theresa May as Prime Minister; 

GDP fell by 0.2% q/q in Q2, but rose at the start of Q3; 

The fundamentals that determine consumer spending remained healthy;  

Inflation fell below the Bank of England’s 2% target; 

There was a widespread fall in investors’ global interest rate expectations;  

The MPC kept Bank Rate on hold at 0.75%, but struck a more dovish tone. 

The economy posted a weaker-than-expected contraction in activity in Q2 of 2019 of 0.2% 
q/q, but that was probably temporary as activity had been shifted from Q2 into Q1 ahead 
of the original 29th March Brexit deadline. For example, some car manufacturers brought 
forward their annual car plant shutdowns from August to April in case of a no deal.  

What’s more, stock building added 0.5 percentage points (ppts) to GDP growth in Q1 
before knocking 0.4ppts off growth in Q2. But a good deal of those stocks were imported, 
so that overstates the impact. Taking into account the effect on imports and exports, we 
estimate that net stock building added 0.2ppts to growth in Q1 before knocking 0.2ppts off 
growth in Q2.  

The fall in GDP in Q2 has raised concerns that the UK economy could already be in a 
recession even before Brexit. However, there are at least two reasons to think that growth 
will probably rebound in Q3, ensuring that the UK avoids a recession. First, GDP grew by 
0.3% m/m in July, the largest rise since January. That means that it would take GDP 
growth in both August and September of an unlikely -0.4% m/m to prevent growth from 
being positive in Q3 as a whole.  

Second, the flipside of car manufacturers closing in April is that some of them remained 
open in August, when they would normally close. As a result, seasonally adjusted vehicle 
production rose by about 8.5% m/m in August, which should add about 0.1ppts to quarterly 
GDP growth. To be fair, this may be the highlight of the manufacturing sector. Even though 
the manufacturing PMI rose a little in September, it is still pointing to manufacturing output 
contracting by about 1.0% q/q in Q3. That said, the services sector is typically unfazed by 
contractions in manufacturing. So the weakness of manufacturing shouldn’t spill over into 
weaker consumer demand. As such, we have pencilled in a rise of 0.3% q/q in GDP in 
Q3. 

Indeed, household spending growth, which is the biggest component of demand, will 
probably remain pretty strong. Looking through the Brexit volatility, while consumer 
confidence has been relatively weak, the fundamentals that determine consumer 
spending have remained healthy. Admittedly, employment grew by just 31,000 in the three 
months to July. But this came on the back of a jump of 62,000 in the three months to June. 
And with the unemployment rate still at its 45-year low of 3.8%, the tightness in the labour 
market has pushed up wage growth. Wage growth on the measure including bonuses 
nudged up from 3.8% in June to 4.0% in July, the fastest rate since 2008. And with inflation 
having fallen to 1.7% in August, below the Bank of England’s 2% target, real wage growth 
has reached its highest rate since 2016.  

The fall in CPI inflation from 2.1% in July to 1.7% in August was mainly due to lower 
inflation in the recreation and cultural services categories. Lower clothing inflation also 
helped to supress the headline measure. While you can pick out these more volatile 
components as the cause of the fall in inflation, the big picture is that there is little upward 

Page 199



pressure on underlying inflation at the moment. Core inflation fell from 1.9% to 1.5%, its 
lowest rate in almost three years. 

Nonetheless, there are still some reasons to think that CPI inflation will edge up at the end 
of the year as rising agricultural prices push up food inflation and core inflation starts to 
pick up now that the lagged effects of a fall in import price inflation have come to an end. 
What’s more, the recent pick-up in wage costs is consistent with a rise in core services 
inflation to more than 4% in 2020.    

Meanwhile, investors have become much more downbeat on the outlook for UK monetary 
policy. At the start of July investors were pricing in less than one 25bps rate cut from 
0.75% within a year and then for interest rates to rise back to 0.75% again. Now, however, 
they are pricing in almost two rate cuts over the next two years and then for interest rates 
to remain low. This is partly because of the weakening global outlook and the rate cuts in 
the US and euro-zone. And it’s partly because the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) 
seems to have become more downbeat. Indeed, at its latest meeting in September the 
MPC noted that “underlying growth has slowed, but remains slightly positive, and that a 
degree of excess supply appears to have opened up”. As a result, it wasn’t surprising that 
the MPC kept Bank Rate on hold.  

The Bank also gave us some indication of what it might do in three familiar Brexit 
scenarios; a deal, delay and no deal Brexit! If there were a Brexit deal at the end of 
October or in January, with inflation currently below the 2% target, the MPC is unlikely to 
feel under much pressure to rush ahead with rate hikes. But the Committee does think 
that interest rates would rise “at a gradual pace and to a limited extent”. 

However, it also pointed out that a further delay to Brexit would weigh on GDP growth and 
“domestically generated inflationary pressures would be reduced”. The implication is that 
more delays to Brexit delay rate hikes and could even open the door to rate cuts. Indeed, 
Michael Saunders gave the strongest hint yet in a recent speech that he at least thinks 
that rate cuts might be required. And if there is a no deal then the MPC is still saying that 
“the monetary policy response would not be automatic and could be in either direction”, 
although some MPC members have indicated that they would be more inclined to cut 
rates.  

As for fiscal policy, more spending appears pretty much baked into the cake. In 
September’s Spending Review the Chancellor announced additional government 
spending of about £13.8bn. The Chancellor then went even further by announcing at the 
Tory Party Conference plans to spend up to £25bn on infrastructure projects over the next 
few years.  

This extra spending when combined with changes to the way that student loans are 
counted, which added £12.4bn to borrowing in 2018/19, suggests that the Chancellor’s 
fiscal target is dead in the water. Indeed, if the current trend persists, borrowing would be 
£52.8bn this year (2.4% of GDP). That would leave the structural deficit above the 2% of 
GDP target by 2020/21.  

Of course, how much borrowing rises depends on the outcome of Brexit. If a deal is 
reached, faster GDP growth would reduce public spending, raise tax revenues and cut the 
deficit, perhaps allowing fiscal policy to be loosened without borrowing rising by too much. 
However, in a no deal, the weaker economy, combined with a substantial fiscal loosening 
to support the economy, would push up the deficit sharply. 

The passing of legislation by Parliament to prevent a no deal Brexit on 31 October means 
that we think the most likely outcome is another delay to Brexit until 31 January 2020. If 
there is a delay, then the general election that would surely follow in November or 
December would probably determine what happens to Brexit and the economy. If the 
Tories won, the chances of a no deal Brexit and a resulting short recession would be fairly 
high. If Labour won, (although its Brexit policy is still very vague), the downside risk of a 
no deal Brexit would be removed as the public get to vote on either a deal or remain. But 
Labour’s high-tax, large-government policies could restrain economic growth further 
ahead. Page 200



Turning to the financial markets, concerns over global growth and subsequent falls in 
interest rate expectations have caused developed market bond yields to drop – the 10-
year gilt yield fell from 0.81% at the start of the quarter to 0.47% at the end.  

Meanwhile, despite the recent drop in the chances of a no deal Brexit on 31st October, 
sterling has fallen by about 3% from $1.27 to $1.23 this quarter. Given that the differential 
between 10-year gilts and 10-year US Treasuries has remained around 120 basis points, 
the fall in sterling is probably due to strength in the US dollar as demand for safe haven 
assets has increased.  

The drop in sterling failed to give the FTSE 100 a boost. The two markets usually have an 
inverse relationship as a rise in the pound lowers the sterling value of UK firms’ overseas 
profits. But the FTSE 100 finished the quarter around 1.0% lower, slightly underperforming 
the S&P 500.  

Elsewhere, in the US the markets think the Fed will cut interest rates twice more over the 
next two years. We agree that interest rates will fall once more this year, however, we 
don’t expect the Fed to continue cutting interest rates next year. Meanwhile, we have 
lowered our forecast for GDP growth in the euro-zone next year from 0.8% to just 0.5%. 
And even if the ECB is reluctant to loosen policy further before Christine Lagarde takes 
over as President in November, we suspect that the Bank will cut its deposit rate by a 
further 30bps next year and step up its assets purchases. 

  

Page 201



APPENDIX 2: Detailed commentary on interest rate 
forecasts        

 

Our treasury management advisers, Link Asset Services provided us on 5 August 

with the following update to their interest rate forecasts.  

 

 While the Bank of England went through the routine of producing another quarterly 

Inflation Report at the start of August, it was very questionable how much all the writing 

and numbers were worth when faced with the huge uncertainties of where the UK will be 

on 1 November 2019.  Although the new Prime Minister, Boris Johnson, has spoken 

strongly that the UK will be out of the EU, come what may on 31 October, his stated main 

aim is to get movement from the EU and Ireland, and especially over the Northern Ireland 

backstop.  If there was a reasonable chance that negotiations were going positively and 

looked like heading towards agreement, it surely cannot be ruled out that there could be 

a further delay to the 31 October deadline, as both sides have great concerns about the 

economic damage that would be done to their economies if there was a no deal.  However, 

there is also the issue of what the House of Commons may, or may not do, especially now 

that the Supreme Court has overturned the proroguing of Parliament and has also passed 

a bill to delay Brexit until 31 January 2020 if there is no deal before 31 October. It has also 

denied the Prime Minister his request for a general election before 31 October.  All one 

can say for certain is that there is currently a great deal of uncertainty over Brexit. 

 Possibly the biggest message that is worth taking note of from the Inflation Report, is the 

downbeat comments in terms of the outlook for the major world economies. In terms of 

the UK, it was notably downbeat about expectations for how strong a recovery in growth 

would be - even if there was a Brexit deal; investment levels look unlikely to suddenly 

rebound strongly. This was reflected in a downgrading of the Bank’s growth forecasts. 

However, it is also worth noting that the new Prime Minister is making some significant 

promises on various spending commitments and a relaxation in the austerity programme. 

This will provide some support to the economy and, conversely, take some pressure off 

the MPC to cut Bank Rate to support growth. 

 The MPC meeting of 19 September was notably dovish in emphasising increasing 

concerns about the impact that prolonged uncertainty was likely to have on UK growth, 

but also noted more concern about the environment of weaker global growth. 

 While the USA is not heading towards a recession, the Fed has taken action to counter 

the slowdown in growth with two cuts of 25 bps each in July and September to reach 1.75 

– 2.00%; it may cut again before the year end. 

 The ECB is increasingly concerned by the headwinds facing the EZ economy as a whole, 

but especially the German and Italian economies. Germany is particularly exposed to a 

downturn in the world economy due to exports being a very important part of its economy. 

Italy just looks stuck in weak growth and successive governments have done little to face 

up to major issues that need dealing with. The ECB has therefore emphasised that while 

it can tinker at the edges with cuts in rates, and boosting liquidity in financial markets, the 

heavy lifting will have to be done by fiscal policy measures through national government 

Comparison of forecasts for Bank Rate today v. previous forecast

Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22

5.8.19 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25

1.7.19 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.50 1.50 1.50

change 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.25 0.00 -0.25 -0.25 -0.50 -0.50 -0.25

Page 202



action.  Such siren noises have generally fallen on deaf ears in years gone by and Italy is 

perilously close already to exceeding the 3% budget deficit limit. 

 The US tariff war with China looks to be coming more entrenched. This is not good news 

for China which is already facing a slowdown in its rate of economic growth. It will also 

impact on the US economy and especially on developing economies dependent on 

exporting commodities to China.   

 Japan is, as always for the last two decades, mired in a battle with trying to get inflation 

consistently up from near zero, and with weak economic growth.  Despite massive 

monetary policy measures, quantitative easing, and fiscal measures by the government, 

it is achieving little despite having its foot flat on the floor of the accelerator pedal of 

measures to stimulate growth. 

 As for our forecasts for UK Bank Rate, we have moved back our forecast for the first 

increase from quarter 3 2020 to quarter 4 2020 and the second increase from quarter 1 

2021 to quarter 1 2022. In order to make any forecast we have had to make one central 

assumption – a reasonable muddle through outcome for Brexit, possibly including a further 

delay to the deadline. If the facts change, our forecasts will also change. As events unfold 

it is possible we could see 25 – 50 bps movements in rates and yields at any time e.g. a 

hard Brexit could result in an immediate cut in Bank Rate. However, that is not our central 

assumption. 

 We would point out to all clients that we have downgraded our forecasts for the speed of 

recovery in interest earnings on cash investments through to 2023/24. 

 

 As for PWLB rates, we have seen a further sharp fall in most PWLB rates since our 

previous forecast.   

 Our key advice to clients in the midst of such large-scale uncertainties is to focus on 

managing risk, rather than making a bet on one outcome or the other. 

 A key issue facing most central banks of major world economies, except the US Fed, is 

that they have very little ammunition, in terms of normal monetary policy measures, to 

take action to counter the next economic downturn. Central banks will therefore have an 

agenda to restock their ammunition as soon as possible by raising central rates, but only 

when that becomes feasible, and, at a later time, possibly unwinding quantitative easing. 

Until they are able to raise rates back to more normal levels, central banks will be 

emphasising that responsibility for stimulating economic growth in the event of a 

significant economic downturn, will have to fall to governments to adopt fiscal measures 

of increasing expenditure and/or cutting taxes.  

 
The balance of risks to the UK 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably to the downside 

due to the weight of all the uncertainties over Brexit, as well as a softening global 

economic picture. 

 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are 

broadly similarly to the downside.  

 
One risk that is both an upside and downside risk is that all central banks are now working in very 
different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash. There has been a major 
increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing rates that 
have prevailed for eleven years since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an 

Page 203



economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult to determine 
definitively in this new environment, although central banks have made statements that they 
expect it to be much lower than before 2008. Central banks could, therefore, over or under-do 
increases in central interest rates. 
 
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  

 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn in 

the rate of growth. 

 Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise 

Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker 

than we currently anticipate.  

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. In 2018, Italy was a major 

concern due to having a populist coalition government which made a lot of anti-

austerity and anti-EU noise.  However, in September 2019 there was a major change 

in the coalition governing Italy which has brought to power a much more EU friendly 

government; this has eased the pressure on Italian bonds. Only time will tell whether 

this new unlikely alliance of two very different parties will endure.  

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, particularly Italian banks. 

 German minority government.  In the German general election of September 2017, 

Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on the 

fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-

immigration AfD party. Then in October 2018, the results of the Bavarian and Hesse 

state elections radically undermined the SPD party and showed a sharp fall in support 

for the CDU. As a result, the SPD had a major internal debate as to whether it could 

continue to support a coalition that is so damaging to its electoral popularity. After the 

result of the Hesse state election, Angela Merkel announced that she would not stand 

for re-election as CDU party leader at her party’s convention in December 2018. 

However, this makes little practical difference as she has continued as Chancellor, 

though more recently concerns have arisen over her health.  

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, Netherlands 

and Belgium all have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which 

could prove fragile.  

 Italy, Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary now form a strongly anti-

immigration bloc within the EU.  There has also been rising anti-immigration sentiment 

in Germany and France. 

 There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has swollen 

massively during the period of low borrowing rates in order to finance mergers and 

acquisitions. This has resulted in the debt of many large corporations being 

downgraded to a BBB credit rating, close to junk status. Indeed, 48% of total 

investment grade corporate debt is rated at BBB. If such corporations fail to generate 

profits and cash flow to reduce their debt levels as expected, this could tip their debt 

into junk ratings which will increase their cost of financing and further negatively impact 

profits and cash flow. 

 Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle 

East, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows.  

 
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 

Page 204



 Brexit – if agreement was reached all round that removed all threats of economic and 

political disruption between the EU and the UK.  

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate 

and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 

economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster 

than we currently expect.  

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained 

significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt 

yields.  

LINK ASSET SERVICES’ FORECASTS  
 

We do not currently think that the MPC would increase Bank Rate before any clearing of the fog 
on Brexit.  We have moved back our forecast for the first increase from quarter 3 2020 to quarter 
4 2020 and the second increase from quarter 1 2021 to quarter 1 2022.  

Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the three year time horizon will be heavily 
dependent on economic and political developments.  

 

Gilt yields and PWLB rates 

The general situation is for volatility in bond yields to endure as investor fears and confidence ebb 
and flow between favouring relatively more “risky” assets i.e. equities, or the “safe haven” of 
government bonds. The overall longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, albeit 
gently, although there are likely to also be periods of sharp volatility from time to time.   

Our forecasts are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the Eurozone or 
EU, (apart from the departure of the UK), within our forecasting time period, despite the major 
challenges that are looming up, and that there are no major ructions in international relations, 
especially between the US and China / North Korea and Iran, which have a major impact on 
international trade and world GDP growth. However, the current round of increases in tariff rates 
sparked by President Trump, both actual and threatened, are causing on-going concern around 
the potential impact on world growth and also on inflationary pressures. 

We would, as always, remind clients of the view that we have expressed in our previous interest 
rate revision newsflashes of just how volatile PWLB rates and bond yields are at present.  Our 
revised forecasts are based on the Certainty Rate (minus 20 bps) which has been accessible to 
most authorities since 1st November 2012.  

  

 

 

 

 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View

Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22

Bank Rate View 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25

3 Month LIBID 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20

6 Month LIBID 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40

12 Month LIBID 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60

5yr PWLB Rate 1.20 1.30 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.10

10yr PWLB Rate 1.50 1.60 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40

25yr PWLB Rate 2.10 2.30 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.00

50yr PWLB Rate 2.00 2.20 2.30 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90

Page 205



BANK RATE now previously 

Q1 2020 0.75% 0.75% 

Q1 2021 1.00% 1.25% 

Q1 2022 1.25% 1.50% 

 

Our target borrowing rates and the current PWLB (certainty) borrowing rates are set out below. 

PWLB debt Current borrowing 
rate as at 5.8.19 

Target borrowing rate 
now 

(end of Q3 2019) 

Target borrowing rate 
previous 

(end of Q3 2019) 

5 year 1.12% 1.20% 1.50% 

10 year 1.37% 1.50% 1.80% 

25 year 2.04% 2.10% 2.40% 

50 year 1.95% 2.00% 2.30% 

Borrowing advice: since November 2018, PWLB rates have fallen significantly.  As our long 
term forecast for Bank Rate is 2.25%, and all PWLB rates are very near to or below 2.25%, and 
well below 2.25% in periods up to 10 years, there is added value in most borrowing periods.  
Value, however, in the longer term rates could be negated or minimal, if Bank Rate does not climb 
to at least 2.25% over the medium term.  Accordingly, clients will need to review and assess their 
risk appetite in terms of any underlying borrowing requirement they may have, and also project 
forward their position in respect of cash backed resources.  

Any new borrowing should also take into account the continuing cost of carry, the difference 
between investment earnings and borrowing rates, especially as our forecasts indicate that Bank 
Rate may rise to only 1.25% by March 2022.  Please speak to your CRM to discuss 
opportunities available. 

Please note on the 9 October 100 base points were added to the PWLB rates.  This was 
due to high levels of borrowing and the Government determining the availability of Capital 
Finance.  Borrowing was due to exceed the £85bn statutory limit, this has now been 
increased to £95bn.  We are currently awaiting new target rates from our Treasury Advisors 

Link Asset Services suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for investments up to about 
three months’ duration in each financial year for the next six years are as follows: - 

Average earnings in each year Now Previously 

2019/20 0.75% 0.75% 

2020/21 1.00% 1.00% 

2021/22 1.00% 1.50% 

2022/23 1.50% 1.75% 

2023/24 1.50% 2.00% 

2024/25 1.75% 2.00% 

Later years 2.25% 2.25% 
Page 206



 

As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of all interest 
rate forecasts.  The general expectation for an eventual trend of gently rising gilt yields and PWLB 
rates is unchanged.  Negative, (or positive), developments could significantly impact safe-haven 
flows of investor money into UK, US and German bonds and produce shorter term movements 
away from our central forecasts.   

Our interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is in steps of 25 bps whereas PWLB forecasts have been 
rounded to the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts within bands of + / - 25 bps. 

Page 207



APPENDIX 3:  Approved countries for investments as 
at 30 September 2019 

 
Clients may wish to inform members of changes to their approved list of countries for 
investments.   

 
Based on lowest available rating 
 

AAA                      

 Australia 

 Canada 

 Denmark 

 Germany 

 Luxembourg 

 Netherlands  

 Norway 

 Singapore 

 Sweden 

 Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

 Finland 

 U.S.A. 

 

 AA 

 Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

 Hong Kong 

 France 

 U.K. 

 

AA- 

 Belgium  

 Qatar 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 208



 
 
 

 

P
age 209



  

 
 
 
 

 
Corporate Policy and 
Resources 

Thursday, 7th November 
2019 

 

     
Subject: Proposed Fees and Charges 2020/21 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Executive Director of Resources 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Sue Leversedge 
Business Support Team Leader 
 
sue.leversedge@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

  
Propose Fees and Charges to take effect from 1 
April 2020. 

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 

1. That Member’s recommend to Council for approval the proposed Fees 
and Charges as detailed in Appendices A and B. 

2. That Members recommend to Council for approval the proposed Fees 
and Charges at Appendices 1 – 3, as well as those recommended by 
Prosperous Communities Committee detailed at Appendices 4 – 17. 

3. That Members approve the charges for the Crematorium and these be 
applied upon opening. 

4. That Members approve the introduction of the new non-statutory charge 
within Planning ‘Do I need planning permission?’ be applied from 1st 
January 2020, as detailed at 5.8 
 

 

Page 210

Agenda Item 6e



  

IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: 

Where fees and charges are set by legislation at national statutory rates, these 
will be applied as notified. 

 

 

Page 211



  

Financial : FIN/85/20/TJB 

The 2020/2021 fees and charges are explained in the body of this report. The 
financial effects of the increases, together with introducing new charges will be 
built into the Council’s revenue budget. 

The fees and charges base budget 2019/2020 and 2020/2021 for the Council is 
broken down as follows; 

Category 2019/20 Base 
Budget Income                     

£ 

2020/21 Base 
Budget income    

£ 

Statutory 1,224,700 (33%) 1,215,500 (30%) 

Non-Statutory 1,886,800 (52%) 2, 217,600 (55%) 

Price on 
Application (POA) 

545,300 (15%) 610,500 (15 %) 

Total 3,656,800 (100%) 4, 043,600 (100%) 

As most of these charges have been previously approved and/or remain static, 
and the fact that other charges are limited in demand there is only a minimal 
benefit for the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) of £17,600 in 2020/21, 
rising to £24,100 in 2024/25. 

Where inflation has been applied to fees and charges at 3% in 2020/21, it is 
proposed that inflation is assumed to be 2% for future year budgets within the 
MTFP. 

Details of the proposed increases to each service area are contained within the 
report at Section 4. 

The cumulative impact on the MTFP of the fees and charges review is; 

                     
Year 

Increase in 
Contribution pa   

£ 

Cumulative 
Increase in 

Contribution       
£ 

2020/21 (17,600) (17,600) 

2021/22 (100) (17,700) 

2022/23 (100) (17,800) 

2023/24 (1,100) (18,900) 

2024/25 (5,200) (24,100) 
 

 

Page 212



  

Staffing: None arising as a result of this report. 

 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights: None arising as a result of 
this report. 

 

Data Protection Implications: None arising as a result of this report. 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities :  

None arising as a result of this report. 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations : 

Some fees and charges are set to discourage anti-social behaviour i.e. the 
bulky waste service and impact on fly tipping. 

CCTV service charges are set to encourage take up of the service to increase 
public safety in the district and reduce anti-social behaviour. 

Fixed Penalty Notices are fees set by the Government to enable Local 
Authorities to take action against anti-social behaviour. 

 

 

Health Implications: None arising as a result of this report. 

 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report:   

None. 

 

Risk Assessment :   

There is a risk that an increase in fees and charges may impact on the usage of 
the service resulting in budget pressures. 

 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

Page 213



  

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No X  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes X  No   

Page 214



  

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report and appendices set out the proposed fees and charges for 

2020/21. 
 
1.2 The Council has in place a corporate Fees, Charges and Concessions 

Policy which aims to provide clear guidance on a number of areas, in 
particular this focuses on how fees and charges can assist in the 
achievement of Corporate Priorities, the setting of new and reviewing of 
existing charges, the Council’s approach to cost recovery and income 
generation from fees and charges and eligibility for concessions.  
 

1.3 It is recognised that full cost recovery will be the customary approach, 
although this will not be appropriate in all circumstances and the amount 
charged will need to be a reflection of many factors including Council 
objectives, market conditions, the cost of collection and the potential 
impact on customers. 

 
1.4 Work has been undertaken to bring these fees and charges in line with 

this policy, through reviewing existing fees and charges and considering 
the introduction of new charges for Council services, to recover costs 
and control demand. 
 

1.5 As a minimum, inflationary increases would normally have been applied 
where possible with the exception of those fees set by statute. 
 

1.6 A full review of the VAT rate applicable to all fees and charges has been 
undertaken by our advisors PSTax Ltd to ensure we are compliant with 
HMRC guidance. 
 

1.7 Prosperous Communities Committee has reviewed those fees and 
charges under their responsibility and recommends these for approval, 
some of which have previously been agreed. These are attached at 
Appendix 4 – 17. 

 
2 Fees and Charges Policy and Process 
 
2.1 The review of fees for 2020/21 has been undertaken through a robust 

exercise including determining total service cost, determining a pricing 
level to ensure full cost recovery, then considering benchmarking data 
and market conditions to determine an appropriate charge.   

   
2.2 Budget Managers have worked with their Finance Business Partner in 

undertaking this review.  
 

2.3 The review has in the main tried to consider the full cost recovery 
constraints.  However, the process has been influenced to a degree by 
issues where the Council considers, through the benchmarking exercise, 
that the charge proposed is fair and reasonable for the service being 
provided. 
 

Page 215



  

2.4 The greatest risk/concern for Managers is receiving challenges to the 
level of fees and charges set. There is sound justification to support the 
proposed fees and, where the fees proposed do not reflect the full cost 
of providing the service, there is a sound basis for the decision based on 
the Managers’ understanding of the commercial environment.  
 

2.5 Where fees have been reviewed, having a greater regard to 
benchmarking data where such data is available, we have tried to ensure 
that they are at a level whereby they do not vary substantially when 
compared to other local authorities in the area. In most cases the 
proposed fees remain around the median to third quartile on the 
benchmarking range to reduce the likelihood of challenge. 
 

2.6 In areas where the Council experiences external competition, again we 
have tried to ensure that the rates remain competitive and value for 
money. It would not be prudent to risk pricing ourselves out of the market 
just to satisfy an aspiration to achieve a set increase in fee income. It is 
not believed that the proposed fees will price ourselves out of the market 
but it is vital to allow Managers some flexibility on fees when trying to 
secure business, without breaching any regulations. 
 

2.7 By undertaking a detailed income and expenditure review and coupled 
with the previously undertaken benchmarking process, we have given 
confidence in our approach and proposals. 
 

2.8 Given the general belief that our proposed fees and charges are fair and 
reasonable the significant risks to fee income are not with fee levels 
themselves but with the achievable volumes and delivering against 
business plans. 

 
2.9 The fees and charges will be subject to continuous monitoring during the 

year to either implement changes during the year if required, or to feed 
into the following years Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

3         Fees and Charges Review 
 

3.1 Of the 573 fees and charges reviewed 39% are statutory and 61% are 
non-statutory.   

 
3.2 Of the 224 statutory fees and charges set by Central Government 80% 

have experienced no change in the level of fees with 19% seeing an 
increase in fees. There has been 1 (1%) new statutory fee for ‘larger 
home extensions’ (effective 19/08/19) being within Planning 
Applications. 
 

3.3 The increases in fees and charges for statutory services sit primarily 
within Environmental Services and relate to fees and charges set by 
Defra. An announcement regarding any changes to these fees and 
charges is expected in February 2020 and the schedule will be updated 
to reflect any amendments once known. 
 

Page 216



  

3.4 Of the 349 non-statutory fees and charges 40% have experienced no 
change, 47% have increased and 1% have decreased. There have been 
41 new non-statutory fees and charges (12%); 
 

 1 within Planning Applications 

 4 within Strategic Housing 

 2 within Licensing 

 34 in relation to the new Crematorium 
 
3.5 Of those 164 (50%) non-statutory fees and charges increased this 

equates to an average of £11.80 in monetary terms (net of VAT). 
 
3.6 Of the 4 (1%) non-statutory fees and charges decreased this equates to 

an average decrease of £96.67.  
 
They sit within the Licensing schedule, and relate to change of details 
for scrap metal companies, and transfer of sex shop licence.  
 
The decrease is proposed to avoid challenge as the amended charge 
achieves total cost recovery, and brings them in line with benchmarking 
data. 
 

3.7 The following services are currently provided with prices on  application; 
 

 Trinity Arts Centre (except room/theatre hire and film 
showings) 

 Building Control Commercial Services 

 Trade waste services 

 Private street cleansing work  

 CCTV services 
 

This is due to the variety of requirements of customers. Pricing models 
have been developed to assist officers in developing a price range, 
based on the individual requirements and specifications of the customer. 

 
3.8 The following fees and charges have been approved by Corporate Policy 

& Resources committee during 2019/20 and are included here for 
completeness; 

 

 Street naming and numbering (CP&R 25/07/19) 

 Car parks – Roseway 24 hour parking – Travelodge (CP&R 
11/04/19) 

 
3.9 The proposed fees and charges will apply from 1st April 2020, unless there 

are other constraints preventing this, in which case the operative date will 
be as soon as practicable after 1st April. 

 
3.10 However, in relation to the new Crematorium which is due to open by the 

end of January 2020 fees and charges will apply upon opening. 
 

Page 217



  

3.11 In relation to the new charge within Planning –‘Do I need planning 
permission?’ it is proposed that this is effective from 1st January 2020. 

 
The following appendices provide the detail and analysis of pricing and 
demand and the proposed charges, and are summarised by service area 
below; 

 
4 SUMMARY OF PROPOSED FEES AND CHARGES BY SERVICE AREA 

– CORPORATE POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
4.1 Appendix 1: Electoral Services 
 
The rates are statutory and set by Central Government.  
 
For 2020/21 there has been an increase of £3.00 for sales of Electoral 
Register per thousand names and an increase of £0.50 for sales of the supply 
of computer data: Electoral Register per thousand names.  
 
It is proposed that the one non-statutory charge for the inspection of Return of 
Declaration of Election Expenses is removed as this has not been used in 
recent years and no demand is forecast for future years. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review. 
 
4.2 Appendix 2: Property Name Changes 
 
After a benchmarking exercise carried out with other East Midlands authorities 
to assess the average fees, the proposed fees for 2019/20 were 
recommended to Corporate Policy and Resources Committee 25th July 2019 
(FIN/16/20), and subsequently approved. 
 
It is proposed that the fees remain unchanged for 2020/21, and will be 
reviewed for total cost recovery and against benchmarking data ahead of the 
2021/22 fees and charges review. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review. 
 
4.3 Appendix 3: Revenue Services 
 
These are statutory fees which are reviewed annually in March by the Court 
Service, however it is assumed that they will remain unchanged from 2019/20 
rates. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 218



  

5 SUMMARY OF PROPOSED FEES AND CHARGES BY SERVICE AREA 
– RECOMMENDED BY PROPSEROUS COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 
5.1 Appendix 4: Car Parks 
 
Fees were set in accordance with the Gainsborough Car Park Strategy 
approved previously effective from 1st April 2018. 
 
Charges for Market Rasen permits were considered by members separately 
and have been increased in line with the 2nd year increase approved during 
2019/20. 
 
A new charge of £6.50 was introduced for 24 hour parking at Roseway for 
Travelodge customers, this was approved by the Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee in April 2019. 
 
It is proposed not to increase the remaining fees and charges for car parks at 
this time but a review is being undertaken as data on usage can now be 
analysed against the current Car Park Strategy expectations.  
 
The income budget for this service has been increased by £6k as a result of the 
proposed changes. 
 
5.2 Appendix 5: Cemeteries 
 
It is proposed to increase the majority of fees and charges by 4% to bring them 
into line with neighbouring Authorities. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review, as the existing budget reflects forecast demand. 
 
5.3 Appendix 6: Environment Services 
 
Mainly statutory fees set at the maximum level. 
 
Of those which are non-statutory a 6% increase has been proposed to 5 fees 
and charges to bring into line with benchmarking data. 
 
A further 3 charges have been increase by inflation at 3%. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review. 
 
5.4 Appendix 7: Fixed Penalty Notices 
 
Mainly statutory set charges. 
 
Inflation at 3% is proposed to be applied to non-statutory fees and charges 
relating to high hedges. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review. 

Page 219



  

5.5 Appendix 8: Land Charges 
 
A 6% increase is proposed across all fees and charges to reduce subsidy. The 
resulting levels are consistent with benchmarking data for neighbouring 
Authorities. 
 
The service will be redesigned as part of the Customer First Programme to 
improve internal processes. 
 
The income budget for this service has been increased by £7.6k as a result of 
the proposed changes. 
 
5.6 Appendix 9: Licensing 
 
An inflationary increase of 3% has been applied for all non-statutory fees that 
WLDC have the powers to set. 
 
Where benchmarking data is available a proposed increase of 6% has been 
applied to bring in to line with comparable data. 
 
The schedule of charges for zoos is proposed as a set fee rather than an officer 
hourly rate. 
 
The charge for scrap metal year 3 follow up compliance inspection has been 
removed as this is no longer carried out. 
 
The income budget for this service has been increased by £1k as a result of the 
proposed changes. 
 
5.7 Appendix 10: Markets 
 
There is an ongoing review of the service – it is proposed to make no changes 
at this time. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review. 
 
5.8 Appendix 11: Planning 
 

 Propose a new non-statutory charge to be implemented from the 1st 
January 2020 - the focus on improving performance for our customers 
has ensured that the service has developed with a much sounder 
understanding of their needs. For instance the service has proposed to 
introduce a simplified “Do I need planning permission?” enquiry for the 
benefit of customers, whilst the fee is set at an accessible level initially 
and will be reviewed against demand, benchmarking data and cost 
recovery ahead of the review of fees and charges for 2021/22. 
 
Currently a householder has the following options to determine whether 
or not they need planning permission; 
 

Page 220



  

1. Can ring and have an informal chat with our duty officer for free on 
Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays. The Duty Officer can only offer 
an informal oral opinion, based on what the customer has conveyed 
verbally to them. 

2. A householder can apply for a Lawful Development Certificate - £103 
for a householder extension, there is a statutory target of 8 weeks for 
WLDC to determine such an application. 

3. For written advice, there is a pre-planning application fee of £93.60 
for advice on householder development. 

 
The proposed ‘Do I need Planning Permission?’ service is exclusively 
for householders, and will give customers the opportunity to apply for the 
Council’s written opinion as to whether proposed works to their dwelling 
will require the Council’s planning permission at a cost of £25. 

 
Please see Appendix 11a for more details on the proposed charge. 
 

 Proposal to increase Pre-Application Advice by inflation at 3%. 
 

 A new statutory charge was effective from 19 August 2019 – ‘larger 
home extensions’. 

 

 There are no changes to the remaining statutory fees and charges. 
 
The income budget for this service has been increased by £1.8k as a result of 
the proposed changes. 
 
5.9 Appendix 12: Strategic Housing 
 
There are currently different levels of charge for multiple hazards within 
Housing Enforcement Charges. It is proposed to simplify the charging 
mechanism by introducing one charge, regardless of the number of hazards, 
based on an average of past cases. 
 
It is proposed to increase the ‘Mandatory HMO Licence Application’ fee by £25 
(3%) to achieve total cost recovery in this area. 
 
It is proposed to increase the ‘Immigration Procedure Inspection’ charge by 6% 
to bring into line with comparable data, although the volumes are minimal. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review. 
 
5.10 Appendix 13: Waste Services 
 
Proposed increase by inflation at 3% to the sale of sacks, and bulky waste 
collections. 
 
No change to the sale of new and replacement bins as total cost recovery 
achieved in this area. 
 

Page 221



  

It is proposed that the subscription to Garden Waste collection service is frozen 
at the current annual rate of £35, based on current take up and future 
projections of costs of providing the service. 
 
The income budget for this service has been increased by £1.2k as a result of 
the proposed changes. 
 
5.11 Appendix 14: Trinity Arts Centre 
 
Following a review of hire of room/theatre charges in 2018 these charges are 
now set fees which are included in the fees & charges schedules. It is proposed 
to maintain these charges at the current rate for 2020/21, as it is felt that any 
increase at this time may be detrimental to usage. 
 
All other fees & charges generated by the centre are Price on Application (POA) 
but analysis of income generation is provided within the Appendix for 
information. 
 
There is no impact on the income budget within the MTFP for this service as a 
result of this review. 
 
5.12 Appendix 15: Crematorium 
 
The crematorium is scheduled to open in January 2020 and the proposed 
schedule of charges has been compiled based on the experience and 
knowledge of the Crematorium Manager with regard to the fees set by 
neighbouring crematoria, in order that we are competitive. 
 
It is proposed that the charges are effective from the opening date and remain 
the same for the subsequent financial year, 2020/2021.  
 
The charges will be reviewed for 2021/2022 based on the activity and data 
collected in the initial operational period in line with the Fees and Charges 
Policy. 
 
5.13 Appendix 16: CCTV Service (Commercially Sensitive*) 
 
Charges are Price on Application but analysis of income generation is provided 
within the Appendix for information. 
 
5.14 Appendix 17: Building Control (Commercially Sensitive*) 
 
Charges have been based on a cost recovery basis but are considered to be 
commercially sensitive. 
 
*The Proper Officer has determined in preparing Appendices 16, 17a and 17b 
that paragraph 3 should apply. The view of the public interest test was that while 
he was mindful of the need to ensure the transparency and accountability of 
public authority for decisions taken by them in relation to the spending of public 
money, disclosure of the information would give an unfair advantage to 
tenderers for commercial contracts. 
 

Page 222



  

This information is not affected by any other statutory provision which requires 
the information to be publicly registered. 
 
On that basis it was felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. Members are asked 
to consider this factor when excluding the public from the meeting. 
  

 

Page 223



 

FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 1 – ELECTORAL SERVICES 

 

1. Service Description 

Electoral Service has a limited number of Fees and Charges namely; 

 Sales of electoral registers 

 Sales of copies of Return of Declaration of Election Expenses 

The charges are set by sections 110 & Regulation 10(3) of the Representation of the 

People Regulations 2001.  

 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

The table below illustrates the actual income received 2017-18 and 2018-19 and an 

estimate for 2019-20. The income within this is non controllable. 

Income achieved 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Letters confirming electors register (96)  (75)  0  

Supply of computer data 0  0  0  

Other Sales (2,455)  (1,732)  (1,800)  

Total Income (2,551)  (1,807)  (1,800)  

    
Budget (4,000)  (3,500)  (1,800)  

 

 

3. Pricing 

 

The statutory charges are set to recover costs. 

 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

The majority of the income realised by the service comes from the sharing of 

electoral registers with primarily credit rating companies. We have 5 main customers 

who have repeat orders for the information year on year. 

 

 

5. Proposed Charging 

The charges for sales of Electoral Registers are Statutory Fixed. For 2020/21 there 

has been an increase of £3.00 for sales of Electoral Register per thousand names 

Page 224



and an increase of £0.50 for sales of the supply of computer data: Electoral Register 

per thousand names. It is proposed that the non-statutory charge for the inspection 

of Return of Declaration of Election Expenses is removed as this has not been used 

in recent years and no demand is forecast for future years. 

 

6. Recommendation 

 

Members are asked to approve charges for 2020-21 as detailed below; 

 

 

 

  

Page 225



 
 

 

P
age 226



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 2 – PROPERTY NAME CHANGES 

Street naming and numbering and renaming of properties. 

(Resources, System Development) 

 

1. Service description 

 

The function of street naming and numbering (SNN) sits alongside the Local Land 

and Property Gazetteer Custodian within the System Development Team. The SNN 

function is a statutory service and the Council is responsible for naming or renaming 

the streets, allocating postal numbers and requests to change house names.  

 

 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections  

 

The SNN function is dependent on the delivery of local plan growth, market demand 

and developers viability in addition to the economy, cost and availability of skilled 

workers. 

 

The table below illustrates the actual income received 2017-18 and 2018-19 and an 

estimate for 2019-20.  

 2017-18 £ 2018-19 £ 
2019-20 

forecast £ 

Total Income Achieved (1,937)  (2,846)  (15,000)  

    

Budget (1,300)  (1,300)  (2,100)  

 

Variance (637) (1,546) (12,900) 

 

Royal Mail are invoiced each year for providing certain address information whilst 
exercising our statutory street naming and numbering function. The Royal Mail own 
the postcode, but West Lindsey own the postal name, postal number, street and 
locality information. 
 

Please note that the new fees are to be implemented from September 2019 and 

therefore the data up to this point represents income from renaming existing 

properties only. 

 

 

3. Pricing 

 

Although SNN fees currently exceeds the set budget figure each year, there is 

nothing we can do to ensure continued income.  If a customer wishes to add a name 

Page 227



plate to their house and not apply for the change to be formalised, we cannot enforce 

the customer to comply.  However if the change is only applied by the customer the 

LLPG, statutory consultees and the Royal Mail will not be informed of this informal 

change.  

Likewise the remaining chargeable elements of the SNN process is something we 

have no control over.  This is down to mainly down to new developments 

commencing building works.  

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

Our customers are individuals building their own homes, or new occupiers wanting to 
rename an existing home.  We also have developers and builders who are wanting 
street names and postal addresses during the course of construction.  Occasionally 
we are approached by parish councils or a group of individuals to rename their 
street.  This requires two thirds agreement, and as such this rarely happens. 
 
 
5. Proposed Charges 

 

The proposed charges shown above be set for 2019/20 and 2020/21. 

 

Recommendation 

 

Members approved the charges for 2019/20 in July 2019, and are asked to approve 

that they remain fixed for 2020-21 as detailed below: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



 

P
age 229



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 3 – REVENUE SERVICES 

 

1. Service description 

Revenue Service has a limited number of Fees and Charges namely; 

 Court Costs added to Council Tax Accounts  

 Court Costs added to NNDR Accounts  

It is the Council’s duty to collect all instalments as they become due.  

The Council’s recovery policy has been prepared in compliance with current legislation 
but we try to be responsive to individual circumstances.  

Recovery procedures and the Court timetable for Council Tax is agreed in advance 
and ensures that all taxpayers are treated fairly and objectively.  

If an account holder receives a summons it is because they have not ensured that we 
have received payments in accordance with notices that have been sent (e.g. the 
Demand and Reminder Notices).   

The Council can ask the Magistrates to issue a ‘liability order’ if a debtor owes unpaid 

Council Tax and this is a legal demand for payment.  The account holder is allowed to 

go to the court and give reasons for not paying if they wish and the Council is entitled 

to request costs be ordered against any payment defaulters to go towards the cost of 

collection of the debt.  

 

 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

Court Costs added to council tax accounts are collected by West Lindsey District 

Council. 

        

Court Costs added to NNDR accounts are collected by City of Lincoln on our behalf. 

 

 

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Court costs - Council tax accounts

Page 230



 
 

 

3. Pricing 

 

The council is required to calculate the cost of summons (Court Costs) to ensure the 

amount charged is reasonable and transparent for court. 

 

The full cost of summons (Court Costs) for Council Tax is £70.05, it is therefore 

reasonable to maintain the charge at £70.00.  

 

The cost of summons for NNDR will be maintained at £82.50. 

 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

If an account holder receives a summons it is because they have not ensured that we 
have received payments in accordance with notices that have been sent (e.g. the 
Demand and Reminder Notices).   

5. Proposed Charging 

 

The court costs are added to Council Tax and NNDR accounts and are both Statutory 

Fixed.  The charges are set in March and are not yet published, however it is assumed 

that they will remain unchanged from 2019/20. 

 

6. Recommendation 

Members are asked to approve charges for 2020-21 to Council as per the below: 

 

 

 

 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 (4 mths)

Liability Orders granted

Page 231



 

 

 

 

 

P
age 232



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 4 – CAR PARKS 

1. Service Description 

 

Car parks are operated by the council in Gainsborough and Market Rasen.  

 

New Pay & Display (P&D) and permit tariffs were introduced for both Gainsborough 

and Market Rasen during 2018/19 and 2019/20, as part of the car parking strategy 

approved by CP&R on 27th July 2017.  It was decided that Market Rasen’s charges 

would be set at 50% of Gainsborough’s, to reflect the reduced offer of the smaller 

town.   

 

The purpose of the strategy was to review and update the car parking provision to 

ensure that the supply of car parking responds to current and future demand, and is 

aligned to the regeneration programme of Gainsborough. 

 

Prior to this it had been decided to install new ticket machines in both towns and link 

these to a data collection system to inform future decisions, including setting new 

tariffs and understanding demand.  The system also allows remote monitoring of the 

machines serviceability, amount of cash held and number of tickets remaining. 

 

In February 2019 we received a request from Travelodge to review the free permit 

parking system put in place when they initially opened the hotel, and look at the 

possibility to implement a 24 hour hotel only tariff. This was approved by CP&R on 

11th April 2019. The new tariff which costs £6.50 for 24 hours of parking and can be 

purchased from the P&D machine or via the Ringo app (Pay by Phone), and also 

requires a permit provided by Travelodge to be placed in the vehicle. The 

Travelodge tariff came in to effect on 22nd July 2019. 

 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

The graphs below illustrate: 

 

Gainsborough combined income (car parks & permits) 2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 

and 2019/20 actuals to July with estimates to year end. 

 

Page 233



 

 
 

 

Market Rasen combined income (carparks & permits) 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 

actuals to July, estimates to year end. 

 

 

Page 234



The table below highlights actual income achieved collectively across the car parks 

over the last three financial years (estimated for 2019/20). 

 

 

  
3. Pricing  

 

The car parking function is dependent on market demand in addition to the economy 

and cost. 

 

Whilst fees have covered the costs in previous years this didn’t happen in 2018/19 

and isn’t expected to do so over the period of the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Reasons for this are varied, including Roseway car park being closed for half of 

2018/19 (one-off), moving to 1 hour free parking and use of supermarket free 

parking. 

 

Whilst our car park fees have been identified as being in the mid-range, previous 

benchmarking showed that our permit fees were considerably lower. Because the 

benchmarking showed our permit fees could be detrimental to our financial position 

when compared to our P&D income, since April 2018 for Gainsborough & April 2019 

for Market Rasen we have worked to alleviate this by way of a 2 part price increase 

for both areas to which Gainsborough has now been completed as of 1st April 2019 

with Market Rasen soon to undergo their second increase in April 2020, as passed 

by Prosperous Communities Committee on 23rd October 2018. 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

The new machines installed in Gainsborough in August 2016 and installed in Market 

Rasen in February 2017, support a data collection system which provides 

information on usage and are a key tool in assessing future fees and charges. 

 

A recommendation of the strategy was a change to the P&D tariff with replacing the 

“free parking after 3pm” tariff with a free first hour at any time. This was introduced in 

Gainsborough with effect from 1 April 18 following a consultation exercise where it 

was overwhelmingly preferred. As regards to Market Rasen a free first 2 hours policy 

was adopted in December 17 following a campaign by local businesses. 

 

Information from the ticket machines shows that income has dropped as a result of 

moving to a free first hour/2 hours policy. Over the period Apr 18 to Mar 19 of the 

Page 235



total number of tickets sold 63% of those in Gainsborough were free tickets (ie. for 1 

hour only). For the period Apr 17 to Mar 18 this figure was 37%. 

 

In Market Rasen the figure was higher at 85% for the period Sept 18 to Aug 19. 

 

This can be seen in the graph below which shows the number of tickets sold for all 

Gainsborough car parks with the exception of Roseway as this is the sole short stay 

car park with a different tariff. The number of 1 hour tickets has increased 

considerably over the 3 year period and especially when the free first hour policy 

was introduced. 

 

 
 

 

Following the introduction of the increase in permits prices in both Gainsborough and 

Market Rasen permit sales have increased marginally. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

It is proposed that the pay and display tariffs for both Gainsborough and Market 

Rasen are left unchanged with effect from 1st April 2020. Similarly having increased 

for the previous two years Gainsborough permit charges are left unchanged.  

 

As mentioned above it is proposed that charges for Market Rasen permits are 

increased as being approved by Prosperous Communities Committee on 23rd 

October 2018. 

 

The bus station allocated stand charges will be increased by May RPI at 3%. 

 

 

Page 236



6. Recommendation 

Members are asked to approve charges for the 2020/2021 financial year as detailed 

in the schedule below. 

  

Page 237



 

P
age 238



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 5 – CEMETERIES 

 

1. Service Description 

 

West Lindsey District Council currently maintains 2 open cemeteries – Legsby Road, 

Market Rasen and School Lane, Springthorpe. 

Costs for maintaining the grounds at these sites have been steadily increasing, but 

the income received from the sites is small and therefore the council heavily 

subsidises these areas. In 2018/19 the net cost was £49,987. 

There are two service charges applied to the cemeteries: 

 Exclusive Right of Burial (EROB) – allocation of grave space for period of 99 

years 

 Memorials and inscriptions – permission for erection of memorial or adding of 

inscription to existing memorial 

 

2. Prior years analysis – Current financial years estimates 

 

The Cemetery service is demand driven and cannot be influenced. The table below 

illustrates volumes for 2016-17, 2017-18, 2018-19 and actuals to August 2019. 

 

 
 

3. Pricing 

Recent benchmarking shows the fees set for this services are now more in alignment 

with neighbouring councils. The 2018-19 approved increase was the final step 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb MarN
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
b

u
ru

al
s/

cr
em

at
io

n
 in

te
rm

en
ts

Month

Cemetery Volumes

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 239



towards the charges set by other councils. With effect from 2019-20 the proposal is 

to increase fees by slightly above RPI, by 4%, rounded to the nearest 50p apart from 

‘Exclusive right of Burial child up to 12 years’ which we have frozen at £100. 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

The table below shows the last 3 financial year volumes data for burials for West 

Lindsey District Council and volumes to 31st August for the current year. There has 

been a small increase in numbers over the last financial year. 

 

The service is one that is linked to the demographics of the area and the space 

available. 

 

 
 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

The proposed charges are outlined in the table below. 

 

6. Recommendation 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the charges for the 2020/21 as 

detailed in the schedule below. 

 

 

Page 240



 

 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Exclusive Rights of Burial (B) or Cremated Remains (C) in Earthen Graves

Single Grave not exceeding 9' x 4' (99 years) (B) £594.50 4% £618.50 £0.00 £618.50 OS

Double Grave not exceeding 9' x 4' (99 years) (B) £832.50 4% £866.00 £0.00 £866.00 OS

Triple Grave not exceeding 9' x 4' (99 years) (B) £930.50 4% £967.50 £0.00 £967.50 OS

Single Grave not exceeding 9' x 4' (50 years) (B) £297.50 4% £309.50 £0.00 £309.50 OS

Double Grave not exceeding 9' x 4' (50 years) (B) £416.00 4% £432.50 £0.00 £432.50 OS

Triple Grave not exceeding 9' x 4' (50 years) (B) £465.50 4% £484.00 £0.00 £484.00 OS

Cremated remains only grave not exceeding 4' 6'' x 4' (C) £356.50 4% £371.00 £0.00 £371.00 OS

Cremated remains only grave not exceeding 4' 6'' x 4' (C)

(child up to 12 years)
£100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Exhumation:

Body £517.00 4% £537.50 £0.00 £537.50 OS

Cremated remains £258.50 4% £269.00 £0.00 £269.00 OS

Monuments, Gravestones, Tablets & Monumental Inscriptions (Permission to erect) (Includes initial inscription)

Headstone up to 18 inches (C) £119.00 4% £124.00 £0.00 £124.00 OS

Headstone 18 inches to 3ft (B) £142.50 4% £148.00 £0.00 £148.00 OS

Headstone over 3ft but under 4ft (B) £258.50 4% £269.00 £0.00 £269.00 OS

Small vase (up to 6 inches) (B) (C) £51.50 4% £53.50 £0.00 £53.50 OS

Vase (6 inches to 1ft) (B) (C) £95.00 4% £99.00 £0.00 £99.00 OS

Plaque (not exceeding 8" x 4" (fixed)) (B) (C) £51.50 4% £53.50 £0.00 £53.50 OS

Plaque (not exceeding 12" x 6"(fixed)) (B) (C) £95.00 4% £99.00 £0.00 £99.00 OS

Flat stone (not exceeding 12" x 12") (B) (C) £95.00 4% £99.00 £0.00 £99.00 OS

Flat stone (not exceeding 12" x 18") (B) (C) £105.50 4% £109.50 £0.00 £109.50 OS

Memorial figurine (not exceeding 12" (fixed)) (B) (C) £95.00 4% £99.00 £0.00 £99.00 OS

Memorial figurine (12" up to 24" (fixed)) (B) (C) £113.50 4% £118.00 £0.00 £118.00 OS

For each inscription after the first £42.50 4% £44.00 £0.00 £44.00 OS

Registration Fees

Per certified copy of a certificate of grant of exclusive Right of 

Burial
£68.00 4% £70.50 £0.00 £70.50 OS

Per certified copy of entry in Register of Burials £68.00 4% £70.50 £0.00 £70.50 OS

Copies of Certificates

Permission to plant memorial tree £77.50 4% £80.50 £0.00 £80.50 OS

Permission to install memorial seat £77.50 4% £80.50 £0.00 £80.50 OS

NB. Burial grounds are at Market Rasen & Springthorpe

Prosperous Communities Committee Cemeteries

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 241



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 6 - ENVIRONMENT SERVICES 

 

1. Description of service 

The Environmental Regulatory Service has a number of Fees and Charges namely; 

 Statutory Fees 

- Environmental Services – Part B installations & Mobile plant and solvent emission 

activities. 

- Environmental Services – Part A (2) installations & small waste incineration plant. 

- Private water Supply Work – all fees are set as a maximum charge. 

- Request for Information  

 

 Non Statutory Fees 

- Health Certificate 

- Food Advisory service 

- Food Hygiene Re-inspection 

 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

The graph below demonstrates the total income received by the service for Environmental 

Protection Act (EPA) Authorisations over the last 3 years (2019/20 is a forecast). 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Statutory Fees are set at a maximum and cannot be increased. 

 

All works are charged the actual time taken up to the maximum cost that can be recovered.  In the 

last 12 months the maximum fee set by statute has been sufficient to cover costs. 

 

Private Water Supply Work – This legislation does allow for total cost recovery, therefore the fees 

charged reflect the actual cost of providing this service.  Page 242



 

Non Statutory:  

 

Non Statutory Income generated for 2018/19 totalled £6,900 (including health certificates). 

Included within this area is the provision for food hygiene re visits which were introduced in 18/19 

and are proposed to continue into future years.   

 

3. Pricing  

 

Statutory Fees 

 

These charges are all set by DEFRA. The charges for 2020/21 will be reviewed in February 2020 

and the schedule of charges will be updated to reflect any changes. 

 

All works undertaken are charged on a case by case basis, costed on the actual time taken up to a 

maximum charge that is set by statute.  In the last 12 months the maximum fee set by statute has 

been sufficient to cover costs. 

 

Non statutory Fees 

 

A mix of inflationary increase of 3% and 6% has been applied for all non-statutory fees as 

appropriate, to bring into line with available benchmarking data. 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

The majority of fees and charges are statutory and set by the Government and therefore there is 

limited scope to reflect market conditions. 

Where development takes place or industry grows there is scope for the customer base to 

increase. Proactive work in regards to the identification of premises where fees may be charged is 

ongoing. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

Statutory charges will be applied in accordance with legislation. Statutory charges are set by 

DEFRA and 2020/21 rates are not released until February 2020. The fees and charges schedule 

will be updated to reflect any changes at that time. 

Non statutory amendments:  

Non statutory charges have been increased by between 3% and 6% where appropriate to reflect 

cost recovery and inflation, and to bring into line with benchmarking data. 

 

6. Recommendation 

 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the charges for 2020/21 as set out in the 

schedule below. 

 

 

 

 Page 243



 

 

 

P
age 244



 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 245



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 246



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 7 – FIXED PENALTY NOTICES 

 

Community Safety  

1. Service Description 

Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) are used to tackle specific problems associated with 

enviro- crime and anti-social behaviour. These charges are in the main set by statute 

and where appropriate set locally by the Council. 

These charges are levied at a rate relevant to the specific incident and are used as 

an immediate deterrent to reduce the number of incidents in specific areas.  

The vast majority of the fees are statutory and set by central government with a 

range between minimum and maximum full penalties. 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

The graph below illustrates the levels of income achieved in previous financial years. 

As you can see this is a very low volume/income service with the majority of charges 

being statutory. Any variations in fees within our control would not generate a 

material surplus/loss within this area.  

 

 

 

3. Pricing  

The maximum charge allowed, as set by Government, for failure to comply with a 

waste receptacles notice has been increased to the maximum penalty of £100.  

 

 £-

 £1,000

 £2,000

 £3,000

 £4,000

 £5,000

 £6,000

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Forecast

Income Received from Fixed Penalty Notices Per 
Year

Page 247



4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

The approach taken in regards to enviro-crime specifically is currently under review 

and with it the use of Fixed Penalty Notices for enforcement. During 18/19 the 

Council enhanced its use of fixed penalty notices mainly relation to the early 

presentation of waste with the Councils bagged collection areas.    

 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

The charging schedule sets out where fees are set by statute and where fees are set 

by the Council. It is proposed that the fees set by the Council remain largely the 

same as post analysis they are deemed to cover the costs that are incurred within 

the service. 

 

Statutory charges will be applied in accordance with legislation. 

 

Inflation at 3% has been applied to non-statutory fees and charges relating to high 

hedges. 

 

6. Recommendation 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the charges for 2020/21 as set out 

in the schedule below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 248



 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Depositing Litter
Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£75.00 £75.00 £0.00 £75.00 OS

Fee set by Government - discounted if paid within 10 

days
£50.00 £50.00 £0.00 £50.00 OS

Failure to produce Waste Documents
Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£300.00 £300.00 £0.00 £300.00 OS

Failure to produce Authority to Transport Waste
Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£300.00 £300.00 £0.00 £300.00 OS

Unauthorised Distribution of Free Printed Matter
Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£75.00 £75.00 £0.00 £75.00 OS

Failure to comply with a Domestic Waste Receptacles Notice
Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Fee set by Government - discounted if paid within 10 

days
£75.00 £75.00 £0.00 £75.00 OS

Failure to comply with an Industrial and Commercial Waste 

Receptacles Notice

Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Fee set by Government - discounted if paid within 10 

days
£75.00 £75.00 £0.00 £75.00 OS

Abandoning a Vehicle
Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£200.00 £200.00 £0.00 £200.00 OS

Nuisance Parking
Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Anti Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 - 

Community Protection Notice

Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Fee set by Government - discounted if paid within 10 

days
£75.00 £75.00 £0.00 £75.00 OS

Anti Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 - Public 

Space Protection Order

Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Fee set by Government - discounted if paid within 10 

days
£75.00 £75.00 £0.00 £75.00 OS

Fly tipping
Fee set by Government - payable within 14 days of 

issue
£400.00 £400.00 £0.00 £400.00 OS

High Hedge Fee Fee set locally £307.20 3% £316.00 £0.00 £316.00 OS

Fee for abandoned shopping trolleys Fee set locally (maximum charge) £100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

High Hedges Complaints Application £307.20 3% £316.00 £0.00 £316.00 OS

Prosperous Communities Committee Fixed Penalty Notices

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 249



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 8 - LAND CHARGES SERVICES 

 

1. Service Description 

The provision of a public register in the Local Land Charges service is a statutory 

requirement that provides an income to the authority on a cost recovery basis.  The 

service is a key part of the wider conveyancing process used to buy, sell re-mortgage 

etc. land and property within England and Wales. 

Standard information is requested by conveyancers.  This is split into two parts, 

information that is held within the register (statutory element) and information which 

forms part of the CON29, which makes reference to the contract that the Law Society 

and Local Authorities work under when requesting and providing this information. 

There is a proposal within the new Infrastructure Act, to centralise the statutory 

element of the Local Land Charges search and make Land Registry responsible for 

administering the register.  The Local Authority will retain liability and responsibility for 

information provided from the register. 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

The graph below illustrates the volumes of searches over the last three financial years 

(please note 2019-20 is an estimate) and the levels of income achieved month by 

month. 

 

 
 

 

Total income received previous three financial years against budget (2019-20 

estimated) 

 

 

Page 250



  Total Budget Under/(over) 

Income received 2017/18 115,905 117,400 1,495 

Income received 2018/19 103,439 121,500 18,061 

Income received 2019/20 
(Forecast) 

116,500 125,600 9,100 

 

 

3. Pricing 

 

The service has proposed an increase of 6% across all fees and charges within the 

service area. The resulting charges are consistent with benchmarking data for 

neighbouring Authorities. 

 

Impact on income of options for fees and charges; 

 

Current £116,500  

Impact 1 - No change of Fees £116,500  

Impact 2 - Increase (6%) £123,500  

Increase of: £7,000 

 

Based on 19/20 estimate of volumes. 

Procedures and processes have had a review for Land Charges in 2018/19 but further 

improvements are still required to provide a better more improved service to our 

customers. 

Therefore we are proposing to increase fees by 6% for 2020/21. 

 

 
 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

0
10,000
20,000
30,000
40,000
50,000
60,000
70,000
80,000
90,000

100,000
110,000
120,000
130,000

Current Impact 1 - No change of Fees Impact 2 - Max Corporate increase
(6.0%)

Impact on Income

Page 251



The Local Land Charges service (LLC), over the years has achieved a reputation 

across the district as being a quality and accurate service.  This reputation has been 

built, primarily, by one person, who has led the service with professionalism, attention 

to detail and a huge, in depth knowledge of this statutory provision.   

 

A core group of customers have remained loyal to the service because of this, 

however there has been no formal attempt by the service to increase its market share 

due to the lack of resilience in service due to the antiquated process and procedures 

created by the paper based systems. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

For non-statutory charges the Land Charges Service proposes to apply an increase of 

6%. 

 

6. Recommendation 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the charges for 2020/21 as 

illustrated in the schedule below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 252



 

 

  

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Access to data Access to information not held on public registers 

(includes £5 admin fee)
£21.00 6% £22.50 £0.00 £22.50 OS

Cancellation Fee £5.50 6% £6.00 £0.00 £6.00 OS

LLC1: Any one part of the register £7.00 6% £7.50 £0.00 £7.50 OS

Whole of the register £21.00 6% £22.50 £0.00 £22.50 OS

Per additional parcel (maximum of £16) £1.00 6% £1.00 £0.00 £1.00 OS

CON 29R One parcel £67.00 6% £71.00 £14.20 £85.20 S

Each additional parcel £15.00 6% £16.00 £3.20 £19.20 S

Lincolnshire County Council Fee £21.00 0% £21.00 £4.20 £25.20 S

CON 29O

submitted with CON29R or LLC1 Each printed enquiry £16.50 6% £17.50 £3.50 £21.00 S

submitted on its own Each printed enquiry £16.50 6% £17.50 £3.50 £21.00 S

Administration Fee £12.00 6% £12.50 £2.50 £15.00 S

Additional Enquiries * Per additional enquiry £28.50 6% £30.00 £6.00 £36.00 S/O

Filing a definitive certificate of the Lands Tribunal £3.00 6% £3.00 £0.00 £3.00 OS

Office copy of any entry in the register (not including a copy or 

extract of any plan or document filed pursuant to these rules)

Fee set according to time and work involved S

* The VAT treatment of this supply will follow the treatment of the initial search (e.g. if CON29 it will be taxable, but if LLC1 it will be outside the scope)

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

Prosperous Communities Committee Land Charges

P
age 253



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 9 - LICENSING SERVICES 

 

1. Service Description 

The Licensing service processes many different types of licences, the majority of 

which but not all, incur a fee for the service we provide and can be broken down into 

the following categories; 

 Licensing Fees – which are statutory set fees dependent upon type of 

application, the details of which are known by the Team Manager each year.  The 

majority of these are derived from alcohol, entertainment and late night refreshment, 

all of which are governed by the Licensing Act 2003.  It is important to note that the 

mandatory fees applied under this legislation have not been amended since the 

regime commenced in 2005 and in some cases we cannot recover our costs.  

Typically fees within this category are set for the sale of alcohol and entertainment in 

pubs, clubs, off-licences and supermarkets. 

 

 Licensing Fees – which are totally discretionary gives us the opportunity to set 

the fees accordingly to recover the costs incurred.  Typically fees within this category 

are set for dog breeding, boarding, pet shops, riding establishments, sex 

establishments and scrap metal etc. 

 

 Licensing Fees – which are partially discretionary which allows us to set the 

fees to recover costs, however the fees we set are limited to prevent going beyond a 

statutory ceiling.  Typically fees within this category are set for betting shops, betting 

tracks, bingo and adult gaming premises etc. all of which are governed by the 

Gambling Act 2005.  

 

 There are also a number of applications that we process whereby we are 

prevented from setting any fee, such as house to house collections, street collections 

and some caravan site licences. 

 

Whilst some of the fees are partially statutory charges the authority has the flexibility 

to set the fee up to a maximum.  As with other service areas we are required to 

comply with the relevant regulations when compiling the fees and must be ready to 

justify the levels of fees which are approved.  Licensing income cannot be used to 

subsidise other areas of work which the council undertakes and once any fees have 

been set there is always the potential risk that these can be challenged through the 

courts. 

 

 

 

Page 254



2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

The graph below illustrates income received v applications received over the last 

three years (please note that Sept 19 to Mar 20 is a forecast). A full analysis of fees 

and charges has been undertaken with a view to achieving full cost recovery. Some 

fees are limited as they have a price ceiling that we can’t go over. 

 

 

 
 

The table below highlights actual income achieved against budget for the last three 

financial years (estimated for 2019/20). 

  Total Budget Under/(over) 

Income received 2017/18 126,811 111,800 (15,011) 

Income received 2018/19 130,629 118,500 (12,129) 

Income received 2019/20 124,500 118,700 (5,800) 

 

Many of the fees within the Licensing service are statutory or statutory with a ceiling 

range as to what we can charge. 

    
3. Pricing 

 

There are 4 reductions in the Fees being proposed for the 20/21 period, 3 of which 

relate to scrap metal dealers and 1 in relation to the transfer of a sex shop licence.  

 

Reduction No 1 - is in relation to the applications for new and renewal applications of 

scrap metal sites.  Reduced costs associated with these applications are due to the 

reduction in the amount of compliance checks now carried out, (3 visits over 3 years) 

as past evidence from previous years suggests that this is a relatively low risk area 

of licensing and therefore it is justifiable for the costs to be reduced accordingly by 

the appropriate amount.   

 

Page 255



Reductions No 2 & 3– are in relation to the process for change of name and address 

of scrap metal collectors & the change of a site manager.  Over the years these have 

become artificially high and have never been applied, therefore now is the correct 

time to reset these fees at the appropriate level. This also mitigates risk of challenge 

as mentioned above. 

 

Reduction 4 – is in relation the transfer of a sex shop licence, whereby the scenario 

is similar to the above, with fees previously being increased year on year which are 

now disproportionate to the task required.  There has only ever been 1 sex shop 

within our district and the fee associated with the transfer of a licence has never 

been applied. This also mitigates risk of challenge as mentioned above. 

 

A mix of inflationary increase of 3% and corporate maximum of 6% has been applied 

for all non-statutory fees that WLDC have the powers to set unless the statutory 

maximum has been reached.   

 

The table below illustrates the impact on income at the RPI increase of 3% 

Current £124,500  

Impact 1 - No change of Fees £124,500  

Impact 2 - RPI increase (3%) 
Increase of: 

£128,200  
£3,700 

 

There is no impact on forecast income as a result of the reduced fees as there has 

been little or no demand in recent years. 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

The service has not carried out any customer satisfaction surveys relative to fee 

setting.  98% of licence applications are processed within the agreed timescales, the 

majority of which are from the statutory regime, which in turn have their own set 

turnaround times which we have to comply with, therefore it is highly unlikely that 

there is any scope for applicants to pay more for a faster turnaround. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

Statutory charges will be applied in accordance with legislation. 

 

For other charges the Licensing Service proposes to apply a mix of inflationary 

increases of 3% and corporate maximum of 6% (see schedule below for details). 

 

There are 4 reductions in the Fees being proposed for the 20/21 period, 3 of which 

relate to scrap metal dealers and 1 in relation to the transfer of a sex shop licence.  

 

 

 

6. Recommendation 

Page 256



 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the charges for 2020/21 as 

illustrated in the schedules below: 

Page 257



 
 

 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Bingo Premises Licence

Application Fee for Provisional Statement £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Licence for Provisional Statement Premises £888.30 3% £914.90 £0.00 £914.90 OS

Application Fee New Premises £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Annual Fee £823.10 3% £847.80 £0.00 £847.80 OS

Variation of Licence £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Transfer Fee £854.20 3% £879.80 £0.00 £879.80 OS

Application for Reinstatement £854.20 3% £879.80 £0.00 £879.80 OS

Adult Gaming Centre

Application Fee for Provisional Statement £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Licence for Provisional Statement Premises £888.30 3% £914.90 £0.00 £914.90 OS

Application Fee New Premises £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Annual Fee £854.20 3% £879.80 £0.00 £879.80 OS

Variation of Licence £896.50 3% £923.40 £0.00 £923.40 OS

Transfer Fee £854.20 3% £879.80 £0.00 £879.80 OS

Application for Reinstatement £854.20 3% £879.80 £0.00 £879.80 OS

Family Entertainment Centre

Application Fee for Provisional Statement £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Licence for Provisional Statement Premises £887.20 3% £913.80 £0.00 £913.80 OS

Application Fee New Premises £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Annual Fee £750.00 £750.00 £0.00 £750.00 OS

Variation of Licence £896.50 3% £923.40 £0.00 £923.40 OS

Transfer Fee £823.10 3% £847.80 £0.00 £847.80 OS

Application for Reinstatement £823.10 3% £847.80 £0.00 £847.80 OS

Betting Premises (Other)  

Application Fee for Provisional Statement £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Licence for Provisional Statement Premises £887.20 3% £913.80 £0.00 £913.80 OS

Application Fee New Premises £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Annual Fee £600.00 £600.00 £0.00 £600.00 OS

Variation of Licence £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Transfer Fee £854.20 3% £879.80 £0.00 £879.80 OS

Application for Reinstatement £854.20 3% £879.80 £0.00 £879.80 OS

Betting Premises (Tracks)  

Application Fee for Provisional Statement £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Licence for Provisional Statement Premises £887.20 3% £913.80 £0.00 £913.80 OS

Application Fee New Premises £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Annual Fee £775.50 3% £798.80 £0.00 £798.80 OS

Variation of Licence £986.10 3% £1,015.70 £0.00 £1,015.70 OS

Transfer Fee £823.10 3% £847.80 £0.00 £847.80 OS

Application for Reinstatement £823.10 3% £847.80 £0.00 £847.80 OS

Prosperous Communities Committee Licensing - Gambling Act

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 258



 

 

 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Miscellaneous

Change of Circumstances £50.00 £50.00 £0.00 £50.00 OS

Fee for Copy of a Licence Under the Gambling Act 2005 £24.80 £0.20 £25.00 £0.00 £25.00 OS

Temporary Usage License £390.10 £390.10 £0.00 £390.10 OS

Unlicensed FEC's & Prize gaming Permits (10 year duration)

New Gaming Machine Permit (no annual fee) £300.00 £300.00 £0.00 £300.00 OS

Renewal £300.00 £300.00 £0.00 £300.00 OS

Change of name on permit £25.00 £25.00 £0.00 £25.00 OS

Copy of permit £15.00 £15.00 £0.00 £15.00 OS

New Prize Gaming Permit (no annual fee) £300.00 £300.00 £0.00 £300.00 OS

Renewal £300.00 £300.00 £0.00 £300.00 OS

Change of name on permit £25.00 £25.00 £0.00 £25.00 OS

Copy of permit £15.00 £15.00 £0.00 £15.00 OS

Club Gaming Permit & Club Machine Permit (10 year duration)

New grant Club Gaming Permit £200.00 £200.00 £0.00 £200.00 OS

New grant Club Gaming Permit with Club Premises Certificate (fast track) £100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Renewal £200.00 £200.00 £0.00 £200.00 OS

Renewal of Club Gaming Permit with Club Premises Certificate (fast track) £100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Annual Fee £50.00 £50.00 £0.00 £50.00 OS

Variation £100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Copy of permit £15.00 £15.00 £0.00 £15.00 OS

Lotteries

Society Lottery - New £40.00 £40.00 £0.00 £40.00 OS

Society Lottery - Renewal £20.00 £20.00 £0.00 £20.00 OS

Machines in Alcohol Licensed premises - 3 or more machines

New £150.00 £150.00 £0.00 £150.00 OS

Annual Fee £50.00 £50.00 £0.00 £50.00 OS

Transfer £25.00 £25.00 £0.00 £25.00 OS

Variation £100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Change of name on permit £25.00 £25.00 £0.00 £25.00 OS

Copy of  gaming machine permit £15.00 £15.00 £0.00 £15.00 OS

Gambling Machine Permit - Up to 2 Machines One-off fee £50.00 £50.00 £0.00 £50.00 OS

Licensing - Gambling Act (contd)

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

Prosperous Communities Committee

P
age 259



 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Taxi Licensing (Including Horse Drawn Omnibus)

Driver's License Application (3Yr) New/Renewal £161.00 6% £171.00 £0.00 £171.00 OS

Knowledge Test Fee New or Lapsed Driver Licenses £33.00 6% £35.00 £0.00 £35.00 OS

Knowledge Test Fee Retest £33.00 6% £35.00 £0.00 £35.00 OS

DBS Check On New or Renewal £44.00 £44.00 £0.00 £44.00 OS

DBS Admin Fee* On New or Renewal £10.00 £10.00 £0.00 £10.00 OS

*This fee is controlled by City of Lincoln Council and subject to change

Vehicle License New £249.00 £249.00 £0.00 £249.00 OS

Vehicle License Renewal £249.00 £249.00 £0.00 £249.00 OS

Replacement Plate ADD cost of materials Plate only (does not include cost of plate) £28.00 3% £29.00 £0.00 £29.00 OS

Replacement Plate & Bracket ADD cost of materials Plate and Bracket (does not include cost of plate & bracket) £37.00 3% £38.00 £0.00 £38.00 OS

Private Hire Operators Licence (5Yr) £210.00 6% £223.00 £0.00 £223.00 OS

Transfer of Ownership of Taxi/Private Hire Vehicle License £26.00 6% £28.00 £0.00 £28.00 OS

Alcohol and Entertainment Licenses

New Premise Licence

Category A £100.00 £100.00 £0.00 £100.00 OS

Category B £190.00 £190.00 £0.00 £190.00 OS

Category C £315.00 £315.00 £0.00 £315.00 OS

Category D £450.00 £450.00 £0.00 £450.00 OS

Category E £635.00 £635.00 £0.00 £635.00 OS

Large scale application >4999 (minimum fee applies) £1,000.00 £1,000.00 £0.00 £1,000.00 OS

Variation of Premises Licence £100 - £635 £100 - £635 £0.00 £100 - £635 OS

Change of DPS or Disapplication of DPS £23.00 £23.00 £0.00 £23.00 OS

Annual fee demand

Category A £70.00 £70.00 £0.00 £70.00 OS

Category B £180.00 £180.00 £0.00 £180.00 OS

Category C £295.00 £295.00 £0.00 £295.00 OS

Category D £320.00 £320.00 £0.00 £320.00 OS

Category E £350.00 £350.00 £0.00 £350.00 OS

Large scale annual fee >4999 (minimum fee applies) £500.00 £500.00 £0.00 £500.00 OS

Minor Variation £89.00 £89.00 £0.00 £89.00 OS

Provisional Statement £195.00 £195.00 £0.00 £195.00 OS

Register of Interest £21.00 £21.00 £0.00 £21.00 OS

Copy of Licence £10.50 £10.50 £0.00 £10.50 OS

Club Premises Certificate - New £100 - £635 £100 - £635 £0.00 £100 - £635 OS

Club Premises Certificate - Variation £100 - £635 £100 - £635 £0.00 £100 - £635 OS

Club Premises Certificate - Minor Variation £89.00 £89.00 £0.00 £89.00 OS

Personal Licence - New £37.00 £37.00 £0.00 £37.00 OS

Personal Licence - Change of name /address £10.50 £10.50 £0.00 £10.50 OS

Personal Licence - Copy of Licence (card part, paper part or both) £10.50 £10.50 £0.00 £10.50 OS

Transfer of Premises Licence £23.00 £23.00 £0.00 £23.00 OS

Temporary Event Notice £21.00 £21.00 £0.00 £21.00 OS

Skin Piercing Premises registration £180.00 3% £185.00 £0.00 £185.00 OS

Personal registration £47.00 6% £50.00 £0.00 £50.00 OS

Street Trading Consents £176.00 6% £187.00 £0.00 £187.00 OS

Copy of Any License Not Covered by the Licensing Act 2003 or Gambling Act 2005 £26.00 £26.00 £0.00 £26.00 OS

Charges set by Licensing Act 2003

Prosperous Communities Committee Licensing   

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 260



 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Sale of Animals New (Part A) £182.00 6% £193.00 £0.00 £193.00 OS

New (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Renewal (Part A) £182.00 6% £193.00 £0.00 £193.00 OS

Renewal (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Animal Boarding Establishments Cats or Dogs - New (Part A) £228.00 6% £242.00 £0.00 £242.00 OS

Cats or Dogs - New (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

(Excludes vet fees payable direct to vet) Cats or Dogs - Renewal (Part A) £228.00 6% £242.00 £0.00 £242.00 OS

Cats or Dogs - Renewal (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Cats and Dogs (Dual) - New (Part A) £269.00 6% £285.00 £0.00 £285.00 OS

Cats and Dogs (Dual) - New (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Cats and Dogs (Dual) - Renewal (Part A) £269.00 6% £285.00 £0.00 £285.00 OS

Cats and Dogs (Dual) - Renewal (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Home Boarding - New (Part A) £151.00 6% £160.00 £0.00 £160.00 OS

Home Boarding - New (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Home Boarding - Renewal (Part A) £151.00 6% £160.00 £0.00 £160.00 OS

Home Boarding - Renewal (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Hiring of Horses New or Renewal (Part A) + vet fee £228.00 6% £242.00 £0.00 £242.00 OS

New or Renewal (Part B) + vet fee £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Dog Breeding New (part A)  + vet fee £228.00 6% £242.00 £0.00 £242.00 OS

New (part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Renewal (Part A) £228.00 6% £242.00 £0.00 £242.00 OS

Renewal (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Dog Day Care New or Renewal (Part A) £151.00 6% £160.00 £0.00 £160.00 OS

New or Renewal (Part B) £102.00 6% £108.00 £0.00 £108.00 OS

Exhibition Of Animals New or Renewal (Part A) £151.00 6% £160.00 £0.00 £160.00 OS

Application to be re-rated per hour or part of £63.00 £63.00 £0.00 £63.00 OS

Variation to the licence per hour or part of £63.00 £63.00 £0.00 £63.00 OS

Dangerous Wild Animals (Excluding vet fees) Vets fees plus admin costs of £150.00 6% £159.00 £0.00 £159.00 OS

Zoos (Excluding vet fees) -  4 yr. initial application Part A Vets fees plus admin/costs inc initial inspection £375.00 6% £398.00 £0.00 £398.00 OS

Zoos Yr. 2 + Yr. 3 informal visits Part B Compliance checks £0.00 £298.00 £298.00 £0.00 £298.00 OS

Zoos (Excluding vet fees) - 6 yr. licence Part A Vets fees plus admin/costs inc initial inspection £535.00 6% £567.00 £0.00 £567.00 OS

Zoos Yr. 2 + Yr. 3 + Yr. 4 +Yr. 5 informal visits Part B Compliance checks for yr. 2, 3, 5.  Yr. 4 more in depth check£0.00 £1,134.00 £1,134.00 £0.00 £1,134.00 OS

Scrap Metal

New/Renewal Collectors fee - 3 yr. Admin/processing of application (part A) £101.00 6% £107.00 £0.00 £107.00 OS

Document inspection - year 1 (part B) £36.00 6% £38.00 £0.00 £38.00 OS

Document inspection - year 2 (part B) £38.00 6% £40.00 £0.00 £40.00 OS

Document inspection - year 3 (part B) £38.00 6% £40.00 £0.00 £40.00 OS

Change of details, name / address £108.00 -£68.00 £40.00 £0.00 £40.00 OS

New/Renewal Site fee - 3 yr. Part A Admin of application includes initial yr. 1 inspection by 2 officers£396.00 3% £408.00 £0.00 £408.00 OS

Part B Follow up compliance inspection by 2 officers - year 1 £249.00 3% £256.00 £0.00 £256.00 OS

Part B Follow up compliance inspection - year 2 by 2 officers £257.00 3% £265.00 £0.00 £265.00 OS

Change of site manager £75.00 -£35.00 £40.00 £0.00 £40.00 OS

Sex Shop Licences and Sexual Entertainment Venues Initial application (part A) £1,887.00 £1,887.00 £0.00 £1,887.00 OS

compliance check (part B) £129.00 3% £133.00 £0.00 £133.00 OS

Renewal (part A) £308.00 3% £317.00 £0.00 £317.00 OS

compliance check (part B) £129.00 3% £133.00 £0.00 £133.00 OS

Transfer fee £408.00 -£187.00 £221.00 £0.00 £221.00 OS

Prosperous Communities Committee Licensing (contd)

* 'To comply with legal requirements relevant licence fees are now made up of two parts. Part A is payable upon application, and Part B is only payable if the licence is granted and must be paid prior to the licence being 

issued. Applicants may, if they wish, pay both parts together at the time of the application but are under no obligation to do so. If an applicant does pay both parts of the fee at the time of the application and the licence is 

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 261



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 10 – GAINSBOROUGH MARKET 

 

1. Service description 

Gainsborough general market takes place every Tuesday and Saturday, with stalls 
located in the Market Place and Silver Street. 
 
The market function is part of Operational Services and is managed on a day to day 
basis by the Street Cleansing Team Manager. 
 
Traders pay their stall fees predominantly by PayPal, we do still have a minority paying 
with cash/cheques. 
 
Gainsborough market is a key feature of the town and helps to attract footfall to support 
the wider shopping area, particularly on a Tuesday. However, consistent with the 
national picture, Gainsborough market has been in decline in recent years due to 
changing retail habits. Financial pressures have placed further strain on the resources 
needed to manage and develop the market.  
 
The market is now subject to review and future delivery options are currently being 
considered by the Council’s Prosperous Communities Committee. 
 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

The graph below illustrates the actual income that has been received over the last 

three financial year split over months. 2019/20 figures are actuals April to July, with 

estimates to year end. 

 

£0

£1,000

£2,000

£3,000

£4,000

£5,000

£6,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Markets - Total Stallage Fee Income

Income received 2017/18 Income received 2018/19 Income received 2019/20

Page 262



Total income received year on year is illustrated below, 2019/20 figures are actuals 

April to July, with estimates for August to March (There was impact on income from 

the adverse weather conditions of 2016/17 with a number of markets being 

cancelled). 

As the table shows income has been gradually reducing since 2017-18. 

 

 

3. Pricing  

As the service is currently under review we are not proposing any amendments to fees 
and charges. If as part of the review the fees and charges are revised we will pick 
these amendments up and implement the changes.  
 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

The market has capacity for 91 number of stalls, current levels of occupancy fall 

significantly short of this level.  The number of traders has reduced over the past 3 

years and function is currently the subject of an in-depth review by the Prosperous 

Communities Committee. The aim of this review is to deliver a more efficient and 

effective service and a range of future delivery options are being considered. It is likely 

that consultation and further engagement with staff, traders and wider stakeholders 

will be required as part of this process. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

In light of this ongoing review and given the current decline in numbers, it is proposed 

to freeze the market stall fees for 2020/21.  

 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

45000

Income received 2017/18 Income received 2018/19 Income received 2019/20

Markets - Stallage Fee Income

Page 263



6. Recommendation 

 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the charges for 2019/20 as 

illustrated in the schedule below; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 264



 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Gainsborough Market

Tuesday Market

Registered Trader

1 stall £16.00 £16.00 £0.00 £16.00 OS

2 stalls £27.00 £27.00 £0.00 £27.00 OS

3 stalls £35.00 £35.00 £0.00 £35.00 OS

4 stalls £43.00 £43.00 £0.00 £43.00 OS

5 stalls £51.00 £51.00 £0.00 £51.00 OS

Casual Trader

1 stall £17.50 £17.50 £0.00 £17.50 OS

2 stalls £35.00 £35.00 £0.00 £35.00 OS

3 stalls £52.50 £52.50 £0.00 £52.50 OS

4 stalls £70.00 £70.00 £0.00 £70.00 OS

5 stalls £87.50 £87.50 £0.00 £87.50 OS

Saturday Market

Registered Trader

1 stall £10.00 £10.00 £0.00 £10.00 OS

2 stalls £20.00 £20.00 £0.00 £20.00 OS

3 stalls £25.00 £25.00 £0.00 £25.00 OS

4 stalls £30.00 £30.00 £0.00 £30.00 OS

5 stalls £35.00 £35.00 £0.00 £35.00 OS

Casual Trader

1 stall £16.50 £16.50 £0.00 £16.50 OS

2 stalls £33.00 £33.00 £0.00 £33.00 OS

3 stalls £49.50 £49.50 £0.00 £49.50 OS

4 stalls £66.00 £66.00 £0.00 £66.00 OS

5 stalls £82.50 £82.50 £0.00 £82.50 OS

All new traders offered £7.50 per stall on Saturday for a maximum of 6 months   

The 6 month period will be cumulative and will be calculated on a rolling basis for each trader

Once a trader has had 6 months discount no further discounts will be given irrespective of time gap between trading

Other Units (Vending Vans, Trailers etc.)

Tuesday Market

Registered Trader £23.50 £23.50 £0.00 £23.50 OS

Casual Trader £25.50 £25.50 £0.00 £25.50 OS

Saturday Market

Registered Trader £15.00 £15.00 £0.00 £15.00 OS

Casual Trader £20.00 £20.00 £0.00 £20.00 OS

Prosperous Communities Committee Markets

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 265



 

APPENDIX 11a 

Development Management - New Householder Enquiry Form - Briefing Note  

Q - What is being proposed? 

It is proposed to launch a new “Do I need Planning Permission?” service, exclusively for 

householders.  

Customers will have the opportunity to apply for the Council’s written opinion as to whether 

proposed works to their dwelling will require the Council’s planning permission. 

The launch fee for this service is proposed to be £25 (including VAT). 

Q – What is “permitted development”? 

“Permitted development” rights are a national grant of planning permission which allow certain 

building works and changes of use to be carried out without having to make a planning application 

to the Local Planning Authority.  

The government permits a householder to extend their property, without requiring the Local 

Planning Authority’s planning permission. This permission is automatically awarded by 

Government Order1. 

Q – Does the householder require anything from the Council? 

The applicant does not normally require anything from the Local Planning Authority (although they 

do need to apply for the Council’s “Prior Approval” for certain “larger” extensions – with a £96 fee).  

However, the rules within the legislation setting out what may be permitted are long, legalistic and 

technical – by way of example, the legislation on householder allowances extends for 10 pages 

and is not readily accessible for a non-planning person. The Government’s published technical 

guide2 to explain the rules for householders, in itself extends for 50 pages. 

It is commonplace therefore for a householder to seek the Local Planning Authority to confirm 

whether or not their house extension will need planning permission. Very often, they ask for this 

opinion in writing, as a record. 

Q – How does a Householder currently find out whether or not they need planning 

permission?  

The Planning System has a process for people to apply for a Certificate for confirmation proposed 

works would be lawful. A Lawful Development Certificate for a proposed use is set at “half the 

normal fee” - so, £103 for a householder extension. There is a statutory target of 8 weeks for 

WLDC to determine such an application. 

A householder can ring and have an informal chat with our Duty Officer for free on Mondays, 

Wednesdays and Fridays. However, the Duty Officer can only offer an informal oral opinion, based 

on what the customer has conveyed verbally to them. 

For written advice, we charge a pre-application fee of £93.60 (incl VAT) for advice on 

householder development. 

 

Q – Is there likely to be a demand for this service? 

                                                           
1 The Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-for-householders-technical-guidance  Page 266

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-for-householders-technical-guidance


 

Over a two month period, we recorded 38 calls were received by the Duty Officer, from 

householders enquiring whether an extension would require planning permission. However, the 

Duty Officer can only offer an informal oral opinion and many customers ask if we could put this in 

writing. 

In that same period, however, we received only one application for a Lawful Development 

Certificate for proposed householder development, and only three householder pre-application 

enquiries.  

It is considered therefore that customers are not actively making use of the existing services in this 

regard.  

It is considered that this is because there is no quick, straightforward and affordable way for the 

customer to receive a written opinion as to whether planning permission is required. 

Q – What are the benefits to the customer? 

The benefit of the proposed service would be a streamlined service, which would only consider 

whether or not the householder development requires planning permission.  

It would be available at a lower, and therefore more accessible price to the customer (on the basis 

it only considers as to whether or not planning permission is required).  

This allows the customer to receive a written opinion of the Local Planning Authority on this matter 

for their records, before proceeding with any works. 

It should also reduce the likelihood of customers proceeding with potentially unauthorised 

development. 

Q – What are the benefits for the Council? 

From the Council’s perspective, it gives a bespoke application form to ensure the applicant 

supplies all the information required to allow the Council to form an opinion.  

It allows an expedited desk based assessment to take place, and enables a quicker response time 

for the applicant.     

Furthermore, we will be able to maintain a record of advice given, should these matters ever be 

disputed or raised with the Enforcement Team. 

It also ensures we receive a proportionate fee to cover the service cost. 

Q – When would the service be required?  

The customer will still be able to receive the Planning Duty Officer’s informal oral opinion for free 

(as any applicant on any planning matter can). However, if they do require a written opinion to 

confirm they do not require planning permission, the Householder Enquiry form would be 

engaged. 

Q – What would happen if they wish to go ahead without the Council’s opinion? 

“Permitted development” rights are a national grant of planning permission – they do not require 

the Council’s written confirmation or opinion.   

The introduction of the streamlined service is to better incentivise customers with the option to 

seek the Council’s written opinion, in an accessible and affordable way. 

Page 267



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 11 - PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

 

1. Service description 

The Planning and Development service has a number of Fees and Charges namely: 

 Planning application fees – statutory set fees by Central Government that are 

dependent upon type of application. An announcement was made within the 

Chancellor’s Autumn Statement 2017, to increase planning fees by 20% which was 

reflected in the approved fees and charges for Planning Services with effect from 

2018/19. 

   

 Pre application advice – an optional, enhanced service to encourage early 

engagement, improve customer experience and reduce time spent on invalid 

applications by identifying potential issues prior to plan submission. Pre-application 

engagement and “front-loading” is actively encouraged by national planning policy. 

Fees for this service can be set locally by WLDC. 

 

In addition WLDC adopted Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) at Council on 13 

November 2017. The implementation of CIL took place on 22 January 2018 which 

means that any qualifying planning decision made on after this point will be subject 

to a CIL charge. As a result CIL is charged on the majority of all new buildings to 

ensure that development contributes towards the infrastructure needed to support 

growth in West Lindsey. 

 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

The graphs below illustrate the levels of income achieved (please note that the 

periods August 19 to March 20 are a forecast), and the volumes of applications for 

both planning applications and pre-applications advice. 

 

Page 268



 
 

 
 

 

3. Price 

 

The tables below illustrate the level of income achieved in these areas against 

budget. Actuals have been used for 2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 and an estimate for 

2019/20. 

 

As the planning applications fees are statutory set we are unable to do any impact 

analysis. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Month

N
o

 o
f 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
s

In
co

m
e 

£
Planning applications 4 Year Income v Number of Applications

Income Received 2016/17 Income Received 2017/18
Income Received 2018/19 Income Received 2019/20
Applications Received 2019/20 Applications Received 2018/19
Applications Received 2017/18 Applications Received 2016/17

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

In
co

m
e 

£

Month

Pre-Application Charges - 4 Year Income

Income Received 2016/17 Income Received 2017/18

Income Received 2018/19 Income Received 2019/20

Page 269



 

 
 

 

 

 
 

The intention for the fees charged for pre-application advice is to increase them by 

3% (RPI for May 2019). Based on the budgeted income for 2019/20 this would 

generate additional income of £1,776.  

 

 

 
 

In 2019/20 the Planning service is budgeted to make a deficit, and in 2018/19 there 

was also deficit. This is on the basis of the total cost of providing the service, 

including non-controllable costs. 

 

During the current financial year there has been a continued focus on reducing 

overhead service costs through more efficient practices.  The service is no longer 

reliant upon agency support staff, and is continuing to move away from paper reliant 

processes. 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

During the current financial year the strategic growth agenda has continued to focus 

on developing key relationships with land owners and developers to restore 

confidence in the local housing market. Working with partners such at the HCA, the 

Council has sought to gain a much improved understanding of the local viability 

pressures that have impacted upon delivery in the past and coupled with this the 

Council is investing heavily in regeneration and commercial projects. At the service 

level this requires an effective and engaged Development Management service 

working closely with all of these partners to make sure that the Planning service is fit 

for purpose and reflects modern industry development needs.  

 

The focus on improving performance for our customers has ensured that the service 

has developed with a much sounder understanding of their needs. For instance the 

Page 270



service is proposing to introduce a simplified “Do I need planning permission?” 

enquiry for the benefit of customers, whilst the fee is set at an accessible level 

initially, and will be reviewed once implemented. It is important that successes such 

as the restored confidence in our pre-application advice service are not undermined 

by unnecessarily high increases or that we lose our share of this service to the 

private sector, which is why a fee increase based on RPI only is proposed. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

Statutory charges will be applied in accordance with legislation. 

 

New statutory charges for larger householder extensions were introduced in August 

2019. 

A new non-statutory charge for ‘Do I need planning permission?’ enquiry is proposed. 

The fee is proposed to be set at an accessible level initially and will be reviewed 

against demand, benchmarking data and cost recovery ahead of the review of fees 

and charges for 2021/22. 

If a customer makes an enquiry currently they are required to submit a pre-application 

which costs £96.00 per application currently (incl. VAT). The aim is to enable the 

customer to make a simpler enquiry for £25.00 (incl. VAT), which in most instances 

will result in the application not requiring a pre-application. 

For non-statutory charges the Planning Service proposes to apply an increase 

equivalent to RPI at 3%. 

 

It is proposed to implement this new charge from 1st January 2020. 

 

CIL charges were proposed by WLDC prior to adoption and were subject to 

consultation. As part of this process they were subject to a public examination by an 

independent person, namely an Inspector from The Planning Inspectorate. These 

were then formally adopted by Council. As such these rates cannot be subject to 

change without a full inspection by a similar independent person. 

The Planning Service are seeking to set ambitious targets but don’t want to frame 

the service in an unrealistic light as they are not in direct control of the way the 

development system may evolve over the next few years and the impact of 

significant factors that will directly affect the development industry, not least the 

effects of Brexit, are not yet quantifiable. 

 

6. Recommendation 

Members are asked to approve charges for 2020/21 as illustrated in the schedule 

below.  

Members are also asked to approve the new non-statutory charge “Do I need 

planning permission?” enquiry with effect from 1 January 2020. 

Page 271



 

Page 272



 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Development

Householder development - do I need planning permission? £0.00 £20.83 £4.17 £25.00 S

Householder development including alterations, extensions and 

outbuildings (this fee would also include establishing whether an 

application is required and any listed building consent enquiry if 

applicable) 

£78.00 3% £80.00 £16.00 £96.00 S

Non-residential changes of use including siting of caravans for 

sites under 1 ha or buildings under 1,000 m
2
  (gross) 

£166.00 3% £171.00 £34.20 £205.20 S

Non-residential changes of use including siting of caravans for 

sites of 1 ha or above or buildings of 1,000 m
2
 or above (gross) £291.00 3% £300.00 £60.00 £360.00 S

Development of 1-9 dwellings including changes of use to 

residential 

1st dwelling £200.00 3% £206.00 £41.20 £247.20 S

Additional dwellings £111.00 3% £114.00 £22.80 £136.80 S

Development of 10-49 dwellings including changes of use to 

residential 

10th dwelling £1,205.00 3% £1,241.00 £248.20 £1,489.20 S

Additional dwellings £59.00 3% £61.00 £12.20 £73.20 S

Development of 50 or more dwellings

minimum fee £3,611.00 3% £3,719.00 £743.80 £4,462.80 S

With additional fee subject to negotiation dependant on complexity of proposal.

Encouragement to adopt a Planning Performance Agreement. 

Non-residential development where no floor space is created. £107.00 3% £110.00 £22.00 £132.00 S

Non-residential development up to 499 m
2
 floor area, or 0.5 ha 

site area 
£146.00 3% £150.00 £30.00 £180.00 S

Non-residential development between 500 and 999 m
2
 floor 

area, or between 0.51ha and 1.0 ha.

For 500 m
2
 or 0.51ha £220.00 3% £227.00 £45.40 £272.40 S

Each additional 100 m
2
 or 0.1 ha £111.00 3% £114.00 £22.80 £136.80 S

Non-residential development between 1,000 and 4,999 m
2
 floor 

area, or between 1.1ha and 2.0ha.

For 1,000 m
2
 or 1.1ha £755.00 3% £778.00 £155.60 £933.60 S

Each additional 100 m
2
 or 0.1 ha £56.00 3% £58.00 £11.60 £69.60 S

Non-residential development of 5,000 m
2
 or more or 2.1ha or 

more. 

Minimum fee £3,073.00 3% £3,165.00 £633.00 £3,798.00 S

With additional fee subject to negotiation dependant on complexity of proposal.

Encouragement to adopt a Planning Performance Agreement. 

Variation or removal of condition. £78.00 3% £80.00 £16.00 £96.00 S

Advertisements £78.00 3% £80.00 £16.00 £96.00 S

Non-householder listed building consent £151.00 3% £156.00 £31.20 £187.20 S

Additional site visit £132.00 3% £136.00 £27.20 £163.20 S

Hazardous Substances £ negotiable £ negotiable S

N.B. 

1. The fee for a mixed use developments would be derived from the total of the fees for all elements.

2. Agricultural development and telecommunications are not included as they have their own national notification procedures which dictate whether there is an pre-application process fee or not. 

3. Cross boundary pre-application fees will be based upon the amount of development in each authority (if a dwelling straddles the boundary, the authority with the majority its floor space will receive the fee for that dwelling). 

Prosperous Communities Committee Pre Application Advice

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 273



 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Decision Notices, Consents, Determinations, Tree Preservation 

Orders, Enforcement Notices, S106 Agreements.

Per Item (black/white)

£25.90 3% £27.00 £0.00 £27.00 OS

Plus officer time at cost recovery

Other copies

Copy plans - A4 Per side of A4 (black/white) £0.20 3% £0.20 £0.00 £0.20 OS

Copy plans - A3 Per copy £0.50 3% £0.50 £0.00 £0.50 OS

Copy plans - A2, A1, A0 Per copy £6.10 3% £6.30 £0.00 £6.30 OS

Information on planning records Planning Control £0.20 3% £0.25 £0.05 £0.30 S

Requests for Planning Information Planning - as per above plus officer time per hour £57.90 3% £59.50 £11.90 £71.40 S

Plus officer 

time at cost 

recovery

Plus officer time per hour at cost recovery

Public Path Orders, i.e. Diversion Orders Minimum charge £525.31 3% £541.00 £0.00 £541.00 OS

Maximum charge £1,574.91 3% £1,622.00 £0.00 £1,622.00 OS

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Outline Applications

All types of building per 0.1 ha Every 0.1 ha where the site does not exceed 2.5 ha £462.00 £462.00 £0.00 £462.00 OS

Where the site area exceeds 2.5 ha, £11,432 and an 

additional £138 for each 0.1 ha in excess of 2.5 

hectares, subject to a maximum in total of £150,000

£138.00 £138.00 £0.00 £138.00 OS

Full Applications and Applications for Approval of Reserved Matters following an Outline Permission

Alterations/extensions to existing dwellings where the application relates to a single dwelling £206.00 £206.00 £0.00 £206.00 OS

where the application relates to 2 or more dwellings £407.00 £407.00 £0.00 £407.00 OS

Erection of dwelling where number of dwellings is less than 50. Where the 

number of dwellings exceeds 50, £22,859 and an 

additional £138 for each dwelling in excess of 50 

subject to a maximum in total of £300,000

£462.00 £462.00 £0.00 £462.00 OS

Other buildings Less than 40 m
2
 floor space created £234.00 £234.00 £0.00 £234.00 OS

Between 40 and 75 m
2
 floor space created £462.00 £462.00 £0.00 £462.00 OS

Every additional 75 m
2
 up to 3750 m

2 £462.00 £462.00 £0.00 £462.00 OS

Over 3750 m
2
, £22,859 and an additional £138 for each 

75 m2 in excess of 3750 m2 subject to a maximum in 

total of £300,000

£138.00 £138.00 £0.00 £138.00 OS

Plant or machinery Where site does not exceed 5 ha; per 0.1 ha £462.00 £462.00 £0.00 £462.00 OS

Over 5 ha £22,859 and an additional £138 for each 0.1 

ha in excess of 5 ha subject to a maximum in total of 

£300,000

£138.00 £138.00 £0.00 £138.00 OS

Agricultural Buildings Less than 465 m
2
 floor space created £96.00 £96.00 £0.00 £96.00 OS

Between 465 > 540 m
2 £462.00 £462.00 £0.00 £462.00 OS

Between 540 > 4215 m
2
, £462 for the first 540 m

2
 then £462 

per additional 75 m
2

Between 540 > 4215 m
2
, £462 for the first 540 m

2
 then 

£462 per additional 75 m
2

£462.00 £462.00 £0.00 £462.00 OS

Over 4215 m
2
, £22,859 and an additional £138 for each 

75  m2 in excess of 4215 m2 subject to a maximum in 

total of £300,000

£138.00 £138.00 £0.00 £138.00 OS

Glasshouses No more than 465 m
2
 floor space created £96.00 £96.00 £0.00 £96.00 OS

More than 465 m
2
 floor space created £2,580.00 £2,580.00 £0.00 £2,580.00 OS

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

Prosperous Communities Committee Planning

Plus actual advertisement costs

Prosperous Communities Committee Planning Applications

Proposed 

Increase/decreaseP
age 274



  

P
age 275



 P
age 276



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 12 - HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES  

 

1. Description of Service 

Housing and Communities has a number of Fees and Charges namely; 

 Housing Enforcement Charges 

 Mobile Homes 

 Selective Licensing 

 

Housing Enforcement Charges 

 

The Housing Act makes provision for the Council to recover its costs when carrying 

out certain enforcement functions. This is generally in relation to the serving of 

notices and the carrying out of works in default. A more proactive approach to 

enforcement is resulting in more cases where charges can be applied, therefore 

there is more potential to recover certain costs. 

 

The Council can also now issue Civil Penalties for certain housing offences and the 

income derived from these is ring fenced to resource further private sector housing 

work.  

 

Mobile Home Fees     

 

The annual inspection of mobile home sites ceased during 2018/19. The decision to 

cease the annual inspection is based on the resources required to carry out 

inspections and the level of income that is received. It is not felt, that given the 

minimal income that is achieved that it is an effective use of officer time.  

 

This does not remove any obligations from the Council in regards to taking any 

formal enforcement action. 

 

Should the number of sites increase to an amount where the inspections are viable 

the decision to inspect annually can be revisited.  

 

The Council can also charge for any enforcement work related to these sites and 

recover its costs accordingly.  

 

Selective Licensing 

 

This is a new fee that the Council introduced in 2016 for properties in the private 

rented sector that fall within the designated selective licensing area. This fee is set 

for a 5 year period at £375 and will not be changed for the duration of the scheme. 

Page 277



 

Any enforcement work related to selective licensing will be charged as per the 

housing enforcement charges schedule previously detailed.  

 

2. Prior years analysis 

 

The table below illustrates Income achieved 2017/18, 2018/19 and actuals for 2019/20 to 

date for Enforcement. 

 

 
 

The table below illustrates Income achieved 2017/18, 2018/19 and estimate for 2019/20 for 

Mobile Homes. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 278



Total income achieved is also illustrated below; 

 

 
 

3. Pricing  

 

Housing Enforcement Charges only represent a small element of the Housing and 

Communities Service. 

 

The costing for each element has been calculated based on a proportionate hourly 

rate for staff time with absorption of overheads and additional costs. 

 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

Housing Enforcement Charges 

The scope for increasing income within housing enforcement charges is limited. 

Charges can only be applied in set situations and our policy approach is to resolve 

matters reasonably and cooperatively. Charges are only applied when formal notices 

are served which is usually only as a last resort measure.  

Mobile Home Fees 

Any new sites that receive planning permission are added to the fees and charges 

schedule as per the planning application.  

Selective Licensing 

The legislation for selective licensing is very prescriptive in regards to fees and 

charges therefore the current scheme is in line with this. Should any other schemes 

be considered in the future the fees these will be reviewed accordingly. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

Housing Enforcement Charges 

 

It is proposed to introduce one standard fee for Housing Act notices of £350. This will 

replace the current fee of £250 plus £50 per additional hazard fee (£450 maximum). 

The standard fee will ensure that there is clarity on service and reflects the general 

cost recovery across all areas of work. There is no set approach to this for Local 

Authorities and this fee is line with those from Lincolnshire and the East Midlands. 

This does not include notices which have an hourly fee and relate to works in default.  

 

Page 279



Mobile Home Fees 

 

We recommend no increase in this area. The costs incurred are fully recovered and 

our fees are set in the upper quartile of our geographic neighbours. 

 

As above, the annual site inspection fee has been removed from the fees and 

charges schedule.  

 

Selective Licensing 

 

These fees are agreed and set for a 5 year period until 2020/21 in line with the 

original fee proposals relating to this legislation.  

 

6. Recommendation 

Members are asked to approve charges for the next year as detailed below; 

 

Housing Enforcement Charges: 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the fees for 2020/21. 

 

Mobile Home Fees: 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the maintained fees for 

2020/21. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 280



2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Housing Enforcement Charges 

Mandatory HMO Licence Application Up to 5 units / bedrooms £800.00 £25.00 £825.00 £0.00 £825.00 OS

Per additional unit £50.00 £50.00 £0.00 £50.00 OS

Maximum charge - n/a

Mandatory HMO Licence Renewal Up to 5 units / bedrooms £700.00 £700.00 £0.00 £700.00 OS

Per additional unit £50.00 £50.00 £0.00 £50.00 OS

Maximum charge - n/a

Hazard Awareness Notice None £0.00 £0.00 OS

Improvement Notice For one hazard £350.00 £0.00 £350.00 OS

Emergency Remedial Action Notice (plus work - see below)

Cost of works plus hourly rate of officer time

Cost of 

works plus 

officer time 

to execute 

Cost of 

works plus 

officer time 

to execute 

£0.00 £0.00 OS

Officer time charged at £30 per hour

Prohibition Order £350.00 £0.00 £350.00 OS

Emergency Prohibition Order £350.00 £0.00 £350.00 OS

Demolition Order £350.00 £0.00 £350.00 OS

Immigration Procedure Inspection Per inspection £65.00 6% £70.00 £14.00 £84.00 S

Mobile Homes Act 2013 – Compliance Notice Hourly rate of relevant officers with on costs plus work in default costs of works OS

Mobile Homes Act 2014 – Emergency Remedial Action Notice Hourly rate of relevant officers with on costs plus work in default cost of works
OS

Penalty Charge Notice  (Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 

(England) Regulations 2015)
Up to £5,000 OS

Notice of Intent (Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work 

and Property Management Work (Requirement to Belong to a 

Scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014)

Up to £5,000 OS

Works In Default of any Legislation or Emergency Remedial 

Action *

Base charge

Cost of work 

plus hourly 

rate of 

officer with 

on costs 

OS

Selective Licensing WLDC Scheme Fee £375.00 £375.00 £0.00 £375.00 OS

Co-Regulated Scheme (WLDC Fee) £120.00 £120.00 £0.00 £120.00 OS

Housing and Planning Act - Civil Penalties up to £30,000

Prosperous Communities Committee Strategic Housing

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 281



 

 

 

 

 

Page 282



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 13 – WASTE SERVICES 

 

1. Service Description 

Waste services offers a range of much needed services to the local community 

including the collection of standard household and green waste collection, bulky and 

clinical waste collections and mechanical road sweeping.  

In addition to these services private road sweeping and collection of bulky items 

such as fridges and freezers from commercial premises. 

Fees and Charges have increased in line with inflation for a number of years. 

1a) Price on Application 
 
Commercial Waste and Private Road Sweeping – all fees and charges with prices on 
application, this is due to the variety of requirements of customers. A pricing model 
has been developed for both service areas to assist officers in developing a price 
range, based on the individual requirements and specifications of the customer. 
 
1b) Green Waste Service 
 
A charge for the collection of Garden Waste was implemented with effect from 1st April 
2018. It is now part of the standard Fees and charges review.  
 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

The graphs below shows the actual income achieved for the previous 2 financial 

years plus an estimate for 2019-20. 

 

 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

2017-18 Actual 2018-19 Actual 2019-20 Projections

Waste Services - Income Generated

Special & Bulky Collections Sale Of New/Replacement Bins

Page 283



 
 

 

 
 

As the graphs above demonstrate, income has increased steadily across the board 

within Waste Services.  

 

3. Pricing 

 

Fees for Waste sacks have been broken down for ease over the types and also the 

make-up of costs to assist in making purchases an easier process. Fees have been 

increased by inflation at 3% and rounded up to the nearest 5p for ease. 

 

Fees for bulky household collections have also been increased by inflation, and 

rounded up to the nearest £1. 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

2017-18 Actual 2018-19 Actual 2019-20 Projections

Street Cleansing - Income Generated

Cleansing Service Private Clients Cleansing Service Other CC

870,000

875,000

880,000

885,000

890,000

895,000

900,000

905,000

910,000

915,000

2018-19 Actual 2019-20 Projections

Garden Waste Income

Page 284



Replacement wheeled bins have not been increased as the current fee covers the 

cost of purchase and delivery. 

 

The Street Cleansing price on application model has been updated so that for 20/21 

the revised budgets and pay structures will be applied. 

 

The fees and charges for Garden Waste have been fixed at £35.00, this was decided 

after analysis of the current uptake and future costs. The rate of £35.00 will provide 

full cost recovery based on current volumes.  

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

Waste services as mentioned above offers a much needed service within the local 

community. Charges have had inflationary increases in previous years, these 

increases have been accepted by the users of the service as it is in line with 

previous years. An inflationary increase has been applied to waste sack charges. 

 

Replacement wheeled bins have not been increased as the current fee covers the 

cost of purchase and delivery. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

The proposed charges for 2020/21 are illustrated below. 

 

 

6. Recommendation 

 

Members are requested to approve the charges for the 2020/21 financial year as 

detailed in the schedule below. 

 

 

  

Page 285



 

 

 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Garden Waste and Additional Blue Sacks Per 5 sacks or stickers £8.55 3% £8.85 £0.00 £8.85 OS

Postage & packaging of 5 sacks £2.15 3% £2.25 £0.00 £2.25 OS

Per 20 Stickers £0.65 3% £0.70 £0.00 £0.70 OS

Garden Waste Wheeled Bin (Annual charge) Collection of 1st bin £35.00 £35.00 £0.00 £35.00 OS

Garden Waste Wheeled Bin (Annual charge) Collection of 2nd and subsequent bins £35.00 £35.00 £0.00 £35.00 OS

Residual /blue recycling £33.00 £33.00 £0.00 £33.00 OS

Garden Waste 2nd and subsequent bins £15.00 £15.00 £0.00 £15.00 OS

Residual/blue recycling £33.00 £33.00 £0.00 £33.00 OS

Garden Waste 2nd and subsequent bins £15.00 £15.00 £0.00 £15.00 OS

Bulky Household Waste Collections Collection articles worth up to 6 points £31.00 3% £32.00 £0.00 £32.00 OS

Additional articles worth 1 point collected at the same 

time
£4.00 3% £4.15 £0.00 £4.15 OS

Collection and Disposal of Fridges and Freezers from 

Commercial Premises
£86.00 3% £88.60 £0.00 £88.60 OS

Collection of Clinical Waste £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 OS

Prosperous Communities Committee Operational Services

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

Wheeled Bin Replacement (supply & delivery)

Wheeled Bins for New Properties (supply & delivery)

P
age 286



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 14 – TRINITY ARTS CENTRE (TAC) 

 

1. Service Description 

 

Trinity Arts Centre (TAC) is operated by West Lindsey District Council and is widely used by local 

and touring professional companies who stage shows at the centre. The centre also offers 

additional spaces for events and workshops and a one screen cinema. 

 

For many years, Trinity Arts Centre has received significant subsidy from the council, and with the 

appointment of a new manager in July 2018, the object to transition the centre to a more 

sustainable footing in three years was set. 

 

 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

 

Historically cinema has offered TAC the most cost effective and simple of operations and is easily 

something the centre could have maximised on as an additional income as the centre already has 

the technology to support multiple screens. However, in light of a new cinema being established in 

the town centre, a significant change of identity is required in order to establish the centre as a live 

event space.  

 

The graph below shows cinema income and average attendances over the past 3 years. 

September 2019 figures onwards are a forecast. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
Page 287



An additional income source for the centre relates to general space hire income from regular 

community groups, grossing an average £3,380 per annum, and auditorium hire from community 

productions grossing an average £3,833 making the total income from hires £7,213. 

 

 
 

Since the hire fee changes fully took place with effect from 1 April 2019, the centre has retained its 

original customers and gained extra. Space hire income for 2018/19 was £10,125, and auditorium 

hire was £8,642 making the total income from hires £18,767. 

 

 

3. Pricing  

 

A review of the hire fees took place when the new manager started, with a new fee structure 

implemented from October 2018. The increase in hire fees didn’t fully come into operation until 1 

April 2019 however as it was appropriate to honour advance bookings at the original price. 

Previous years fees did not cover the true cost of running an event meaning the centre was 

operating at a loss. Therefore, a more realistic charging structure was developed ensuring costs 

were adequately covered whilst maintaining a competitive edge with neighbouring theatres. 

 

The TAC Manager is in the process of submitting a business plan which includes a number of 

improvements to the centre including investment proposals which will secure current income 

streams and have the potential to yield additional income. Assuming this is approved once 

implemented the fee structure will be revisited. These refurbishments will also provide TAC with 

the opportunity to cater for new events such as weddings, private functions and parties. 

 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

People associate TAC as being a cinema more often than a theatre for live performances. Over 

the years the promotion of Trinity has been more closely linked to its cinema operation than it has 

with its live performance programme. However in light of a new cinema being built in the town 

centre, a significant change of identity is required in order to establish the centre as a live space 

event. Page 288



 

The appointment of a new centre manager in 2018 has seen a significant change in programme 

already as he consciously programmes better quality and more live events which has seen a rise 

in attendances. 

 

As part of the business plan mentioned above one proposal is to replace the current box office 

system with an intelligent box office system. Such a system will provide us with wide ranging and 

intelligent reports delivering crucial information to help inform decisions on programming, 

marketing, the customer journey and more. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

 

The proposed charges for the room/theatre hire and cinema are outlined in the table below. 

 

There are no proposed increases to these charges from 1 April 2020, but as stated in paragraph 3 

above the charges will be reviewed for 2021/22 following improvements to the centre, if approved. 

 

All other fees & charges generated by the centre are Price on Application (POA) to assist officers 

in developing a price range, based on the individual requirements and specifications of the 

customer. 

 

6. Recommendation 

Members are asked to approve charges for the 2020/21 financial year as detailed in the schedule 

below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 289



 

 

 

 

P
age 290



FEES AND CHARGES REPORT 

APPENDIX 15 – GAINSBOROUGH CREMATORIUM 

 

1. Service description 

The crematorium is responsible for developing and maintaining an excellent 
bereavement service and facilities for WLDC in line with the Bereavement Strategy 
and in accordance with all relevant legislation, policies and procedures.  
 

The crematorium is responsible in delivering a cost effective, caring cremation and 

after care service. Memorials are provided for families to lease, for loved ones who 

have died as a way of coping with the overwhelming grief felt after a death.  

 

2. Prior years analysis, current financial year projections 

The crematorium is scheduled to open in Jan 2020. As such we plan to monitor 

income on a regular basis to ensure it is meeting targets. 

 

3. Pricing  

As the service is new we are proposing to set the fees and charges for both 2019/20 
and 2020/21 unchanged. The proposed fees are based on the experience and 
knowledge of the Crematorium Manager with regard to the fees set by neighbouring 
crematoria, in order we are competitive. 
 

4. Understanding Customers and Markets  

 

Local Authority run crematoria no longer have the monopoly in the marketplace.  

Private companies have invested in this area, are marketed well, and becoming 

profitable. Our business model has considered all areas of household income and 

equality, introducing flexible service times and direct cremations to achieve this. 

Benchmarking has been done to stay mid-table on cost and develop the new service 

offer to meet the demands to those who are financially challenged which aims to 

alleviate financial pressures on local residents and the Local Authority in the future. 

 

5. Proposed Charges 

The proposed charges are outlined in the table below. 

6. Recommendation 

 

Members are requested to recommend to Council the charges for 2019/20 and 

2020/21 as illustrated in the schedule below:

Page 291



 

2019/20 2020/21
VAT 

Amount

2020/21 

Charge Inc. 

VAT  

VAT Rate

£ % Type or £ £ £ £

Adult (18 years and over) £805.00 £805.00 £0.00 £805.00 X

Adult (18 years and over) early start (09:00 & 09:45) £650.00 £650.00 £0.00 £650.00 X

Child (17 years and under) £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 X

Direct Cremation (no attendance 08:45) £450.00 £450.00 £0.00 £450.00 X

Body parts/slides and blocks £75.00 £75.00 £0.00 £75.00 X

Saturday service (with discussion with Manager) £1,127.00 £1,127.00 £0.00 £1,127.00 X

Late cancellation fee (cancellations within 72 hours of service) £110.00 £110.00 £0.00 £110.00 X

Chapel fee (extension 20 minutes) £175.00 £175.00 £0.00 £175.00 X

Chapel fee (extension 40 minutes) £225.00 £225.00 £0.00 £225.00 X

Strewing/scattering of cremated remains from elsewhere £55.00 £55.00 £0.00 £55.00 X

Webcast recording £40.00 £40.00 £8.00 £48.00 S

Webcast recording (available for 28 days and download) £45.00 £45.00 £9.00 £54.00 S

DVD recording (1st copy) £50.00 £50.00 £10.00 £60.00 S

DVD recording (each subsequent copy) £25.00 £25.00 £5.00 £30.00 S

Visual tribute (1 photograph) £15.00 £15.00 £3.00 £18.00 S

Visual tribute (2-10 photographs) (slideshow played on a loop £40.00 £40.00 £8.00 £48.00 S

Video tribute (up to 5 minutes) £35.00 £35.00 £7.00 £42.00 S

DVD containing the tribute (1st copy) £25.00 £25.00 £5.00 £30.00 S

DVD containing the tribute (each subsequent copy) £20.00 £20.00 £4.00 £24.00 S

Book of Remembrance (2 lines) £75.00 £75.00 £15.00 £90.00 S

Book of Remembrance (5 lines) £95.00 £95.00 £19.00 £114.00 S

Book of Remembrance (8 lines) £125.00 £125.00 £25.00 £150.00 S

Miniature book (leather - 2 lines) £90.00 £90.00 £18.00 £108.00 S

Miniature book (leather - 5 lines) £110.00 £110.00 £22.00 £132.00 S

Miniature book (leather - 8 lines) £120.00 £120.00 £24.00 £144.00 S

Memorial card (2 lines) £40.00 £40.00 £8.00 £48.00 S

Memorial card (5 lines) £60.00 £60.00 £12.00 £72.00 S

Memorial card (8 lines) £70.00 £70.00 £14.00 £84.00 S

Additional inscription to existing books and cards £18.33 £18.33 £3.67 £22.00 S

Floral design (available for 5 and 8 lines only) £40.00 £40.00 £8.00 £48.00 S

Caskets * £45.00 £45.00 £9.00 £54.00 S

Temporary deposit of Cremated remains per month after initial 

month
£10.00 £10.00 £2.00 £12.00 S

Witnessed scattering £20.00 £20.00 £4.00 £24.00 S

Mulberry Tree  - per leaf, space leased for 6 years £160.00 £160.00 £32.00 £192.00 S

* If a casket is sold as part of a funeral package it will be exempt from VAT; if supplied on its own it will be standard rated

Prosperous Communities Committee Crematorium

Proposed 

Increase/decrease

P
age 292



APPENDIX A – Fees and Charges 2020/2021 

Corporate Policy & Resources Committee Schedules 

 

 

 

P
age 293



 

 

 

P
age 294



APPENDIX B – Fees and Charges 2020/2021 

Prosperous Communities Committee Schedules 

 

 

P
age 295



 

 

P
age 296



 

P
age 297



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 298



 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 299



 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 300



 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 301



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 302



 

 

 

 

 

P
age 303



 

P
age 304



 

P
age 305



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 306



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 307



 

 

P
age 308



 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 309



 

P
age 310



 

P
age 311



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 312



 

 

 

P
age 313



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 314



 

 

 

P
age 315



 

 

 

 

P
age 316



 
 
 
 

Corporate Policy and 
Resources  

Thursday, 7 November 
2019 

 

     
Subject: Mid Year Treasury Management Report 2019/20 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Executive Director of Resources 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Tracey Bircumshaw 
Strategic Finance and Business Support Manager 
 
tracey.bircumshaw@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 
Caroline Capon 
Corporate Finance Team Leader 
01427 676579 
 
caroline.capon@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / 
Summary: 
 

  
This report provides the Mid-Year update for 
Treasury Management including the revision of 
Prudential Indicators in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 2003 

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
The Corporate Policy and Resources Committee is asked to 
recommend the following to the full Council: 
 

a) Note the report, the treasury activity and recommend approval 
of any changes to the prudential indicators. 

 
 

 

Page 317

Agenda Item 6f



IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: This report complies with the requirement of the Local Government Act 2003 

 

Financial : FIN/108/20  

There are no financial implications as a direct result of this report. 

 

 

Staffing : None arising as a result of this report 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : None arising as a result of this 
report. 

 

Data Protection Implications : None arising as a result of this report 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: This is a monitoring report only. 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations: This is a monitoring report only. 

 

 

Health Implications: This is a monitoring report only. 

 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of this 
report : 

CIPFA Code of Treasury Management Practice 2017 

CIPFA The Prudential Code 

Local Government Act 2003  

Located in the Finance Department  

 

Risk Assessment :   

The Mid Year Treasury Management Report reviews our assessment of Treasury Risks Page 318



 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in 
due to urgency (in consultation with C&I 
chairman) 

Yes   No   

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or 
has significant financial implications Yes   No   

Page 319



1. Executive Summary 
 

This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management, and covers the following: 
 

 An economic update for the first part of the 2019/20 financial year; 

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy; 

 The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 
prudential indicators; 

 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2019/20; 

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2019/20; 

 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2019/20. 
 

1.1 Brexit remains uncertain. The Bank Base rate has remained at 0.75%.  CPI 
for August was 1.7% and likely to remain around the 2% mark, however a 
Brexit no deal may result in increases to 4%. 

 
1.2 There have been no changes to the Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement and Annual Investment Strategy. 
 
1.3 The forecast out-turn for Capital Expenditure is £22.655m against an 

original budget (including carry forwards) of £30.636m with £9.215m 
slippage to 2020/21. 

  
1.4 The Council is projected to have £13.706m invested by the year end having 

generated £0.238m in investment Interest 
 
1.5 In respect of commercial investment in property, the total acquisition costs 

year to date are £5.668m.  The Council now has seven properties in its 
portfolio.  The total capital spend on acquisition of investment property is 
£22.999m at a gross return of 6.4% per annum and a contribution of 
£0.720m to service delivery in 2019/20. 

 
1.6 It is anticipated that total external borrowing will be £28.189m by the year 

end. 
 
2. Background 

 
2.1 Capital Strategy 

 
In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy, (CIPFA), issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes. As from 2019/20, all local authorities have been required to prepare a 
Capital Strategy which is to provide the following: 
 

 a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services;  

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed;  

 the implications for future financial sustainability.  
 

 
 Page 320



 
2.2 Treasury Management 

 
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised 
during the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury 
management operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with 
surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding 
of the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning 
to ensure the Council can meet its capital spending operations.  This 
management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term 
loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  
 
Accordingly, treasury management is defined as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks. 

 
2.3 Key Changes to the Treasury and Capital Strategies 

 
There are no changes to report to this committee 

 
3. Economics and Interest Rates 

 
  UK.  This first half year has been a time of upheaval on the political front as 

Theresa May resigned as Prime Minister to be replaced by Boris Johnson on 
a platform of the UK leaving the EU on or 31 October, with or without a deal.  
However, in September, his proroguing of Parliament was overturned by the 
Supreme Court and Parliament carried a bill to delay Brexit until 31 January 
2020 if there is no deal by 31 October. MPs also voted down holding a 
general election before 31 October, though one is likely before the end of 
2019. So far, there has been no majority of MPs for any one option to move 
forward on enabling Brexit to be implemented. At the time of writing the whole 
Brexit situation is highly fluid and could change radically by the day. Given 
these circumstances and the likelihood of an imminent general election, any 
interest rate forecasts are subject to material change as the situation 
evolves.  If the UK does soon achieve a deal on Brexit agreed with the EU 
then it is possible that growth could recover relatively quickly. The MPC could 
then need to address the issue of whether to raise Bank Rate at some point 
in the coming year when there is little slack left in the labour market; this 
could cause wage inflation to accelerate which would then feed through into 
general inflation.  On the other hand, if there was a no deal Brexit and there 
was a significant level of disruption to the economy, then growth could 
weaken even further than currently and the MPC would be likely to cut Bank 
Rate in order to support growth. However, with Bank Rate still only at 0.75%, 
it has relatively little room to make a big impact and the MPC would probably 
suggest that it would be up to the Chancellor to provide help to support Page 321



growth by way of a fiscal boost by e.g. tax cuts, increases in the annual 
expenditure budgets of government departments and services and 
expenditure on infrastructure projects, to boost the economy.   

   
 The first half of 2019/20 has seen UK economic growth fall as Brexit 

uncertainty took a toll. In its Inflation Report of 1 August, the Bank of England 
was notably downbeat about the outlook for both the UK and major world 
economies. The MPC meeting of 19 September reemphasised their concern 
about the downturn in world growth and also expressed concern that 
prolonged Brexit uncertainty would contribute to a build-up of spare capacity 
in the UK economy, especially in the context of a downturn in world growth.  
This mirrored investor concerns around the world which are now expecting 
a significant downturn or possibly even a recession in some major developed 
economies. It was therefore no surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee 
(MPC) left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% throughout 2019, so far, and is 
expected to hold off on changes until there is some clarity on what is going 
to happen over Brexit. However, it is also worth noting that the new Prime 
Minister is making some significant promises on various spending 
commitments and a relaxation in the austerity programme. This will provide 
some support to the economy and, conversely, take some pressure off the 
MPC to cut Bank Rate to support growth. 

   
 As for inflation itself, CPI has been hovering around the Bank of England’s 

target of 2% during 2019, but fell to 1.7% in August. It is likely to remain close 
to 2% over the next two years and so it does not pose any immediate concern 
to the MPC at the current time. However, if there was a no deal Brexit, 
inflation could rise towards 4%, primarily as a result of imported inflation on 
the back of a weakening pound. 

 
 The full Economic report is attached at Appendix A and includes information 

on the labour market and world economies. 
  

3.1 Interest Rate Forecasts 
 

The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the 
current following forecast, which includes the 100bps increase in PWLB 
rates on 9th October 2019. 
 
 

Page 322



 
 
Commentary as at end September: The above forecasts have been based on 
an assumption that there is an agreed deal on Brexit at some point in time. 
Given the current level of uncertainties, this is a huge assumption and so 
forecasts may need to be materially reassessed in the light of events over the 
next few weeks or months.  
It has been little surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has left 
Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% so far in 2019 due to the ongoing uncertainty 
over Brexit.  In its meeting on 1 August, the MPC became more dovish as it 
was more concerned about the outlook for both the global and domestic 
economies. That’s shown in the policy statement, based on an assumption 
that there is an agreed deal on Brexit, where the suggestion that rates would 
need to rise at a “gradual pace and to a limited extent” is now also conditional 
on “some recovery in global growth”. Brexit uncertainty has had a dampening 
effect on UK GDP growth in 2019, especially around mid-year. If there were a 
no deal Brexit, then it is likely that there will be a cut or cuts in Bank Rate to 
help support economic growth. The September MPC meeting sounded even 
more concern about world growth and the effect that prolonged Brexit 
uncertainty is likely to have on growth.  
 
Bond yields / PWLB rates.  There has been much speculation recently that 
we are currently in a bond market bubble.  However, given the context that 
there are heightened expectations that the US could be heading for a 
recession, and a general background of a downturn in world economic growth, 
together with inflation generally at low levels in most countries and expected 
to remain subdued, conditions are ripe for low bond yields.  While inflation 
targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the last thirty 
years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central 
rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers: 
this means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have 
a major impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. This has pulled down the 
overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last 
thirty years.  We have therefore seen over the last year, many bond yields up 
to ten years in the Eurozone actually turn negative. In addition, there has, at 
times, been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby ten year yields 
have fallen below shorter term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor 
of a recession.  The other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated as 

Page 323



investors would be expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in 
anticipation of a downturn in corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.  
However, stock markets are also currently at high levels as some investors 
have focused on chasing returns in the context of dismal ultra-low interest 
rates on cash deposits.   
 
What we saw during the last half year up to 30 September is a near halving of 
longer term PWLB rates to completely unprecedented historic low levels.  
There is though, an expectation that financial markets have gone too far in 
their fears about the degree of the downturn in US and world growth.  If, as 
expected, the US only suffers a mild downturn in growth, bond markets in the 
US are likely to sell off and that would be expected to put upward pressure on 
bond yields, not only in the US, but due to a correlation between US treasuries 
and UK gilts, which at various times has been strong but at other times 
weaker, in the UK. However, forecasting the timing of this and how strong the 
correlation is likely to be, is very difficult to forecast with any degree of 
confidence.  
 
One potential danger that may be lurking in investor minds is that Japan has 
become mired in a twenty year bog of failing to get economic growth and 
inflation up off the floor, despite a combination of massive monetary and fiscal 
stimulus by both the central bank and government. Investors could be fretting 
that this condition might become contagious.   
 
Another danger is that unconventional monetary policy post 2008, (ultra-low 
interest rates plus quantitative easing), may end up doing more harm than 
good through prolonged use. Low interest rates have encouraged a debt 
fuelled boom which now makes it harder for economies to raise interest rates. 
Negative interest rates could damage the profitability of commercial banks and 
so impair their ability to lend and / or push them into riskier lending. Banks 
could also end up holding large amounts of their government’s bonds and so 
create a potential doom loop. (A doom loop would occur where the credit rating 
of the debt of a nation was downgraded which would cause bond prices to fall, 
causing losses on debt portfolios held by banks and insurers, so reducing their 
capital and forcing them to sell bonds – which, in turn, would cause further 
falls in their prices etc.). In addition, the financial viability of pension funds 
could be damaged by low yields on holdings of bonds. 
 
The balance of risks to the UK 
 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably to the 
downside due to the weight of all the uncertainties over Brexit, as well as a 
softening global economic picture. 
 

 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB 
rates are broadly similarly to the downside.  
 

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk is that all central banks are 
now working in very different economic conditions than before the 2008 
financial crash. There has been a major increase in consumer and other debt 
due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing rates that have prevailed for 
eleven years since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an 
economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult Page 324



to determine definitively in this new environment, although central banks have 
made statements that they expect it to be much lower than before 2008. 
Central banks could, therefore, over or under-do increases in central interest 
rates. 
 
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 
currently include:  
 
 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major 

downturn in the rate of growth. 
 

 Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three 
years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases 
in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  

 
 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. In 2018, Italy was a 

major concern due to having a populist coalition government which made 
a lot of anti-austerity and anti-EU noise.  However, in September 2019 there 
was a major change in the coalition governing Italy which has brought to 
power a much more EU friendly government; this has eased the pressure 
on Italian bonds. Only time will tell whether this new unlikely alliance of two 
very different parties will endure.  

 
 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, particularly Italian banks. 

 
 German minority government.  In the German general election of 

September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable 
minority position dependent on the fractious support of the SPD party, as a 
result of the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD party. Then in 
October 2018, the results of the Bavarian and Hesse state elections 
radically undermined the SPD party and showed a sharp fall in support for 
the CDU. As a result, the SPD had a major internal debate as to whether it 
could continue to support a coalition that is so damaging to its electoral 
popularity. After the result of the Hesse state election, Angela Merkel 
announced that she would not stand for re-election as CDU party leader at 
her party’s convention in December 2018. However, this makes little 
practical difference as she has continued as Chancellor, though more 
recently concerns have arisen over her health.  

 
 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, 

Netherlands and Belgium all have vulnerable minority governments 
dependent on coalitions which could prove fragile.  

 
 Italy, Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary now form a strongly anti-

immigration bloc within the EU.  There has also been rising anti-immigration 
sentiment in Germany and France. 

 
 There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has 

swollen massively during the period of low borrowing rates in order to 
finance mergers and acquisitions. This has resulted in the debt of many 
large corporations being downgraded to a BBB credit rating, close to junk 
status. Indeed, 48% of total investment grade corporate debt is rated at 
BBB. If such corporations fail to generate profits and cash flow to reduce 

Page 325



their debt levels as expected, this could tip their debt into junk ratings which 
will increase their cost of financing and further negatively impact profits and 
cash flow. 

 
 Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and the 

Middle East, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows.  
 
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 
 
 Brexit – if agreement was reached all round that removed all threats of 

economic and political disruption between the EU and the UK.  
 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in 
Bank Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too 
strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid 
series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.  
 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to 
sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields.  

 
3.4 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

Strategy update 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2019/20, which 
includes the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 5 
March 2019.   
 
The underlying TMSS approved previously requires revision in the light of 
economic and operational movements during the year.  The proposed changes 
and supporting detail for the changes are set out below: 
 
 

Prudential Indicator 2019/20 Original 
£’000 

Revised 
Prudential 
Indicator 

£’000 

Authorised Limit 48,519 48,519 

Operational Boundary 43,184 40,588 

External Debt 33,863 28,189 

Investments (9,527) (13,706) 

Net Borrowing 24,336 14,483 

Capital Financing Requirement 43,184 40,589 

 

4. The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)   

 This part of the report is structured to update: 

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 

 How these plans are being financed; Page 326



 The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on 
the prudential indicators  and the underlying need to borrow;  

 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

4.1 Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure 
 
This Table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the 
changes since the capital programme was agreed at the budget. It draws 
together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans, 
highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the capital 
programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital 
expenditure.  The borrowing element of the table increases the underlying 
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the 
repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue Provision).   This direct 
borrowing may also be supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury 
requirements. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

4.2 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing 
Requirement 

 

The table below shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to 
incur borrowing for a capital purpose.  It also show the expected debt 
position over the period, which is termed the Operational Boundary. 

The Executive Director of Resources reports that no difficulties are 
envisaged for the current or future years in complying with prudential 
indicators. 

Capital Expenditure by 
Cluster £’000 

2019/20 
Original 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Revised 
Estimate 

£’000 

Our People   1,885 1,870 

Our Places 19,533 13,438 

Our Council      280 332 

Commercial Investment 
Properties 

         0 7,015 

Total capital expenditure 21,698 22,655 

Financed by:   

Capital receipts     687 435 

Capital grants   3,340 1,321 

Revenue   3,615 3,140 

S106     360 360 

Total Financing  8,002 5,256 

Borrowing need 13,696 17,399 

Page 327



 
 

4.3 Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 
The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to 
ensure that over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less 
investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  Gross external borrowing 
should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2019/20 and 
next two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early 
borrowing for future years.  The Council has approved a policy for 
borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered to if this proves 
prudent.   

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is 
the Authorised Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is 
prohibited, and needs to be set and revised by Members.  It reflects the 
level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short 
term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected maximum 
borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is 
the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government 
Act 2003. 

 

 2019/20 
Original 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Revised 
Estimate 

£’000 

Prudential Indicators   

   

Capital Expenditure   

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) 

43,184 40,589 

Of Which Commercial 
Property 

22,999 22,999 

Annual Change in CFR 13,672 17,505 

   

In year Borrowing 
Requirement 

33,863 28,189 

Under/(Over) 
Borrowing 

9,321 12,400 

   

Ratio of financing 
costs to net revenue 
stream 

4.0% 1.89% 

   

Incremental impact of 
capital investment 
decisions 

  

Increase/ Reduction(-) 
in Council Tax (band 
change per annum) 

(£0.31) (£6.33) 

Page 328



 

 

5. Investment Portfolio 2019/20 
 

In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security 
of capital and liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is 
consistent with the Council’s risk appetite.  As shown by forecasts in section 
3.2, it is a very difficult investment market in terms of earning the level of 
interest rates commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low 
and in line with the current 0.75% Bank Rate.  The continuing potential for 
a re-emergence of a Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, and its impact on 
banks, prompts a low risk and short term strategy.  Given this risk 
environment and the fact that increases in Bank Rate are likely to be 
gradual and unlikely to return to the levels seen in previous decades, 
investment returns are likely to remain low.  
 
The Council held £16.250m of investments as at 30 September 2019 
(£14.200m at 31 March 2019) The annualised investment rate for the first 
six months of the year is 1.53% against a benchmark 7 day libid of 0.56%.  
The weighted average interest rate is 1.553%.  The yield reflects the £3m 
investment in the Local Authority Property Fund. 
 

 
 
The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2019/20 is £0.233m, and 
performance for the year is forecast to be £0.028m above budget. 
 
The Chief Financial Officer confirms that the approved limits within the 
Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months 
of 2019/20. 
 

5.1 Investment Counterparty criteria 
 

The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the 
TMSS is meeting the requirement of the treasury management 
function. 
 
Treasury Officers continue to mitigate investment risk in accordance 
with Treasury Management Practices. Page 329



 
 
 

6. Borrowing 
 

The Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2019/20 is 
£40.859m.  The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for 
capital purposes.  If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the 
PWLB or the market (external borrowing) or from internal balances on a 
temporary basis (internal borrowing).  The balance of external and internal 
borrowing is generally driven by market conditions. 
 
This is a prudent and cost effective approach in the current economic 
climate but will require ongoing monitoring in the event that upside risk to 
gilt yields prevails. 
 
Due to the overall financial position and the underlying need to borrow for 
capital purposes (the capital financing requirement - CFR), new external 
borrowing of £5.5m was undertaken from the PWLB in the first six months 
of the financial year.  External borrowing now stands at £16.5m. 
 

EXTERNAL BORROWING: The Council has borrowed this financial 
year: 
 24/04/2019 £2.5m from PWLB for 45 years at an interest rate of 

2.4%  
 30/05/2019 £3.0m from PWLB for 8 years at an interest rate of 

1.62% 
 
INTERNAL BORROWING: The Council forecasts that by the end of the 
this financial year it will have cumulatively £7.658m of internal borrowing 
 

 
It is anticipated that further external borrowing will be undertaken during 
this financial year. 
 
The graph and table below show the movement in PWLB certainty rates 
for the first six months of the year to date:    
  

Page 330



 
 

 
 

 
 
Increase in the cost of borrowing from the PWLB 

On 9 October 2019 the Treasury and PWLB announced an increase in the margin 
over gilt yields of 100bps.  There was no prior warning that this would happen and 
it now means that every local authority has to fundamentally reassess how to 
finance their external borrowing needs and the financial viability of capital projects 
in their capital programme due to this unexpected increase in the cost of Page 331



borrowing.  Representations are going to be made to HM Treasury to suggest that 
areas of capital expenditure that the Government are keen to see move forward 
e.g. housing, should not be subject to such a large increase in borrowing.   

Whereas this authority has previously relied on the PWLB as its only source of 
funding, it now has to fundamentally reconsider alternative cheaper sources of 
borrowing. At the current time, this is a developmental area as this event has also 
taken the financial services industry by surprise. We are expecting that various 
financial institutions will enter the market or make products available to local 
authorities. Members will be updated as this area evolves. 

It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local 
authorities in the future. This Authority may make use of this new source of 
borrowing as and when appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A 
 
Economics update 
 
UK.  This first half year has been a time of upheaval on the political front as 
Theresa May resigned as Prime Minister to be replaced by Boris Johnson on a 
platform of the UK leaving the EU on or 31 October, with or without a deal.  
However, in September, his proroguing of Parliament was overturned by the 
Supreme Court and Parliament carried a bill to delay Brexit until 31 January 
2020 if there is no deal by 31 October. MPs also voted down holding a general 
election before 31 October, though one is likely before the end of 2019. So far, 
there has been no majority of MPs for any one option to move forward on 
enabling Brexit to be implemented. At the time of writing the whole Brexit 
situation is highly fluid and could change radically by the day. Given these 
circumstances and the likelihood of an imminent general election, any interest 
rate forecasts are subject to material change as the situation evolves.  If the UK 
does soon achieve a deal on Brexit agreed with the EU then it is possible that 
growth could recover relatively quickly. The MPC could then need to address 
the issue of whether to raise Bank Rate at some point in the coming year when 
there is little slack left in the labour market; this could cause wage inflation to 
accelerate which would then feed through into general inflation.  On the other 
hand, if there was a no deal Brexit and there was a significant level of disruption 
to the economy, then growth could weaken even further than currently and the 
MPC would be likely to cut Bank Rate in order to support growth. However, with 
Bank Rate still only at 0.75%, it has relatively little room to make a big impact 
and the MPC would probably suggest that it would be up to the Chancellor to 
provide help to support growth by way of a fiscal boost by e.g. tax cuts, 
increases in the annual expenditure budgets of government departments and 
services and expenditure on infrastructure projects, to boost the economy.   
 
The first half of 2019/20 has seen UK economic growth fall as Brexit 
uncertainty took a toll. In its Inflation Report of 1 August, the Bank of England 
was notably downbeat about the outlook for both the UK and major world 
economies. The MPC meeting of 19 September reemphasised their concern 
about the downturn in world growth and also expressed concern that prolonged Page 332



Brexit uncertainty would contribute to a build-up of spare capacity in the UK 
economy, especially in the context of a downturn in world growth.  This mirrored 
investor concerns around the world which are now expecting a significant 
downturn or possibly even a recession in some major developed economies. It 
was therefore no surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) left Bank 
Rate unchanged at 0.75% throughout 2019, so far, and is expected to hold off 
on changes until there is some clarity on what is going to happen over Brexit. 
However, it is also worth noting that the new Prime Minister is making some 
significant promises on various spending commitments and a relaxation in the 
austerity programme. This will provide some support to the economy and, 
conversely, take some pressure off the MPC to cut Bank Rate to support 
growth. 
 
As for inflation itself, CPI has been hovering around the Bank of England’s 
target of 2% during 2019, but fell to 1.7% in August. It is likely to remain close 
to 2% over the next two years and so it does not pose any immediate concern 
to the MPC at the current time. However, if there was a no deal Brexit, inflation 
could rise towards 4%, primarily as a result of imported inflation on the back of 
a weakening pound. 
 
With regard to the labour market, despite the contraction in quarterly GDP 
growth of -0.2% q/q, (+1.3% y/y), in quarter 2, employment continued to rise, 
but at only a muted rate of 31,000 in the three months to July after having risen 
by no less than 115,000 in quarter 2 itself: the latter figure, in particular, 
suggests that firms are preparing to expand output and suggests there could 
be a return to positive growth in quarter 3.  Unemployment continued at a 44 
year low of 3.8% on the Independent Labour Organisation measure in July and 
the participation rate of 76.1% achieved a new all-time high. Job vacancies fell 
for a seventh consecutive month after having previously hit record levels.  
However, with unemployment continuing to fall, this month by 11,000, 
employers will still be having difficulty filling job vacancies with suitable staff.  It 
was therefore unsurprising that wage inflation picked up to a high point of 3.9% 
in June before easing back slightly to 3.8% in July, (3 month average regular 
pay, excluding bonuses).  This meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates higher 
than CPI inflation), earnings grew by about 2.1%. As the UK economy is very 
much services sector driven, an increase in household spending power is likely 
to feed through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic 
growth in the coming months. The latest GDP statistics also included a revision 
of the savings ratio from 4.1% to 6.4% which provides reassurance that 
consumers’ balance sheets are not over stretched and so will be able to support 
growth going forward. This would then mean that the MPC will need to consider 
carefully at what point to take action to raise Bank Rate if there is an agreed 
Brexit deal, as the recent pick-up in wage costs is consistent with a rise in core 
services inflation to more than 4% in 2020.    
In the political arena, if there is a general election soon, this could result in a 
potential loosening of monetary policy and therefore medium to longer dated 
gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around 
inflation picking up although, conversely, a weak international backdrop could 
provide further support for low yielding government bonds and gilts. 
 
USA.  President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy in 2018 fuelled a 
temporary boost in consumption in that year which generated an upturn in the 
rate of strong growth to 2.9% y/y.  Growth in 2019 has been falling back after a Page 333



strong start in quarter 1 at 3.1%, (annualised rate), to 2.0% in quarter 2.  Quarter 
3 is expected to fall further. The strong growth in employment numbers during 
2018 has reversed into a falling trend during 2019, indicating that the economy 
is cooling, while inflationary pressures are also weakening The Fed finished its 
series of increases in rates to 2.25 – 2.50% in December 2018.  In July 2019, 
it cut rates by 0.25% as a ‘midterm adjustment’ but flagged up that this was not 
to be seen as the start of a series of cuts to ward off a downturn in growth. It 
also ended its programme of quantitative tightening in August, (reducing its 
holdings of treasuries etc).  It then cut rates again in September to 1.75% - 
2.00% and is thought likely to cut another 25 bps in December. Investor 
confidence has been badly rattled by the progressive ramping up of increases 
in tariffs President Trump has made on Chinese imports and China has 
responded with increases in tariffs on American imports.  This trade war is seen 
as depressing US, Chinese and world growth.  In the EU, it is also particularly 
impacting Germany as exports of goods and services are equivalent to 46% of 
total GDP. It will also impact developing countries dependent on exporting 
commodities to China.  
 
EUROZONE.  Growth has been slowing from +1.8 % during 2018 to around 
half of that in 2019.  Growth was +0.4% q/q (+1.2% y/y) in quarter 1 and then 
fell to +0.2% q/q (+1.0% y/y) in quarter 2; there appears to be little upside 
potential to the growth rate in the rest of 2019. German GDP growth fell to -
0.1% in quarter 2; industrial production was down 4% y/y in June with car 
production down 10% y/y.  Germany would be particularly vulnerable to a no 
deal Brexit depressing exports further and if President Trump imposes tariffs 
on EU produced cars.  The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its programme 
of quantitative easing purchases of debt in December 2018, which meant that 
the central banks in the US, UK and EU had all ended the phase of post 
financial crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world financial markets by 
purchases of debt.  However, the downturn in EZ growth in the second half of 
2018 and into 2019, together with inflation falling well under the upper limit of 
its target range of 0 to 2%, (but it aims to keep it near to 2%), has prompted the 
ECB to take new measures to stimulate growth.  At its March meeting it said 
that it expected to leave interest rates at their present levels “at least through 
the end of 2019”, but that was of little help to boosting growth in the near term. 
Consequently, it announced a third round of TLTROs; this provides banks with 
cheap borrowing every three months from September 2019 until March 2021 
which means that, although they will have only a two-year maturity, the Bank is 
making funds available until 2023, two years later than under its previous policy. 
As with the last round, the new TLTROs will include an incentive to encourage 
bank lending, and they will be capped at 30% of a bank’s eligible loans. 
However, since then, the downturn in EZ and world growth has gathered 
momentum so at its meeting on 12 September, it cut its deposit rate further into 
negative territory, from -0.4% to -0.5%, and announced a resumption of 
quantitative easing purchases of debt.  It also increased the maturity of the third 
round of TLTROs from two to three years. However, it is doubtful whether this 
loosening of monetary policy will have much impact on growth and 
unsurprisingly, the ECB stated that governments will need to help stimulate 
growth by fiscal policy. On the political front, Austria, Spain and Italy are in the 
throes of forming coalition governments with some unlikely combinations of 
parties i.e. this raises questions around their likely endurance. The recent 
results of two German state elections will put further pressure on the frail 
German CDU/SDP coalition government. Page 334



 
CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 
repeated rounds of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. 
Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate excess industrial capacity 
and the stock of unsold property, and to address the level of non-performing 
loans in the banking and credit systems. Progress also still needs to be made 
to eliminate excess industrial capacity and to switch investment from property 
construction and infrastructure to consumer goods production. The trade war 
with the US does not appear currently to have had a significant effect on GDP 
growth as some of the impact of tariffs has been offset by falls in the exchange 
rate and by transhipping exports through other countries, rather than directly to 
the US. 
 
JAPAN - has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth 
and to get inflation up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal 
stimulus. It is also making little progress on fundamental reform of the economy.  
 
WORLD GROWTH.  The trade war between the US and China is a major 
concern to financial markets and is depressing worldwide growth, as any 
downturn in China will spill over into impacting countries supplying raw 
materials to China. Concerns are focused on the synchronised general 
weakening of growth in the major economies of the world compounded by fears 
that there could even be a recession looming up in the US, though this is 
probably overblown. These concerns have resulted in government bond yields 
in the developed world falling significantly during 2019. If there were a major 
worldwide downturn in growth, central banks in most of the major economies 
will have limited ammunition available, in terms of monetary policy measures, 
when rates are already very low in most countries, (apart from the US), and 
there are concerns about how much distortion of financial markets has already 
occurred with the current levels of quantitative easing purchases of debt by 
central banks. The latest PMI survey statistics of economic health for the US, 
UK, EU and China have all been sub 50 which gives a forward indication of a 
downturn in growth; this confirms investor sentiment that the outlook for growth 
during the rest of this financial year is weak. 
 
Interest rate forecasts  
 
The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the 
following forecast. 
 
This forecast includes the increase in margin over gilt yields of 100bps 
introduced on 9.10.19. 
 

 
 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22

Bank Rate View 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25

3 Month LIBID 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20

6 Month LIBID 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40

12 Month LIBID 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60

5yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10

10yr PWLB Rate 2.60 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40

25yr PWLB Rate 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.00

50yr PWLB Rate 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 3.90Page 335



The above forecasts have been based on an assumption that there is some 
sort of muddle through to an agreed deal on Brexit at some point in time. Given 
the current level of uncertainties, this is a huge assumption and so forecasts 
may need to be materially reassessed in the light of events over the next few 
weeks or months.  
 
It has been little surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has left 
Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% so far in 2019 due to the ongoing uncertainty 
over Brexit.  In its meeting on 1 August, the MPC became more dovish as it 
was more concerned about the outlook for both the global and domestic 
economies. That’s shown in the policy statement, based on an assumption that 
there is an agreed deal on Brexit, where the suggestion that rates would need 
to rise at a “gradual pace and to a limited extent” is now also conditional on 
“some recovery in global growth”. Brexit uncertainty has had a dampening 
effect on UK GDP growth in 2019, especially around mid-year. If there were a 
no deal Brexit, then it is likely that there will be a cut or cuts in Bank Rate to 
help support economic growth. The September MPC meeting sounded even 
more concern about world growth and the effect that prolonged Brexit 
uncertainty is likely to have on growth. 
 
Bond yields / PWLB rates.  There has been much speculation recently that 
we are currently in a bond market bubble.  However, given the context that 
there are heightened expectations that the US could be heading for a recession, 
and a general background of a downturn in world economic growth, together 
with inflation generally at low levels in most countries and expected to remain 
subdued, conditions are ripe for low bond yields.  While inflation targeting by 
the major central banks has been successful over the last thirty years in 
lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central rates has 
fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers: this means 
that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major 
impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. This has pulled down the overall 
level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last thirty 
years.  We have therefore seen over the last year, many bond yields up to ten 
years in the Eurozone actually turn negative. In addition, there has, at times, 
been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby ten year yields have fallen 
below shorter term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.  
The other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated as investors would 
be expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in anticipation of a 
downturn in corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.  However, stock 
markets are also currently at high levels as some investors have focused on 
chasing returns in the context of dismal ultra-low interest rates on cash 
deposits.   
 
What we saw during the last half year up to 30 September is a near halving of 
longer term PWLB rates to completely unprecedented historic low levels. (See 
paragraph 7 for comments on the increase in margin over gilt yields of 100bps 
introduced on 9.10.19.)  There is though, an expectation that financial markets 
have gone too far in their fears about the degree of the downturn in US and 
world growth.  If, as expected, the US only suffers a mild downturn in growth, 
bond markets in the US are likely to sell off and that would be expected to put 
upward pressure on bond yields, not only in the US, but due to a correlation 
between US treasuries and UK gilts, which at various times has been strong 
but at other times weaker, in the UK. However, forecasting the timing of this Page 336



and how strong the correlation is likely to be, is very difficult to forecast with any 
degree of confidence.  
 
One potential danger that may be lurking in investor minds is that Japan has 
become mired in a twenty year bog of failing to get economic growth and 
inflation up off the floor, despite a combination of massive monetary and fiscal 
stimulus by both the central bank and government. Investors could be fretting 
that this condition might become contagious.   
 
Another danger is that unconventional monetary policy post 2008, (ultra-low 
interest rates plus quantitative easing), may end up doing more harm than good 
through prolonged use. Low interest rates have encouraged a debt fuelled 
boom which now makes it harder for economies to raise interest rates. Negative 
interest rates could damage the profitability of commercial banks and so impair 
their ability to lend and / or push them into riskier lending. Banks could also end 
up holding large amounts of their government’s bonds and so create a potential 
doom loop. (A doom loop would occur where the credit rating of the debt of a 
nation was downgraded which would cause bond prices to fall, causing losses 
on debt portfolios held by banks and insurers, so reducing their capital and 
forcing them to sell bonds – which, in turn, would cause further falls in their 
prices etc.). In addition, the financial viability of pension funds could be 
damaged by low yields on holdings of bonds. 
 
The balance of risks to the UK 
 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably to 
the downside due to the weight of all the uncertainties over Brexit, as 
well as a softening global economic picture. 

 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB 
rates are broadly similarly to the downside.  
 

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk is that all central banks are 
now working in very different economic conditions than before the 2008 
financial crash. There has been a major increase in consumer and other debt 
due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing rates that have prevailed for 
eleven years since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an 
economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult 
to determine definitively in this new environment, although central banks have 
made statements that they expect it to be much lower than before 2008. Central 
banks could, therefore, over or under-do increases in central interest rates. 
 
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 
currently include:  
 

 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major 
downturn in the rate of growth. 

 Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three 
years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and 
increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. In 2018, Italy was 
a major concern due to having a populist coalition government which 
made a lot of anti-austerity and anti-EU noise.  However, in September 
2019 there was a major change in the coalition governing Italy which has Page 337



brought to power a much more EU friendly government; this has eased 
the pressure on Italian bonds. Only time will tell whether this new unlikely 
alliance of two very different parties will endure.  

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, particularly Italian banks. 
 German minority government.  In the German general election of 

September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable 
minority position dependent on the fractious support of the SPD party, 
as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD party. Then 
in October 2018, the results of the Bavarian and Hesse state elections 
radically undermined the SPD party and showed a sharp fall in support 
for the CDU. As a result, the SPD had a major internal debate as to 
whether it could continue to support a coalition that is so damaging to its 
electoral popularity. After the result of the Hesse state election, Angela 
Merkel announced that she would not stand for re-election as CDU party 
leader at her party’s convention in December 2018. However, this makes 
little practical difference as she has continued as Chancellor, though 
more recently concerns have arisen over her health.  

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, 
Netherlands and Belgium all have vulnerable minority governments 
dependent on coalitions which could prove fragile.  

 Italy, Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary now form a strongly 
anti-immigration bloc within the EU.  There has also been rising anti-
immigration sentiment in Germany and France. 

 There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has 
swollen massively during the period of low borrowing rates in order to 
finance mergers and acquisitions. This has resulted in the debt of many 
large corporations being downgraded to a BBB credit rating, close to junk 
status. Indeed, 48% of total investment grade corporate debt is rated at 
BBB. If such corporations fail to generate profits and cash flow to reduce 
their debt levels as expected, this could tip their debt into junk ratings 
which will increase their cost of financing and further negatively impact 
profits and cash flow. 

 Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and 
the Middle East, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows.  

 
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 
 

 Brexit – if agreement was reached all round that removed all threats of 
economic and political disruption between the EU and the UK.  

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases 
in Bank Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too 
strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid 
series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.  

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to 
sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields.  
 

Page 338



 

CPR Forward Plan 30 October 2019 

 
Purpose: 
This report provides a summary of upcoming items for consideration by the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee. 
 
Recommendation: 

1. That members note the workplan for the remainder of the 2019/20 municipal year. 
 

Date 
 

Title Lead Officer Purpose of the report Date First 
Published 

 

4 DECEMBER 2019 

4 Dec 2019 MAINTENANCE POLICY of Property & Physical 
Assets 

Gary Reevell, Property & 
Assets Manager 

New policy and guidance documents 
relating to the maintenance of WLDC 
property and land 

07 October 
2019 

4 Dec 2019 Made in Gainsborough Phase 2 Amanda Bouttell, Senior 
Project and Growth Officer 

Proposal for Phase 2 delivery of an 
Engineering Apprenticeship 
Programme within Gainsborough 

 

4 Dec 2019 5-7 Market Place Refurbishment Wendy Osgodby, Senior 
Growth Strategy & 
Projects Officer 

The refurbishment of 5-7 Market Place, 
including significant structural works. 

21 May 2019 

4 Dec 2019 National Non Domestic Rates, Sundry Debtors, 
Council Tax and Housing Benefit Overpayments 
Write Offs 

Alison McCulloch, 
Revenues Manager 

Report detailing debts which are 
irrecoverable 

17 July 2019 

4 Dec 2019 Customer Management System Michelle Carrington, 
Strategic Lead Customer 
First 

To seek approval for the procurement 
of a Customer Management System, 
and to spend capital monies allocated 
in the Earmarked reserve. 

 

4 Dec 2019 
(for Full 
Council on 20 
Jan 2020) 

Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2019/20 Alison McCulloch, 
Revenues Manager 

To determine the local council tax 
support scheme for 2019/20 

17 July 2019 

P
age 339

A
genda Item

 7



 

 
 
9 JANUARY 2019 

9 Jan 2020 Whistleblowing Policy Emma Redwood, People 
and Organisational 
Development Manager 

To review the council's Whistleblowing 
Policy 

17 July 2019 

9 Jan 2020 Review of Earmarked Reserves and Revenue 
Grants Unapplied 

Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

To consider the proposals informed 
through the annual review of reserves 
process. 

17 July 2019 

9 Jan 2020 Approval of the Council's Proposed 
Performance Measures 

Ellen King, Senior 
Performance Officer 

This report presents the following for 
approval by Members:  
1. The Council's proposed Progress 
and Delivery performance measures for 
2020/21;  
2. The Council's proposed Corporate 
Plan performance measures for 2020-
2023 

07 October 
2019 

6 FEBRUARY 2020 

6 Feb 2020 Review and rationalise information security 
policies 

Steve Anderson, Data 
Protection Officer 

A proposal for reviewing and 
rationalising the authorities information 
security policy set. 

 

6 Feb 2020 Review of Recruitment & Selection Policy Emma Redwood, People 
and Organisational 
Development Manager 

To review the council's recruitment & 
selection policy and update as required 

17 July 2019 

6 Feb 2020 Corporate Policy & Resources Committee Draft 
Budget 2020/21 & estimates to 2024/25 

Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

draft budget for PC & CPR budgets 
2020/21 - 2024/25 

03 April 2019 

6 Feb 2020 Progress and Delivery Report - Period 3 
2019/20 

Ellen King, Senior 
Performance Officer 

To present performance of the 
Council's key services against agreed 
performance measures and indicate 
where improvements should be made, 

03 April 2019 

P
age 340



 

having regard to the remedial action set 
out in the report. 

6 Feb 2020 
(for Full 
Council on 2 
Mar 2020) 

Executive Business Plan, Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and Plan 2020/21 - 2024-25 

Tracey Bircumshaw, 
Strategic Finance and 
Business Support 
Manager 

To present financial the plans and 
strategies to deliver Corporate Plan 
objectives and quality services over the 
medium term, whilst managing financial 
risks to ensure our future resilience. 

 

6 Feb 2020 Compassionate Leave Policy Emma Redwood, People 
and Organisational 
Development Manager 

To write a Compassionate Leave Policy 
for the council 

17 July 2019 

6 Feb 2020 Budget and Treasury Monitoring Period 3 
2019/20 

Tracey Bircumshaw, 
Strategic Finance and 
Business Support 
Manager, Sue 
Leversedge, Business 
Support Team Leader 

forecast outturn position as at 31st 
December 2019 

03 April 2019 

9 APRIL 2020 

9 Apr 2020 Caistor Southdale Development Eve Fawcett-Moralee, 
Executive Director for 
Economic and 
Commercial Growth 

To approve plans for GP and 
residential development 

03 April 2019 

9 Apr 2020 Budget and Treasury Monitoring Period 4 
2019/20 

Tracey Bircumshaw, 
Strategic Finance and 
Business Support 
Manager, Sue 
Leversedge, Business 
Support Team Leader 

to report final outturn position 2019/20 03 April 2019 

9 Apr 2020 Stress Management Policy Emma Redwood, People 
and Organisational 
Development Manager 

To review the council's stress 
management policy and update as 
required 

17 July 2019 

9 Apr 2020 Officer Code of Conduct Emma Redwood, People To review the officer code of conduct 17 July 2019 

P
age 341



 

and Organisational 
Development Manager 

and update as required 

 

P
age 342



Document is Restricted

Page 343

Agenda Item 9a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 359

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 360

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 371

Agenda Item 9c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 373

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 378

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 380

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	3a For Approval
	5 Matters Arising Schedule
	6a Locally Defined Discount for Almshouses
	6b Progress and Delivery Period 2 2019/20
	Appendix 1 Progress and Delivery Report - Period 2 2019/20

	6c Review of Safeguarding Policy and Procedure
	Appendix 1 West Lindsey Safeguarding Policy
	Appendix 2 List of Changes to West Lindsey District Council Safeguarding Policy
	Appendix 3 Review of Safeguarding Procedure
	Appendix 4 Staff Training Groups and Courses

	6d Budget and Treasury Monitoring Mid Year Review 2019/20
	6e Proposed Fees & Charges 2020/21
	Appendix 1 Electoral Services
	Appendix 2 Property Name Changes
	Appendix 3 Revenue Services
	Appendix 4 Car Parks
	Appendix 5 Cemeteries
	Appendix 6 Environment Services
	Appendix 7 Fixed Penalty Notices
	Appendix 8 Land Charges
	Appendix 9 Licensing
	Appendix 10 Markets
	Appendix 11a New Householder Enquiry Form Briefing Note
	Appendix 11 Planning
	Appendix 12 Strategic Housing
	Appendix 13 Waste Services
	Appendix 14 TAC
	Appendix 15 Crematorium
	Appendix A CP&R Schedules
	Appendix B PC Schedules

	6f Mid Year Treasury Management Report 2019/20
	7 Committee Work Plan
	9a Potential Compulsory Purchase of Riverside Gateway
	Riverside Gateway App 1
	Riverside Gateway App 2

	9c Proposed Fees and Charges - Exempt Appendices
	Appendix 17a building control
	Appendix 17b building control
	Appendix B Building Control Schedules


